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PREFACE 

I became interested in Indian history during my first year as a 

graduate student at Oklahoma State University in a history research semi~ 

nar conducted by Dr. LeRoy H. Fischer, and it was here that I first met 

Stand Watie. My initial research led me to a Master of Arts thesis ex= 

amining Confederate States relations with the Five Civilized Tribes. As 

a result, my interest in Watie grew. 

When I entered my doctoral program, I became aware that a scholarly 

biography of Watie and his impact on the Cherokee Nat ion had not been 

written, and with the urging of Dr. Fischer I began an initial investi= 

gation of the topic. Research revealed a wealth of never before pub= 

lished personal papers on Watie, and a dissertation topic was created. 

Watie 1 s papers and collateral materials revealed both the public and 

private aspects of his work. Watie 1 s lifetime was violated by conflict, 

nevertheless, he led his people to a new home of promised security in the 

Westo He saw his relatives murdered by his enemies, played an active 

role in bringing peace to the Cherokees, prospered and became a leader of 

the tribe, led a portion of the Cherokees through the Civil War, achieved 

what he could for his people during reconstruction, and suffered through 

the loss of three of his five children, all of them sons. 

This dissertation is an analytical presentation of Watie 1 s life, 

and an examination of the motivations behind his actions. His decisions 

as a political and military leader were significant in shaping the his= 

tory of the Cherokees during the nineteenth century. Yet in recorded 

i; i 



Cherokee history his actions have been overshadowed by the exploits of 

Major Ridge, John Ridge, Elias Boudinot, and John Ross. The purpose of 

this dissertation is to portray Watievs influence on the Cherokee Nation 

and place him in historical context. 

The author extends his appreciation to the staff of the Oklahoma 

State University Library for patience in assisting with the location of 

many of the primary sources used in this dissertation. Thanks are also 

extended to Mrs. Rella Looney, Librarian of the Indian Archives of the 

Oklahoma Historical Society, Oklahoma City, Oklahoma; Mrs. Helen Wheat, 

Special Collections Librarian of Northeastern State College, Tahlequah, 

Oklahoma; and Mr. Jack Haley, Assistant Curator of the Western History 

Collections, University of Oklahoma Library, Norman, Oklahoma. I also 

wish to acknowledge the assistance of Dr. Homer Lo Knight, Professor and 

Head Emeritus and Dr. Norbert R. Mahnken, both of the History Department 

of Oklahoma State University, whose encouragement and advice were in= 

valuable. I would also like to thank the members of my graduate commit= 

tee for their aid throughout my entire graduate program and for their 

careful reading of this dissertationg Dr. Raymond N. Habiby of the Po= 

litical Sciern;e Department; Dr. Odie B. Faulk, Dr. Bernard W. Eissenstat, 

and Dr. Edward M. Walters of the History Department. I owe special 

thanks to Dr. LeRoy H. Fischer, my major adviser, who deserves much of 

the credit for this study because of his guidance and direction. He 

continually gave valuable advice and encouragement without which this 

study could never have been concludedo Because of his unceasing efforts 

and patience, the author was able to overcome many obstacles which 

otherwise would not have been possible. Lastly, deep appreciation is 



extended the author's parents, Mr. and Mrs. Arthur Franks, whose con­

stant encouragement made possible his effQrts in higher education. 
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CBA:PTER I 

FORMA.TIVE YEARS 

Stand Watie, with a determined loqk on his face, pressed his horse 

forward into a crowd gathered before the home of Elias Boudinot, his 

brother. The milling throng parted, making a path through the Cherokee 

gathering, containing many who had cursed Watie's name. Not ·a hand was· 

raised against him a~ he rode boldly toward his brother's house. Pausing 

before the porch, Watie leaned frpm his horse and grasped the corner of 

the blood soaked cloth covering his dead brother's face. Watie saw his 

mutilated head. rurning to the crowd with the Qloody cloth still in his 

hand, Watie said, "I'll give ~10,000 to anybody who wPl tell me who 

made that mark on my brqther's face." The crowd was sUent whil,e Wat;i.e 

1 
replaced the cloth, turned, and galloped away. 

Thus Watie was thrust ;into a position of Cherokee leadership. The 

Ridge-Watie•Boudinot fam;i.ly had become the leaders of the faction advo-

eating removal to the West, and eventually negotiated the Treaty of New 

Echota, which surrendered the~r ancestral homes in the southeast for new 

land in the West. This was in violation of the Cherokee "blood law'' 

which p;rov;i.ded the death penalty for the unsanctioned sale of tribal 

land, After the Cherokees had reached their new homeland, a meeting of 

1 
J. F. Weave;r Interview, Grant Foreman, ed., "Indian-Pioneer His-

tory" ( 113 vols., unpubl;i.shed manuscript), Vol. XVC, pp. 445-447, Indian 
Archives Division, Oklahoma Histprica1 Society, Oklahoma City, Oklahoma. 
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all Cherokees was called to resolve the differences of the divergent 

factions, but because of hatre<l resulting from the Trait of Tears, no 

decision could be reached. With the failure of the gathering, a secret 

meeting was called by the various Cherokees which opposed their removal 

to the West, and the verdict of death ~as given to all who signed the 

2 Treaty of New Echota. 

On June 22, 1839, the sentences were carried out, and Major Ridge, 

John Ridge, and Elias Boudinot were assassinated. Watie barely escaped. 

~hus Watie was the only leader qf the Treaty Party remaining alive, and 

his followers looked to him for guidance. Previous to the killings, 

Watie had generally remained outside the realm of tribai politics, but 

the murders thrust him to the forefront. Re blamed the followers of 

John Ross, the principal chief of the Cherokees, for killing his brother, 

uncle, and nephew, and he continued to oppose Ross on practically every 

issue until his death. The split in the Cherokee Nation, widened by the 

assassinations, brought the tribe to the verge of civil war on several 

occasions and was likely one of the major factors in the Cherokee alli-

ance with the Confederacy in t~e Civil War. Who then was this man who 

had such an impact on Cherokee history? 3 

Watie was born qn Dece~ber 12, 1806, at the town of Oothcaloga, 

south of New Echota in the Cherokee Nation, in an area later organized 

into Cass County, Georgia. On his birth, following an ancient Cherokee 

custom, he was given the name Degataga, which meant "standing together;" 

2 
Thupnan Wilkins, Cherokee Tra~edx: 

and the Decimation of ~ People (New York: 
318-321. 

3rbid., PP• 322-324. 

The Story of the Ridge Family 
MacmiHan Company, 1970), PP• 
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however, when his father later accepted the Christian religion he was 

given the Christian name of Isaac. Though for some time he called him-

aelf Isaac S. Watie, eventually Isaac was dropped and he became known as 

s\:a:nd Watie--a combination of his Christian name and a corruption of his 

6herokee name in English. 4 

Watie was the second son of a full-blooded Cherokee named Oo-wa-tie, 

which translated as "the ancient one," and his half-breed· wife, Susannah 

Reese. Watie's father was the son of Oganotota and the brother of Major 

Ridge. Previous to Watie 1 s birth, his father had joined Ridge in es-

tablishing a home in the beautiful valley at Oothcaloga, where he adopted 

maa¥ of the ways of the whites and acquired a comfortable home. Joining 

~ Moravian Church at Springplace in the Cherokee Nation, northeast of 

New Echota, about sixty miles from Oothcaloga and a few miles south of 

the Tennessee state line, sometime around 1811, Oo-wa-tie and his wi£e 

accepted. the Chri$tian religion. .and· adopted, the naroes ChX"~~tian .D~vid 

Watie and Susanna Charity Watie. The Oo of their Cherokee name was 

dropped to form the surname Watie, which was given to all their chil-. 

5 
dren. 

4Author Unknown, 11A Short History of Stand Watie," Cheroke·e Nation 
Collection, Western History Collections, University of Oklahoma Library, 
Norman, Oklahoma; Ennnet Starr, "lHstory of the Cherokee Indians," origi­
nal manuscript, Historical Society Library, Oklahoma Historical Society, 
Oklahoma City, Oklahoma; Mu:t~tH H. Wright, ''The Name of General Stand 
Watie of the Cherokee N ation/1 Chronicles of Oklahoma, Vol. XXXIV, No. 3 
(Autumn, 1956), pp. 252-253, ~ 

5Author Unknown, "A Short History c;>f Stan~;. W~t,~~"-'~ Cherokee Nation 
Collection, Western History Co.1lecti9JW;t Uf1.i.V'er~.n·y .:Q~ .. 0,kl~homa Library; 
Genealogy of Ridge-Watie-Boudinot, E<S.~.,'~ ~~~t:,;t;: P..~~:fl~.ag$, .Qi_a~;ton Litton, 
eds., Cherokee Cavaliers: Forty Year§~ · .. •• .~Dhl~\.Tflld .in the 
Correspondence of the Ridge-Watie-Bou·· ·· ·::·:·. ·· 'ff:te~:,,(i(ci~~\·:.,JJ'Jlil:VeJ;sity 
of Oklahoma Press, 1939), following p. l ·;Jfllk,;Lns; Cheroke:eJ;t:'8:S~31!._ 
~ Story of the Ridge Family ~ the Dec:!:!ation of !!_ Peopl~ .. ;:_'f;:;3L; · , 

......... " . ., . ' •' .... 



Watie spent his boyhood years along the creek that flowed gently 

through the pleasant valley at Oothcaloga. During these early years he 

experienced the adventures of a young Indian youth on the frontier. 

Also during this period Watie and his older brother Buck, who was later 

to take the name of Elias Boudinot, were joined first by a brother, 

Thomas Black, and then in rapid succession by four si~ters, Nancy, Mary 

Ann, Elizabeth, and Susan, and finally by two younger brothers, John 

Alexander and Charles Edwin. Thus Watie 1 s youth was interspa~ed with 

family duties, for all the children were expected to help with the farm 

6 
chores. 

The tranquility of Watie's youth was shattered in 1813-1814 with 

4 

the uprising of the Red Stick faction of the Creek Indians. The actions 

of the Red Sticks set the frontier af Lame with violence, and about six 

hundred Cherokees, mostly half-bloods, were organized into nineteen com-

panies serving with the United States Army. David Watie was appointed a 

captain in the regiment commanded by Major Ridge. Serving with distinc-

tion and valor, Watie's father participated in the Battle of Horseshoe 

Bend, aided in crushing the Red Stick uprising, and then returned safely 

to his home. This was Watie's first exposure to tribal factionalism of 

Muriel H. Wright, Springplace Moravian Mission and the Ward Family of 
the Cherokee Nat ion (Guthrie, Oklahoinac Co-Operative Publishing Company, 
1940), p. 46; Wright, "The Name of General Stand Watie of the Cherokee 
Nation," Chrori.icles of Okla,homa, Vol. XXXIV, p. 353. 

6Genealogy of Ridge-Watie-Boudinot, Dale and Litton, eds., Cherokee 
Cavaliers, following p. 302; Wilkins, Cherokee Tragedy: The Story of 
the Ridge Family and the De~imation .£f ~People, P• 31. 
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. 7 the type which would later plague the Cherokee Nation. 

Watie's fo;rmal education was received at the Moravian Mission 

School operated by Mr. and Mrs. John Gambold at Springplace. In 1815, 

Watie and his brother Buck, who had already received some education at 

the institution, were enrolled at Springplace. The school was very de-

mantling on the young scholars. They were required to labor in the gar-

dens and fields as well as learn. Nor were their spiritual needs ig-

nored, as they were taught to sing and pray along with strenuous in-

struction in gospel worship. The religion must have had a profound 

effect on young Watie inasmuch as he was baptized and joined the church. 

The students arose at daybreak in the winter and at sunrise during the 

summer. After washing and dressing, morning prayer was held and then 

breakfast. Following the morning meal, instruction began in earnest and 

lasted until noon. When the noon meal was over, the students were al-

lowed several hours of free time during which they chopped firewood, 

worked in the garden, or cultivated the fields. Once these chores were 

completed, the students were allowed to roam the forest with their blow 

guns and bows and arrows searching for small game. About three o'clock 

in the afternoon instruction began. 

Along with the religious instruction at Springplace Moravion Mis~ 

sion School, the students also received secular training from the library 

of approximately one hundred volumes. The collection consisted of fif-

teen religious books, seventeen of poetry, four volumes on education, 

and twenty other books on various topics. The textbooks consisted of 

7unprocessed Material, Cherokee Nation Collection, Western History 
Collections, University of Oklahoma Library; R. s. Cotterill, The South­
ern Indians: The Story of the Civilized Tribes Before RemovalTN'oman: 
D;:;iversity of Oi<lahoma P-;;s'S';""""1954), p. 186. 
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works on spelling, reading, grammar, oratory, and accounting. After the 

evening meal, the students joined in song and prayer before retiring to 

bed at a very early hour. It was in these surroundings that Watie re-

ceived his formal education, and for his day he was considered quite 

well educated. 8 

During his early life, Watie was overshadowed by the exploits of 

his older brother, Buck, who after attending the Moravian Mission schools 

at Springplace and Brainard, Tennessee, was sent to Cornwall, Connecti-

cut, to complete his education at the American Board of Foreign Missions 

School. lt was here that Buck adopted the name of his benefactor, Elias 

Boudinot. This custom was not unusual among the Cherokees, and was in~ 

tended as a tribute to someone held in high esteem. In contrast; to the 

leadership and talent shown by Buck, Watie was characterized as a quiet, 

retiring young man who spake very little on any subject, and never thrust 

himself forward. Thus, while Buck was sent away to receive a higher ed-

ucation~ Watie, after his sojourn at Springplace, returned to his fa~ 

9 
ther's farm to help care for his family. 

During this same time, over a period of ten years from approximately 

1817 to 1827, the Cherokees began a phenomenal, economic, material, and 

social advancement designed to bring them int;o compatability with the 

white man's way and to prevent their expulsion from their homeland. 

Meanwhile, the Watie family was also experiencing a period of prosperity 

and cultural development. In 1827, Harriet Gold Boudinot, the wife of 

8Wilkins, Cherokee Trasedx: ~ St;ory of the Rid$e Family ~ the 
Decimation of ~People, pp. 98•109. 

9 
John F~ Wheeler, "Death of Gen. Stand Wat;ie, 11 Grant foreman Col-

lection, Indian Archives Division, Oklahoma Historical Society. 
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Elias Boudinot, described the David Watie family and household. David 

Watie, Stand Watie's father, was praised for his cheerfulness and his 

"amiable, kind and affectionate disposition." 1-Us wife Susanna was po1;'­

trayed as a "very feeble woman--but never idle if she is able to be off 

her bed. She cuts and makes all the clothes for the family except the 

coats for the men. She is remarked by all who know her for her amiable 

kind and friendly disposition." Watie was character;i.zed as a young man 

about twenty-one years of age, decently educated and much esteemed among 

the Cherokees. Nancy, the eldest sister, was described as being very 

adept in matters of business, and having a kind and amiable disposition. 

One brother, Thomas, was attending school, and Mary Ann was living away 

from home at New Echota. She was characterized as having a good mind and 

conduct superior to most children her age. Elizabeth, the youngest child 

in school, was described as extremely attractive, and John had been se~ 

lected by J. A. Petrie of Ohar!eston, South Carolina, to receive a 

thorough English education under his patronage. Susan, youngest member 

10 of the family, was still a baby. 

The family appeared to want for little, as there was plenty to eat. 

Coffee, sugar, tea, milk, corn and wheat bread, beef, pork, venison, and 

fowl abounded. The table was al-so·--·attequ-at:-e-ly--si;tppl-ied with ·puddings, 

pies, and cakes. Butter, cheese, applesauce, and pickles, though not as 

plentiful as the other foods, were also on hand. The major complaint was 

ll not a shortage of food, but a lack of variety. 

In 1825, David Watie with the _aid .of his family began construction 

lORalph Henry Gabriel, El;i.as Boudinot: Cherokee and His America 
(N<;>rman: University of Oklahoma Press, 1941), pp. 96-9~ -

11Ibid., P• 97. 
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of a ferry on the Hightower River; this enterprise was to provide a 

sizable .income for the family in the years ahead. The site was carefully 

chosen and occupied the most likely crossing point of the river for a 

projected road which would lead from eastern Tennessee, through north-

western Georgia, and into Alabama. Next, David Watie secured a franchise 

from the Cherokee Nation which prohibited any other ferries from opera-

ting on the Hightower River. This virtually assured him of a ferry 

monopoly over the traffic traveling the road and guaranteed a substantial 

income for the years to come. A vast amount of land was cleared for the 

operation of the ferry, and the access road was cut through much under-

growth. As was the custom of the day and because of the importance of 

the ferry, David Watie's neighbors assisted in clearing the land and in 

constructing the ferry docks. Soon all was ready, and after a boat was 

purchased from a boat maker on the Conasauga River and transported by 

water to the crossing on the Hightower River, the ferry was placed in 

. 12 operation. 

The ferry proved to be of considerable use. Operated by the Watie 

family until 1831, it was eventually acquired by John C. Miller. Miller 

had taken possess :i.on of a Cherokee improvement about one mile upriver 

from Watie 1 s ferry by a lease granted by the state of Georgia. Estab-

lishing a ferry at that location, Miller constructed a road which inter= 

sected the main road above Watie 1s location, forcing the Watie ferry out 

of business. With the Cherokee Land Lottery held by the state of 

Georgia, Miller was deprived of his ownership, but he managed to lease 

12neclaration of Stand Watie Concerning a Ferry of Heirs of David 
Watie, March 31, 1845, Cherokee Nation Collection, Western History Col~ 
lections, University of Oklahoma Library. 



the new ferry from the lucky owner of the lot. Eventually the land 

13 passed into the possession of a Judge Hargrave. 

Later, in 1845, Stand Watie and the surviving members of the Watie 

9 

family attempted to gain reparations from the United States for the loss 

of the ferry. Watie claimed that the ferry had originally been con-

structed in compliance with the laws of the Cherokee Nation and that the 

Watie family had been deprived of it by illegal means. Watie claimed 

that the value of the ferry had increased substantially since its con-

struction, owing to its location on the main thoroughfare between eastern 

Tennessee and Alabama, and asked to be reimbursed $12,000 for the value 

of the ferry and for rent during the period of time between the seizure 

of the ferry and the Cherokee removal from Georgia. 14 

Traveling through the South for health reasons in 1826, Jeremiah 

Evarts, the Corresponding Secretary of the American Board of Cormnission= 

ers for Foreign Missions, visited Oothcaloga. While there he was enter~ 

tained in the home of Elias Boudinot and became acquainted with Watie. 

Evarts described Watie as "an industrious young man" who had spent much 

of his time aiding his family in construction of a very good two-story 

house in which the family then lived. Characterizing Watie as having 

nmore enterprise" than any other member of the family, Evarts had nothing 

b . f h" 15 ut praise or im. 

Watie's first venture into Cherokee politics came in 1828. According 

13Ibid. 

14Ibid. 

15J. Orin Oliphant, Through~ South and~~ Jeremiah Evarts 
..!E, 1826 (Lewisburg, Pennsylvania: Bucknell University Press, 1956), pp. 
111-112. 
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to the Cherokee Constitution adopted on July 26, la27, the Cherokee Su-

preme Court was authorized to appoint a Clerk of the Supreme Court for 

a term of four years. The qualifications of the clerk were to be evalu-

ated and approved by the judges of the Supreme Court; the clerk was sub· 

j.ect to removal for "breach of goQd behavior•" Dudng the annual 

October-November, 1828, session of the Supreme Court, Watie was found 

qualified and was appointed clerk by judges w. s. Adair, A. Ross, and J. 

Huss. Watie 1 s appointment as C !erk of the Supreme Court at the age of 

twenty-two began a long career in legal work which eventually won him a 

16 license for practicing law in the Cherokee Nation. 

During this period most of David Watie's children were married. On 

March 28, 1826, Elias Boudinot married Harriet Ruggles Gold, whom he met 

while attending school at Cornwall, Connecticut. On April 23, 1828, 

Nancy Watie married John Foster Wheeler, one of the printers of the 

Cherokee Phoenix. During these years Watie married the first three of 

the four wives that he was to have during his lifetime. ThQugh records 

are scarce, they show that prior to removal to Indian Territory, Watie 

married Elizabeth Fields, Isabel Hicks, and Eleanor Looney. He had no 

children by any of these marriages, and only one, Elizabeth Fields, was 

known to have died during the time of marriage. His fourth and final 

wife, whom he married in Indian Territory in 1843, was Sarah Caroline 

Bell •17 

1611constitution of the Cherokee Nation,'' July 26, 1827, United 
States Senate, 25th Congress, 2nd Session, Senate Document 346 (Washing­
ton: Gales and Seaton, 1828), p. 37; Cherokee Phoenix and Indians'. Ad-
vocate, November 19, 1828, p. 3. .....,..... 

17Wilkins, Cherokee Tragedy: The Story .2.f the Ridge Family and the 
Decimation of ! People, pp. 148-152; Carolyn T_homas Foreman, Park Hi11 
(Muskogee, Oklahoma; Star Printery, 1948), pp. 11-12; Carolyn Thomas 
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While Watie was but a youth the first group of Cherokees had mi-

grated westward from their ancestral homes in 1817. Known as the 11Cher-

okee West" or the 110ld Settlers," this band first settled in northwestern 

Arkansas. Then in 1828 they moved to the area of the three forks of the 

Arkansas, Grand, and Verdigris rivers, a location that later was to be-

come the home of all Cherokees in Indian Territory. Though the Cherokee 

West recognized the inevitability of the westward migration of the Cher-

okee Nation, the majority of the Cherokees had remained in their ances-

tral ho~e in the hope that the white and red man could exist peacefully 

as neighbors. However, such was not the case with the Cherokees and 

their Georgia neighbors, who looked with envy on the increased prosperity 

of the Cherokees, especially after the discovery of gold in the Cherokee 

Nation. Speaking in December, 1829, President Andrew Jackson unveiled 

his plan for congressional action to remove all southeastern Indians to 

a new home west of the Mississippi River, Then Georgia brought unyield-

18 ing removal pressure to bear on the Cherokees. 

Though the Cherokees continued to protest the flagrant actions of 

the Federal government and the state of Georgia, they were gradually 

being submerged. The other southeastern Indians Gaught in the same 

maelstrom bent to the will of the whites, gave up their ancient homes 

and migrated westward. The Choctaws were the first to remove, signing a 

Foreman, Oklahoma Imprints, 1835 ... 12..Q.Z: ! History .£.f Printing l!! Oklahoma 
Before Statehood (Norman: U"niversity of Oklahoma Press, 1936), P• 499; 
Ennnet Starr, .Q.!:;!, Cherokee Families (Nopnan: University of Oklahoma 
Press, 1968), p. 381; Genealogy of Ridge-Watie~Boudinot, Dale and Litton, 
eds., Cherokee Cavaliers, following p. 302. 

18Morris L. Wardell, A Political History of the Cherokee Nation, 
1838•1907 (Norman: University of Oklahoma Press,--r9'38), pp. 1-6; Wood= 
~,--:rhe Cherokees, pp. 158-159. 
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treaty in 1830. By 1832, the Chickasaws, Creeks, and Seminoles had fol-

lowed suit. Only the Cherokees remained to stand alone against the on­

slaught of the whites. 19 

Watie played a small but active role in the confrontation of the 

Cherokees and the whites. He continued to serve as Clerk of the Chero-

kee Supreme Court, and although his efforts were generally overshadowed 

by the more active participants in 1831, he served as secretary to a 

group of Cherokees protesting their treatment. Meeting on May 10, the 

group challenged the distribution of annuities among the individual mem-

bers of the tribe. Declaring that it was the duty of the group to ex-

press its views and feelings regarding the controversy between the Cher-

okees and Georgia, those present at the meeting unanimously passed a 

series of resolutions condemning the actions taken to expel the Cherokees 

from their native land. Calling on the American people to exert their 

influence on President Jackson to enforce the laws and treaties of the 

United States, the meeting contended that the Cherokees were entitled to 

the protection of the Federal government in their conflict with the 

f G . 20 
state o eorgia. 

The protestors concluded that the Cherokees were a state and a 

11 distinct political society, separated from others, capable of managing 

its own affairs and governing itself." They declared the Cherokees had 

been "uniformly treated as a state from the settlement of our country,'' 

and that the various treaties concluded with the United States recognized 

19Ibid., P• 161. 

20cherokee Phoenix and Indians' Advocate, October 3; 1830, p. 3, 
May 14, 1831, P• 3. 
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the Cherokees as a pe9ple "capable of maintaining the relations of peace 

and war, of being responsible in their political character for any vio­

lation of their engage!llents, or for any aggression connnitted on the cit­

izens of the United States, by any individual of their connnunity. 11 They 

resolved that the actions of the United States government clearly recog­

nized the Cherokee Nation 11 as a State, & the courts are bound by those 

acts. 11 The meeting argued that through its laws Georgia had taken pos­

session of the Cherokee gold mines, overrun the country with armed bands, 

forced the Indians to endure 11 not only civil but martial law," and stolen 

the property of the tribal members. Furthermore, these actions were 

"repugnant to the Constitution, laws, and treaties of the United States , 11 

and President Jackson had refused to provide the called for protection 

of the rights of the Cherokee Nation. 21 

Continuing, the members of the meeting pleaded for an act of Con~ 

gress to produce "peace according to equity and good conscience." They 

declared that they were not ashamed that the Cherokees were in a state 

of pupilage to the United States, and praised their friends for sustain~ 

ing their belief in the rights of the Cherokees. Stating that the Cher­

okees enjoyed perpetual peace and friendship with the United States, 

they reasserted their confidence in Chero~ee officials who had exercised 

forebearance and prudence in the face of trials and insults from the 

state of Georgia. The members of the protest meeting resolved that they 

entertained "the highest respect for the firmness & patriotism of our 

principal Chiefs," and that they expressed their great satisfaction with 

the conduct of the other Cherokee officials involved in the controversy. 

21Ibid. 
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Besides Watie and Andrew Adair, who served as secretaries, the resolu~ 

tions were signed by Thomas Woodard, Flute, Tarchungsee, David Watie, 

Tahcahsanta, Charles More, Ahnewohenskettee, Archeelung, Kahhenahe, Tey-

22 
ohlee, Yohenongjooweyah, and Choolah. 

Elias Boudinot, the editor of the Cherokee Phoenix, and his cousin 

John Ridge conducted a speaking tour of the Northern states in March, 

1832, to rally support for the Cherokee cause. During their absence the 

editorial duties of the paper were placed in the care of Watie. However, 

the tour bore little fruit, and the refusal of Georgia and President 

Jackson to enforce the decision of the United States Supreme Court in 

the cases of Cherokee Nation ~· Georgia and Worcester ~· Georgia 

spelled doom for the Cherokee Nation. In instructing Watie on Cherokee 

Phoenix publication policy in his absence, Boudinot urged that nothing 

be printed concerning the forthcoming presidential election or the Su-

preme Court decision. 4hough Boudinot believed that the recent turn of 

events would have a "most powerful effect on public opinion," and create 

a "new era on the Indian Question," he suggested that they should only 

"look on and see. 11 Expressing renewed optimism, however, John Ridge re-

joiced over the decision of the Supreme Court and he reminded Watie that 

with editorial remarks in the Cherokee Phoenix he would be able to neut 

down this Snake 1 s [Jackson 1 s J head and throw it down in the dust·" Ap-

parently Watie did not play an active role in the. publication of the 

newspaper; thus harsh editorials were avoided so as not to involve the 

Cherokees in the presidential election of 1832. 23 

22Ibid. 

23Gabriel, Elias Boudinot~ Cherokee and His America, P• 132; Elias 
Boudinot to Stand Watie, March 7, 1832, and John Ridge to Stand Watie, 
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In the fall of 1832, the Georgia Land Lottery was held to divide 

the Cherokee lands. The Cherokee Nation was surveyed into plots and a 

lottery conducted to distribute the land among the white citizens of 

Georgia. Heedless of the charges of irregularities in the conduct of 

the drawing, those fortunate enough to have their names pulled from the 

container descended on the Cherokee Nation demanding occupancy of their 

new holdings. Watie 1s property was located in the fourteenth district 

of the third section of the new Cherokee County, Georgia. The area had 

been surveyed by Stephen Drane in May, 1832. He described Watie 1 s im-

provements as being located in and adjac~nt to the town of New Echota. 

Most of the improvements were located astride lot lines, which were not 

drawn in regard to existing buildings. The lines drawn by the official 

surveyors ran north and south and east and west, and in many instances 

placed individual property in more than one lot. Watie 1 s holdings were 

near the intersection of the Coosawatte and Conasanga rivers. His im-

provements were located mainly at the conversion of lots 92, 93, 124, 

and 125. However, some buildings were scattered along the southern por~ 

tion of lot 93 and the northern part of lot 94. Thus, his property was 

drawn by four individuals. Lot 92 was drawn by Richard B. Coleman, the 

winner of lot 93 was John Layle, the holder of lot 124 was John Meadows, 

24 
and Westley Yarbraw got lot 125. 

April 6, 1832, Dale and Litton; eds., Cherokee Cavaliers, pp. 4-10; 
Grant Foreman, Indian Removal: The Emigration of the Five Civilized 
Tribes of Indians (Norman~ University of Oklahoma Press, 1932),-pp. 
233-235. 

24 . James F. Smith, The Cherokee Land Lottery (New York~ Harper and 
Brothers, 1838), pp. 256-263; Field Notes, Records of the Georgia 
Surveyor-General Department, Office of the Secretary of State, Atlanta, 
Georgia. 
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In the midst of the controversy, the Watie family was struck with 

personal grief. On the morning of October 21, 1832, Susanna Charity 

Watie, Watie's mother, died at the approximate age of forty-six. Her 

obituary characterized her as born amidst the ignorance which had en-

cumbered her countrymen: "Like them she was brought up without any hope 

of enjoying the blessings of civilization and the comfort of religion. 

Through the kind Providence of God, however, she lived to enjoy the one 

and died supported by the other.11 Mrs. Watie spoke only Cherokee and 

was illiterate; however, she constantly encouraged her children to 

achieve an education and accept instruction in "the paths of virtue." 

A member in good standing of the Moravian Church, her death was widely 

25 
mourned. 

In the spring of 1834, a vacancy in the position of interpreter for 

the Cherokee Agency occurred. Watie received the enthusiastic reconnnen~ 

dation of Major Ridge, Elias Boudinot, Andrew Ross, David Vann, John 

West, T. J. Pack, and Jan;ies Starr for the opening, and they assured Lewis 

Cass, the Secretary of War, that Watie's appointment would "give general 

satisfaction." Speaking both Cherokee and English and with his rela­

tively good education, Watie was adequately qualified for the job. 26 

The faction of the Cherokees led by Major Ridge, his son John 

Ridge, Elias Boudinot, and Stand Watie reconciled itself to the inevit~ 

ability of Cherokee expulsion from Georgia. They believed that the only 

25ob· Ch k Ph . d I d. 1 Ad N b 11 ituary, ero ee oenix ..§!E._ n ians vocate, ovem er , 
1832' p ~ 3. 

26Major Ridge, Andrew Ross, David Vann, John West, T. J. Pack, 
Elias Boudinot, and James Starr to Lewis Cass, April 5, 1834, Foreman 
Transcripts, Indian Archives Division, Oklahoma Historical Society. 



17 

way to preserve the tribal sovereignty of the Cherokees was to remove to 

the West. This belief resulted in a bitter split among the Cherokees, 

as the majority of the tribe, under the leadership of Principal Chief 

John Ross, continued to oppose removal, Thus began among the Cherokees 

a schism which was to plague the tribe for decades. As the question 

concerning removal grew more heated with the majority of the tribe still 

opposed to such action meetings were held throughout the Cherokee Nation. 

Some Cherokees had already migrated westward; their letters to tribal 

friends and relatives still in Georgia, however, bore one message--remain 

where you are. The Cherokee situation grew more helpless each day as 

the Federal government turned a deaf ear to the Cherokee's pleas to stay 

27 
in their ancestral homes. 

Such were the conditions in the Cherokee Nation while Watie matured. 

Amidst the confusion and controversy, Watie developed many of the loyal~ 

ties and hatreds which he was to bear for the remainder of his life. 

Greatly overshadowed in these early years by the exploits of his more 

vocal relatives, Major Ridge, John Ridge, and Elias Boudinot, Watie 

tended to take a backseat in the leadership and determination displayed 

by the other members of his family. He received, nevertheless, his 

initiation to Cherokee politics by serving as the Clerk of the Cherokee 

Supreme Court and by participating actively in one protest over the 

treatment of the Cherokees. The lessons learned during this turbulent 

era of Cherokee history would serve Watie well after the ordeal of re-

moval, when fate would thrust him into the leadership of the Ridge-

Watie-Boudinot faction. 

27woodward, The Cherokees, p. 171; Robert G. Martin, Jr., "The 
Cherokee Phoenix: Pioneer of Indian Journalism," Chronicles of Okla­
homa, Vol. XXV, No. 2 (Summer, 1947), pp. 115•116. 



CHAPTER II 

REMOVAL 

The question over removal grew ni.ore bitter and various Cherokee 

delegations, representing all factions, trekked to Washington to present 

their proposals to.Federal officials. At first the Ridge~Watie-Boudinot 

group cooperated with the Ross faction in its attempt to retain the 

Cherokee holdings in Georgia,. However, a group led by Andrew Ross was 

determined to negotiate an agreement with the United States providing 

for the removal of the Cherokees. Andrew Ross succeeded in convincing 

Major Ridge and Elias Boud;i..not, Watie 1s uncle and older brother, to t.rav-

el to Washington to seek a removal treaty, but the delegation met with 

little success. Returning to the Cherokee Nation, Andrew Ross was en-

couraged by Federal officials to try again, Cherokee enrolling agent 

William Hardin dispatched Watie to New. Echota to bring Elias Boudinot to 

confer with Ross and Hardin in an attempt to send another delegation to 

Washington to secure a removal treaty. Though they accepted the offer, 

Ridge and Boudinot soon withdrew from the negotiations after it became 

1 apparent that they were a sham. 

Nevertheless, a treaty was signed and submitted to the United 

States Senate for approval. Fortunately for the Cherokees, it was 

1United States to Stand Watie, December, 1834, Cherokee Nation 
·Collection, Western History Collections, University of Oklahoma Library; 
Wilkins, Cherokee Tragedy: ~ Story of th~ Ridge Family and ~ ~-
tnation £! .! People, pp. 250-251. · · 

1A 
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rejected. Even though Major Ridge and Boudinot had refused to take part 

in the final negotiations, they were severely criticized for their par-

ticipation, and a petition was presented demanding that Ridge be im~ 

peached from his office in the Cherokee General Council for his actions. 

When the General Council convened in October, '1834, though Chief John 

Ross refused to prosecute the charges, he would not allow a trial to be 

held to clear the name of the accused. As a result, Major Ridge and 

Boudinot called their own meeting to be held at Running Waters on Novem-

2 
ber 27, 1834. 

This meeting resulted in the final break between the RidgecWatie= 

Boudinot faction and the Cherokees ~ed by Chief Ross. The gathering dee 

clared that from "time immemorial, the Cherokee nation have composed a 

sovereign and independent State," and that the United States through its 

treaties "promised to protect the Cherokee people, and restrain the 

white people from intruding upon their lands." In addition, the Chero= 

kees had achieved a degree of civilization unparalleled by any other 

Indian tribe. However, in I,"eturn for their loyalty to the United States, 

the President, Congress, and the Supreme Court had refused to interpose 

in the conflict between the Cherokees and Georgia to protect the rights 

of the Indians. The gathering declared that the Cherokees had "been 

compelled to the hard case of choosing an alternative, either of remain~ 

ing here in a state of vassalage to the States, or that of emigrating to 

the Western country." Though it saddened them greatly, the Cherokees 

present stated that "when we think of our children, and the duties we 

owe to posterity, we can never choose to be slaves, but will, at all 

2Ibid., p. 252. 
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hazzards, seek freedom in the far regions of the West.11 They continued 

that they had "taken pains to ascertain the sentiments of our people on 

the subject, and it is almost universally agreed that a great majority 

would remove if they were convinced that they CO\lld not be restored to 

3 
their rights of self-government." 

The gathering then asked that Congress grant the Cherokees in the 

West a perpetual annuity equal to the amount received by the Creeks, and 

payments for the Cherokee improvements in the South. In addition, the 

Cherokees should be granted a "liberal sum of money" when they arrived 

in the West for the hardships of the process of removal. They asked for 

a larger amount of money than the eighteen dollars then allotted by Con~ 

gress to defray the expenses of traveling to the West. They also wanted 

reassurance that the Western lands would be outside the limits of any 

state or territory, and that the Cherokees "be secured in a government 

of their own choice, subject to no control from the United States, other 

than such as may be necessary to preserve peace on the frontier. 114 

Watie was among the fifty~seyen Cherokees who signed the document, 

which was presented as a petition to Congress. In addition to the is-

sued statement, the members also passed a series of resolutions rein-

forcing their decision. The meeting resolved that the actions of the 

Federal government and the state of Georgia would hinder the "progress 

in improvement and advance in knowledge," and "by means of numerous in-

f luences and temptations which this new state of things had created, will 

311Memorial, 11 United States House of Representatives, 23rd Congress, 
2nd Session, Executive Document 21 (Washington: Gales and Seaton, 1835), 
pp. 393-397. 

4rbid., pp. 297-298. 
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completely destroy every thing like civilization" among the Cherokees. 

The alternative left to the Cherokees was to "seek a country where we 

may enjoy our own laws, and live under our own vine and fig tree. 11 They 

declared that as patriots they could not "shrink from doing our duty in 

expressing our decided convictions," and that they "scorn the charge of 

selfishness and a want of patriotic feelings alleged against us by some 

of our countrymen." In the end they appealed to their "consciences and 

the Searcher of all hearts for the rectitude of our motives and inten­

tions .11 The assembly concluded th~t they "consider the lot of the exile 

immeasurably more to be preferred than a submission to the laws of the 

States, and thus becoming witnesses of the ruin and degradation of the 

5 
Cherokee people •11 

The resolutions also argued t;:hat a majority of the Cherokees would 

prefer removal to the West when they were made aware of the true state 

of their condition in Georgia, and that the only alternative was to re­

main among a white population, subject to its law. Stating that the 

leading men of the Cherokee Nation had not deemed it proper to seek a 

better home west of the Mississippi River, still they were willing to 

migrate provided that the United States guarantee that they would be al~ 

lowed to govern themselves according to their own laws and regulations. 

Considering the struggle to remain in their present homes useless and de­

structive, they pointed to the fate of the Creeks as sufficient warning; 

they declared, nevertheless, that they would not oppose those Cherokees 

who preferred to remain in Georgia. Inasmuch as law suits in both 

5Ibid., pp. 298e301. 
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Federal and state courts had offered no relief from the suppression of 

the Cherokees, the meeting judged it expedient to appoint a delegation 

to proceed to Washington to "ask for such rights and privileges as are 

calculated to render those Cherokees who are disposed to remove, con­

tented and happy in their new homes. 11 Among those sent to Washington 

were Watie's cousin and older brother, John Ridge and Elias Boudinot. 6 

Dissension among the Cherokees was now approaching a crisis, and 

Chief Ross, fearing that the Federal government would soon negotiate a 

treaty with the Ridge-Watie .. Boudinot faction, made a proposal to Wash­

ington. Ross offered to exchange the Cherokee lands in Georgia for a 

new home in the West for the sum of $20,000,000. Believing that the 

sum was totally out of proportion, the offer was refused by the United 

States, which countered by promising the Cherokees $5,000,000 for their 

land. Boudinot informed Watie on February 28 ,. 1833, soon after the Ross 

offer, that their "proceedings have finally so frightened Mr. Ross so 

that he made several propositions lately, all of which have been re­

jected promptly." Not trusting the intentions of Ross, who was now be­

coming the primary antagonist of the Ridge-Watie-Boudinot group, Boudinot 

accused Ross of simply wanting Hto get the money and hunt out a country 

for himself •11 Continuing his support of a policy of removal, Boudinot 

declared that "the Cherokees, when they find out that they are to remove 

at all events will not think of going to a Country of which they know 

nothing. But here is a country to which they can go with the same pecu~ 

niary advantages, a country already obtained and nearby," and then he 

hastened to add that the President of the United States agreed to adding 

6rbid., PP• 301-302. 



the Neutral Land, "which is a most excellent country," to the Cherokee 

7 holdings in the West. 
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A few days later, on March 8, 1833, Boudinot, while still in Wash~ 

ington, again contacted Watie, informing him that during a presidential 

cabinet meeting it was decided to give the Cherokees $4,500,000 and the 

Neutral Lands in exchange for their an~estral holdings in: Georgia. 

Stating that the United States Senate had limited the amount to be 

awarded the Cherokees to this offer, Boudinot declared that an acceptable 

agreement would soon be forthcoming. nNow John Ross will do nothing, 

the matter will have to be left to our people--we shall only have to 

exert ourselves for the majority," he said. He informed Watie that a 

United States commissioner would soon be sent to the Cherokee Nation to 

propose a treaty to the tribe. Again accusing Ross of "trying to make a 

treaty and take the money, and go out of the limits of the United 

States," Boudinot insisted to Watie that ;it was important that the Cher~ 

okees have a clear understanding of what they were attempting to accom-

plish. To insure this, Watie was urged to engage the a;i.d of his brother, 

Thomas, for seizing the printing press of the Cherokee Phoenix at New 

Echota. Telling him where he could locate plenty of paper and ink, 

Boudinot proposed that Watie at once begin the issuance of circulars and 

handbills encouraging the Cherokees to accept the offer. Watie was in= 

formed disc:i;-eetly that he would 1 'be well paid for it--Mr. Schermerhorn, 

who is the Cominissioner authorizes me to say that he will feel himself 

7Robert A. Rµtland, "Political Background of the Cherokee Treaty of 
New Echota, 11 Chronicles of Oklahoma, Vol. XXVII, No. 4 (Winter, 1949-
1950), p. 403; Elias.Boudinot to Stand Watie, February 28, 1835, Dale and 
Litton, eds., Cherokee Cavaliers, pp. 10-12. 
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bound to pay all costs.11 
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Boudinot explained to Watie that the Federal government was willing 

to pay every man, woman, and child $100, plus $25 each for removal and 

$150, 000 for damages. In addition, all who were wounded in the War of 

1812 were to be added to the Federal pension list. Invitations were to 

be sent out ".for a meeting to discuss the proposal, and Watie was urged 

to use every honorable means to induce a majority of the Cherokees to 

agree to removal. Congress also agreed to appropriate money for the ex-

penses incurred during the meeting. The question before.the Cherokees, 

as described by Boudinot, was whether or not Indians would take 

$5,000,000, as proposed by Ross, and move to Mexico, or would accept the 

Ridge-Watie-Boudinot proposal of $4,500,000 plus the Neutral Lands. 

Again Watie was urged confidential_ly ·to ·.take possession of .the Cherokee 

Phoenix press and be ready to print what would be necessary to win a ma-

9 
jority of the Cherokees for removal. 

The bitter hatred between the opposing factions was becoming more 

obvious. Watie 1 s cousin, John Ridge, emphasized on March 10, 1835, that 

Ross had failed in his efforts, though he "tried hard to cheat ••• his 

people." Ridge warned thc;tt soon Ross would be returning to the Cherokee 

Nation "no doubt to tell lies, 11 but that he would bring proof of Ross' s 

actual intentions. He urged Watie to remain at home, ass1,1ring him that 

all would be right;, now that the Federal government would have no more 

8Elias Boudinot to Stand Watie, March 8, 1835, "Letters To and From 
Stand Watie, 11 2 vols., Vol. Il, Cherokee Room, John Vaughan Library, 
Northeastern State College, Tahlequah, Oklahoma. 
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dealings with Ross. 10 

After the pro-removal mission to Washington, President Jackson ap-

pointed John R. Schermerhorn and General William Carroll as commission-

ers to the Cherokees to make final arrangements for a removal treaty. 

Also, in April, 1835, the pro-removal Cherokee delegation returned from 

Washington and held a meeting at Running Waters to explain what had 

transpired in Washington. They invited all dissatisfied Cherokees to 

attend another meeting to be held on the first Monday in May. In the 

meantime, Carroll became ill, and Schermerhorn traveled to the Cherokee 

11 
country alone. 

The meeting convened as scheduled in May; however, very little was 

accomplished and no agreement on a treaty was reached. The May meeting 

failed because only the hard core supporters of removal attended--not 

more than one hundred. Not to be deterred, they scheduled another con-

ference for the third Monday in July. Opposition to removal continued 

to increase, and soon the leaders of the Ridge-Watie-Boudinot faction 

1 . d . f f h . l 0 
12 ive in . ear o t eir ives. 

Surprisingly, Chief Ross urged his supporters to attend the July 

meeting, and he staunchly declared that his faction would be able to se~ 

cure a much better treaty than the one offered by the Ridge-Watie-

Boudinot group. In reply, John Ridge stated that the United States 

would offer no better treaty than the one they had negotiated. At the 

lOJohn Ridge to Major Ridge and Others, March 10, 1835, Dale and 
Litton, eds., Cherokee Cavaliers, pp. 12-14. 

11Rutland, 11Political Background of the Cherokee Treaty of New 
Echota," Chronicles of Oklahoma, p. 404; Wilkins, Cherokee Tragedyg The 
Sto_EY of the Ridge Family and the Decimation of ! People, p. 260. 

12 . 
Ibid., PP• 260-261. 
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same time, the pro-removal party turned to the officials of Georgia for 

support. Tensions were high when Cherokees by the thousands poured into 

the council ground at Running Waters, and the meeting opened with a 

prayer by David Watie. This was perhaps the largest gathering of Cher-

okees ever assembled; some estimates were as high as 4,000 men, women, 

and children. The Georgia Guard was positioned on the outskirts of the 

meeting ground to ensure peace; the Cherokees, however, maintained order 

throughout the council. The pro-removal party proposed the following 

resolution to the gathering: 

Resolved, by the council of the Cherokee nation~ That in 
consideration of the poor condition of our people, the aged, 
the infirm of both sexes, men, women, and children, that the 
present annuity of six thousand six hundred and sixty=six 
dollars and s ixty•seven cents, be now divided equally to the 
people, and to the poor particularly, as it is their money, 
accruing from old treaties with the United ~tates. It is 
now a great many years since they have received the same. 

This proposal was designed especially to attack the Ross followers, and 

both Major Ridge and John Ridge spoke at length in support of the meas= 

ure. Chief Ross countered with a proposal that the money be paid di-

rectly to the Treasurer of the Cherokee Nation; this passed by acclama= 

tion. 13 

After the resolutions were introduced, a vote was taken. Stand 

Watie, David Watie, John Watie, Major Ridge, and John Ridge, with the 

majority of the pro-removal faction, voted for the resolution providing 

for the annuity payment to the individual members of the tribe; never= 

theless, they were in the minority, since only 114 voted for the measure 

13Ibid., pp. 261=266; Resolutions, July 19, 1835, in "Reports and 
Correspondence Relating to the Cherokee Treaty of 1835," United States 
Senate, 25th Congress, 2nd Session, Senate Document 120 (Washington: 
Blair and Rives, 1838), pp. 396-398. 
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and 2,159 voted against it in the final vote. This was a crushing defeat 

for the Ridge ... Watie-Boudinot party, and the meeting adjourned without 

transacting additional business. Owing to the m;i.s fortune of t:he pro-

removal party at the July meeting, the Federal commissioners believed 

that it was best not to schedule another assembly until the following 

November, but Schermerhorn expre$sed optimism that a successful removal 

treaty would be concluded at this later date, 14 

In August, 1835, Wat;i.e finally acted on the advice given by Elias 

Boudinot the previous March. Feq.ring that Ross would remove the print-

ing press of the Cherokee Phoenix to Red Clay, Tennessee& and utilize it 

to publish anti-removal propaganda, Watie contacted the Georgia Guard 

and gained their aid in taking thEi! press. He declared that in the ab= 

sence of Boudinot& Ross had illegally seized the press and moved it to 

the home of Elijah Hicks at New Echota. Hearing that Ross was construct= 

ing a building to house the printing press at Red Clay, Watie contended 

that the press had been purchased by his brother, Elias Boudinot, 

through voluntary contributions from citizens of the United States for 

the general benefit of the entire Cherokee Nation. The press was to be 

used to convey the truth to all members of the tribe, Watie contended, 

and Ross would not use it in a fair, candid, and impartial manner. Nor 

would Ross allow both sides-~those in favor and those opposed to re-

moval~-to voice their opinions, and under the direction of Ross:1 the 

press was "prostituted to party polit:Lcs" and used to mislead the common 

people. Watie maintained that Ross was attempting to prejudice the 

minds of patriotic members of the tribe because they would not submit to 

14Ibid.:1 pp. 398-448; John R. Schermerhorn to Elbert Herring, 
August 1, 1835, ibid., pp. 449-450. 
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his dictation. Claiming tQat the press should be restored to the hands 

of the original owner, Elias Boudinot, Watie arrived at the home of 

Hicks and demanded of his wife the re.turn of the pre.ss, type, books, 

papers, and other articles which had been removed from Boudinot's home. 

15 The.se. items were peacefully returned. 

Watie. then informed Benjamin F. Currey, the Cherokee agent, that 

the press would be open to all people of the Cherokee NaUon, and would 

publish everything relative to the Cherokees removal controversy. Currey 

supported Watie's actions and condoned his seizure of the press; however, 

he reassured Ross that the press would be utilized "according to the 

original design of the donors," and for the benefit and best interest of 

all the Cherokees. Thus the RidgeqWatie-Boudinot faction was able to 

use the press to gain support for their policy of removal and to attempt 

to change the attitude of the majority of the Cherokees before the No­

vember, 1835, meeting open to all Cherokees would be held. 16 

Ross continued to employ stalling tactics in an attempt to prevent 

negotiation of a removal treaty. He had agreed to meet with the Ridge-

Watie-Boudinot faction in late. July flt the urging of Schermerhorn, to 

unite and promote the welfare o~ the Cherokee Nation, but on the ap-

pointed day Ross did not appear and cited illness as the reason. The 

meeting was postponed due to the forthcoming Green Corn Dance scheduled 

for late August, and violence against the pro-removal faction increased. 

Meanwhile, several supporters of the projected removal treaty were 

15John Ross to John F. Schermerhorn and Benjamin Currey, August 22, 
1835, and Benjamin Currey to John Ross, September 9, 1835, Foreman 
Transcripts, Indian Archives Division, Oklahoma Historical Society. 

16Ibid. 



murdered. Nevertheless, the pro-removal faction utilized the Green 

Corn celebration to stimulate interest in its proposed treaty. 17 

29 

A census was conducted among the Cherokees in 1835 in preparation 

for their expected removal to the West. Watie was still living on 

Oothcaloga Creek, and his household was listed on the census rolls. In 

the meantime, the proposal for removal was gaining support. Many Cher-

okees were dissatisfied with Ross' s stalling tactics and openly threat-

ened to side with the Ridge•Watie-Boudinot faction if Ross did not 

satisfactorily conclude the removal question soon. 18 

The long delayed meeting of the two groups as urged by Schermerhorn 

was scheduled for the second Monday in October, 1835~ at Red Clay. On 

the appointed date~ the forest virtually "echoed with the trampling of 

many fe.et" as Cherokees from across the Cherokee Nation gathered to de= 

termine their future. However, Ross, continuing to employ his delaying 

tactics, made every effort to prevent Schermerhorn from speaking to the 

assembly. Ross contended thf'tt Schermerhorn "had no commission to act," 

and therefore was not a duly authorized commissioner to conclude a 

treaty. Ross succeeded in convincing the meeting to pass a resolution 

agreeing not to enter into a treaty on a basis of $5,000~000, and he 

presented a petition containing one thousand names to empower him and 

nineteen others to journey to Washington to negotiate another agreement. 

However, Schermerhorn, his vanity badly damaged, was determined to se= 

cure the removal treaty he was sent to conclude, so he used his 

17Wilkins, Cherokee Tragedy: The Story of the Ridge Family and the 
Decimation of !!_ People, pp. 267-269. 

18Ibid., p. 269; Cherokee Census, 1835, Foreman Transcripts~ Indian 
Archives Division, Oklahoma Historical Society. 
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authorization to call a general Cherokee meeting at New Echota on De-

cember 21, 1835. Notices for the December gathering were posted 

throughout the Cherokee Nation, probably printed on the press seized by 

W . 19 
a tie, 

Among those selected by the Red Clay meeting as delegates to Wash• 

ington were John Ridge and Elias Boudinot, Boudinot was hesitant about 

the trip, and when pressed by Chief Ross to either prepare for the 

journey or "send rp.e your written resignation," he resigned because he 

did not wish to re.move. himself from the center of the controversy. Ross 

suggested that his place be taken by Major Ridge, but he was suspicious 

of leaving the Cherokee Nation at such a pressing time. Ross then sug-

gested that Boudinot's place be taken by George Chambers, but Boudinot 

at the. urging of the other members of the pro-removal faction suggested 

that his brother, Stand Watie, be appointed to assume the vacant post. 

This decision had the full support of both Major Ridge and George Cham= 

bers, who agreed with the selection. This appointment was Watie 1 s first 

major entrance into tribal politics. Boudinot conceded that Ross prob-

ably did not know Watie because of "his great mode.sty," and character-

ized him as "a man of sterling sense and integrity, and you will be 

pleased to find him so." No doubt Watie was well briefed as to his 

course of action in Washington, and the Ridge-Watie-Boudinot faction had 

the fullest confidence that he would carry out the wishes of the pro= 

19Wilkins, Cherokee Tragedy: The Story of~ Ridge Family and 
the Decimation of ~ People, pp~ 270-272; John F. Schermerhorn to Elbert 
Herring, October 27, 1835, in "Reports and Correspondence Relating to 
the Cherokee Treaty of 1835," United States Senate, 25th Congress, 2nd 
Session, Senate ~ocument 120, pp. 484-485. 
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removal party. 20 

The delegation left the Cherokee Nation on December l~ 1835, and 

arrived in Washington later the same month. John Ridge and Watie took 

up residence at Mrs. Arguelles' Boarding House. On January 2, 1836, the 

delegation informed Secretary of War Lewis Cass of their arrival and 

their authorization to negotiate a treaty of removal. They also asked 

for a meeting with Cass and President Jackson. Ridge and Watie joined 

the other members of the Cherokee delegation in meeting with Cass on 

January 6~ when Cass informed them that the Federal government was in"' 

flexible on three points: there would be no funds in addition to the 

$5,000,000 appropriated by Congress, individuals would not be granted 

land for personal ownership, and all monies would be paid to individual 

Cherokees and not to tribal authorities. The cool reception afforded 

the Cheroke.e. delegates was concluded with the expressed regret of Cass 

that the delegation had probably journeyed to Washington on a hopeless 

mission. Nevertheless, they met with President Jackson the following 

morning~ and he informed them that the government would consider their 

proposals. The Cherokee proposals, he said, would need to be submitted 

in writing to the Secretary of War, and a decision made as to their ac= 

b ·1 · 21 cepta i ity. 

20John Ross to Elias Boudinot, November 25, 1835, Elias Boudinot to 
John Ross, November 25, 1835, and John Ross to Major Ridge, November 30~ 
1835~ in "Memorial and Protest of the Cherokee Nation," United States 
House of Representatives, 24th Congress, 1st Session, Executive Document 
286 (Washington: Blair and Rives, 1835), pp. 101~102; Wilkins, Cherokee 
Treaty: The Story of the Ridge E'amil y and the Decimation of ~ People, p. 
272. . . 

21 Ibid., p. 279; Cherokee Delegation to Lewis Cass, January 4~ 
1836, Cherokee Agency East, Letters Received by the Office of Indian Af= 
fairs, National Archives, Washington, D. C. 
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Meantime, in the. Cherokee Nation a group of the pro-removal fac-

tion, including Major Ridge, Elia~ Boudinot, and David Watie, had con-

tacted President Jackson on December 1, 1835. At that time they con-

ceded that the policy of removal supported by Jackson was the "only 

course that can preserve us as a distinct community," and they fully 

\ 
supported such a policy. They stated that they believed tha't the ma-

jority of the Cherokees were convinced "of the entire folly of their 

continuing any longer in their p~rplexed condition," and that they stood 

"pre.pared to give their assent to a treaty with the United States." Ex-

pressing supreme confidence in Jackson to "secure justice to the poor 

Indian~" they declared opposition to the establishment of reservations 

and the division of the money among the mass of Indians "without secur-

ing a home to which they can flee for refuge. 1122 

The meeting at New Echota convened on December 21, 1835, with ap= 

proximately four hundred Cherokees in attendance. Schermerhorn ex.., 

plained the purpose of the meeting and declared that on the following 

day he would present the removal treaty proi,:>osals of the government. 

Ross, opposing the meeting, had sent runners throughout the area urging 

the Cherokees not to attend, but Schermerhorn proceeded to offer a 

treaty. Most of the Cherokees present were of the opinion that it was 

in their best intere.st that "their difficulties with the United States 

should be speedily settled by a treaty~ and before they separated from 

thi.s council." Watie and John Ridge were not in attendance due to their 

22Major Ridge, David Watie, Jesse Half-breed, Bear Meat, Ground 
Mole, Ye~soh=daske, E=de-gung-na-hee, Scon-ah-clah-hee, Yo .. noo-killer, 
Jos. Scon-ah-da-hee, Gah-lung-doh .. quoh-noh, and Elias Boudinot to 
Andrew Jackson~ December 1, 1835, in "Reports and Correspondence Relat= 
ing to the Cherokee Treaty of 1835," United States Senate, 25th Congress, 
2nd Session, Senate Document 11.Q.~ pp. 490-491. 
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mission to Washington, but Elias Boudinot and Major Ridge were present. 23 

On De.cember 23, Schermerhorn presented the treaty propositions, and 

after solemn deliberation the Cherokees accepted them and agree.cl to en-

ter into treaty negotiations. A committee of twenty Cherokees was 

authorized to negotiate with the Federal officials. The following six 

days were spent in consultations and conferences on the terms of the 

agreement. The sum of $5,000,000 was to be. paid the Cherokees for their 

land east of the Mississippi River, and the claims for damages, losses, 

and dange.rs inflicted on the Cherokees by white intruders on their land 

were to be again referred to the United States Senate to determine if 

they should be paid. If the Senate refused to appropriate any more 

funds, the Cherokees were to receive $300,000 for damages, $50,000 

higher than previously offered. The Cherokees insisted that reserva-

tions "should be made and allowed to such of their people as were averse 

to a removal west, and we.re determined to continue in their residences 

under the laws of the States." In reply the government commissioners 

informed the Cherokees that according to their instructions "no discre-

tionary power was given them on this point, and that they were inadmis~ 

sible in the. treaty," but they would agree to a limited number of pre~ 

emption rights to be granted in North Carolina, Tennessee, and Alabama 

to Cherokees who "were qualified or calculated to become useful members 

of society. 1124 

23A Journal of the Proceedings of the Council Held at New Echota, 
Georgia, December 21-30, 1835, in ibid., pp. 513-514; Wilkins, Cherokee 
Tragedy: The Story of the Ridg~ Family and the Decimation of ~ People~ 
p. 275. 

24A Journal of the Proceedings of the Council Held at New Echota, 
Georgia, December 21-30, 1835, in "Reports and Correspondence Relating 
to the Cherokee Treaty of 1835," United States Senate, 25th Congress, 
2nd Session, Senate Document 120, pp. 514-515. 
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Another area of difficulty was the 4,000,000 acres of land the 

Cherokee.s surrendered in 1817 and 1819 in exchange for territory in 

Arkansas. The Cherokees pointed out that many of the reservations prom-

ised in these treaties had not yet been granted. In order to remove 

this complaint, Schermerhorn agreed to include a guarantee of the ful-

fillment of the previous treaties in the one being negotiated. Declar-

ing that the Cherokees had suffered great distress and suffering because 

of the unsettled state of affairs in Georgia, the delegation asked and 

received a two-year advance of annuities to relieve the condition of the 

Cherokees. Finally, the Cherokees insisted on the payment of certain 

claims of former traders. Upon examining the claims, the commissioners 

ruled that they were just and agreed to include these conditions in a 

supplement to the treaty. 25 

On December 28, 1835, the pro-removal faction agreed on terms which 

were presented to the meeting, and after due consideration approved~ and 

the committee of twenty was instructed by the gathering to sign the 

agreement. The treaty signing ceremony was held on December 29~ and the 

following day the meeting was reconvened and told that the agreement had 

been signed. A special committee was then appointed to accompany Scher= 

merhorn to Washington, to aid in getting the Red Clay delegation to sign 

the agreement and for securing its approval by the United States Senate. 

After the Federal commissioners presented each Cherokee present at the 

. 26 
gathering with a blanket, the meeting adjourned, 

Soon after the treaty was signed, the delegation in Washington, 

25 rbid., PP· 515~517. 

26Ibid., p. 517. 
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including Watie, began to hear rumors of the negotiations. On January 

14, 1836, however, the delegation declared that it had received no infor-

mation from the Cherokee Nation concerning the. purported treaty, and ex-

pressed surprise over the rumored development. The delegation asked 

for understanding concerning the "awkward and delicate situation" in 

27 which the rumored information placed them. 

On February 9, 1836, Watie and John Ridge joined with the other 

members of the Red Clay delegation in protesting the purported treaty 

signing. Apparently neither Ridge nor Watie was aware of what had 

transpired in the Cherokee Nation during their absence, and both went 

along with the majority wishes of the delegation in Washington. The 

protest declared that as representatives of the Cherokee people, they 

"disapprove· of, and solemnly protest against, the proceedings of New 

Echota," and requested that President Jackson inform them of his in-

tentions concerning the New Echota treaty. They stated that they were 

the "duly constituted re.presentatives of the Cherokee nation," and if the 

government concluded an agreement with another faction, they would like 

to be informed of the fact. 28 
<j 

The first members of the delegation sent to Washington by the New 

Echota meeting, nevertheless, had arrived on January 27, 1836; it was 

not until February 3 that Major Ridge and Elias Boudinot appeared. Im~ 

mediately Watie and John Ridge left Mrs. Arguelles' Boarding House and 

joined the New Echota group. In contacting Schermerhorn on February 26, 

27cherokee Delegation to Lewis Cass, January 14, 1836, Cherokee 
Agency East, Letters Received by the Office of Indian Affairs, National 
Archives. 

28 Cherokee Delegation to Lewis Cass, February 9, 1836, ibid. 
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Watie and John Ridge informed him that they were. originally members of 

the Red Clay delegation and that they had examined the agreement reached 

at New Echota during their absence in Washington and they 11 now cheer-

fully obey their instructions through their subsequent delegation, who 

have arrived, and unite with them to urge the ratification of the said 

treaty." Apparently any misunderstanding or confusion which was present 

29 
in the minds of Watie and John Ridge was quickly dispelled. 

The supporters of the New Echota treaty soundly condemned Chief 

Ross, whom they described as a rich half breed and "nearly a white man 

in color and feelings." They blamed the Ross faction for the destitute 

condition of the Cherokees. They accused Ross of misrepresenting the 

Cherokee Nation and of using the Cherokee annuities and exhausting "the 

credit of the nation, under the pretense of defending and saving the 

Cherokee lands." Even though the Cherokees were stripped of their homes:i 

country, and laws, and reduced to a condition "worse than the poorest of 

the slaves of the south," Ross had refused to take effective action. 

Watie and the others declared that no elections had been held in the 

Cherokee Nation since 1830, even though Ross still clung to power by 

virtue of a select committee wh.o continued to exercise authority. Those 

members of the tribe who favored removal to the West had been replaced 

by Ross with his lackies, the complaint continued, so that a representa~ 

tive form of government had ceased to exist. They accused Ross of 

spending more "of his time in Washington than he does at home~" and of 

29wilkins, Cherokee Tragedy: The Story of~ Ridge Family and the 
Decimation of!!_ People, p. 279; John Ridge and Stand Watie to John F. 
Schermerhorn, February 26, 1836, in "Reports and Correspondence Relating 
to the Cherokee Treaty of 1835," United States Senate, 25th Congress~ 
2nd Session, Senate Document 120, pp. 528. 
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financing his party from Cherokee annuities, loans on the credit of the 

Cherokee Nation, or due bills. Ross kept up his "constituted authority" 

by power, taxation, and extravagances, while the Cherokees he purported 

to represent believed that the money was being spent to save their 

ancient home. Finally, the supporters of the New Echota treaty con~ 

eluded that Ross "intended to pay all his 'constitutional' debts when­

ever he should make a treaty out of the price of their country. 1130 

Watie and John Ridge continue.cl to criticize Ross for leaving the 

Cherokee Nation when the President of the United States had se.nt a com­

mission there. to negotiate a treaty; and during the Ne.w Echo ta negotia­

tions, the Ross faction dared not present any of their followers as 

''they would have joined their brethren, to release themselves by the 

treaty." They praised the New Echota meeting as being a "great council 

of the true Indians of the nation," while the Ross faction had depleted 

the treasury and made themselves rich while they were· in power. They 

warned Schermerhorn that Ross was determined to seriously protest the 

treaty through a petition supposedly representing the Cherokee people; 

however, the names had been obtained through fraud <FJ.nd deceit. They re= 

assured the United States commissioners that the pro-removal faction 

likewise gather an equal number of names should it become necessary, 

but it had no desire to resort to a procedure smacking of false repre­

sentation. Ross was accused of defrauding the entire Cherokee Nation by 

these actions, and Watie and John Ridge accused him of attempting to rob 

the individual members of the tribe of the monies due them by the treaty. 

They were astonished that the poor Cherokee.s would be denied their 

3oibid., pp. 528-530. 
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rightful due by the actions of Ross, and implored the President to never 

allow it. They declared that if the United States Senate refused to ap­

prove the treaty negotiated at New Echota, two-thirds of t~e Cherokees 

"will be out of house and home by next fall." They admitted that they 

had left the. Ross delegation because of the "powerful exertions which 

will be made to deceive the Senate into a rejection of the tre.aty~" and 

31 asserted that they gave their full support to the New Echota treaty. 

The Ridge-Watie-Boudinot faction added their names to several sup­

plementary clauses of th~ original treaty, and approved a statement of 

consent which allowed it to be sent to the Senate for ratification. 

Though beset with criticism from the Ross party and strong congressional 

opposition, President Jackson threw his support behind the measure. On 

May 23, 1836, it was ratified by the Senate by a one vote margin. The 

final treaty as signed by Stand Watie, Elias Boudinot, Major Ridge, and 

John Ridge provided that the Cherokees "relinquish and convey to the 

United States all the lands owned claimed, or possessed by them east of 

the Mississippi River, and hereby release all their claims upon the 

United States for spoliations" for the sum of $5,000,000. If no other 

allowance for damages was provided, then an "additional sum of three 

hundred thousand dollars be allowed for the same." The United States 

also agreed to guarantee land by patent in a treaty with the Cherokees 

already west of Arkansas Territory in the amount of 7,000,000 acres, and 

"a perpetual outlet west, and a free and unmolested use of all the coun­

try west of the western boundary of said seven million acres, as far 

west as the sovereignty of the United States and their right of soil 

31rbid., pp. 530-531. 
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extended." This area around the three forks of the Arkansas, Grand, 

and Verdigris rivers, which would later become known as Indian Terri-

tory, was to be the future home of the Cherokee Nation. A supplementary 

provision was inserted to include the "saline or salt plain on the 

western prairie'' within the limits of the prescribed territory. 32 

If th;e land given to the Cherokees was not sufficient to contain 

the entire tribe, the United States for $500,000 would grant them an ad-

ditional tract of land west of Missouri and the Osage Reservation. The 

United States retained the ownership of Fort Gibson, located within the 

new Cherokee lands; if the post should ever be abandoned, however, the 

area would revert to the Cherokee Nation. The Federal government also 

retained the right to construct military posts and roads within the 

Cherokee Nation, and the "free use of as much land, timber, fuel and 

materials of all kinds for the construction and support" of such in-

stallations as long as the private rights of individuals were not inter., 

fered with, and 11 just compensation therefore shall be made." The Osage 

titles to reservations within the Cherokee lands were to be extinguished. 

The treaty provided that the Cherol!;ee lands "in no future time without 

their consent, be included within the territorial limits or jurisdiction 

of any State or Territory." This was to insure the Cherokees that at no 

time in the future would the situation as had existed in Georgia be al-

lowed to reappear. The Cherokee government was given full authority over 

the territory, provided that its actions would never be "inconsistent 

32Treaty Betwe.en the United States of America and the Chiefs, Head., 
men, and People of the Cherokee Tribe of Indians~ March 1, 1836, in 
"Letters Relative to the Cherokee Indians," United States House of Rep= 
resentative.s, 24th Congress, 1st Session, Executive Document 282 (Wash-
ington: Blair and Rives, 1836), pp. 8-11. ~-



40 

with the constitution of the United States and such acts of Congress; 11 

Cherokee law did not extend to the army of the United States or any 

United States citizen traveling through or residing in their territory. 33 

Perpetual peace and friendship was professed in the New Ech.ota 

treaty between the Cherokee Nation and the United States, and the Federal 

gove.rrune.nt agreed to "protect the Cherokee nation from domes tic strife 

and foreign enemies and against intestine wars between several tribes." 

The Che.rokees agreed to maintain peace and not to wage war against their 

neighbors, and the United States promised to prevent the interruption 

and intrusion of the Cherokees by white citizens. To insure the con­

tinued development of the Cherokee people and to guard their rights 

guaranteed by the New Echota treaty, the Cherokees were entitled to send 

a delegate to the United States House. of Representatives, "whenever Con= 

34 gress shall make provision for the same." 

The New Echota treaty called for the United States to remove the 

Cherokees to their new homes and "to subsist them for one year after 

their arrival there." Sufficient steamboats and baggage wagons were to 

be furnished to carry out the remova\, and physicians and medicines were 

to be supplied by the government to protect the health of the Cherokees 

during removal. Cherokees who proved capable of removing themselves 

were to be allowed to do so, and were to be reimbursed by the government 

for their expenses and their first year's rations. 35 

A fair valuation of all Cherokee improvements and ferries left 

33rbid., pp. 11-12. 

34Ibid.' pp. 12-13. 

35Ibid., p. 13. 



behind in the South was to be determined by Federal governme.nt agents. 

Also, the property of the. missionaries among the Cherokees was to be 

valuated and reimbursed by tb,e ~ederal government. The United States 

41 

was to invest the following sums in "some safe and most productive 

public stocks," the interest to be paid annually to the Cherokee Nation: 

$200,000 for a general fund; $50,000 for an orphans fund; $150,000 for a 

permanent school fund •. In addition $60,000 was to be paid for the "just 

debts and claims against the Cherokee na.tion" held by citizens of the 

United States. All the future funds and annuities of the Cherokees were 

placed under "their own direction and future disposition." Those Cher~ 

okees removing to the West were to "receive their due portion of all 

personal benefits accruing under this treaty for their claims~ improve= 

ments and per capita ••• as soon as an appropriation is made for this 

treaty." Those wishing to remain in the East were to be permitted to 

"locate within two years" on any lands not already occupied, and a com-

mittee of Cherokees was established to screen the applicants wishing to 

36 
remain behind, 

The Cherokees who had received personal land allotments under pre= 

vious treaties with the United States in 1817 and 1819 were to receive 

payment for the present value of the land. These monies were not to be 

deducted from the allocations of the New Echota treaty, but were to be 

considered fulfillment of fo;rmer treaty stipulations. Cherokees who 

received wounds in the War of 1812 or in campaigns against the southern 

Indians were to be placed on the pension list of the United States and 

J;'eceive money due them "from the period of their disability," All 

36rbid., pp. 13~15. 
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monies remaining after the payments specified by the treaty were to be 

divided equally between the citizens of the Cherokee Nation east of the 

Mississippi River and those who migrated west after 1833. 37 

A time limit of two years was placed on the Cherokees to remove to 

their new home, dating from the ratification of the treaty. In the 

intervening period, the United States was to "prote.ct and defend them in 

their possessions and property." Those Cherokees who had been forced 

out of their homes were to be given possession of their property, pro­

vided it was not already occupied by other persons; in such cases the 

Federal government was to reimburse them for the "losses and damages 

sustained." All public buildings and improvements within the Cherokee 

Nation not already occupied were reserved for the free use of the United 

States and the Cheroke.e officials. The lands ceded by the treaty were to 

be immediately surveyed~ but the land occupied by the Cherokee Agency 

38 were to be reserved for the use of the Cherokee ag~nt. 

William Carroll and Schermerhorn, or other commissioners appointed 

by the Federal government~ would examine and adjudicate all claims of 

the Cherokees arising under the treaty, and their decisions would be 

final. However, all stipulations of former treaties not a.nnulled or 

superseded by the New Echota treaty were to continue in force. The an= 

nuities for the two year period specified for removal were to be "ex= 

pended in provision and clothing for the benefit of the poorer class of 

the nation," a necessary treaty provision because of the unsettled con= 

dition of the Cherokees due to the confusion over removal, and early 

37rbid., pp. 15-16. 

38Ibid., pp. 16-17. 
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This was the basic agreement signed by the Ridge-Watie-Boudinot 

faction favoring removal. There was one supplemental article to the 

agreement which Watie and the other members of the pro-removal group 

signed. It provided for the guaranteed payment of all unpaid claims of 

the Cherokees for land previously ceded to the United States or Georgia. 

However, the refusal of the Senate to adopt this amendment would not im~ 

pair the other provisions of the treaty. The article was stricken from 

the final agreement. 40 

Eventuallys other supplementary articles approved by the pro-removal 

faction declared the pre-emption rights and reservation claims as null 

and void. Also referred to the Senate was the determination of the 

amount to be expended on the removal of the Cherokees, and the claims of 

the Cherokees against the citizens of the United States. Any monies re­

maining from the appropriation provided for removal were to be given to 

the Cherokees to be utilized by the education fund. These articles were 

merely submitted to the Senate for considerationj and would become a 

part of the original treaty only if approved, Provision was made to 

protect the propertyllOf any Cherokee which fell within the boundary of 

the land set aside for the agency, and the monies appropriated for the 

poorer Cherokees were to be added to their general fund. Finally~ all 

expenses incurred in the negotiation of the New Echota treaty and the 

41 supplements were to be defrayed by the Federal government. 

39Ibid., p. 17. 

40ibid., pp. 17, 21. 

41 
20 .. 21. Ibid., pp. 
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The last supplement to the treaty was extremely beneficial to the 

members of the Ridge-Watie-Boudinot faction, as quite a sum of money 

was divided among their supporters. Watie, for services and expenses as 

a member of the CherokeE;! delegation favoring the treaty, received 

$1~419; Elias Boudinot was paid $1,550; Major Ridge got $1,280; and John 

Ridge received $2,054.87. The remainder of the pro~removal delegates 

divided $9,810 among themselves. In addition, the Ross delegation was 

granted $13,000, and a total of $555.80 in other debts was paid. Thus 

the expense to the Federi:i,1 government for negotiating the New Echota 

42 treaty was relatively small. 

The treaty came under sharp attack while under consideration by 

the Senate, and while it was being debated, Watie and pro=removal lead-

ers expressed to Schermerhorn, on March 25, 1836, their confidence in 

his participation in the negotiations. They declared that Schermerhorn's 

actions in securing t:/;l.e treaty had been "actuated by the best motives for 

the interests of the Indians," and that he had acted toward all parties 

"as their friend, not as partisans, but as a people whom the President 

of the United States wished to convince, as their friend, that~ in re-

moval only, they could be preserved as a people." Schermerhorn was 

praised for representing the Federal government with the strictest fi= 

delity: "no other individual in the United States could have done 

better than you in settling our difficulties with the United States. 1143 

42 Statement of Expenses, December 29, 1835, in "Report of the Sec-
retary of War," United States Senate, 25th Congress, 2nd Session~ Senate 
Document .ill (Washington: Blair and Rives, 1839), pp. 2-4. 

43william Rogers, Elias Boudinot, John Ridge, and Stand Watie to 
John F. Schermerhorn, March 25, 1836, United States House of Representa­
tives, 24th Congress, 1st Session, Executive Document 286, p. 159. 
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Watie and the pro-removal faction again seized on the opportunity 

to criticize the actions of Chief Ross. Accusing Ross of defaming the 

high office to which he was entrusted and of taking advantage of the 

uneducated Cherokees, the pro-removal party charged him with neglect and 

contempt. Defending themselves of the charges of "vile traitors," they 

maintained on their sacred honor that a more equitable treaty could not 

have been secured by the Ross faction. Ross had delayed and confused 

the Cherokee people in an attempt to prevent the successful completion 

of a removal treaty, the Treaty Party maintained, and now claimed that 

by making no treaty he has saved the land of their forefathers. This 

claim was nothing but "a manifest equivocal and double-dealing with an 

. t 1 II d R h d f h . t . 44 1gnoran peop e, an ass a no excuse or is ac ions. 

Watie and the treaty signers told Schermerhorn of the threats made 

against the lives of those who had negotiated the Treaty of New Echota, 

but they assured him that he should have no apprehensions over the 

threats. "How inconsistent to say," the Watie group exclaimed, "if they 

will let us sell the land, we shall live, but those who made the New 

Echo ta treaty will be killed!" "If the Cherokees were disposed to kill~ 

why did they not kill Ross and his party for selling land to the Govern-

ment in 1819?" The Ridge-Watie-Boudinot faction stated that this 1819 

land sale had resulted in the loss of the most valuable land in the 

Cherokee Nation without any benefit to the Cherokees at large. Never= 

theless, the pro-removal faction bravely accepted its fate. "Some may 

be secretly induced to assassinate," the Watie group predicted~ "by John 

Ross and his friends, but it will be done so secretly that only one or 

44 
Ibid., pp. 160-161. 
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two may fall. What will that be to the joy which the treaty will ulti­

mately give to the Indians? 1145 

Watie and the other treaty signers contended that because of their 

actions, the Cherokees "will be relieved from the lowest state of 

wretchedness," and having been driven from their homes by the actions of 

Georgia$ the Cherokees would now be able to find salvation. The treaty 

signers hoped that the United States government would not refuse their 

treaty because of the alarms raised by the Ross faction, and thus force 

the Cherokees to become ''wandering outcasts, and dependent on the cold 

charity'' o~ their oppressors. Sche~merhorn was praised for his devotion 

"to the cause of the Indians, to save them from ruin, and improve their 

condition." The treaty signers concluded by stating that removal to the 

West was the only alternative left to the Cherokees by the actions of 

h F d 1 d h f G . 46 t e e. era government an t e state o eorg1a. 

The New Echota treaty signers d:i,.d not delay in Washington long after 

the ratification of the treaty. On May 21, they informed the Federal 

officials that it was of utmost importance that they return to the Cher-

okee Nation as soon as possible, for they believed that they were needed 

at home to prese.rve the peace and to aid their people. The treaty 

signers~ including Watie, departed from Washington on May 26, 1836, for 

the homeward journey.47 

Before they left the capital city they signed a document relating 

to those Cherokees who lived in North Carolina, and who had appointed 

45Ibid., p. 161. 

46 rbid., pp. 161~162. 

47Wilkins, Cherokee Tragedy: The Story of the Ridge Family and the 
Decimation of a People, pp. 281-282. 
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William H. Thomas to act as their legal counsel in Washington. He was 

to examine the Treaty of New Echota, and if he found it acceptable, 

provisions were. to be made for them in the treaty. Thomas was author-

ized to sign the agreement on their behalf. Watie acted as interpreter 

for the meetj.ng with Thomas. Since Thomas arrived in Washington after 

the treaty was submitted to the Senate for approval and did not wish to 

delay its ratification by the President, a separate agreement was 

reached. It was agreed by the pro-treaty faction and Thomas that the 

North Carolina Cherokees were entitled to an equal share of the monies 

received from the treaty. Those North Carolina Cherokees not desiring 

to remove westward "shall be entitled to receive their due proportion of 

all the personal benefits accruing under this treaty for their claims, 

improvements, and per capita, as soon as an appropriation is made" for 

the New Echota treaty. Thomas agreed to annually take a census of the 

North Carolina Cherokees, "showing the number of each town," and have it 

certified by the clerk and chairman of the county court. The President 

or agent of the Federal governme.nt was requested to pay them their pro­

portionate share of all sums. 48 

Supplementary articles were to be requested to the New Echota 

treaty if any hindrance was enco1,1ntered in the payment of funds to the 

North Carolina Cherokees; a guarantee was included that they would re-

ceive their rightful share of the monies involved. The Cherokees living 

in North Carolina were to have use of the hunting ground adjacent to 

48Resolution of North Carolina Cherokees, January 30, 1836, and 
Statement of William H. Hansell, June 15, 1836, in "Reports and Corre~ 
spondence Relating to the Cherokee Treaty,of 1835," United States Senate, 
25th Congress~ 2nd Session, Senate Document 120, pp. 612-616. 
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their lands as provided by a treaty negotiated in 1791, and the sum of 

$500 was promised to them for the translation of the Bible into Cherokee 

and an additional $500 for the printing of the·translated work. Finally, 

should a division into private plots be made·of the Cherokee lands west 

of the Mississippi River, the No~th Carolina Cherokees were to receive 

49 their rightful share of the land. 

With the business of the pro-~emoval faction in Washington com-

pleted, the members of the delegation departed for their homes. Watie, 

now deeply involved in Cherokee politics, was staunchly allied with 

those favoring removal as the method of settling the Cherokee removal 

dispute. Satisfied that he. had done what was best for the Cherokee Na-

tion, he would soon realize the fateful results of the New Echota 

treaty. After attaching his name to the agreement, John Ridge said 

that "[I] may not die tomorrow; but sooner or later ••• [I] will have to 

yield ••• [my] life as the penalty for signing. 1150 

Ridge did not know the truth of his prophecy. The hatred and bit-

terness associated with the process of arranging for removal and the 

suffering of the westward journey would burst into the open once the 

Cherokees were establi,shed in their new homes. Of the four primary 

leaders of the pro-removal party, Stand Watie, Elias Boudinot, Major 

Ridge, and John Ridge, only Watie would survive the violence that was to 

come. Watie too had sealed his fate by signing the New Echota treaty» 

for to him would fall the leadership of the Ridge-Watie-Boudinot faction. 

49Ibid., pp. 616-617. 

50w·1k· Ch k T d i ins, era ee rage y: The Story of the Ridge Family and the 
Decimation £! 1!. People, p. 281. 
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Embittered as Watie was toward Ross's attitude on the treaty, the hatred 

would g:i::ow even deeper with the murders of his brother, uncle and 

cousin. 



CHAPTER III 

P~OMI~ED LAND 

When Watie and the other leaders of the pro•removal party returned 

to the Chetokee Nation about the middle of June, 1836, they were not 

hailed as the saviors of the Cherokees, as they featured ~hemselves. 

Instead, many of the Cherokees condemned their action, declared them 

traitors, and in some instances threatened their lives. The Ross fac~ 

tion continued bitterly to oppose the New Echota agreement and to control 

a majority of the tribal members~ In addition, many of the Cherokees 

were in desperate straits owing to unsettled conditions and an extremely 

rainy spring which had delayed planting. 1 

The citizens of Georgia were overrunning Cherokee lands like a 

plague of locusti:i. Seizing wl;iat property the Indians had of value, usual .. 

ly forcefully, the whites added t;o the disrupted and unsettled condition 

of the country. Even the signers of the treaty were no~ immune, as Major 

Ridge had a portion of his farm and ferry seized in his absence. The 

turmoil and confusion of the Cherokees was incl;"eased by sqitetnertts of· 

Chief Ross who urged them no~ to surrender their ancestral homes. Many 

Cherokees took his advice and de~lined to pl;"epare for the journey to 

their new home west of the Mississippi River, only adding to their 

1Wilkins, Cherokee "rtagedy: ~. Story .2£ the .Rid$e Family and the 
Decimation of ~ ~eople, P· 282~ 
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suffering. 2 

Watie returned to an even greater personal loss. His wife Elizabeth 

had died during childbirth the last week in April while he was still in 

Washington. Although she was able to obtain medical aid, she died "under 

great afflictions •11 The child also fai,led to live. Watie, now a widow-

er, undoubtedly suffered fl;'om the same probhms of his people: a po<;>r 

planting season, destitute Cherokees appearing at the door and expecting 

a meal, and constant harassment from his white neighbors. Watie, how ... 

ever, continued to make plans for the future. During the month of June, 

1836, he purchased three Negro slaves valued at $1,300 from Jacob and 

Sebrina Croft. The slaves consisted of a woman about thirty-seven years 

of age, a four year old boy named Andrew, and a two year old boy named 

Laudy, and they were guaranteed t:.o be "sound in body and mind. 11 They 

were probably intended for general work around Watie's home. 3 

The process of placing the Treaty of New Echota into effect was 

undertaken next. The agreement called for the creation of a committee to 

conduct all Cherokee affairs during the removal process. Though both 

factions were represented, the pro-removal party soon gained control and 

John Ridge served as president. Two commissioners, William Carroll and 

Wilson Lumpkin, were delegated to handle affairs for the Federal govern-

ment;.. However, little was accomplished, and the condition of the 

2Ibid. 

3 George M. Lavender to John Ridge, J;1ay 3, 1836, in ''Reports and 
Correspondence Relative to the Cherokee Treaty o;E 1835 ," United States 
Senate, 25th Congress, 2nd Session, Senate Document 120, pp. 593~595; 
Bill of Sale, Jacob and Sebrina Croft to Stand Watie-;-June, 1836, Cher= 
okee.Nation Collection, Western ijistory Collections, University of 
Oklahoma Library. 



52 

Cherokees continued to deteriorate. 4 

On July 8, 1836, Stand Watie, David Watie, Elias Boudinot, Major 

Ridge, and other members of the Treaty Party appealed to Lumpkin for re-

lief. Congratulating Lumpkin on his appointment as a conunissioner and 

praising him as a suitable choice, the Cherokees asserted their belief 

that the trust imposed on Lumpkin would be "most faithfully executed to 

the relief and advantage of our suffering people." Declaring that the 

Cherokees were in a "wretched condition, and must have relief , 11 they re-

minded Lumpkin that pecause iuthe most suitable season for removal is 

fast approaching, it is very necessary that their affairs should be 

settled soon, and means placed within their power to effect their remov-

al." The pro-removal f aation contended that the treaty had been well re~ 

ceived, and "that a large portion of the Cherokees are now very desirous 

to get off this fall, 11 just as soon as their claims with the government 

were settled. Hoping for as little delay as possible, the members of 

the Treaty Party stated that they should "ere long, hear that you and 

your associates are in this country, prepared to commence your arduous 

du.t;i.es .n 5 

The pro~removal faction sought to relieve any apprehensions which 

Lumpkin had concerning possible hostile action by the Cherokees, for 

there were many "surmises c;md rµmors calculated to prove injurious both 

to the whites and the Ind;i.ans •" Watie and the others argued that they 

4Wi1kins, Cherokee Tragedy~ The Story of the Ridge Family and the 
Decimation £i ~People, p. 284. 

5stand Watie, Elias Boudinot, Major Ridge, David Watie and Others 
to Wilson Lumpkin, July 8, 1836, Wilson Lumpkin, The Removal of the 
Cherokee Indians from Georgia, 1827-1841 (2 vols., New York~ Dodd, Mead 
and Company, 1907), Vol. II, pp. 36~37. 
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were untrue, that the Cherokees had no ''idea of committing hostilities, 

or making trouble, either from anything they hear from the Creek Indians, 

or anything resulting from the ratification of the Tr~aty."6 

During the late summer of 1836 the various members of the Treaty 

Party traveled throughout the Cherokee Nation attempting to speed up the 

removal process. John Watie, Stand Watie's brother, served as an in-

terpreter duril:lg July and Au~ust, aiding the Federal government in en-

couraging as many Cherokees as possible to prepare for removal. Stand 

Watie held the position of confidential interpreter during the month of 

September. He also found time to marry his third wife, Isabella, who 

had a son by a previou~ marriage and who would accompany him to their 

new home in the West. 7 

The pro-removal faction called a meeting at New Echota on September 

12, 1836. The purpose of the gathering was to explain the provisions of 

the removal agreement to the tribal members. However, Chief Ross called 

for another meeting to convene at Red Clay on September 15, and the 

Ridge=Watie~Boudinot faction was forced to cancel their proposed meeting. 

At the Red Clay meeting Ross reiterated his stand against the treaty and 

urged his followers not to submit to its provisions. 8 

The Treaty Party b,eld its meeting in October and explained the pur .. 

pose of the New Echota treaty and debated other tribal matters. It was 
t 

7List of the Cherokee Emigrants Under the Treaty of 1835, and Dis­
bursement on Account of Cherokee Treaty of December, 1835, in "Reports 
and Correspondence Relative to the Cherokee Treaty of 1835," United 
States Senate, 25th Congress, 2nd Session, Senate Document 120, pp. 874, 
1053. 

8Wilkins, Cherokee Tragedy: ~ Story of the Ridge Family imd tb,e 
Dec.imation g ,e People, p. 285. 



54 

not the success that was hoped, because Ross's influence over the Cher­

okees had hardened their attitude. In the meantime, Lumpkin and Carroll 

had arrived at New Echota and begun preparations to prepare the Chero­

kees for removal. However, Carroll became ill and was replaced by 

Colonel John Kennedy. Eventually measures were taken to feed those 

Cherokees near starvation.9 

The Cherokees supporting the New Echota t'reaty and willing to move 

West were busily disposing of their personal possessions and were making 

other preparations for the journey, Under the provisions of the treaty, 

Watie received $2,392 for the farm improvements he was forced to aban~ 

don. His wife Isabella was paid $3,095 for her property improvements; 

Watie's fathers David Watie, received $3,754, and the improvements on 

Elias Boudinot's holdings brought $3,917. These payments were made 

under the provisions of Article IX of t~e New Echota agreement which 

called for "a just and fair valuation of all such improvements now in 

the possession of the Cherokees as add any value to the lands; and also 

of the ferries owned by them according to their net income; and such 

improvements and ferries from which they have been dispossessed in a 

lawless manner or under any existing laws" of the states in which they 

were located. In additionj the Cherokees were allowed at the discretion 

of the Federal government "a suffic;.ient sum to enable them to obtain the 

necessary means to remove themselves to their new homes, and the balance 

of their dues shall be paid them at the Cherokee agency west of the 

Mississippi." Under these provisions, when Watie was prepared to remove 

he received $1,427s and his wife and her son by a previous marriage, • 

9Ibid., p. 286. 
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$1,665. Watie received an additional $20 for "commutation of trans= 

portation for self and family, 1 person." He also was paid $1,328.46, 

and his wife $812 for various other factors cov1:1red in the New Echota 

treaty. 10 

Watie 's improvements were listed as a '!Dwelling house 18 by 20 

feet, large hewed timber, corners sawed, two plk floors, roof nailed on, 

wood & dirt chy," which was valued at $500. Another "18 feet square, 

logs split- & hewn, plank floor door shutter, common roof and chimney" 

was listed at $300. In addition, Watie received $40 for a kitchenll "16 

ft square round logs puncheon floor & C"; $20 for a "Smoke House 14 feet 

square hewed, common roof"; $100 for a one and one-half story stable; 

$20 for a "Crib 20 by 8"; $5 :!;or a smaller crib; $10 :for a "Fowl house"; 

$10 for a small stable; and $60 for a "Dwelling house 18 by 16." Watie's 

land was appraised at $15 for a horn lot; $15 for a ninety foot square 

garden; $30 for a two acre yard and spring lot plus a spring ho~se 

valued at $5; $1,200 for one hundred and fifty acres of improved lands, 

which were priced at $8.00 an acre. He was also paid $175 for one 

yea.r's rent on twenty acres of land and $10 for thirty-eight peach trees 

lOList of Valuations of Cherokee lmprovements Under the Treaty of 
December 29, 1835~ in "Report on Execution of the Cherokee Treaty of 
1835," United States Senate, 25th Congress, 3rd Session, Senate Document 
277 (Washington: Blair and Rives, 1839), pp. 18, 22, 49; Treaty Between 
the United States of America and the Chiefs, Headmen, and People, of the 
Cherokee Tribe of Indians, March 1, 1836, ip. "Letters Relative to Cher­
okee Indians, 11 United States House of Representatives, 24th Congress, 
1st Session, Executive Document 282, p. 13; A List of the Names of the 
Cherokee Emigrants Under the Tre-;ty of 1835, and Abstract of Disburse? 
ments on Account of Cherokee Treaty of December, 1835, in "Reports and 
Correspondence Relative to the Cherokee Treaty of 1835," United States 
Senate, 25th Congress, 2nd Session, Senate Document 120, pp. 873, 1061, 
1073, 1088. . -
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valued.at $1.50 each. 11 

Isabella, Watie's wife, was paid a total of $2,165 for her improve-

ments. They were listed as $800 for a "Dwelling house of 2 pens, 18 by 

16 ft ea. hewn in & out, 2 plk floors ea. plk door & window shutters, 

roof nailed on, 10 ft passage, cellar & chy"; $100 for a kitchen "18 by 

16 fee.t hewed in & out"; $40 for a smoke house "16 ft square round 

logs"; $10 for a large fowl house; $60 for an out house; $100 for a one 

and one-half story stable; and $15 for a crib. Her land was valued at 

$15 for a one-acre, well fenced corn lot; $25 for a spring house and 

lot; $15 for a one-acre yard lot; $84 for an orchard lot of two acres 

containing eighteen apple trees; $20 for a garden lot with 105 peach 

trees worth $157; $640 for eighty acres of improved land worth $8 an 

acre; and nine cherry trees worth $13.50. She was paid an additional 

12 
$70 for rent on te.n acres of land for two yearE;. 

By the end of 1836, Watie and the other prominent members of t;he 

Treaty Party had taken advantage of the provisions allowing them to re~ 

move themselves. By the spring of 1837, having already received their 

money and with preparations nearly complete, Watie, his family, and the 

Ridge family were gathered at New Echota. A delay in the payment of 

their subsistence postponed their departure, but the group numbering 

466 moved to Ross's Lan,ding on the Tennei:;see River, from which they were 

13 
to depart for their new homes. 

111and Valuations, 1836, Cherokee Nation Inside Georgia, Office of 
Indian Affairs, National Archives, Washington, D. C. 

12rbid. 

13wilkins, Cherokee Tragedy: ~ Story of the Ridge Family and the. 
Decimation of~ People, pp. 287-289. 
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On March 3, 1837, as soon as the necessary number of boats for the 

transportation of the Cherokees was availabe, the group containing Watie 

and his family was loaded onto eleven flatboats for the trip down the 

Tennessee River to Decatur, Alabama. For provisions along the route, 

the emigrants took 150 bushels of cornmeal, 78 barrels of flour, and 

12,000 pounds of bacon. Many of the Cherokees were drunk when the 

journey began about 5:00 p.m., having spent much of their money on 

whiskey. Because of these "rude and noisy" intoxicated Cherokees and 

the high winds~ Watie's group made only five miles the first day. The 

open boats and the night cold accompanied by chilling wind caused much 

discomfort, according to a diary account of the trip by Dr. C. Lilly­

bridge~ the physician accompanying the Cherokee emigrants. 14 

The next morning Watie's group started down river at about 6:30. 

The combination of cold weather and whiskey had taken its effect on the 

Cherokees, and the party suffered from "a few cases of common colds and 

Diarrheas.'' However, no one was affected seriously enough to be placed 

on the sick list, and Mrs. Watie was only "slightly indisposed from ex-

posure. '' The weather was "very uncomfortable, cloudy and a cold humid 

atmosphere~ with an occasional flurry of snow. 1115 

By March 5, the weather had greatly moderated and the sun "rose 

clear and bright." This turn for the better in the weather greatly im-

proved the dispositions of Watie's group as "the pleasantness of the 

morning has given a cheerful aspect to all t;he detachment." Because of 

14Ibid., p. 290; C. Lillybridge, "Journal of a Party of Cherokee 
Emigrants," ed. by Grant Foreman, Mississippi Valley Historical Review~ 
Vol. XVIII, No. 2 (September, 1931), pp. 232~234. 

15Ibid., p. 234. 
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the division of the group into three p.;i.rties and the absence of a yawl 

or canoe, however, it was impossible for Dr. Lillybridge to visit all 

the Cherokees 11at his pleasure. 11 So that Lillybridge could check on 

the entire band, the flatboats put ashore that morning. A few minutes 

after landing~ the Cherokees discovered anoth:er boat close by loaded 

with whiskey, and because of the possibility of another "whiskey frolic, 11 

the flatboats were forced to immediately cast off and renew the jour-

16 ney. 

Most of the Cherokees who had previously been affected with colds 

or diarrhea were. better~ but some cases of influenza were detected. 

Watie was one of those showing signs of the illness, and in fact had 

not been well since departing from New Echota. He was "affected with it 

by a local determination to his face and jaws," said Dr. Lillybridge, 

and his jaws and face we!l:'e very swollen because of this condition. Dr. 

Lillybridge prescribed "fomentations & cathartic" to ease his suffering. 

About 3:00 p.m. all the flatboats were brought together to allow the 

physician to examine the Cherokees, and he was pleased to discover that 

"no new cases of sickness of importance have .taken place since last 

evening. 1117 

Arriving at Gunter's Landing about 9:00 a.m. on March 6, Dr. Lilly­

bridge found that the Cherokees were re.covering except one, who was 

suffering from gonorrhea. The weather remained pleasant, and to prevent 

the Cherokees "from indulging too freely in Whiskey," General Nathaniel 

Smith, the office.r in charge of the removal of Watie's group~ ordered 

16 
Ibid. 

17Ibid. 



the flotilla to land at Gunter's Island, which was separated from the 

town by a sluice about thirty yards wide. 18 

To thirsty Cherokees, thirty yard$ of water was a small obstacle. 
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As the regular ferryboats were prohibited from operating, the Cherokees 

seized any boat that put to shore on the island and commandeered it to 

take them into the settlement at Gunter's Landing. Those who were not 

fortunate enough to find a boat but who found they could not do without 

a drink of whiskey "threw themselves into the Water and swam across." 

One Indian was in such a hurry that he se.ized a canoe and "paddled with 

all his strength~" but when the boat was struck by the main current, he 

lost his balance and overturned. Although he managed to climb on the 

upended canoe, he was swept 200 yards downstream before he struggled to 

shore, Once they reached the town, the Cherokees were soon drunk, and 

eventually a fight broke out between the whites and the Cherokees. 

Military personnel were required to break up the fracas and restore 

order. 19 

The steamboat Knoxville~ engaged to tow the flatboats to the head 

of the shoals in the Tennessee River, was waiting at Gunter's Landing on 

March 6 when the emigrants arrived. About 10:00 that evening Dr. Lilly~ 

bridge was summoned to the steame.r to examine one Cherokee who was 

"wreathing in agony, from a paroxysm of Whiskey Colic." The Cherokees 

delayed in boarding their boats, owing no doubt to their bout with 

whiskey, and did not return to the flatboats until the following morning. 

Finally about 9:00 a.m. on March 7, the eleven flatboats were taken in 

lBrbid., PP· 234-235. 

19Ibid., p. 235. 
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tow and the trip resumed. The night had been wet, and some of the 

Cherokees were suffering from exposure. Diarrhea again appeared. Dur­

ing the day the weather was warm, and more of the Cherokees suffered 

from exposure due to the hot sun. 20 

About 6:30 that evening the band arrived at Decatur, Alabama, but 

the level of water prevented Watie's group from crossing Muscle Shoals. 

Dr. Lillybridge was requested to speak to the mayor of the city in an 

attempt to prevent a reoccurrence of the previous evening. The mayor 

was requested "to take such measures as he might think advisable to pre­

vent the selling of spirits to the Indians." The mayor agreed, and an­

other general round of drunkenness was prevented. The emigrants were 

now subjected to a steady downpour of rain, and even Dr. Lillybridge de~ 

clared that "thus far the smiles of providence has attended the expedi= 

tion. 1121 

The morning of March 8 dawned clear and pleasant, but the water was 

still too high to allow them to continue. Thus, about half of the Cher= 

okees were loaded on the open cars of the Tuscumbia, Courtland, and 

Decatur Railroad, and at about 8:00 a.m. their trip to Tuscumbia began. 

The remaining half of the emigrants were forced to wait at Decatur for 

another locomotive, which was due at 1:00 p.m. The Cherokees were ordered 

aboard open cars to await the arrival of the second engine, but it did 

not appear as expected. From 3:00 in the afternoon until sundown the 

Cherokees waited patiently, but the weather turned cold and their con~ 

dition became quite uncomfortable. Finally the order was given to 

20ibid. 

21 Ibid., pp. 235-236. 
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unload, and plans were made to attempt the trip the following morning. 

It was at this point in their journey that John S. Young joined Watie's 

22 party as the Federal conducting agent. 

The Cherokees were anxious to set up camp and get out of the cold 

weather, but no one. told them where they were to spend the night. Fi-

nally they were directed to a warehouse. To add to the. confusion, no 

lights were provided, and the Cherokees groped about in the dark "in a 

pitiful manner." Eventually lights were located and the Cherokees were 

directed to bed down for the night. Several of the women suffered from 

exposure caused by waiting in the open cars, and one elderly woman, 

nearly blind, was found standing in a puddle of mud and water from which 

she could not extricate herself. When Dr. Lillybridge requested more 

comfortable quarters for the women, he was directed to a "large & com ... 

fortable room" in which all women without bedding or those who were un-

able to find a comfortable place to sleep were allowed to spend the 

night. 23 

On March 9, the Cherokees arose early and began to prepare break~ 

fast, but some of their provisions had either been lost or spoiled in 

the con:fosion of the previoµs day. Many were suffering from the cold 

and exposure of the last two days, but because th.e train was to depart 

early, Dr. Lillybridge related in his diary that it was "more advisable 

to see that all had a warm cup of Coffee than to resort to medicine & to 

see that those complaining were in a comfortable condition for 

22Ibid., p. 236; Wilkins, Cherokee Tragedy: The Story of.~ Ridge 
Family .fil1!! .fu Decimation .Q! §. People, p. 291. 

23Lillybridge, "Journal of a Party of Cherokee Emigrants," ed. by 
Grant Foreman, Mississippi Valley Historical Review, Vol. XVIII, pp. 
236-237. 
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transportation." At 9: 00 a.m. the train left Decatur, but before long 

it was reported that a few Cherokees had been left behind; thus it was 

necessary for Dr. Lillybridge. to return to Decatur to assemble those 

still there. It was not until about 8:30 in the evening of the next 

day that all the emigrants in Watie's grou~ were finally reunited at 

Tuscumbia.24 

For two days, March 11 and 12, the Cherokees remained in camp at 

Tuscumbia. Measles broke out among the emigrants, and on the second day 

in Tuscumbia the morning was misty 11 with high winds; and about 4:00 in 

the evening~ a powe.rful rain began to fall. Watie 1 s group was beginning 

25 to suffer for lack of adequate shelter from the elements. 

The heavy rain continued during the night, and the next morning 

most of the emigrants arose from their damp beds and attempted to dry 

their possessions. However, the Cherokees "appeared to be sensible that 

their situation during the last night was from an unavoidable provi­

dence," and the morning was accompanied by only a few cases of colds. 

It was necessary to allow the Cherokees sufficient time to dry their 

clothes before they re-embarked, but they were too impatient "to avail 

themselves of such a privilege." At around 10:00 a.m. the steamboat 

Newark with two sixty-ton keelboats were moved to the landing to carry 

Watie's group once more downriver. Immediately the emigrants converged 

on the boats in an attempt to load their possessions, and the remainder 

of the day was spent arranging their belongings. That night the emi­

grants went to sleep "cheerful in the expectation of being under way 

24Ibid., p. 237. 

25Ibid., p. 238. 
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early in the. morning. 11 26 

The morning of March 14 began with cold north winds, and a number 

of the children complained of colds. The boats utilized for the next 

leg of the journey offered little in the way of comfort. They were 

11entirely too limited in room and conveniences for the accormnodation of 

the party." The. keelboats were "without stoves or fires in them, water 

in the hold, & present to those accustomed as many of the Emigrants are, 

to many of the comforts of civilized life, rather a revolting spectacle." 

Nevertheless, Watie.' s group was "disposed to put up with the inconve-

niences of trave.lling in a body" without complaining. It appeared that 

the idea of continuing the journey 11 superseded every other considera-

tion," and all the Cherokees "endeavored, thro' the day to appear in 

health." However, a delay resulted from a misunderstanding among the 

officers in charge, and it was not until late afternoon that the boats 

finally left Tuscumbia. In expressing much discontent and disaffection 

about the delay, the Cherokees were obviously greatly depressed by the 

incident. Once the boats cast off, the Cherokees were rapidly descend-

ing the Tennessee River on their way ta their new homes, and "the cheer= 

ful countaenances of the emigrants, afforded a happy contrast to the. 

gloom that prevailed but a short time before. 1127 

No new cases of sickness appeared during the night ,but the dawn 

of March 15 was clear and cold. The discomforts suffered by Watieus 

group had not abated, and the keelboats remained very damp; "while the 

26Ibid.; Wilkins, Cherokee Tragedy: The Story of the Ridge Family 
and the Decimation of.§: People, p. 291. 

27Lillybridge, "Journal of a Party of Cherokee Emigrants, 11 ed. by 
Grant Foreman, Mississippi Valley Historical Review, Vol. XVIII, p. 239. 
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weather remains as cold as it is now, the emigrants must suffer much 

for want of a fire," Dr. Lillybridge observed in his diary. The boats 

arrived at Paducah, Kentucky, about 10:00 in the evening, and the 

weather remained clear and cold, Entering the Mississippi River, the 

flotilla anchored in the river to prevent the emigrants from going 

ashore for more whiske.y. 28 

The next day, March 16, the weather was clear and cold, but the 

winds had $hifted to the south. Watie finally beigan to show the effects 

of exposure to the ~old and wet weather. He complained to Dr. Lilly­

bridge of a cough and headache, and was prescribed a cathartic to re­

lieve his suffering. During the night the boats ran afoul of a snag, 

and the excitement caused great alarm among the Cherokees. The damage 

to the boats consisted of one severely disabled wheel on the steamboat 

and collapsed tops on the keelboats. March 17 dawned with high winds 

from the south, but with the appearance of more rain. No new cases of 

illness were reported, but the high winds made it very difficult for the 

Cherokees to cook their food since their fires were located in exposed 

areas. At about 10:00 p.m. the boats arrived at Memphis, Tennesseeo 29 

It rained throughout the night, and on the morning of March 18 the 

flotilla was lying at Montgomery Point, where it was delayed for about 

two hours while the party waited for an Arkansas River pilot. During 

the delay the Cherokees had free access to whiskey shops, and they spent 

the time drinking and securing enough whiskey to last them for the re­

mainder of the. voyage. Finally at 7:30 a.m. the boats were again 

28Ibid., p. 240. 

29 Ibid. 
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underway. Watie appeared to be suffering severely from the trip. He 

had been in "quite a feeble state of heal th" since Lillybridge had first 

seen him at New Echota, and the trip was not helping his condition. 

During the morning he again appeared quite indisposed, and Lillybridge 

prescribed for him some additional medicine. His cough was troublesome, 

and his general appearance was described as discouraging. Lillybridge 

applied a "blister" to Watie's chest and "gave him Mucillaginous drinks 

30 and expectorants" in an attempt to restore his health. 

On March 18 the weather was the most pleasant since Watie 1 s group 

began the journey. Generally the emigrants were "more than ordinarily 

cheerful & active" as a result of the change of conditions. However, 

many cases of gonorrhea appeared among the young men, which they ignored 

unless the pain drove them to seek relief, The boats were forced to 

come to the shore of the river for the night because of the danger of 

navigation after <lark. 31 

Getting underway at dawn the following morning, the emigrants were 

"delightfully elastic" because of the clear weather and mild atmosphere 

after so many days of harsh cold and rain. Once again, because of the 

hazards of attempting to run the river after dark, the boats came to the 

shore for the night. On March 20, the boats again started upriver at 

dawn, and about 10:00 Dr. Lillybridge was hu:i;riedly sent to examine a 

sick emigrant. However, upon seeing the patient, Dr. Lillybridge found 

him merely inse.ns ible from intoxication. Nevertheless, the incident 

caused much "excitement & alarm" among the Cherokees. Throughout the 

3olbid., pp. 240-241. 

31 b 0 d 241 Ii ., p. • 
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remainder of the trip, Dr. Lillybridge was plagued by an unusual number 

of complaints of coughs and colds. Watie continued to "suffer much from 

his cough," and the doctor contributed his condition to the aggravation 

caused by the change iri the weather. That night the flotilla put to 

shore on the west bank of the Arkansas River, only about fifty miles 

32 
downriver from Little Rock, Arkansas. 

The morning of March 21 was foggy, but it had the appearance of 

being a fine day$ and the. boats cast off at daybreak. The Cherokees 

complained of only a few minor illnesses, and theft of $160 from one of 

the emigrants was reported~ but little action was taken to recover the 

money. Reaching Little Rock at 6:00 in the evening, the Cherokees put 

ashore on the bank opposite from the town, undoubtedly to prevent an~ 

other bout with whiskey. Coughs and colds continued to plague the emi­

grants, and Watie likely continued to suffer from his illness. 33 

During the night, one case of pleurisy was reported among Watie's 

band 3 together with continued complaints about colds. Many of the 

Cherokees remained drunk throughout the day of March 22, and a number of 

quarrels resulted from their intoxication. Once again embarking on the 

keelboats~ which were taken in tow by the steamer, Revenue$ the group 

departed from Little Rock at about 5:00 p.m. A few of the Cherokees 

were lef;t behind because of their refusal to board the boats after a 

white passenger circulated a rumor that they were unsafe. Although the 

offending white was put ashore, it was necessary to leave an official 

behind to bring the tardy Cherokees upriver on another boat.34 

32 . 
Ibid. 3 pp. 241-242. 

33 Ibid., p. 242. 
34 

Ibid., pp. 242-243. 
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During the night of March 22 and 23, the flotilla ran aground 

se.veral t:l.mes, but an inspection the next morning produce.d no evidence 

of damage, so the boats continued upriver. ~everal more cases of mea~ 

sles appeared among the Cherokees. For the last two days the weather 

had been warm and dry, which contrasted pleasantly to the cold and wet 

weather. In the afternoon of March·23 a great many of the Cherokees 

were taken ill with headache and fever, and Dr. Lillybridge prescribed 

a vigorous cathartic, hoping that their cond;i.tion would improve by the 

next morning. In the evening many of the children were stricken with 

' 
headache and fever also, but the weather continued warm and pleasant, 

and throughout the night the condition of those stricken greatly im-

35 proved. 

On March 24, a number of Cherokees were plagued by the same symp-

toms of the previous day, but by the next day many of them were better. 

Much to the benefit of Watie's group, the weather remained "warm, clear 

and pleasant." About 8:00 p.m. on March 25, the steamboat ran aground, 

and in the process of attempting to free it, the steamboat's guard 

passed over the guard of one of the keelboats, caving in the top of the 

keelboat and causing considerable alarm among the Cherokees on board. 

Also, Dr. Lillybddge had difficulty in convincing many of the Cherokees 

to take the medicine he prescribec;l, aµd at times he wa::; forced to resort 

to drastic measures in order to prevent epidemics of disease, Watie's 

uncle, Major Ridge, came down with the same cough which was affecting 

Watie. 36 

35Ibid., p. 243. 

36Ibid., pp. 243-244. 
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The boats li;i.y at anchor most of the night of March 25 and 26 be­

cause of the difficulty of navigation after dark. Once again Dr. Lilly­

bridge explained to the ill emigrants that they would have to remain 

aboard their boats and submit to his care lest they spread their sick­

ness among the other Cherokees, They seemed to accept this reasoning 

and "made no further resistance or objection" to his treal!'l:nent. Con­

tinuing upriver, the flotilla arrived at Van Buren, Arkansas, during 

the night of March 26-27. 37 

The boats left Van Buren at 10:00 a.m. on Mareh 27, with a large 

number of the emigrants drunk, and arrived at Fort Smith, Arkansas, at 

1:00 p.m. The flotilla remained there an hour while Major Ridge visited 

with a friend in town. Ridge and the other members of the Ridge-Watie~ 

Boudinot families had previously decided to settle along Honey Creek in 

the northeast corner of the Cherokee ~ation not far from the border be­

tween Missouri and Arkansas. When th,e friend was told of their de= 

cision, he advised Major Ridge to return to Van Buren, "as that was the 

most eligible route to the lan~s he had selected.'' Returning to the 

boat, Ridge discuss~d the friend's advice with Watie while the boat con ... 

tinued upriver. Deciding to follow the advice, Watie and Ridge asked to 

be put ashore about two miles above Fort Smith. Immediately the ma= 

jority of the emigrants were in motion, and "in spite of the advice of 

the Agents and those who were acquainted with the. country, they landed 

their effects & considered themselves at home." Many of the ill also 

went ashore and Dr. Lillybridge expressed regret "that they should have 

exposed themselves, as they must to night by landing in the woods." 

37rbid., PP· 244-245. 
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The remainder of the Cherokees continued up the Arkansas River and ar-

rived at Fort Coffee, in Indian Territory, about noon on March 28, 

where they landed. The empty boats continued upriver to Fort Gibson, 

also in Indian Territory.38 

The Watie and Major Ridge party procured transportation at either 

Van l3uren or Fort Smith, and prepared to continue overland to tl:l.e Honey 

Creek area. The group traveled up the Line Road, which ran parallel to 

the western border of $,rkansas. The country was described as "an en~ 

tire wilderness," and the route was extremely hard to traverse because 

"the trees were razed close to the groundo" Crossing numerous unbridged 

streams without the benefit of ferries, the road ran through the border 

area, which was infested by desperados. Honey Creek, on which the 

party intended to settle, began just north of Southwest City, Missouri, 

and flowed eastward through the Cherokee Nation until it eventually 

emptied into the Grand River. 39 

Arriving in the spring, the Watie group entered the region when it 

was aflame with redbud, dogwood, and wild plum blossoms. Crisscrossed 

by many clear, cool, fast flowing streams, the area had many natural 

prairies and the soil was rich and fertile. Watie would encounter no 

problem in transforming the open prairies into productive fields, and 

he found the wooded areas covered with oak, hickory, ash, persimmon, 

sassafrass, pine, and cedar trees. Along the river bottoms were numer-

ous cottonwood, elm, maple, sycamore, willow, pecan, and sweet gum trees 

38Ibid., p. 24,5; Foreman, Indian Rempval: The Emig17ation .2.f the 
Five Civilized Tribes of Indians, p. 278; Wilkins, Cherokee Tragedy: 
The Sto.E.Y of~ Ridge Family~ the Decimation of~ People, p. 293. 

39Ibid. 
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as well as plentiful wild grapes. Watie probably viewed the area as 

the promised land, and he selected a site along clear-flowing Honey 

Creek, on the east side of Grand River, slightly northwest of Southwest 

City. 40 

During the autumn of 1837, the other leaders of the pro-removal 

faction, John Ridge and Elias Boudinot, joined Watie and his group in 

their new homes. However, the majority of the Chero~ees were still lo-

cated in their ancestral homes in Georgia. In the fall of the year only 

a small number of Cherokees embarked on the trek westward, and most of 

them were members of the treaty faction, Federal officials were not 

pleased with the reluc~ance of the remaining Cherokees to migrate on 

their own accord, and on May 10, 1838, Major General Winfield Scott 

vigorously reminded the Cherokees of their obligations under the Treaty 

of New Echota. Scott declared that the ''full moon of May is already on 

the wane; and before another shall have passed away, every Cherokee man, 

woman~ and child, in those States, must be in motion to join their 

brethren in the far West." Temporary military posts were constructed in 

the Cherokee Nation in the South, and squads of soldiers scoured the 

countryside and seized the Cherokees like prisoners. By June~ 1838, 

some 8,000 Cherokees had been herded into stockades, and their forced 

migration to the West was ready to begin under the watchful eyes of 

their military escorts. Because of the hot weather the trek was post-

paned until the fall, but by then the heavy rains had turned the roads 

into quagmires and the cold weather caused much suffering among the 

40Ibid., p, 294; Arthur Beck Interview, Grant Foreman, ed., 
"Indian-Pioneer History" (113 vols., unpublished manuscript), Vol. XIV, 
p. 189, Foreman Collection1 Indian Archives Division, Oklahoma Histori­
cal Society. 



71 

Cherokees. Many died on the journey~ and the trail was easily distin­

guishable because of the large number of graves which lined its edge. 41 

Gene.rally the number of deaths was placed at 4,000; thus it was of 

little wonder that the journey was called the Trail of Tears. Perhaps 

somewhat unjustly, all the suffering and difficulty endured by the 

Cherokees on the trip was plaGed square.ly on tb,e shoulders of the Ridge-

Watie-Boudinot faction. Nevertheless, the Cherokee Nation was once 

again united~ this time in a new homeland west of the Mississippi 

River. 42 

Watie, l:msy establishing a new home in the wilderness, probably 

sympathized with the misery of his people, but there was little he could 

do to better their condition. The members of the Treaty Party had emi-

grated under the provisions of the New Echota treaty, and they had done 

so without undergoing the great hardships of the other members of the 

tribe. Now they were joined by the remainder of the Cherokees, and the 

bitterness and hatre.d caused by the Trail of Tears widened the gap be-

tween the two factions. 

l;n October, 1838, Watie was called on to assume the power of attar-

ney for some of the Cherokees who had died on the trip westward, and to 

present their claims before the Cherokee Board of Commissioners. He 

was instructed that he or any a~torney that he might appoint would be 

authorized to bring suit in any of the courts of the United States ;for 

41Wilkins, Cherokee Tragedy: The Story ,g! the Ridge Family and the 
Pecimation of ,g_ People, pp. 297, 307'i315; Winfield Scott to the Chero~ee 
People, May 10, 1838, in "Removal of the Cherokees," United States House 
of Representatives, 25th Congress, 2nd Session, House Document 453 
(Washington: Thomas Allen, 1838), pp. 11~12. 

42wUk;i.ns, Cherokee Tragedy: The Story .Q1. the Ridge Family and fu 
Decimati.on of !!, People, p. 3i5. 
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the reserves these Cherokees had rece;lved~ and "carry on the same until 

the·recovery be made." Watie was to receive "one half the amount re• 

ceived or one half the value of the land if recovered" as compensation 

for the trouble and expense involved in the matter. If he wished, Watie 

was authorized to use the power of attorney held by William H. Thomas. 

This would allow Watie to seek claims for the money from the Secretary 

of War. This was necessary because of an order prohibiting funds due 

the Cherokees from being paid to nonqCherokees. Thomas assured Watie 

that he would enter into a contract promising Watie's share of any ex-

penses necessary in securing claims after receiving the power of attor-

ney. Also, in October, 1838, Watie received $33.33 for subsistence dur­

ing the last quarter of 1838. 43 

By 1839, both the pro-removal faction and the Ross party were to-

gether in the Cherokee Nation west of the Mississippi River. Many of 

the Cherokees had suffered and died on t;he journey, and the country to 

which they removed was a wilderness with very few of the comforts they 

had known. The Ridge-Watie.-Boudinot group ·was probably unjustly blamed 

for the desperate condition of many of the Cherokees. The Cherokees, 

who had been bitterly divided over the question of removal, were plagued 

an,ew by . .hatreds resul, ting from the Trail of Tears. Watie and the other 

members of the proMremoval group had made the journey westward in rela-

tive comfort as compared to the Cherokees who were forcefully removed. 

Thus the Cherokees were not brought together in the West as a united 

43william H. Thomas to Stand Watie, October 31, 1838, Cherokee Na­
tion Co11ection, Western History Collections, University of Oklahoma 
Library; Abstract of Disbursements, December31, 1838, in "Letter From 
the Second Auditor of the. l'reasu;ry, '' United States House of Representa­
tives, 26th Congress, l.st Session, Executive Pocument 173 (Washington: 
Blair and Rives, 1839), p. 1. · · ·· · · -
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tribe, but factional lines were hardened, and Watie and the other lead­

ers of the Ridge-Watie-Boudinot faction found themselves opposed to the 

majority of the Cherokees and blamed :!;or their suffer;i.ngs. 

The smoldering conflict would not be contained much longer. Soon 

the murd~r prophesy of John Ridge would be fulfilled, and the members of 

the. treaty faction, though they had acted in the firm belief that they 

wer~ doing what was best for the Cherokee Nat:i,on, would soon face a day 

of reckoning. The Cherokee Nation would be swept by a wave of blood­

letting that would not subside until all but Watie had paid with their 

lives for signing the Treaty of New Echota. 



CHAPTER IV 

DAY OF RECKON;I:NG 

Watie and the other teaders of t;he pro~re:moval faction arrived in 

the new lands of the Cherokees west of the Mississi,ppi River in 1837, and 

they simply integrated themselves with the Old Settlers and adopted their 

method of government. The Old Settlers were Cherokees who had migrated 

westward, first to northwestern Arkansas in 1817, and then to the three 

forks of the Arkansas, Grand, and Verdigris rivers in 1828. They were 

governed loosely, had few written laws, and no written constitution. 

The council of the Old Settlers met twice a year at Tahlonteeskee, near 

the Illinois River, and elected national officials. 1 

The Old Settlers held no particular animosity against the signers 

of the New Echota agreement; however, the faction of the Cherokees under 

the leadership of Chief John Ross was not prepared to accept; the govern-

ment of the Old Settlers. In fact~ the Ross group had broug;b.t the 

government of the Cherokees, who had remained in Georgia, with them when 

they came to the West. Thus, there was a vast amount of confusion exist"" 

ing among the Cherokees as to the type of government which would rule the 

. 2 
tri.be. 

1Wilkins, Cherokee Tr;;i.gedy; !£z Story tl the Ridge Family and ~ 
Decimation of a People, p. 316. 

2Ibi,d., P• 318. 
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An attempt was made to create order out of the confusion, and from 

June 10 to June 19, 1839, a meeting of all the Cherokees was held at 

Takuttokah near the Grand River for the purpose of "reconciling of all 

differences, and uniting in framing a government for the whole Cherokee 

Nation." Watie and the other members of his faction ?-ttended the gath-

ering, but were forced to flee when their lives were threatened for the 

part they had played in the Treaty pf New Echota; thus the meeting 

failed. The day after the gathering adjourned on June 21, Chief John 

Ross issued a call for another national convention of both the Old Set-

tlers, the Treaty Party, and Ross's own followers to convene at the 

Illinois Camp Ground on July 1, 1839, t;o form a union and establish equal 

3 
and wholesome laws for all Cherokees. 

After the gathering at Takuttokah dispersed, a secret meeting was 

held by those members of the Cherokee Nation who were opposed to the 

participation of the Ridge-Watie-Boutinot faction in the Treaty of New 

Echota. Invoking the "blood law," which provided the death penalty for 

unsanctioned land saleq, three men from the clan of each of the accused 

were called to sit in judgment. The authority of each judge extended 

only to his clan, and the same verdict of death was issued against all 

the accused. Thus the prophesy of John Ridge was nearing fulfillment, 

and the signers of the New Echota agreement were condemned to die. A 

eonnnittee was appointed to arrange for the execution of the sentences. 

~Wardell,~ Political History .2f the Cherokee Nation, ~-1907, pp. 
14..,15; Oliver Knight, "History of the Cherokees, 1830-1846 ," Chronicles 
of Oklahoma, Vol. XXXIV, No. 2 (Summer, 1956), p. t-67; Monfort Stokes to 
J:- Ro Poinsett, June 24, 1839; John Brown, John Looney, and John Rogers 
to Monfort Stokes, June 19, 1839; John Ross to Monfort Stokes, June 21, 
1839, j.n "Report of the Connnissioner of Indian Affairs," United States 
Senate, 26th Congress, 1st Session, Senate Document 1 (Washington~ Blair 
and Rives, 1839), pp. 354.,.357. . . · . . ... -
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Slips of paper with numbers on them were placed in a hat, and the con-

spirators took turns drawing lots; those with an X on their slips were 

to carry out the sentences. The fate of Stand Watie, Major Ridge, John 

Ridge, and Elias Boudinot was deciqed. 4 

In the pre-dawn hours of June 22, 1839, the members of the conspir-

acy designated to carry out the sentences rode through the early morning 

stillness. Daybreak found one group of twenty~five men before the resi-

dence of Watie's cousin, John Ridge. They surrounded the house with 

their rifles held at ready, while three ot' their number dismounted and 

burst inside. Moving quickly to where Ridge was asleep, one of them 

pointed a pistol at his head and pulled the trigger, only to have it mis-

fire. Alerted to what was happening, Ridge fought back vigorously, but 

was soon overpowered. The three men dragged him into the yard, and 

there, before his hysterical wife's eyes, each of the twenty-five men, 

one at a time, plunged a knife into his body. After severing his jugular 

vein to make sure of his death, the assassins threw his body into the 

air. Then the men walked across the body where it had fallen. Surpris-

ingly, Ridge did not die immediately, and as his wife rushed to him, he 

raised himself on his elbow and attempted to speak, but only blood and 

unintelligible gurgles came from his mouth. In a few moments he was 

5 
dead. 

Simultaneously a second band, composed of thirty men, was hiding in 

a thick stand of t~ees near the site where Watie's brother, Elias Boudi~ 

not, was constructing a house. About 9:00 in the morning, Boudinot 

4 
Wilkins, Cherokee Tragedy: The Story of the Ridge F~ily and the 

Decimation £f ~ People, p. 321. 

5 
Ibid., p. 322. 
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arrived and began talking to the several carpenters he had employed. 

Four of the conspirators then approached Boudinot under the guise of 

needing medicine to treat their sick families. He agreed to help them, 

and the five men started up the path toward the nearby Worcester Mission. 

One of the men dropped behind, and about half way to the mission plunged 

a knife deep into Boudinot 1s back. Crying out, Boudinot fell to the 

ground, where his head was split open several times with a tomahawk; his 

brains spilled onto the wet grass. Hearing his screams, the carpenters 

rushed to his aid, but they were too late. The murderers pad rejoined 

their companions in the woods and were galloping away. Boudinot 1 s wife 

ran to her dying husband's side, and as she called his name, he opened 

his eyes and died. 6 

A Choctaw Indian, clearing land near the scene of the Boudinot mur­

der, witnessed the killing. Taking Comet, Samuel Worcester's horse, the 

Indian rushed to the store Watie had established at Millwood, in the 

Cherokee Nation. The Choctaw found the establishment full of conspira-

tors, but managed to gain Watie's attention. He called him aside, and 

acting as though he was purchasing some sugar, he informed Watie of the 

scene he had witnessed. Realizing the danger, W.;ttie bolted out the back 

door, jumped on Comet, and rode away, thereby escaping his executioners. 

Later the same day Major Ridge, Watie's uncle, was shot from ambush by 

ten or twelve men as he crossed White Rock Creek, just inside the border 

7 
of Arkansas. 

After escaping, Watie rode to Boud:;i.not 1 s home to see if he was truly 

6Ibid., P• 323. 

7 
Ibid., pp. 322-324. 
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dead. Heedless o{ the danger and ignoring the presence of many of the 

conspirators among the crowd which had gathered, Watie came directly to 

the edge of the porch where the body of his brother laid covered by a 

white cloth. As Watie approached, the gathering allowed him to ride un-

harmed to his brother's body. Leaning from his horse, Watie removed 

the cloth from his brother's face, and turning to the crowd with the 

blood soaked cloth in his hand, he said, "I'll give $10,000 to anybody 

who wi 11 tell me who made that mark on my brother 1 s face •11 When the 

crowd remained unresponsive to his o£fer, Watie replaced the cloth, 

turned, and galloped away. 8 

As the slain leaders were buried, the flames of hatred spread 

quickly through the Cherokee Nation. The smoldering qu?rrels which had 

existed for so long between the pro-removal fc;J.ction and the followers of 

Chief Ross burst into the open. The killing produced near anarchy among 

the Cherokees, and as violence caused more violence, the political strug~ 

gle between the two parties degenerated into open warfare. 

The murders produced a near civil war among the Cherokees. Watie, 

the single prominent member c;J.nd leader of the pro-removal faction left 

alive, gathered a group of about fifteen of his supporters and searched 

the countryside for the killers. Fearing an outbreak of open hostili-

ties, Brevet Brigadier General ~atthew Arbuckle, the United States mili-

tary commander of the a:rea, who was located at Fort Gibson, resolved to 

apprehend the murderers in an attempt, to bring peace to the country. De-

tachments of troops accompanied by Cherokee guides combed the 

8Ibid., p. 324; John F. Weaver Interview, Grant Foreman, ed., 
"Indian-Pioneer History" ( 113 vols., unpublished manuscript), Vol. XVC, 
pp. 443-451. 
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countryside in search of clues which would identify the assassins. 

Even though the murders did not come under the jurisdiction of the 

United States, with the exception of the killing of Major Ridge, which 

occurred in Arkansas, Federal authorities conducted an extensive in-

vestigation. Their efforts resulted in no indictments for the murders, 

but fanned the flames of violence th:i;-oughout the Cherokee Nation. 9 

Apprehension over the murders continued, and on June 22, 1839, the 

day of the three murders, Chief Ross informed Arbuckle that he had been 

advised by Elias Boudinot's wife that he should flee from his home in 

search of safety. Watie held Ross responsible for the killings and was 

intent on revenge. Ross reported that "Stand Watie had determined on 

raising a company of men for the p4rpose of coming forthwith to take my 

life!" Ross denied that he had had anything to do with the three kill-

ings, and to insure that justice would be carried out, he urged that 

Arbuckle would "deem it expedient forthwith to interpose and preve.nt the 

effusion of innocent blood'' by exercising his authority in securing an 

unbiased investigation into the matter. However, it was not Ross who 

was forced to flee for his life, but Watie and the members of the pro~ 

removal faction. The followers of Ross flocked to his protection and so 

outnumbered Watie's band that Watie hurried to the security of Fort 

G"b f h" . lO 1.. son or .is own protection. 

Immediately after the killings of Elias Boudinot, Major Ridge, and 

9Knight, "History of the Cherokees, 1830-1846," Chronicles of Okla­
homa, Vol. XXXIV, p. 170; Woodward, The Cherokees, p. 227; Wilkins, 
Cherokee Tragedy: The Story of the Ridge Family and the Decimation .££ ~ 
People, p. 325. 

lOib;Ld.; John Ross to Matthew Arbuckle, June 22, 1839, in "Report 
of the Commissioner of Indian Affairs,'' United States Senate, 26th Con­
gress, 1st Session~ Senate Docume.nt .!,, p. 359. 
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John Ridge, Watie sent their children out of the Cherokee Nation for 

protection. He. believed that it was his duty to look after the families 

of his dead brother and cousin; and Watie's brother John, who had been a 

clerk for John Ridge, assumed the task of settling the affairs of 

Ridge's estate. 11 

As for Chief R,oss, Arbuckle urged him to come immediately to Fort 

Gibson if he did not feel safe at his home. Expressing regret over the 

danger of a civil war among the Cherokees, Arbuckle informed Ross that 

he was asking John Brown, John Looney, and John Rogers, leaders of the 

Old Settlers, to come to Fort Gibson so Ross could meet with the heads of 

the various factions and put a stop to "further acts of violence and out= 

rag,e • nl2 

Ross answered that even though there was in the immediate neighbor-

hood a large body of men gathering under Watie, men who held him ac-

countable for the murders and were preparing for an attack on his home, 

he felt secure. A group of his friends were gathered at his residence 

and were prepared to aid in the defense of his life and property. How= 

ever, Ross again urged the intervention of Federal troops to prevent 

further bloodshed.13 

On June 24, 1839, two days following the murders, Ross informed 

11Muriel H. Wright, "Notes on Colonel Elias C. Boudinot," Chronicles 
of Oklahoma, Vol. XLI, No. 4 (Winter, 1963-1964), p. 390; Account with 
the Estate of John Ridge, July 3, 1839, in ";Miscellaneous Business Docu­
ments," Cherokee Room, John Vaughan Library~ Northeastern State College. 

12 Matthew Arbuckle to John Ross, .:j"une 23, 1839, in "Report of the 
Commissioner of Indian Affairs," United States Senate, 26th Congress, 
1st Session, Senate Document l, p. 359. 

13John Ross to Matthew Arbuckle, June 23, 1839, in ibid., p. 360. 
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Arbuckle that "an additional number of my friends have assembled at this 

place for the purpose of preventing or repelling an attack upon me, 11 as 

was reasonable to anticipate from the violent threats of personal re-

venge uttered by Watie. Ross had explained to his followers Arbuckle's 

invitation to come to Fort Gibson, and after discussing the matter, the 

declsion was reached that it was not advisable for Ross to travel with-

out an armed escort to ensure his safety from the Watie band. Ross con,. 

tended that such a large group of men on the move during the prevailing 

conditions was inadvisable. He su~gested that it would be better if 

Arbuckle and the leaders of the other factions would attend a meeting at 

the Ross home at Park Hill.14 

After denouncing the meeting Ross had call~d to meet at the Illinois 

Camp Ground on July 1, the Old Settlers, including Watie and his sup-

porters, declared on June 28 that they would not attend. They stated 

that the gathering would be entirely irregular, and they issued a pro-

test against all acts which might be passed. They contended that they 

would meet with the Ross faction only under certain conditions: no 

Cherokees would be killed for their former political acts or beliefs; a 

convention of the Cherokee Nation, equally representative of both par~ 

ties, would be held at Fort Gibson; and the meeting would have the power 

to remodel the government of the Cherokees. The date set for their 

meeting was July 25, 1839. 15 

This message was forwarded to Ross by Arbuckle, who stated that if 

14John Ross to Matthew Arbuckle, June 24, 1839, in ibid.~ pp. 361-
362. 

15John Brown, John Looney, John Rogers, and John Smith to John 
Ross, June 26, 1839, in ibid., pp. 364~366. 
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the proposition was declined "serious difficulties and misfortune will 

happen to the Cherokee people .• " He urged Ross to accept the offer to 

prevent any further spilling of blood. Arbuckle declared that "the two 

governments cannot exist in the Cherokee Nation without producing a 

civil war,'' and that the government should be "changed in a regular and 

peaceable manner. 1116 

Ross had no intention 9f relinquishing his power among the Chero-

kees, and he steadfastly refused to compromise his position, The meet-

ing he had called at the Illinois Camp Ground was held on schedule, and 

it was attended by over 2,000 Cherokees. The gathering passed an Act of 

Union joining the Old Settlers and the remainder of the Cherokee Nation 

under one government; began th.e prepa;ration of a new Cherokee Constitu= 

tion; took away the powers of the Old Settlers who had sided with Watie; 

outlawed Watie and the other members of the pro-removal faction who 

sought revenge for the murders of the Ridges and Boudinot; and declared 

amnesty for those involved in the killings. 17 

To align the Old Settlers behind it, the Ross faction appointed 

Sequoyah (George Guess) as president of the meeting. Also, to lure 

Watie's faction to the meeting, phe gathering passed a general law which 

granted a pardon to all members of the pro-removal faction for having 

signed the Treaty of New Echota. The offer was first made on July 7, 

1839, and was reissued on July 13. However, anyone refusing to take ad-

vantage of the pardon was to be declared an outlaw. Declining the 

16 Matthew Arbuckle to John Ross, June 29, 1839, in ibid., pp. 366= 
367. 

17Knight, "History of the Cherokees, 1830-1846," Chronicles of 
Oklahoma, Vol. XXXIV, pp. 172-173. 
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pardon offer, Watie refused to submit to Ross. 18 

In answer to the summons by the Old Settlers to meet at Fort Gib-

son, the Ross faction stated that it could not consent to appoint a com-

mittee to mee.t with them when a meeting was already being held. They 

based their refusal on the fact that such a meeting would not allow the 

people a "voice in the matte~." Ross contended that there could be no 

good reason for the Old Settlers and their friends not to join the 

gathering already in progress~ inasmuch as a change would cause ''much 

inconvenience, trouble and expense. 1119 

The Old Settlers replied by declaring that their gove.rnment had 

been recognized "as a body politic by the Goverrunent of the United 

States." They contended that Watie and the pro-removal faction had ac-

cepted their government and enjoyed the protection of their laws as well 

as "all the rights and privileges of the nation." Because of Ross's re-

fusal to acce.pt their established gove.rnment, they were appealing to 

Federal authorities, asking that they "may be sustained in the enjoyment 

of our rights and in the execution of our laws, and that, the lives and 

liberties of all our citizens may be protected from violence and dis-

20 turbance." 

The Ross faction passed a resolution condemning John Brown and John 

18William Armstrong to T. H. Crawford, July 20, 1839, and Decree of 
the Cherokee People, July 7~ 1839, in "Report of the Commissioner of 
Indian Affairs," United Stat;es Senate, 26th Congress, 1st Session, Senate 
Document l, pp. 375-376, 405-406. 

19George Lowry and George Guess to John Brown, John Looney, and John 
Rogers, August 6, 1839, in ibid., p. 384. 

20John Brown, John Looney, a,nd John Rogers to William Armstrong, 
August 9, 1839, in ibid., p. 384. 
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Rogers for their J;"efusal to join the gatheJ;"ing at the Illinois Camp 

Ground. The Old Settlers were judged to "have acted in a manner un-

worthy of the office of chiefs, and have assumed powers incompatible 

with the liberties of the Cherokee people, and, in various instances, 

have peq,etrated acts unauthorized by the laws and usages of the na .. 

tion." The Ross faction further charge.d that Brown and Rogers had "be-

trayed the t:rus t repose.cl in them and forfeited the confidence of the 

Chetokee people." Thus the meeting declared its disappl;'oval of their 

conduct, and "removed John Brown and John Rogers from the office of 

chiefs of the Western Cherokees" and disqualified them from exercising 

any power or functions as chiefs. 21 

Throughout the meeting R,oss 's friends and supporters assured him 

control of the gathering. He made a gesture of unity by including a 

few members of the Old Settlers among the leaders of the meeting, but he 

sought to control the Cherokee Nation by managing the General Council. 

However, Watie and his followers refused to acknowledge Ross as the 

leader of a unified tribe. 22 

:Meanwhile, a threat of open warfare among the Cherokees drove many 

whites along the western border of Arkan,sas away from their homes. In 

reaction to this, Arbuckle on July 19, 1839, authorized the issue of 

arms and ammunition to a port.ion of the militia located neai:,- the western 

border of Arkansas. He justified his action as necessary to protect the 

citizens of Arkansas in "the event the State is invaded~ or the Cherokees 

should commit acts of hostility against the citizens of the United 

21 rbid., pp. 386-388. 

22 
Knight, "History of the Gherokees~ 1830-1846~" Chronicles of 

Oklahoma, Vol. XXXIV, pp. 173-174. 
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States." He also.forbade the entrance of whites into the Cherokee Na-

tion except to obtain supplies at Fort Wayne, located in the !1.0rt;:hern 

portion of the Cherokee Nation near the Arkansas border, and consulted 

with the gove.rnor of Arkansas on arrangements for sending a military 

force to the western border of the state. The Ross faction did not want 

military intervention in Cherokee affairs, likely because they feared 

that Watie might use such forces to remove Ross from power. Ross as-

sured Arbuckle that such military measures were unnecessary, and that 

the actions of the General Council would "effectu.;illy stop further ef-

fusions of blood and remove all causes of alarm." The Ross faction de-

clared that "all matters in controversy will soon be brought to an amicu 

able close. 1123 

On August 20, 1839, under the leadership of Watie, the pro-removal 

faction met at Price's Prairie to protest the actions of Ross's group. 

Those present elected George w. Adair chairman of the meeting. John A. 

Bell offered a preamble and a se.ries of resolutions which condemned Chief 

Ross ;:tnd appealed to the Federal government for aid. It was pointed out 

that Major Ridge, John Ridge, and Elias Boudinot were "cruelly and in~ 

humanely assassinated, and, as we are informed and really believe, by an 

order of the partisans of John Ross, in consequence of the deceased hav-

ing signed the treaty of December 29, 183,5." Calling the state of an-

archy and confusion in the Cherokee Nation as intolerable, they declared 

that the decrees "passed by the partis?ns of John Ross, as well as mq.ny 

other circumstances, clearly dem<>nstrate that all the signers of the 

23Matthew Arbuckle to John Ross, July 20, 1839, and George Lowry 
and George Guess to William Armstrong, July 9, 1839, in "Report of the 
Commissioner of Indian Affairs, 11 United States Senate, 26th Congress 3 

1st Session, Senate Document l, pp. 402-405, 374-375. 



treaty and many of their friends are in imminent danger of secret and 

cowardly assassination. 1124 
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Watie's faction stated that a civil W!ar was "seriously deprecated, 

inasmuch as it would te.nd to the total des true ti on of our nation," and 

resolved that the actions of the Ross followers, the acts passed by 

their General Council relative to the signers of the New Echota agree-

ment, and the maintenance of a large number of armed and hostile men in 

a military manner deserved the condemnation of all mankind and merited 

the severe.st punishment. Watie' s followers declared that they did not 

want open warfare between the var:i,ous factions; they would avoid re~ 

sorting to such action "unless assured that it is the only means left 

for our personal safety." They believed that it was their right to ap-

peal to the government of the United States for the punishment of the 

killers, and for "justice and Protection for ourselves and families. 1125 

Therefore, for the purpose of presenting their appeal to the Feder-

al government, the meeting appointed John A. Bell and Watie to travel to 

Washington, D. C., "in order to lay our grievances before the Secretary 

of War." The meeting also appointed a committee composed of Charles 

Rese, John Field, James Star, Thomas Wilson, William Roling, and William 

Lassley to draft an explanation and petition to the Secretary of War 

"making known our grievances and our wants." Bell and Watie were also 

given "full authority to enter into arrangements with the Secretary of 

26 
War for our protection and J;elief." 

I 
124 c • 

Preamble and Resolutions of the. Treaty PaJ;ty, August 20ll 1839ll in 
ibid • ' p • 40 6 • 

25rbid~, pp. 406~407. 
26 

Ibid., p. 407. 
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The committee drafted a statement for Joel R. Poinsett~ the Secre­

tary of War~ which was to be carried to Washington by Watie and Bell. 

It stated that when the members of the pro-removal faction emigrated to 

the West, they founq the Old Settlers "in possessiqn of a country 

heal thy and fertile, and every way adapted for the prospe.ri ty of the 

Che.rokee people." Their government was regularly organized, "with a 

code of laws suitable to their condition, and equal in their opera­

tions." The Ridge-Watie-Boudinot group was permitted to participate in 

the Old Settlers' system of government, and hold tribal offices. They 

purchased or improved farms, bought cattle~ entered into business, and 

easily integrated themselves into the prevailing society. When those 

opposed to removal arrived in their new homes, the members of the Treaty 

Party welcomed tl:lem and extended "to them every act of courtesy and 

kindness in their power." The.y extended them credit, helped them secure 

supplies, and aided them in the construction of their homes.27 

The Treaty Party believed, the explanation continued, that the old 

wounds concerning removal had healed, until the June meeting and the 

assassination of three of t~eir leaders by the partisans of John Ross. 

These killings "were arranged at the previous council, and the perpe­

trators of the horrid deeds selected, and chosen" from the partisans of 

John Ross. Other steps planned by the Ross faction were not known to 

the Ridge··Mat:i.e-Boudinot group, but "from the history of the past, the 

decree itself, and the daily threats which we hear in the country," 

Watie's followers were conv;inced that their enemies approved of the 

27 
Convention to J. R. Poinsett, August 20, 1839, in ibid., p. 407. 
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murders of their frienQ.s and would sanction their total destruction. 28 

Pointing to the humiliatin$ conditions which Watie's group was 

forced to resort to save their lives, the ~embers of Watie's faction de­

clared that they must accept these conditions, be driven from their 

homes, or engage in a civil war for self defense. Either of these al­

ternatives W~)Uld be destruction to "ourselves and families," but they 

could not tamely submit to the dictates of the Ross faction, for that 

would offer no safety. Neither could Watie~s followers flee from the 

country, because they had no place to seek refuge. "Hardly as we are 

oppressed, and flagrant as are our injuries," they valued Cherokee blood 

too highly to engage in the horrors of a civil war and thus cause the 

destruction of their own people~ unless driven to it in acts of self­

defense. 29 

Denying that the Watie group had violated any laws, the pro-removal 

committee declared that the group was willing to stand trial, and "abide 

the decision of the proper tribunals," However, the members l:'efused to 

acknowledge the "power or mobocracy of John Ross or h.is constituted 

authorities," and contended that they would "never submit to his author= 

ity or dictation." Thus the only alternative left to them was to "con= 

fide.ntly and i>olemnly appeal to the Government of the United States for 

justice and protection." Unlike Ross, Watie's supporters could not af .. 

ford to raise military guards and pay them from Cherokee funds, the 

committee contended, and assassinations would again go on, "and their 

whole party be destroyed, before any declaration of hostilities would be 

28Ibid., pp. 407-408. 

29rbid., p. 408. 
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made, which the military of the country would feel authorized to treat 

as 'domestic strife. 11130 

Thus the members of the committee sent their trusted friends Watie 

and Bell to solicit "that protection promised in the treaty, and which 

they confidently believe the Government of the United States are able 

and willing to afford." They solemnly asked for redress for the kill-

ings of their friends, which had taken place without a hearing, without 

a trial, and without a crime. Asking that their lives not be allowed to 

remain in jeopardy, they pleaded not to be forced to accept the power of 

Chief Ross, and asked that their annuities not pe paid to the Ross fac-

tion which would use it for the ambitious purposes of their leaders. 

Not pretending to dictate the means for their relief, Watie's followers 

. 1 d . h F d 1 h · ·a 31 s imp y tr us te in t e e era government to come to t .eir ai • 

Also on August 20, 1839, Arbuckle was ordered to "discover, arrest, 

and bring to condign punishment the murderers of the Ridges and Boudi-

not." Irrnnediately he informed Ross of his instructions, and though he 

did not know the names of the cop.spirators, he asked Ross to deliver to 

him at Fort Gibson the people responsible for the act. Later Daniel 

Colston, Joseph Spear, James Spear, Archibald Spear, Hunter, John Vann, 

and twenty or twenty-five others were charged with the murder of Watie's 

cousin, John Ridge; James Foreman, two of the Springtons, Bird Double-

head, Jefferspn Hair, and James Hair were accused of killing Watie's 

uncle, Major Ridge; and Soft Shell Turtle, Money Taker or Money Striker, 

Johnston, Car-soo-taw-dy, Cherokee, and Duck~wa were implicated in the 

3olbid. 

31 Ibid., p. 409. 
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assassination of Watie's brother, Elias Boudinot. Arbuckle declared 

that if those guilty were not handed over to the proper authorities, 

"the military force of the United States will be employed in carrying 

out the instruction of the War Department." He. also urged that no future 

. 1 b d . h f 11 f w . 32 v10 ence e encourage against t e o owers o atie. 

In answer to Arbuckle's demand, Ross questioned the jurisdiction of 

the Federal government in·the crime. He·asked "by what right or sound 

policy the Cherokee people are to be deprived of the exercise of their 

own legitimate authority over t.he acts of one Indian against i;mother?" 

Ross continued by inquiring "how, if the persons charged be Cherokees, 

they have violated either treaty stipulation or acts of Congress, that 

they should be held answerable to the courts of the United States, and 

the military force employed for their arrest?" Ross was not about to 

turn over any of b.is followers to be accused of the crime and allow 

W . h . f . f . h k'll . h d 33 at1e t e satis action o seeing t e 1 ers punis e • 

On August 28, 1839, another st.atement was issued by the Ross Cher-

okees, still convened at the Illinois Camp Ground, restating the offer 

of a pardon to the members of the pro•removal party and the murderers 

of. the Ridges and Boudinot. These people were given eight days 

to appear before the Cherokee General Council and take advantage of the 

offer. Those not accepting the pardon would be declared outlaws. Ross 

32Names of the Cherokees Charged with the Murders of the Ridges and 
Boudinot, November 27, 1839, in "Report from the Secretary of War," 
United States Senate, 26th Congress, 1st Session, Senate Document 347 
(Washington: Blair and Rives, 1840), p. 16; S. Cooper to Matthew Ar­
buckle, August 20, 1839, in "Report of the Commissioner of Indian Af­
fairs," United States Senate, 26th Congress, 1st Session, Senate Docu~ 
ment l, pp. 413-414. 

33John Rpss to ;Matthew Arbuckle, September 30, 1839, in ibid., pp. 
420-421. 



knew that neither Watie nor any of his followers would present them• 

selves for fear of reprisals; thus the. offer was an empty gesture. 34 

In reply to the. renewal of the pardon offer, the lt\embers of the 
• 
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pro-removal faction led by Watie again called upon the Federal govern-

ment for protection. They declared that the meeting being held at the 

Illinois Camp Ground would 11certainly extinguish the flame of domestic 

peace and happiness in a great many Cherokee families." Pleading for 

the governme.nt not to suffer them to be driven from the;i..r homes and 

force them "to bow to a band of assassins, contrary to all law, justice 

and humanity~" they stated that they could not accept the pardon and 

that if violence began, they would resist with all their power and 

35 
energy. 

Arbuckle informed Chief Ross on September 4 of the Watie faction's 

request for protection. Arbuc.;kle stated that he understood that they 

were being punished because of their actions in signing the Treaty of 

New Echota. He declared that the United States government regarded the 

signers of the treaty as competent and duly authorized to conclude the 

agreement; thus, it could not be anticipated by the Federal government 

that any other portion of the Chero~ee Nation could attempt to hold them 

. . 11 'bl 36 crimina y responsi e. 

While on their way to Washington, Watie and Bell paid a visit to 

ex-President Andrew Jackson at the Hermitage nei;l.r Nashville, Tennessee, 

34rbid., pp. 405-406. 

35George W. Adair and J. A. Bell to Matthew Arbuckle, August 30, 
1839, in ibid., pp. 410-411. 

36Matthew Arbuckle to John Ross, September 4, 1839, in ibid., pp. 
411-412. 
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in an attempt to secure him as an ally for their cause. Jackson sympa-

thi,ze.d with the plight of the pro-removal faction of the Cherokees, and 

he directed a message to President Martin Van Buren on the.ir behalf~ 

Using strong language, Jackson spoke favorably of Watie and his follow-

ers, and condemned "th.e outrageous & tyranical conduct of John Ross & 

his self created council." Jac~son assured Watie that "the president 

will not hesitate to employ all his rightful power, to protect you and 

your party from the tyranny & murderous scenes of John Ross~" He ex-

pressed the hope that peaee and friendship would be restored among the 

Cherokees by peaceful and just means. Jackf;!on continued by declaring 

that should "this not be the happy result then, when oppression comes, 

and murder ensures, resistance becomes a duty, and let the arm of freew 

dom lay the tyrants low & give justice & f:t:eedo\11 to your pe.ople." He 

cautioned, however, that before such a drastic stand was resorted to, 

"you must appeal and resort to all peaceful means to obtain justice~ & 

if the murders of the two Ridges & Boudinot are not surrender[ed]& pun-

ished and security for the future guaranteed, then & not until then will 

the great and good Spirit smile upon your exertions by force to obtain 

justice by free.ing yourselves & people from oppositi,on. 1137 

On October 12, 1839, Arbuckle received word from Secretary of War 

Poinsett that the United States government would not allow the majority 

of the Cherokee Nation "to exercise any tyranny toward those persons 

who may be odious to them, nor especially to commit any outrages upon 

those Cherokees who signed or adhered to the treaty of New Echota." Xhe 

eighty-day pardon summons extended the pro-removal faction to appear 

37Andrew Jackson to John A. Bell and Stand Watie, October, 1839, in 
Dale and Litton, eds., Cherokee Cavaliers, p. 17. 
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before the Cherokee Grand Council would not be sanctioned or allowed, 

Poinsett declared, for this was a usurpation of power by the Ross govern-

ment. If the Ross faction persisted in these unjustifiable measures, 

Arbuckle was to take "prompt and effic:J,.ent steps to prevent such out-

rages • 11 Thus for the protection of the rights of Watie and his follow-

ers the Federal government was willing to intervene in the Cherokee 

feud. 38 

On the same day, the meeting at the Illinois Camp Ground adjourned. 

However, before doing so, it also appointed a delegation to proceed to 

Washington to discuss mutual problems concerning the Federal government 

and the Cherokees. Chief Ross headed the delegation, and he intended 

not to allow the Watie faction to plead its case before the officials of 

39 Washington without being present to present his own arguments. 

In the Cherokee Nation, .the treatment of the pro ... removal faction 

had not greatly improved. On December 5~ 1839, one of Watie's brothers 

fled to Fort Gibson. Upon his arrival he. assured Joseph Vann~ a leader 

of the removal group, that he could no longer remc:iin at his home safely 

and that a few nigb,ts previously one of the members of the removal fac-

tion had been attacked while asleep ancl nearly had his hand cut off with 

a hatchet. Vann informed Arbuckle that many of the Watie followers had 

been forced to flee their b,omes i,n ~ear of their lives, and that it was 

necessary for him to take "immediate and suitable measures" to insure 

38J. R, Poinsett to Matthew Arbuckle, October 12, 1839, in "Report 
of the Commissioner of Indian Affairs," Uq,ited States Senate, 26th Con~ 
gress, 1st Session, Senate Document .L pp. 416-417. 

39w. Shorey to Montfort Stokes, October 13, 1839, in ibid., p. 
427. 



94 

the peace and security of the Cherokee people. 40 

On December 20, Monfo;rt Stokes, the Cherokee agent, in unison with 

the Ross faction called for all Cherokees to meet on January 15, 1840, 

for the purpose of determining the will of the majority on the question 

of the. Act of Union joining both the Old Settlers and those who l').ad emi­

grated unde:i;" the Treaty of New Echota in one government. The Old Set-

tlers protested, but to no avail, and the meeting was held on schedule. 

Watie 's faction and the Old Settlers did not attend in force, and the 

Act of Union that had previously been adopted by the Ross group was 

again adopted. Thus, Arbuckle informed the Old Settlers that their 

government was no longer recognized as legal. 41 

Arriving in Washington in late 1839, or early 1840, Watie and Bell 

informed T. Bartley Crawford, the Commissioner of Indian Affairs, that 

they did not expect a delegation of the Old Settlers to arrive 11 for the 

purpose of cooperating with us." Bowever, the delegation of the Old 

Settlers, whic,h had been provided for in a meeting held by them in No-

vember, 1839, soon made its appearance in tl:J.e city~ This made a total 

of three Cherokee dele$ations present in Washington. 42 

On January 22~ 1840, Watie, Bell, and Will;iam Rogers indicated to 

Secretary of War Poinsett that the murders carried out by the Ross 

40Joseph Vann to Matthew Arbuckle, December 6, 1839, in "Letter 
From the Secretary of War," United States House of Representatives, 26th 
Congress, 1st Session, Executive Document 188 (Washington: Blair and 
Rives, 1839), p. 29. --

41 
Wardell, A Political Bistory of the Cherokee Nation, 1838-1907, 

pp. 35-36. 

42John Rogers, John Smith, and Dutch to Montford Stokes, November 
22, 1839, and J. A. Bell, and Stand Watie to T. Bartley Crawford, Janu~ 
ary 8, 1840, in "Report from the Seo:i:;etary of War," United States Senate~ 
26th Congress, 1st Session, Senate Document 347, pp. 23-24, 39,..40. 
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faction, the subsequent acts in overthrowing the government of the Old 

Settlers, and the outlawing and hunting down of the members of the pro-

removal faction had ''so exasperated the feelings of these parties against 

each other, that it is no longer possible for them to live together as 

one community, subject to the same laws and government." Deeply believ-

ing that the parties could not live side by side, Watie, Bell, and 

Rogers presented a plan to the Federal government which would permanently 

43 settle the difficulties of the Cherokees.·· 

They proposed a geographic or political division of the Cherokee 

Nation in such a way that the Old Settlers and Watie's faction would 

live together, and be guaranteed the right of self government. Ross and 

his followers would be left to manage their own affairs. Also, the an-

nuities due the Cherokees would be divided between the two groups. In 

this way "those embittered feelings" growing out of the events of the 

last few years ''would gradually subside, and peace, instead of that 

strife and discord which is now prevaUing, might be expected in a short 

time to wave her banner over the entire nation. 1144 

Should the Federal government accept their proposal, Watie, Bell, 

and Rogers expressed the desire that Captain William Armstrong and Brig .. 

adier General ~rbuckle carry out the arrangement. Their first objective; 

they said, would be to cultivate "peace and friendship with the people 

and Government of the United States." Besides this, they wished to at-

tend to the ''education of our rising generation." To accomplish these 

objectives, Watie, Bell, and Rogers proposed to gather as many of "our 

43william Rogers, John A. Bell, and Stand Watie to J. R. Poinsett, 
January 22, 1840, in ibid., pp. 40~41. 

44Ibid., p. 41, 
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intelligent citizens together as take an interest in education, and 

form a village; in which we will locate, if our means be adequate, a 

college" and other institutions which would provide for the education 

of the young. They hoped that by this means in a short time they would 

be able to unite all the wealthy and intelligent members of the country, 

without distinction of political beliefs, and "present to the world a 

spectacle different to what is now seen in our country." They would 

create a community where good order and security would abound, and "where 

all will be engaged in feeding the lamp of science, that its light may 

be shed throughout the entire surrounding Indian community." They 

pointed out that there were approximately 1,200 Cherokees still in the 

East who would be willing to join them in their enterprise. 45 

Mec:i.nwhile, in the Cherokee Nation at a meeting held on February 7, 

1840, at Fort Gibson, the Old Settlers expressed their dissatisfaction 

with the Act of Union. They declared that the actions of Chief Ross 

were a usurpation of power and were unfounded in the principles of jus-

tice, law, or humanity. Stating that they would never submit to the 

authority of the Ross faction, they pledged to continue to recognize 

46 their own government. 

On March 12, 1840, Secretary of War Poinsett requested the Watie and 

Bell delegation in Washington to send him all i11formation relating to 

the difficulties of the Cherokees. This was probably supplied in full~ 

for add:i,tional details kept coming to the delegation from the Cherokee 

Nation. Enroute home he told Wati,e that he had heard nothing from him, 

45 Ibid. 

46wardell, A Poli tic al His tor
1

y of the Cherokee Nation, 1.§l..§.-l2.Ql, 
p 0 36. 
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but should he run short of cash, he should draw money from his account. 

Cautioning him that he should not contend for too much, Bell expressed 

faith that Watie knew "what was to be done at last. 1147 

While in Washington, Watie attempted to collect from the Federal 

governme.nt seve.ral claims of members of the Treaty Party. On behalf of 

John Fields, he produced a claim of $60 against the United States for 

Fields's service in aiding in the removal of the Cherokees, and for 

"spoliations in having four negroes taken from him, one which he en-

tirely lost." Having made the claims, he asked that Fields receive his 

money. Watie continuously attempted to better the condition of those 

who supported him, and no matter was too small to warrant his atten­

tion. 48 

While Watie was in Washington, Brigadier General Arbuckle had been 

given a free hand to end the strife among the Cherokees. In calling a 

meeting on April 20, 1840, at Fort Gibson, between the Old Settlers and 

the assistant chief of the last emigrants to arrive in the West, Arbuckle 

informed the Cherokees that it was his duty to procure the passage of a 

constitution that would guarantee all Cherokees their personal and po,., 

litical rights and freedom of Ufe, liberty, and property. One-third of 

the new chiefs were to be selected from among the Old Settlers and the 

remainder from the late arrivals. Chief John Ross was to be excluded 

47J. R. Poinsett to John Bell, March 12, 1840, Cherokee Agency, 
Letters Received, Office of Indian A,ffairs, National Archives; E. Moore 
and John Watie to Stand Watie, :M;arch 31, 1840, in Dale and Litton, eds., 
Cherokee Cavaliers, pp. 18~19; J, A. Bell to Stand Watie, April 4~ 1840, 
"Letters To and From Stand Watie," Vol. I, Cherokee Room, John Vaugh,an 
Library, Northeastern State College. 

48stand Watie to T. Hartley Crawford, April 15, 1840, Cherokee Na~ 
tion Collection, Western History Collections, University of Oklahoma 
Library. 
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from participation in the government because of his involvement in the 

murders, but this was not made a perm~nent disability and would only ap .. 

ply to the first selection of leaders. However, the Ross faction and 

the Old Settlers were still unable to reach an agreement. 49 

John Candy, one of Watie's supporters, informed Watie, still in 

Washington, of Arbuckle's efforts, and told him of the inability of the 

Cherokees to reach an agreement. Arbuckle, however, had requested that 

they reconsider the matter. Candy expressed hope that Watie would not 

think that everything was settled, and he contended that the ''murders 

is a stumbling block which will haunt this people until sat is faction is 

had. To thin~ that it will be quashed by any measure is a vain thing." 

To the Cherokees, as to other people, retaliation was inherent, and in 

this matter "it will not be touched by the people now assembled." Watie 

was told to inform the Old Settler delegation that "the people are doing 

the best they can, If the Government finds any fault it will not be in 

the Old Settlers. 11 50 

Watie stated to Se~retary of War Poinsett on April 26, 1840, that 

it was his duty to pre.sent to the United States government "a rough 

statement in relation to our [Treaty Party] cases of private property 

during the oppressive and high. handed courts of the stronger party last 

summer." Watie cleclared that if the claims did not present a strong 

enough case, he would ask the government to reconsider the distribution 

of; annuities among the Cherokees. In justificat;iqn, Watie explained 

49wardell, ~Political History ,gl the Cherokee Nation, 1838-1907, 
pp. 39-40. ... . . . . . . . -.-. -

50John Candy to Stand Watie, April 24, 1840, Cherokee Nation Col­
lection, Western History Collections, University of Oklahoma Library. 
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that after the killings during the summer of 1839, many member$ of the 

pro-removal faction were forced to flee the Cherokee Nation in fear of 

their lives; and eve.n after they had left, they were compelled to or-

ganize themselves into small parties for protection. Often it was even 

necessary "to appeal to the friendly hospitality of the adjoining State" 

for the protection that they could not find among the Cherokees. Watie 

argued that the improvements abandoned by the fleeing Indians would be 

lost under the existing circumstances, and he urged that the annuities 

due the Cherokees be withheld from the tribal authorities until Cherokee 

officials could be presented proof of individual losses during the op• 

pression and civil crisis caused by Chief Ross and his followers. Ex-

pressing the belief that the claims of the Treaty Party were founded on 

the principles of justice and equality, Watie ~ppealed to Poinsett's 

sense of justice on behalf of all the sufferers, "knowing that whatever 

can will be done in our behalf.1151 

On April 30, T. l!artley Crawford~ the Commissioner of Indian Af-

fairs, informed Brigadier General Arbuckle of the proposal of Watie's 

faction to divide the Cherokee Nation among the various groups. Craw-

ford expressed his approval of such a measure, ~nd asked Arbuckle for 

his opinion on the proposal. The fear that the United States would ac-

cept the proposals of the pro•removal faction caused Chief Ross to offer 

concessions which were acceptable to the Watie followers and the Old 

52 Settlers. 

51stand Watie to J. R. Poinsett, April 26, 1840, Letters Received, 
Cherokee Agency, Office of Indian Affairs, National Atchives. 

52T. Hartley Crawford to Matthew Arbuckle, ,April 30, 1840, in "Mes­
sage From the President of the United States," United States House of 
Representatives, 26th Congress, 1st Ses$ion, Executive Document 1. (Wash-
ington: Blair c;i.nd Rive~i 1840), p. 260; W~lkins, Cherokee ;rra~edy: The 
Story of ~ Ridge Fam1 l a.n,d the Decimation gt 2_ 'People, p. 27. 
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The various factions met at Fort Gibson on June 10, 1840, and were 

told by Arbuckle that if no agreement was reached, each group could go 

its own way. After two weeks of negqtiations, and after allowing the 

Ross group to refuse to acknowledge the New Echota treaty, a new Act of 

Union was ~greed to on June 26. The Old Settlers were to be allowed a 

just proportion of representatives for the first constitutional term, 

but after that they would stand their ~hances tn an election; and the 

constitution, which had been adopted on September 6, 1839, was recog-

nized as the law of the land. Thus, at last it appeared that the Cher­

okees were once again a united tribe. 53 

Not knowing of the agreement because they were in Washington, Watie 

along with Ross and the Old Settlers delegation joined in protesting the 

establishment of a board of claims in Washington to deal with the ques~ 

tion of Cherokee treaty claims. The Cherokees wanted suah a group to 

operate in the Cherokee Nation, and they suggested that the better 

interest of both the Cherokees and the Federal government would be 

served if the board was move.d there. Oral testimony would be necessary 

to determine many of the claims, and it would be practically impossible 

for the commiasioners to hear such testimony without being located in 

the Cherokee Nation.54 

Curiously, the Cherokee factions cooperated on this problem, since 

it was not until August 21 that they received word of the settlement be-

tween the factions in the Che~okee Nation. With the controversy settled, 

pp. 
53wardell, A Political History of the Cherokee Nation, 1838-1907, 40-42. .. ' .. ·~ . . . ' ~-.--

54stand Watie, John Ross, and Others to William Armstrong, August 
10, 1840, Letters Received, Cherokee Agency, Office of Indian Affairs, 
National Archives. 
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the different delegations submitted their claims to the Federal govern-

ment and prepared to return home, Watie received $1,032.50 for the ex-

penses incurred in traveling from the Cherokee Nation to Washington and 

for serving as a delegate from September 13, 1839, to July 7, 1840. He 

also received $627.50 to pay the cost of the return trip, and $127.50 

for 210 days of lodging.55 

The Federal government had intervened to settle the confusion among 

the Cherokees resulting from the contention of the various factions for 

control of the tribe. The Cherokees had been reunited under one govern-

ment and peace had been restored. Watie had paid a huge price for his 

participation in the Treaty of New Echota and had witnessed the deaths 

of his brother, uncle, and cousin •. Watie's hatred for the murderers of 

his relatives placed him at odds with Chief Ross and created a schism 

among the Cherokees which continued fqr years. The hatreds of both the 

followers of Watie and the supporters of Chief Ross had brought the 

Cherokees to the verge of civil war and forced the Federal government to 

intervene, but the bitterness still lingered among the Cherokees in 

spite of the appearance of reconciliation. 

Nevertheless, Watie returned to his homeland, relieved that at least 

on the surface the factional problems of the Cherokees were settled. 

However, his relief was unfounded, for in a very short time violence 

would again flare among the Cherokees. The blood feud was not to die 

with the stroke of a pen, and the hatreds, though subdued, were still 

present among those who had suffered through the process of anarchy and 

confusion in 1839. Watie and his followers had won a brief victory over 

55 
Statement of Stand Watie, in "Miscellaneous Business Documents," 

Cherokee Room, John Vaughan Library, Northeastern State College. 
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the partisans of Chief Ross, but it was more a truce than a victory. 

The old leaders of the pro-removai faGtion were now dead, and in their 

place stood Watie, a mFtn who coulo n.ot forg~t the fate of his uncle, 

brother, and cousin, or forgive Ross. 



CHAPTER V 

TROUBLED PEACE 

The. agreement reached in the late summer of 1840 was supposed to 

end the internal strife of the Cherokees. Sadly, however, that was not 

the case for Watie an.cl the other members of the pro-removal faction. 

The killings continued and, i.n at: least two instances, Wati,e was person­

ally involved. The truce between the two factions had been achieved 

through intervention by the Federal government in the affairs of the 

Cherokees. It was because of ;FederaL prqtection for Watie' s followers 

that Chief Ross was prohibited from completely dominating the Cherokees 

and subjugating the supporters of the Treaty of New Echota. On the 

other hand, the pro"'!removal group lacked sufficient strength to force 

Ross from his position of power. Thus, there was a stand off, but it 

would not endure long. 

On November U, 1840, Robert B;rpwn, the High SqeriH of the Salli­

saw District of the Cherokee Nation, i,ssue<;l a warrant for the apprehen­

sion of Archilla Smith, who was charged with the murder of John Macin­

tosh •. Smith, being a staunch supporter of the New Echota agreement, was 

a close ally of Watie. Although the accused was characterized by John 

Howard Payne, who recorded the triaL, as a "reckless and violent person" 

expert with the rifle c;i.nd ready with the tomahawk and knif;e, and "in 

more brawls than any Indian in tP,e country," Wati.e believed it was h;i.s 

duty to defend his friend. Watie doubtlessly thought that the charges 
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against Smith were nothing but a plot by the Ross faction to continue 

1 
its extermination of all the supporters of the Treaty of New Echota. 

Smith received word that a warrant had been issued for his arrest, 

but, according to Payne, he "openly proclaimed that he would not be 

taken, and never went about without his weapons and fr~ends well armed. 11 

Nevertheless, he was seized and taken into custody along with a young 

man named William Webber, who attempted to help Smith escape when he was 

apprehended by Cherokee authorities. 2 

Smith's trial was to be held at the Council Ground near Tahlequah 

in a log hut about eighteen feet square, The court house had a dirt 

floor, and opposite the door was a large fireplace and chimney. To the 

right of the door were rough board benches for the jury, witnesses, and 

interpreters; and there was a seat for the judge, A chair and table 

were provided for the clerk of the court, and on the left side of the 

room against the wall was a place for Smith. 3 

Watie and William Holt were the agent and counsel for Smith. Looney 

Price, an associate judge of the Cherokee Supreme Court, presided, and 

Isacc Bushyhead was the counsel ~or the Cherokee Nation. The trial be-

gan on December 15~ 1840, .;ind a jury of twelve men was chosen to deter-

mine the innocence or gu;i..l t of the p.ccused. rmmedicite.ly after the se.-

lection of the jury, Watie objected to the commencement of proceedings 

because John Young, an importcint defense witness, was not present. 

1John Howard Payne, Indian Justice: ~Cherokee *urder Trial at 
Tahleguah in 1840, edited by Grant Foreman (Oklahoma City: Hadow Pub­
lishing Company~ 1934), p. 2. 

2Ibid., p. 3. 

3Ibid., p. 7. 
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Price listened t9 Watie's plea and adjourned the court until Young could 

4 be produced. 

The following day Young was p~esent and the trial began, with Smith 

pleading not guilty. Bushyhead then produced his first witness, Gay-Nu .. 

Gay, who stated that Smith and he were in a Creek camp when the deceased 

John Macintosh tried to grab the bridle of Smith's ho;rse which was being 

held by a Creek Indian. ~fter making several attempts to seize the 

horse, Macintosh then rode his horse to the structure near the camp oc-

cupied by Smith. His horse knocked several boards off the building, and 

Smith went out to face Macintosh. ~rmnediately Macintosh rushed at Smith, 

anq Smith stabbed at him with a knife. Later Macintosh's horse trotted 

5 
off, and· Smith returned to the camp with the knife in his hand, 

Watie then began the cro$s .. examinati,on of Gay ... Nu•Gay, but his ques ... 

tions did not attempt to discredit his statement, and afterwards the 

court adjourned until the following morning. The prosecution again 

introduced testimony to identify the murderer as Smith. Cross~examining 

a Creek named John, Watie i:U*ed who had begun the fight. The answer was 

Macintosh. Wat;:ie cont~nued to question John until he finally admitted 

that Macintosh was drunk and that it was he, and not Smith, who started 

the argument. Watie continued to cross-examine the prosecution witnesses 

until the court adjourned for the day. 6 

After completing the eross~examination the next morning, Watie asked 

that a Cherokee named Eagle be called to i~validate the testimony of the 

4Ibid., P• 12. 

5Ibid., PP• ls ... 16, 

6!bid.' PP• 16-27. 
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Creek named John. Bushyhead objected, and Watie appealed to the judge, 

who ruied in Watie's favor. Watie then attempted to use the testimony 

of Eagle to discredit the prosecution witnesses as th;i.efs and idiots. 

This was the final witness in the t:dal, ap.d after his test;imony, Watie 

7 
declared that the defense had no further witnesses. 

In addressing the court, Watie stated that he was "content to let 

the case go to the jury witnout cqmment," and that in his "opinion, the 

testimony alone is quite sufficient to enable. them ta give a fair de-

cision." Bushyhead, however, gave a lengthy address to the jury, and 

after he was finished, Watie -rose to speak. He st;:i.ted that he did "not 

profess to be a.n orator" and tha~ he did not pretend to l;J.ave the power 

of countering those whose ·only aim was to reach theil;' object by the 

shortest cuts, without being at all reluctant to take every advantage 

upon the way. He claimed not to be in the same class as lawyers, and 

was answe.ring Bushyhead's speech qnly because "it would be an injustice 

to the a.ccused, to permit h.;i.m to be assailed as P.e has been, with.out 

showing that there are th,ose who feel that such assertions as are pro ... 

duced to crush him, however gro1,mdless, ought not to pass uncontra-

dieted." Continuing, he declared that the prosecutor himself believed 

th.at the evidence against Smith was "el;l.ti,rely ip.suff;Lc:Lent to sustain 
• 

the charge.'' Concedin~ that Macintosh wa.s killed, Watie pointed to the 

inconsistencies of the witnesses. 8 

"Judge and Jurors!?" Wat:i,e e:xclaimed, "l trust you will b~ar in 

mind the circumstances of the time when this sad event occurred," and he 

7Ibid., pp. 27-33. 

8Ibid., PP• 34-40. 
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portrayed the tremendous conf1.1sion and the grel;lt violence which charac .. 

terized the Cherokee Nat:l,on in the las1;: few years. Watie ·contended that 

Smith and Macintosh had words, but Macintosh had ridden off and '1quar• 

reled with some new comer, wb,o stabbed him in the dark and escaped." 

Expressing confidence in the jury to weigh the testimony, Watie asked 

them to consider ''b,ow you would feel, should you discover when it is too 

late, that what I have stated to you as most probable, is the fact, and 

that you have condemned the innocent." Imploring them not to make such 

a mistake, he urged the court to restore the prisoner to his home, wife, 

children, and the native country he loved. 9 

After Watie finished speaking, t:he courtroom was silent. ;I:n a few 

moments Smith rose to speak in his own behalf. When he was finished, 

the jury was read the law under which the charge had been made, and they 

were instructed to retire to seek a verdict. No decision was reached 

that day iind on the £o1lowing day, Pecember 19, 1840, the jury informed 

the judge that they could not reach a verdict; the court was adjourned 

until December 22. 10 

Price, the origin.;il judge in the case~ suddenly became ill, and he 

was replaced by Jesse Bushyh~ad. A new jury was selected, and prepara-

tions made for a second trial. William Holt, who was assisting Wat,ie, 

objected on the grounds that no person "shall fQ:I'.' the same of:J;:ense be 

twice put in jeopardy of lifE'l or limb," according to Cherokee law. The 

prosecution argued that it was not a second trial, but merely a 

9rbid., pp. 40~41. 

lOibid., pp. 41-48. 
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continuation of the first. The judge agreed and the new jury was sworn 

. 11 in. 

After Isacc Bushyhead made his introductory remarks, Watie arose to 

address the court. Again he admitted that Macintosh was killed, but 

said that Smith was not the criminal. Pointing to the variations in the 

story told by the prose.cution witnesses, Watie asked the jury if this 

was "sufficient to justify the destruction of a man's life and charac .. 

ter; widowhood to his wife; orJ?hanage to his children and infamy upon 

his name?" He pointed out that if Smith did kill Macintosh~ could it be 

called murder? Three of Smith's friends had just been killed in the 

bloodbath that was sweeping the Cherokee Nation, and just;i.ce was not 

carried out, Watie argued. And with Macintosh making such threatening 

gestures, how could Smith h~lp but believe that the same fate was in 

store for him. In such a case it would clearly be self .. defense. Watie 

contended that it was absurd for Smith to have willingly desired to kill 

Mcintosh. 12 

Declaring that he was convinced that Smith did not commit murder, 

even by accident, Watie expressed confidence that the jury would find 

him innocent. He stated that "magnanimity and truth must at last pre~ 

vail," and doubtlessly in a few hours Smith would again be free to re-

join his family and friends. With this closing argument, the defense 

t d 0 13 res e its case. 

The prosecuting attorney declared that Watie's case was superfluous 

11rbid., pp. 50-55. 

12Ibid., pp. 55-59. 

13 
Ibid., pp. 60-61. 
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and did not discredit the proof that Smith had coµunitted the murder. 

Recalling the evidence that had been presented, the prosecutor stated 

that acquittal for reasons of self-defense was not justified. After the 

prosecution concluded its remarks, the jury was read a law applying to 

the case, and then its members withdrew to reach a verdict. On December 

23, the sixth day of the trial, the jury, unable to reach a decision, 

asked to question the accused. Smith, not being in court, was sent for, 

and on the following ~ay he testified before the court. They continued 

to deliberate and reexamine the witnesses until December 26, 1840, when 

they pronounced Smith guilty. 14 

On the following day, Smith was sentenced by the court to "be 

hanged by the neck until yqur body is dead," and the day of the execu.., 

tion was set for January 1, 1841. Immediately Watie applied for a pardon 

for Smith from Chief John Ross. A petition was presented to Ross signed 

by Watie, his two brothers Thomas and John, his father David, and ninety~ 

seven other Cherokees. Watie, himself, carried the petition to Ross, 

but he refused to stay the execution because the document lacked enough 

signatures and did not state any reason for doing so except that "peace 

and harmony may prevail."15 

Smith also visited Ross in an effort to gain a pardon, but again 

Ross refused to act. It appeal;'ed that Smith's fate was sealed. On 

December 31, the night preceding the execution, Smith asked for David 

Carter, the Clerk of the Sallisaw District Court, to come to his lodging 

to make out his will. When he had finished and was returning to his 

14rbid., PP· 61-86. 

15Ibid., pp. 87-93. 
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bed, the lighl: in his lodging was suddenly extinguished, and Smith at-

tempted to escape out the door. However, his flight was prevented by 

one of the guards who stood in the way. This mysterious set of circum-

stances was the result of Watie attempting to bribe. the guard of the 

door of the lodging. Approaching the guard, Watie offered him $500 to 

leave Smith unwatched. H:oweve:i:, the man answered, "I have too much re .. 

spect for my own safety and my character, to sell either for five hundred 

dollars;" it was this man who stood at the door and prevented Smith from 

. 16 escaping. 

The. following di:iy at noon Smith was executed. Watie did not attend 

the hanging, undoubtedly upset by recent events, He could not help but 

believe that Ross was once. again attempting to rid the Cherokee Nation 

of those who had advocated removal, and he probably wondered what fate 

Ross planned for him. 17 

During the following year, the lines were clearly drawn between 

Watie's supporters and those of Chief Ross. In the campaign for tribal 

offices, the pro-removal faction advocated that the per capita payment 

due the Cherokees under the Treaty of New Echota be paid. Ross opposed 

such action, arguing that it would be admitting that the agreement was 

valid. However, Watie's party carried the elect;ion and won a majority 

in the tribal legislature for the biennium of 1841-1843. 18 

On January 9, 1842, Watie was in Van Buren, Arkansas, where he ap-

pealed to Pierce M, Butler, the Cherokee agent, protesting the payment 

16Ibid., pp. 94-98. 

17Ib:Ld., p. 99. 

18 
Wardell, A Political .!!istory £!.the Cherokee Nation, 1838-1907, 

p. 53. 
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of the Ross delegation to Washington in 1839-1840 out of tribal funds. 

He argued that he had been an appointed d~legate f:i;om the Cherok,ee Nation 

recognized by the Federal government, while Ross's faction had been 

denied recognition, Although Watie had been forced to go to Washington 

tQ seek protection from the Ross party, he maintained that he was re~ 

quired to bear the expense of about $2,000, while Ross's costs were paid 

by the Cherokee Nation. This was highly improper, said Watie, and he 

called for an investigation of the matter along with consideration for 

19 payment of the expenses of his group. 

By the spring of 1842, the Cherokee Nation was again on the verge 

of chaos. There were many quarrels an,d several deaths resulting from 

white mem roaming through the country committing petty crimes. On May 

9, a member of the Ross faction, Anderson Sptingston, was shot by a 

white man just inside tP,e border of Ark;:msas, Many of the Cherokees 

viewed this and other killings as a resumption of the blood feud between 

the Watie party and the Ross group, and the uneasy truce was near col-

20 lapse. 

A crescendo was reached on May 14, 1842, when Watie killed James 

Foreman, one of the persons accused of murdering Major Ridge. Watie, 

his brother John, and James P. Miller were returning to Van Buren f;rom a 

trip to Honey Creek in the Cherokee Nation. Passing Maysville, which 

was on the border between Benton Cqun,ty, Arkansas, and the Cherokee Na-

tion, they p:i;oceeded down the road about thx-ee miles to David England's 

19.;rohn A. Bell and Stand Watie to Pierce M:. But;ler, J;muary 9, 
1842, Cherokee Agency, Letters Received, Office of Indian Affairs, Na~ 
tional Archives. 

20 
Grant Foreman,, The Five Civ:i,lized Tribes (Nor~an: University of 

Oklahoma Press, 1934), pp. 324-325. 
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grocery store, where Foreman a,nd s~veral other t:t;"eaty men were present. 

The party remained there for about half an hour, and as they prepared 

to leave, Watie proposed that they enjoy a drink of liquor. Immediately 

after Watie. had arrived, Foreman approached Hiram Landrum and asked to 

borrow his horse so he could send Isacc Springston for his guns. When 

Landrum asked Foreman why he want;ed his guns, he nodded his head at 

Watie. Landrum refused Foreman's request~ 21 

As Watie ordered a glass of liquor~ Foreman picked up Watie's glass 

and drank the whiskey. As he drank, Foreman said, "Stand Watie[,J here 

is wishing that you may live forever," and then he handed the glass to 

Watie. Taking the glass with a smile, Wat1e replied, with an allusion 

to the murders of 1839, "Jim, I suppose that I can drink with you, but 

I understood a few days sinc:;e than you were going to kill me." Foreman 

answered, "Say yourself!" and straightened himself from the bar against 

which he was leaning. Watie then threw his glass, and Foreman began 

striking him with a large whip he was carrying. At first the fight was 

confined to the inside of the store. Foreman continued to beat Watie 

with his whip, while Alexander Drumgoole, Foreman's uncle, attempted to 

get behind Watie's back. In the process Drumgoole fell out of the door 

into the yard. Foreman followed him outside and picked up a board with 

which to attack Watie. As Foreman raised the board to strike, Watie 

sprang out the door and stabbed Foreman with a knife. After being 

wounded, Foreman backed off some fifteen or twenty paces and declared: 

21 George W, Paschal, "The Trial of Stand Watie," edited by Grant 
Foreman, Chronicles .2f Oklahoma, Vol. XII, No. 3 (September, 1934), pp. 
319-320, For a differing account of the killing, see John G. Ross to 
John Ross, May 3, 19, and 25, 1842, John Ross Papers, Thomas Gilcrease 
Institute of American History and Art, Tulsa, Oklahoma. 
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"You haven't done it yet." With this challenge, Watie drew his pistol 

and fired at Foreman; however, Foreman did not die immediately. He 

turned to escape and ran about 150 yards before he fell through a gap 

in a fence and died. 22 

After the killing, Springston, who had left to bring Foreman his 

guns, returned to the store. Then Drumgoole app+oached Watie and asked 

him to feel his arms, aO.ding, "I am the o1d dog. There will be a fuss, 

but I shall not raise it. I am not afraid of any man!" Before any more 

23 of the Ross faction could arrive~ Watie departed. 

The Cherokee authorities, led by the Ross party, assumed jurisdic-

tion in the killing, though it took place inside the limits of Arkansas. 

On May ~O, 1842, Young Wolf, John Looney, and Richard Taylor, in the 

absence of higher Cherokee authorities, cited the powers given them by 

the constitution of the Cherokee Nation, and authorized, empowered and 

commanded "the several shel;'iffs and other civil officers of the Nation" 

to arre.st Watie. He was charged with violating the "laws--peace & good 

order of this nation," and whoever captured him was to "bring him before 

the proper judicial tribunal of the country.'' A group of Ross's men 

gathered at Park Hill for the purpose o~ hunting Watie, and an appeal 

was made to the milital;'y commander at Fort Gibson to provide troops for 

the search, inasmuch as Watie's supporters were expected to flock to 

his defense. The followers of Ross likely viewed the happenings as a 

way to finally rid themselves of Watie, who found it to his advantage 

22 Paschal, "The Trial of Stand Watie," edited by Grant Foreman, 
Chronicles of Oklahoma, Vol. XII, p. 319. 

23Ibid., p. 321. 
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not to be discovered in the Cherokee Nation. 24 

Believing that his life would be forfeited should he return to his 

home, Watie fled to Van Buren, Arkansas. On June 9, 1842, he conti;i.cted 

Butler, the Cherokee agent, and declared thi;i.t he had been waiting in 

Van Buren "several days with a view of surre.ndering myself to the judi-

cial tribunal of Arkansas on a charge of killing James Foreman," but had 

been prevented from doing so because he was informed of the action of 

the Executive Committee of the Cherokee Nation in ordering his arrest. 

Watie pointed out that the action occurred inside Arkansas, and that the 

matter was strictly within the jurisdiction of the state. Wanting to 

put the matter to rest, Watie pledged to surrender to "the civil author-

ity of AJ;'kansas and submit to their decision." However, he stated that 

he could see no benefit in such an act unless the order of the Executive 

Council was revoked, because the moment he returned home, he would be 

subject to arrest and his life would be jeopardized "by being exposed to 

enemies, who are continually misrepresenting my motives and actions." 

Denying that he had gathered an armed party of supporters to protect 

himself, Watie charged that the Ross faction was employing the very 

tactics that they accused him of using, He declared that he was willing 

to submit "to the investigation of any tribunal of the United States" 

for his conduct if the Ross ];Jeople would agree to tl:ie same. As soon as 

the order of the Executive Council was revoked Watie was at Butler's 

disposal~ but he demanded the prote.ction of the United States "against a 

course so apparently illegal, as he has been pursued by the Executive 

24Ibid., p. 311; John G. Ross to John Ross, May 19, 1842, John Ross 
Papers, Thomas Gilcrease Institute of American History and Art; Warrant, 
May 20, 1842, Cherokee Agency, Letters Received, Office of Indian Af­
fairs, National Archives. 
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Council.1125 

During this troubled time Wat~e married his fourth and final time. 

On September 18, 1842, he took Sarah Caroline Bell for his bride. She 

was a member of the Bell family which was so closely allied with Watie 

during the conflict with Ross; in fact, her two brothers Jim and Jack 

had been schoolmates of Watie at Springplace Moravian Mission School. 

This marriage was to provide Watie with his only heirs, and eventually 

they were to have five children: three sons, Saladin Ridge, Cumiskey, 

and Solon Watica; and two daughters, Ninnie Josephine and Charlotee 

J 1 . 26 
acque ine. 

It was doubtful if the new couple enjoyed a very happy life during 

the first months of their marriage as Watie was forced to remain in 

Fayetteville, Arkansas, to avoid the actions of the Ross party~ John R. 

Ridge, the son of John Ridge, whom Watie hc;td spirited out of the Cherokee 

Nation after the murders of 1839, described the danger faced by Watie 

from the Ross party when he expressed hope that Watie would not be 

brought before the Executive Council. He stat;ed to Watie that "neither 

law nor justice wouid save you from the death they so injustly wish you 

to die,'' and that their failure to capture him ''shows the cowardice of 

27 
the whole Ross party.Ii 

Watie kept his pledge to Agent B4qer and surrendered to the 

25 
Stand Watie to Pierce M· Butler, June 9, 1842, ibid. 

26 
Mabe 1 Washbourne Anderson, "General Stand Watie," Chronicles of 

Oklahoma, Vol. X, No. 4 (December, 1932), p. 543; Genealogy ofRidge-:­
Watie-Boudinot, Dale and Litton, eds., Cherokee Cavaliers, following p. 
302. . . . 

27 
.John R. Ridge to Stand Watie, Oct;ober 2, 1842, John D. Jorden 

Collection, Western History Collect.ionp, Univers:Lty of Oklahoma,. 
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authorities in Van Buren, Arkansas. He was indicted for the killing of 

Foreman during the November, 1842, term of the Circuit Court of Benton 

County, but requested that his trial be postponed until December. How-

ever, George w. Paschal, Watie's chief legal attorney, had been elected 

to the Supreme Court of Arkansas, and some of the other members of 

Watie's legal staff were members of the legislature, so the case was 

postponed until the next regular ~ourt tepn in May, 1843. When Watie 

surrendered himself, he was required to have respectable citizens guar-

antee his presence in court in order to be released from custody, and 

over fifty men came forward on his behalf. Judge Joseph M. Hoge re~ 

quired only s;i.x to offer themselves as security, as "it was useless to 

encumber the record with more names.1128 

Though Watie was allQwed to remain free until his trial, he soon 

suffered another personal loss. His father, David Watie, died during 

the latter months of 1842. This was a tremendous loss to Watie. By 

mutual agreement, Watie and his brothers T~omas and John, his sisters 

Elizabeth Weber and Nancy Wheeler, along with John Candy, who had married 

Watie's sister Mary Ann, settled the estate among themselves and ap-

pointed John to "settle .all lawful claims against the estaj:e and to col-

lect all debts in favor of the same •11 Money was provided John to take 

z9· 
care of any outstanding debts. 

On May 15, 1843, Watie's trial began, but not until two days later 

28Paschal, "The Trial of Stand Wat;i.e, 11 edited by Grant Foreman, 
Chronicles of Oklahoma, Vol. Xll, p. 311, 316. - .. 

29rbid., p. 312; Declaration of Stand Wat;i.e Concerning a Ferry of 
Heirs of David Watie, March 31, 1845, and Statement of the Heirs of 
David Watie, January 6, 1843, Cherokee Nation Collection, Western His­
tory Collections, University of Oklahoma Library. 



117 

was the jury completed. Judge Hoge presided, and Alfred M. Wilson, the 

prosecuting attorney of the Fourth Judicial Circuit of Arkansas, repre-

sented the state. Watie was represented by five lawyers: David 

Walker, one of the first lawyers in western Arkansas; Alfred W. Arring-

ton, a former member of the Ar~ansas legislature; Seaborn G. Sneed, a 

major general in the United States Army; Lemuel D. Evans, Watie's first 

lawyer who represented him during Watie 1 s arraignment; and James Spring, 

30 
a young attorney. 

In opening the case, Wilson lucidly stated the law of homicide, and 

he indicated that the killing would not be denied. Continuing, the 

prosecuting attorney reminded the jury that any justification for the 

act would have to be proven by the defense. He realized the ''high 

charp.cter whic::.h the prisoner bore in the CQl,llIIlunity," but the jury was to 

be governed by the law and the evidence and not according to public 

0 • 31 opinion. 

Arrington, in opening the case for the defense, admitted that the 

killing would not be denied. He argued that the circumstances sur-

rounding the act would provide justification. Arrington contended that 

he expected to prove that the H~39 killings were a "diabolical plot of 

murdering in a base and cowardly manner," rest,ilting from the actions of 

"John Ross, and band of wicked o.onspirato;rs. Certain fiends in human 

shape, were selected, armed, and sent out to take away the lives of un-

offending and unsuspecting victims11 ~-John Ridge, Major Ridge, and Elias 

Boudinot. Watie managed to escape only by timely notice and superior 

30Paschal, "The Trial of Stand WEl.tie," edited by Grant Foreman, 
Chronicles 0£ Oklahoma, Vol. XII, pp. 313-317. 

nr bid • , P • 311 • 
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courage. However, these murders were not enough, for after Ross "ren-

dered husband less accomplished and christian widows," and "fatherless 

and houseless helpless innocents," he deposed the chiefs of the Old Set-

tlers and "declared by a celebrated decree of outlawry, which outrages 

every precedent known among semibarbariansl that the best blood of their 

nation had been rightly spilled •11 Then the partisans of Roi:;s ''required 

them to save their lives by bowing to the footstool and asking the par-

don of John Ross and his followers·-pardoned th~ murderers of Ridges and 

Boudinot, and proclaimed a general pardon for every murderer, stained, 

polluted, and guilty as many of them were among the Cherokees~" Through 

these methods Ross has ''sustained his tottering power until the present 

. 32 
time•" 

Arrington continued that Ross was not satisfied "with declaring 

Stand Watie an outlaw." The defense wo1,1ld contend that Watie "was hunted 

down and followed up--waylaid, and every attempt made to take his life, 

until the very moment when James Foreman, one of the leading conspira-

tors, was slain." Declaring that "tbe enemies of Stand Watie had fully 

prepared to take the life of himself and the unoffending brother," and 

that Watie was saved "by a gallantry and prowess, alike honorable to the 

blood which runs in his veini>, and the chivalrous age in which he lives." 

Arrington concluded that the defense believed that Watie acted in self~ 

defense "from a necessity enforced upon him by imperious circum.-

33 stances. 11 

The opening arguments being over, the first witness, James P. 

32Ibid., PP• 317.-318. 

33 . 
Ib:i.d., P• 318. 
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Miller, was called. He desGribed the fight between Watie and Foreman, 

and he told the court that at Maysville he had heard Watie warned to be 

cautious because his life had been threatened and a group of armed men 

were looking for him. He described the whip that Foreman attacked Watie 

with; it was very heavy and capable of killing a man, especially in the 

34 
hands of Foreman, who was "a stout; man" weighing about 125 pounds. 

The next witness, Hiram Landrum, co:r:,'roborated Miller 1 s evidence, 

and stated that when the pardoning of the signers of the Treaty of New 

Echota took place, Foreman refused to 1;'.ake part and declared that "he 

would never pardon them." David England,, the owner of the grocery store, 

was then called to the stand. He testified that Watie had never men-

tioned Foreman's name before the fight, and that though Foreman stated 

Watie was after him, the report was false. This was the end of the 

'd d b h . 35 evi ence presente y t e prosecution. 

The defense then called its first witness, B. Nicholson. He stated 

that a few days before the killing, Foreman and about seventy-five or 

eighty men with guns came to Maysville, Arkansas, and told of a race to 

be held, and of Watie's involvement. Foreman told Nicholson that his 

life had been threatened, and that he had brought his friends along to 

see him killed. They remained the entire day, but Watie did not appear. 

Nicholson described Foreman as "bad and dangerous," one whom he had 

heard make threats against Watie, and he admitted that he was among the 

group who had killed Major Ridge. However, Nicholson declared that he 

knew "nothing of Stand Watie being considered a fighting or dangerous 

34 . 
Ibid., P• 320. 

35Ibid., PP• 320~321. 
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man until Foreman was killed.11 36 

Benjamin May then testified that Foreman was "considered a violent 

fighting man." The next witness was Benjamin F. Thompson, who declared 

that Foreman ~as generally a violent man, and that it was rumored that 

he had already killed two men. He continued that Foreman had always · 

been considered one of the murderers of ~ajor. Ridge. and John Walk~r, and 

37 
that he "had violent feelings towards the treaty party." 

Rufus McWilliams was then called to the stand. He stated that 

Foreman had appeared at Maysville w~th seventy or eighty men, and that 

they were hunting for Watie. McWilliams testified that he was present 

at Park Hill on June 22, 1839, when a great many Cherokees were gather• 

ing at the John Ross house "hunting fqr Watie.11 Next the defense called 

Reverend Cerhas Washbourne, who stated that 11J ames Foreman had been the 

leader of the party who killed Major Ridge." lie also indicated that 

Watie "was one of the persons des;i.gnated to have been k;i.lled11 because of 

his signing of the Treaty of New Echota 0 The wi£e of David England, the 

owner of the groce;ry store where Wat;i.e killed Foreman, also testified 

that Isaac Springston had come to Johnson Foreman's for guns, but before 

he could return to the store, the shot had already been fired. 38 

John Bell next took the stand and stated that no race at Maysville 

had ever been planned, and that he and Watie had been in Missouri on 

business for several weeks at the reported time for the race. Previous 

to the killing, Foreman had told Bell that Watie could never be forg;i.ven 

36 . 
Ibid., PP• 321-322. 

37Ibid., P• 322. 

38 . 
Ibid., PP• 322-324. 
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for signing the Treaty of New Echota. Bell stated that ":Foreman's gen-

er al character was that of a murderer," and he ''valued a man 1 s life no 

39 
more than a dog's." 

After Bell's testimony, the defense 9ffe:red the Annual Report of 

~ Office .2£ Indian Affairs for the year 1839 to prove the conspiracy 

of Ross and others "to take away the lives of the prominent men of the 

Treaty Party." The prosecuting attorney objected, saying that the 1839 

Annual Report could not be submitted as testimony, but the defense con-

tended that they would "show the great danger in which the treaty party 

stood, from the proscriptive measures of Mr. Ross and his parti.s;;ins •11 

The judge ruled that the documentary materials were admissable as long 

"as the Documents show that the Treaty Party were [sic] in danger of 

being assassinated·'' The defense then read into the transcri,pt various 

documents illustrating letters, statements, and resolutions which por= 

trayed the confusion and anarchy inside the Cherokee Nation during 1839, 

and the danger felt by the members of the pro~removal faction for their 

. 40 lives. 

After this the defense closed its arguments, and the court was ad~ 

journed until the following day. When the court reconvened, Alfred M. 

Wilson, the prosecuting attorney, spoke :for about an hour suroming up the 

evidence for the prosecution, devoting most of the time to recalling the 

evidence that des~ribed the events immediately preceding the killing. 

He expla;i.ned the different degrees of homicide, ;;ind stated to the jury 

that 11 if the State had not made out a case of murder they had at least 

39Ib;i.d., P• 324. 

40 
Ibid., pp. 324-337. 
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proven an aggravated case of man-slaughter." Wilson denied that the 

documents introduced by the defense supported a plea of self-defense, 

and he cautioned the jury "that the high character of the defendant and 

deep sympathy felt for him every where should not influence them while 

acting under oath." After deplodng the killings of the Ridges and 

Boudinot, Wilson stated that "neither these murders nor any outrages of 

the dominant party would ju$tify Stand Watie, or any one else, in slay-

ing a member of the Ross party unless the acts immediately preceding the 

homicide justified such an act •11 He dechred that there was but one 

question before the jury: did "the circumstances immediately preceding 

the death of James Foreman justify Stand Watie in taking his life?1141 

Walker summarized the argument of the defense. He pointed out that 

no one could have mistaken Foreman's intentions at the store, and that 

his drinking to Watie 1 s health was mere mockery. Walker portrayed Watie 

"as the last prominent member of one of the most distinguished families 

in the Cherokee nation," and charged that Foreman had ''sought this last 

one for years." He stated that Foreman had declared that when he met 

Watie, he "would put him out of the way," and that Foreman made the trip 

to Maysville "prepared for a bloody tragedy •11 There was no race to be 

held, Walker declared; the truth was that Watie and Bell were in Mis. 

souri, and they were expected to return to Maysville about that time and 

Foreman intended to kill them when they arrived. He argued that Watie 

"was upon our own soil," and was "assailed by one who had more than once 

violated that soil which throws its broad mantle of protection, over 

every man of every name and every color who sets his feet upon it·" 

41Ibid., PP• 337-338. 
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Charging that Foreman "sought to stain that soil, and stain it with more 

innocent blood,!' Walke;r declared that though Watie stood alone, and 

Foreman was surrounded by his friends, justice was on Watie's side and 

"providence" had "decided the battle." This was the end of the testi-

42 
mony, and the jury was charged to retu;rn a ve;rdict. 

Watie was acquitted for reasons of self-defense. Though he was now 

free, and the efforts of the Ross faction to remove him had failed, 

there was still no peace in the Cherokee Nation. The blood feud which 

should have ended with the agreement in 1840 was again showing signs of 

. ' . 1 43 erupting into vio ence, 

Meanwhile, in an attempt to avoid a resumption of the blood feud, 

the Treaty Party held a meeting in late November and early December, 

1843; the group decided to send Watie to Washington at the head of a 

delegation to present the grievances of the pro-removal faction to the 

Federal government. The purpose of the connnittee was to make known the 

grievances of Watie's followers which had resulted from the chicanery of 

Chief Ross, who had "misrepresented our motives, charged upon us treason-

able designs and resorted to every unscrupulous means to array .the bitter 

prejudices of the less informed and more savage of our tribe <;J.gainst us •11 

Having passed a law to prevent a free expression of popular opinion, Ross 

was charged with resorting to tyrannical means to prohibit the right of 

free discussion. Nevertheless, the only recourse then upon the Cherokee 

Nation. was removal to the West, and a fac:;.tion of the Cherokees recognized 

by the United States officials had signed a treaty calling for the 

42Ibid., pp. 338-339. 

43 
Foreman, ~Five Civilized Tribes, p. 325. 
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exchange of their lands in Georgia, ~ennessee, Alabam,a, and North Caro-

lina for a n,ew home in the West. Great opposition to the treaty had 

produced violent threats to its Signers, and to prevent this, the pro-

removal faction pointed out, the Federal government had promised to pro-

tect the Cherokees from domestic strife. The members of the delegation 

44 
declared, however, that this promise had not been ~ept. 

The members of the Treaty Party stated that they had united them-

selves with the Old Settlers when they arrived in their new homes, and 

that Ross had usurped their legal power. They declared that the Ross 

faction had "used every opportunity to infuse into their poor and de~ 

luded adherents, a spirit of revenge again.at the 'Treaty men, 111 and that 

the Cherokee people were "falsely told that, these men had caused all 

the.ir trouble at home and on the road and in the west~" Because of 

these act;ion,s, revenge was "no d<;>ubt a m:i.llion times vowed" by these 

CheJ::okees~ and "vowed against those who w~re the real benefactors of 

these poor deluded beings ,11 No sooner had Ross arrived in the West than 

the rumor spread among the Cherokees that those opposed to him would be 

sacrificed on the "altar c;>f revenge," However, the members of the pro .. 

removal fact; ion "could not beU.eve a catastrophe so dreadful! They 

could not bel:i,eve that among a p~()ple as civ:i.lized as the Cherokees," 

men could be found, who wo1,Jld dip "their hands in the blood of those, 

who had del:i,vered them from a hnd of a worse than Egyptian bondage." 

Describing the confusion as pitting brother against brother and father 

44Gerald Alexander Reed, "The Ross-Wat;i.e Conflict: Fac;tionalism in 
the Cherokee Nation, 1839-1865,'' Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation, Un;i.­
versity of Oklahoma, Noi;man, Oklahoma, 1967, p •. 194; Treaty Party to 
John Tyler, no date~ Cherokee Agency, Letters Received, Office of Indian 
Affairs, National Archives, 
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against son, the pro-removal party stated that not even the protection 

of the United States had deterred Ross's partisans from their illegal 

45 
acts. 

Ross was also accused of mismanagement of the Cherokee National 

funds due the Indians under the provisions of the Treaty of New Echota. 

The interest on the investment of monies amounted to over $38,000 per 

year, and during the last five years the Ross faction had accumulated 

over $190,000; moreover, the supporters of Watie accused Ross of 11 in-

volving our nation in an innnense debt in the shape of national due 

bills•" Contending that Ross paid these bills c;mt of funds which were 

"fraudulently'' taken from their per ... capita money, t;hey declared that 

this action had prevented the members of the Treaty Party from "obtaining 

farms and growing supplies." As a consequence, many of them were left 

11 naked and hungry , 11 and many 11 on the very verge of starvation." If this 

was not enough, the Cherokee Executive Council under the control of Ross 

had passed an act confisc~ting those wells and salt works which were 

owned by Cherokees, and the pro-removal group contended that; such action 

was designed to deny them of their live1ihooct. 46 

The members of Watievs faction argued that th~ proposals of the 

Federal government to increase the military forces in the Cherokee Nation 

would not provide effective relief for their grievances. Instead they 

suggested 11 a geographic division of the country and a se~aration of the 

Old Settlers, and Treaty men, and those opposed to Ross, from Mr. Ross 

and his united emigrants •11 To accomplish this, they declared that the 

45Ibid. 

46rbid. 
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800,000 acres given to the Cherokees under the Treaty of New Echota be 

divided by an east-west line. One faction would receive the Beattie 1s 

Prairie settlement, and the other would get the Arkansas River posses-

sions. The land thus divided would be proportioned according the num-

47 pers. 

Declaring that they would n() longer bear the injustices of the Ross 

supporters, the followers of Watie stated that if they were to perish by 

assassins, they w0 uld "perish like men." However, they "must hear no 

more of 'Cherokee laws, 1 0£ their 1 constituted authorities, 1 their 

'chiefs,' and their· 1 patroles 1 and their 'police companies,'" for they 

were "made and constituted for our oppress;ion," and "if we perish Heaven 

will attest the pur;l.ty of our motives." In the name of humanity, Watievs 

followers prayed and d,emC1nded "a division. of our country--of our educa-

tion, orphan and national funds, and that securit;.y" which the Federal 

48 
g0vernment had promised in the Treaty of New Echota. 

Watie and the other members of the delegation took the petition to 

Washington in the spring of 1844. They were soon joined by two other 

groups representing the Ross faction and the Old Settlers. However, the 

pleas of Watie and his followers £ell on deaf ears, and the Federal 

government refused to act on their request. Instead, an investigating 

committee was dispatched to the Cherokee Nation to hear the grievances 

of all parties. Returning home, Watie took steps to call his followers 

49 
together to formulate their plea. ·· 

47Ibid. 

48roid. 

49 
Reed, "The Ross-Watie Conflict: Factionalism ;in the Cherokee Na ... 

tion, 1839-1865," p •.. 196; Wa.rdell, t;, Political Historx £!. fu Cherokee 
1838-!.2.Ql, P• 57. 
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The meeting with the Federal connnissioners was to be held at Tah-

lonteeskee, Cherokee Nation, on December 5, 1844, and all parties were 

exhorted to "abstain from any conduct in the least calculated to produce 

excitement, or disturb the peace and quiet of this assemblage." At lg 00 

in the afternoon the Cherokees assembled and were addressed by Roger 

Jones, one of the commissioners, who told them that the duty of the com-

m;i.ssion was to inquire into the difficulties of the Cherokees and as-

certain the actual state "of the facts alleged on either side." The 

arguments of the Old Settlers were to be beard on the following day; but 

before the meeting adjourned, word was received from Chief Ross that he 

would not attend, and "the authorities of the nation did not deem it 

proper to appoint a deputation for that purpose·'' Thus the meeting 

50 
represented only the members of the Old Settlers and Watie's group. 

The following day it snowed, and the Cherokees proposed that repre-

sentatives be chosen from among them to negotiate with the Federal com-

miss;i.oners. Because of the inclement weather, many 0f the Cherokees 

wished to return to their homes, where they could find shelter. During 

the remainder of the day and on December 7, 1844, the names of those 

Cherokees present were listed, and representatives chosen. Watie was 

selected as one of the representatives of the Treaty Party. A message 

was also sent to Ross informing him that the meeting was adjourning to 

meet on December 10 at "the old Cherokee agency, on the :road between 

Fort Gibson and Park HHl.11 '.!:'he policy of protection for all Cherokees 

attending the meeting was also included because of the presence of Ross 1 s 

50Notice to Cherokee Nation, December 4, 1844, in "Inquiry Into the 
Complaints and Differences of the Cherokees , 11 United States Senate, 28th 
Congress, 2nd Session, Senate Document 140 (Washington; Gales and 
Seaton, 1845), pp. 58•60. · ·· · --
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"police companies" at Tahlonteeskee and the fear among the Cherokees 

h h . h ff . 1 f h . . 51 t at t ey mig t su er reprisa s or t eir actions. 

The grievances of the Old Settlers were heard first when the Federal 

commission reconvened, and it was not until December 23, 1844, that the 

complaints of Watie 1 s group were heard. Only one day was required to 

air the grievances of the pro-removal faction. On December 22, Watie 

and his brother John, in behalf of the heirs and representatives of Elias 

Boudinot, along with Susannah ~idge, Walter Ridge, Sarah Paschal, and 

the representatives of Majo~ Ridge had sent a message to the commission 

from Van Buren. Stating that the complaints of the bereaved widows and 

orphans of the Ridges and Boudinot were a peculiar case, they told of 

the murders of 1839 and of the denial of the per capita sum of money 

promised by the Treaty of New Echota. They condemned the United States 

for failure to bring to justice the murderers, and. cited its inability to 

52 
afford them the protection they deserved. 

The grievances listed by Watie and his group noted that the United 

States had not "taken the necessary measures to ascertain the extent of 

the conspiracy" which resulhed in the assassinations of the Ridges and 

Boudinot. The widows and orphans of the deceased had lost "the entire 

value of their outlay and improvements," and they had not received the 

money due them under the Treaty of New Echota. Because of the unlawful 

payment of the per capita funds to Ross, the heirs had not been able to 

"collect the debts contracted to them up1:m the faith of that fund," and 

51Ibid,, p. 60; R. Jones, R. B. Mason and Pierce M. Butler to John 
Ross, December 7, 1844, in ibid., p. 61. 

52 
Minutes of the Commission, December 43-24, 1844, and Stand Watie 

and others to Roger Jones, R. Mason, and Pierce M. Butler, December 22, 
1844,in ibid., PP• 26-28, 78-80. 
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they had not been able to participate in the orphan and education funds 

of the Cherokee Nation. They asked that the Federal government punish 

the murderers, and pay the widows and orphans of the Ridges and Boudinot 

for "spoliation for losses of property consequent upon the murders, and 

for losses growing out of the non-payment of the per capita money." They 

requested that the monies due the families 1,mqer the Treaty of New 

Echota be paid, and that they receive money "for the education of their 

children equal to what would be the just proportion of the national edu­

cation and orphan fund .n,53 

Watie's group was answered by the Federal conunission on December 31. 

Roger Jones and R. B. Mason stated that Watie's message substantiated 

the testimony of the other members of the Treaty Party. Regretting the 

events of 1839, the Federal officials declared that they would lay 

Watie's statement before the Secretary of War as a separate complaint 

54 
and regard it as a direct appeal to President John Tyler. 

Its investigation completed, the Federal conunission adjourned on 

January 17, 1845; meanwhile, it issued a report of its findings. In re-

gard to Watie's followers, the com;missioners agreed to the division of 

the monies due for per capita payments under the provisions of the Treaty 

of New Echota. They concurred that it was not just or right for the 

members of the Treaty Party, who had removed, in expectation of compensa-

tion for their property, not to receive their money because of "the ex-

haustion of their consideration money in the removal" of the remainder 

53rbi'd., 80 81 pp. - • 

54 R. Jones and R. B. Mason to Stand Watie and others, December 31, 
1844, in ibid., PP• 82-83. 
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of the Cherokees. However, the commission ruled that the United States 

Senate in approving the supplementary articles to the agreement had de-

barred the Federal government from "making any charge upon the five 

m:Ulions for the e~penses of removal•" Thus the United States was bound 

to restore to the compensation fund, out ot the whole sum paid for re-

moval, such "portion as has been charged upon the general fund; and also 

to restore such moneys as may have been paid out of that fund for 'ob-

jects of a contingent nation,' not enumerated in the treaty." The com-

missioners also de~cribed the ''non-receipt of this per capita" as a 

germ of discontent and a great hindrance t;o the harmony and quht of 

the Cherokee Nation. 55 

The agreement reached between Watie's followers and the supporters 

of John Ross in the summer of 1840 did not end the violen~e among the 

Cherokees. The killings continued by both sides, but on a smaller 

scale. Watie still held a deep hatred against the persons involved in 

the murders of his brother, uncle, and c9usin, and became involved in 

the killing of one person accused of the crimes. Watie•s enemies seized 

on the opportunity to bring him to trial for murder, and doubtlessly 

knowing his fate before a court controlled by Chief Ross, fled to Arkan-

sas for safety. In that state he was later a~quitted of the murder 

charge on grounds of self•defense. The threat of ~ontinued violence 

resulted in renewed appeals to the Federal government to settle the dif-

ficulties among the Cherokees, ~nd a Federal investigating committee 

was sent to the Cherokee Nation to hear the grievances of all parties. 

The investigation setthd nothing. Since the signing of the Act of 

55Minutes of the Commission, January P, 1845, and Report qf the 
Corni:nission, January 17, 1845, in ibid., PP• 48, 12•14. 
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Union of 1840, the events of the years had neither placated nor brought 

peace to the Cherokee Nation. Watie and his supporters still believed 

that the followers of Chief Ro~s were bent on a policy of extermination 

of all who opposed their rule. The renewal of the killings and the 

seeming impunity with which the partisans of Ross acted only reinforced 

their convictions. The troubled peace which had existed among the 

Cherokees for the past half decade was soon to erupt in violence un­

matched by the bloodletting of 1839. 



CHAPTER VI 

TEMPEST AND THE CALM 

The tense feelings of the various mem,ber.s of t;.he Watie and Ross 

factions of the Cherokee Nat:i,on would soon burst in an orgy of bloodshed 

and confusion. The Cherokees wex-e divi<:ied in;to two armed camps poised 

at each others I throats. Individual acts of revenge for e::Li:her actual or 

supposed wrongs were answered with equal vengeance .by the other side. 

The basis for the outrages was a combinatipn of things: general unrest 

among the Cherokees, excitement caused by a ~~ries of killings, charges 

and counter~charges of corruption in otfice, the question of annuity 

payments, the failure of the special Federal connnission of 1843 to look 

adequately into Cherokee p;roblems, and the 019 hatreds resulting from 

1 the murders of 1839. 

Killings were prevalent. throughout the Cherokee Nation, and ;rumors 

spread to Watie' s supporters that the Ross fai;:tion was continuing its 

policy of extermination of :the signers of the Treaty of New Echota. In 

the midst of the turmoil, the Cherokee National Council, controlled by 

the Chief Ross faction, dispatched a delegation to Washington to secure 

a new treaty to end the problems of the Cherokees. Likewise, the mem-

bers of the Old Settlers and Watie's group alpo sent representatives to 

Washington to present their side of the controversy. However, Watie did 

62. 

1 
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not attend, and remained in the Cherokee Nation to look after the inter-

ests of the pro-removal faction. The group was assured by the Federal 

government that military force would be employed to maintain peace among 

the Cherokees. With such a strong stand by the United States, violence 

resulting from the division of the tribe over the question of removal 

subsided, and a more or less al;'med truce temporarily existed between the 

. 2 opposing groups. 

On April 1, 184.5, Watie presented a damage claim against the United 

States for $1,975 under the provisions of the sixteenth article of the 

Treaty of New Echota. He stated that in February, 1837, he had rented a 

farm to Claborn Kinman, located in the Cherokee Nation in Georgia, but 

before a crop could be pl.;tnted, the property was i::iei~ed and all appeals 

for the return of the land were refused. Because of the small wage Watie 

was being paid for acting as an interpreter for the Federal government, 

he had decided to remove in 1837. Watie believed he was just~fied in 

claiming $1,875 for lost rent on the land, plus an additional $100 for 

rent on his improvements, which were illegally seized by the citizens of 

. 3 Georgia. 

The armed truce ended in November, 1845, with a bloodbath exceeding 

the killings of 1839. Many of the murders were blamed on the Starr 

family and other members of the Watie faction. The Ross group·, in an 

alleged attempt to end the atrpcities, gathered about 800 men, each 

2Ibid., PP• 62-64. 

3 
11 C laims for Pamages Because of the Treaty and Anti-Treaty Feud of 

the Forties ,11 Cherokee Room, John Vaughan Library, Northeastern State 
College. 
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4 
charged with bringing the offenders to justice. 

On Novembe;r 9, J runes Starr, a removal supporter, was kiUed by mob 

action, and five days later Thomas Watie, Stand Watie 1 s brother, was 

slain. Thomas Watie and his wife, Char-wah-you-kah, were staying at the 

home of Bear Paw, in a building separate from the main house. A group 

of unidentified men approached the structure which Thomas Watie was oc-

cupying. As they approached the door, Thomas Watie!s wife asked him 

who they were, but he made no reply. Entering the building, the con-

spirators neared the bed and info:nned ThqmasWatie that he was under ar-

rest. He rep lied, 11 Let me put on my clothes, 11 and at; that moment he was 

struck in the head by a tomahawk and then shot by two other members of 

the mob. Char-wah-you-kah fled from the building, and when the ass ail .... 

ants departed, she returned to find her husband .. lying dead on the ground, 

5 
stabbed, she said, "in some seven or eight places·" 

Watie was at Old Fort Wayne with about sixty of his men when his 

brother was murdered and he blamed Ross for the killing. Not trusting 

Ross 1 s motives, Watie's followers had already began gathering at the 

post for their own protection. The fort was located at the bend of a 

ravine on the south side of the Illinois River, just west of the Arkansas 

border on the southwestern edge of Beattie's Prairie. Work on the fort 

had been suspended in June, 1840, by the Federal government, and it 

64. 

4 
Wardell, A Political History~ the Cherokee Nation, 1838m11Q.l, p. 

5 
Interrogatories Propounded by James McKissick, February 5, 1846, 

and Statement of Char-wah-you .. kah~ February 6, 1846, in "Internal Feuds 
Among the Cherokees,'' United States Senate, 29th Congress, 1st Session, 
Senate Document 298 (Washington~ Ritchie and Heiss, 1846), pp. 214-215, 
207 ... 208. -
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offered innnediate sanctuary for Watie' s ba).id. Boarding guns and ammi.,mi-

tion, Watie's supporters prepared to defend themselve1> in case of at-

6 
tack.~~ 

Watie sent a delegation to Fort Gibson tQ inform Brigadier General 

Arbuckle of the killings, and he undoubtedly Sought his protection. At 

the same time a detachment of Dragoons was 9rdered to Old Fort Wayne to 

investigate the motives of the Cherokees gathered there under Watie's 

leadership. Arbuckle was informed by James McKissick, the Cherokee 

agent, that there were "about forty or fifty of the treaty party and old 

settlers" at the post, and that they in<;licated that t:hey had "no inten-

tion of any offensive movement," and only intended to act for defensive 

purposes in case of neaessity. 7 

The renewal of killings among the Cherokees caused a general exodus 

of the members of the pro-removal faction from the Cherokee Nation. 

Many of the refugees fled to Arkansas, abandoning their homes and im-

provements. In an attempt to preserve peace, Arbuckle ordered the dis-

bandment of the light-horse police of Ross and the arrest of all persons 

connected with the murders. Though there was a large force of United 

6T. J. Kelly to T. S. Drew, Novembel:' 22, .1845, .in "Letters Trans~ 
mitting Information Relative to Outrages Lately Qonnnit:ted in the Chere~ 
kee Nation," United States House of Represep,t.;itives, 29th Congress, 1st 
Session, Executive Document 92 (Washington: Ritchie and Heiss, 1846), 
p. 14; Robert W. Frazer, Fort;° of the West: Military Forts, Presidios 
and Posts Connnonly Called Forts West .2f the Mississ ip;ei River (Norman~ 
University of Oklahoma Press, 1965), pp. 126·127; Ethan A. Hitchcock,~ 
Traveler in Indian Territory: ~ Journal .2.f Ethan Allen Hitchcock, Late 
Major General in ~ United St.ates Army, edited by Grant Fo:t;"eman (Cedar 
Rapids, lowa: Torch Press, 1930), pp. 77-78. 

7 . 
Captain Nathan Boone to Matthew Arbuckle, November 22, 1845, 

Matthew Arbuckle to Adjutant: General, December 6, 1845, and James Mc. 
Kissick to Matthew Arbuckle, December 1, 1845, in "Letters Transmitting 
Information Relative to Outrages Lately Committed in the Cherokee Na• 
tion," United States H.ouse of Representatives, 29th Congress, 1st Ses­
sion, Executive Document 21' pp. 36, 48, 51-52. 
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States troops present in the Cherokee Nation at Fort Gibson, the killings 

d . . . d 8 an assassinations continue • 

Captain Nathan Boone of the United States Dragoons reported that 

there was "much to be feared from the old settlers and treaty party" on 

Beattie 1 $ Prairie, and many citizens of A.rkansas were urging them to 

take action against the Ross faction. Other members of the Treaty Party 

were flocking to join Watie nearby at Old Fort Wayne; however, the mili~ 

tary authorities prevented many from doing so. The Cherokee Advocate 

reported that Watie was gathering a store of provisions for his followers 

and was drilling his men in a regular military manner. This increased 

9 
excitement among the Cherokees. 

Watie continued to enlarge his force, but he advised them to "ab-

stain from excesses, and to suffer wrong rather than be the aggressors. 11 

The military units at Fort Gibson kept a close watch on his activities, 

and urged Watie 1 s followers to "remain quiet , 11 if they did "not think 

proper to disband." Should Watie attempt any hostile activities, the 

army was to interpose innnediately; as long as they remained defensive, 

however, the Fort Gibson forces refused to compel them to disband. Watie 

d h . f 11 d d d k f " 1 lO an is o owers were not ispose to un erta e any acts o vio ence. 

8 
Wardell, A Political History ,2! ~Cherokee Nation, 1838-1907, 

pp. 64-65. 

9captain Nathan Boone to James H. Prentiss, December 12, 1845, and 
Matthew Arbuckle to Adjutant General, December 20, 1845, in 11 Letters 
Transmitting Informative Relative to Outrages Lately Connnitted in the 
Cherokee Nation," United States House 9f Representati;ves, 29th Congress, 
1st Session, Executive Document 92, pp. 60, 69. 

-. -.. 
10 . 

Matthew Arbuckle to Adjutant General, January 6, 1845, and B.,L.Eo 
Booneville to James H. Prentiss, January 2, 1845, in "lnternal Feuds 
Among the Cherokees," United States Senate, 29th Congress, 1st Session, 
~enate Document 298, PP• 188-189, 191. 
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To combat the steadily deteriorating situation, the members of 

Watie's party held a meeting at a Dragoon camp in the Cherokee Nation on 

January 19 and 20, 1846. On January 19, the members of the meeting con-

vened and appointed a committee composed of Stand Watie, John Duncan, 

Brice Martin, Joseph M. Lynch, and William L. Holt to prepare a report 

on "the present situation and wants of the treaty party of Cherokees•" 

They also were to reconunend 11 such measures as they shaU deem proper 

for the consideration of the general council of the treaty party." The 

meeting reconvened the following day to hear t;he report. Generally, the 

report condemned the fulfillment of t;he Treaty of New Echota. The mem-

bers of the meeting complained that the per capita monies promised to 

the Cherokees had never ~een paid, nor had other claims arising under 

the agreement been paid. They contended that the Ross faction intended 

"to tear up the roc;>ts of the accused treaty party in order that the 

branches might perish, 11 and also t'hat the Federal government had not 

provided safety for the adherents of the treaty. Stating that they did 

not desire a ;reconciliation with the Ross party, the members of Watie's 

gro~p declared that they wanted a divi~ion of the Cherokee Nation, or 

11 
their removal to an area separate from the Ross group. 

Watie's followers unanimously adopted a resolution declaring that 

their complaints and grievances should be remedied. They stated that 

"their peaceable residence among the Ross party is impossible, and we 

therefore demand a separation fvom them,11 Sympathizing with the con-

d:ltion of the Old Settlers, they indicated a preference for a new home 

11convention o;f the Treaty Party, January 19-20, 1845, in "Message 
on the Cherokee Indians, 11 United States House of Representatives, 29th 
Congress, 1st Session, Exec~ti~e Document 1:,§1 (Washington; Ritchie and 
Heiss, 1846), pp. 220-z22. · 
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outside the present boundaries of the Cherokee Nation, but would consent 

to a division of the present country "in preference to a longer residence 

under the oppressive rule of the Cherokee authorities, at the head of 

which is John Ross. 11 A delegation con1:1isting of Watie and five other 

members of the pro•removal faction were dispatched to Washington to se-

cure an agreement with the United States for the adjustment of their 

grievances. George w. Paschai, Watie 1 s former lawyer, was sent with the 

delegation to Washington to act as attorney, and delegates were to act 

11 as far as possibl~ 1 with the delegation of Old Settlers. Looking to the 

United States "for justice and a redress" of their wrongs, George W. 

Adair, a Cherokee, was appointed by the Treaty Party to keep its members 

0 f d f h . . . f h d 1 ° 12 in orme o t e activities o t e e egation. 

On February 10, 1846, Watie was informed by George Lowry, the acting 

principal chief in the absence of Ross, who was in Washington, that the 

11 continued combination of so many armed men at 'Old Fort Wayne' is a 

subject of general and just complaint.11 Pointing out that such a gather-

ing was contrary to the laws of ~he Cherokees and uncalled for, he urged 

Watie to "break up without delay your present organization, return to 

your respective homes and contribute whatever may be in your power to 

the promotion of order and harmony among 9ur people." Meantime, Watie 

ordered monies paid out of the first pubUc f\lnds received by his faction 

for the clothing and supplies bought by his followers at Old Fort 

13 Wayne. 

12Ibid., PP• 222-223. 

l3ceorge Lowry to Stand Watie and Others, February 10, 1846, Dale 
and Litton, eds., Cherokee Cavaliers, p. 25; Order of Stand Watie, Feb­
ruary 21, 1846, Cherokee Nation Collection, Western History Collections, 
University of Oklahoma Library. 
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Watie and the other Treaty Party delegation members left for Wash-

ington about the middle of March, 1846, and he placed the command of his 

force at Old Fort Wayne in the hands of his brother John• Preparing for 

an expected attack, a picket fence was erected around the post. Mean-

while, John Watie renamed the installation Fort Watie, in honor of his 

brother. Many of the group left the fort to attend to spring planting, 

though they were in danger of being ~illed by the Ross faction. The 

force, reduced to about thirty men, was ordered to reassemble on April 

20, 1846. Only those who remained inside the stockade were safe, and 

they feared that if they were captured by the Ross g~oup, they would be 

14 
charged with treason and executed. 

Upon reaching Washington, t.he me:rnbers of Watie 1 s delegati<;m in-

formed William Medill, the Commissioner of Indian Affairs, that they 

were ready to enter into negotiations to settle the differences of the 

Cherokees. Charging that the Ross faction "encol,lraged by the deaf ear 

turned by the government of the United States to the cries of blood from 

the ground of a sovereign State, have moved forward with a steady pace 

to the object, long since determined l,lpon against the members of the 

treaty party~-their total destruction, 11 t:hey contended that: no member of 

the pro-removal faction was safe in the Cherokee Nation. Pointing out 

that the claims of Watie 1 s group differed from those of the Rpss faction, 

the delegates asked for ''the payment of the moneys due to the respective 

members of our party under the fVteenth article of the treaty of 1835." 

Expressing fullest confidence in the Federal offi~ials, they asked for a 

14wardell, ! Political Hi~tory .£!:.,th;. Cherokee Nation, ~-1907, 
p. 66. R. Armstrong and N. R. Harlan to Stand Watie, March 20, 1846, 
and R. ·Armstrong and N. R. Harlon to Stand Watie, March 27, 1846, Dale 
and Litton, eds., Cherokee Cavaliers, pp. 26-29. 
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separate district or country, payment to the sufferers for such losses 

as they had sustained because of the lack of protec,tion, and the payment 

15 
of the per capita money they were due. 

As instructed, Watie's men gathered again on ,April 20, 1846, and 

they remained at Fort Watie until his return from Washington in the 

fall. The National Council Qf the Cherokees, however, had passed a 

resolution declaring that Watie 1 s group had forfeited their rights under 

Cherokee law by raising arms; no longer would the laws of the country 

protect them. Many of the men were extremely anxious as to their fate, 

and were fearful of falling into the hands of Ross partisans. John 

Candy, Watie's brother•in-law, told him of the lawlessness among the 

Cherokees; the killings, he said, "have been, so frequent until the 

people care as little about hearin~ these things as they would hear of 

h' d h f d " 16 t e eat o a connnon og. 

Apparently while in Washington, Watie planned to visit Philadel-

phia, Pennsylvania, and see the children of his slain brother Elias 

Boudinot. Watie 1s visit was looked forward to by the children, and he 

was doubtlessly anxious to see to their well being. Meanwhile in the 

Cherokee Nation, John was having difficulty in keeping Watie's followers 

together, and was urged to disband his group and allow them to seek 

safety in Arkansas. However, John Watie persisted in maintaining the 

force at Fort Watie, and he insisted that Watie secure badly needed 

15George W. Adair, E. Starr, J. A. BeU, L. M. Lynch, and Brice 
Martin to William Medill, March, 1846, in "Message on the Cherokee 
lndians , 11 United States House of Representatives, 29th Congress, 1st 
Session, Executive Document 185, pp. 73-76. 

16John Candy to Stand Watie, April 10, 1846, ibid., PP• 32-33; 
George D. K. to Stand Watie, April 5, 1846, Cherokee Nation Collection, 
Western History Collections, University of Oklahoma Library. 
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clothing for the men. 

At the suggestion of the Office of Indian Affairs, all three 

factions--Watie, Ross, and the Old Settlers--met in an attempt to ar-

141 

range a plan among themselves for .the settlement of their disputes. A 

decision was reached to create a commis~ion to investigate the problems 

of the Cherokees and work out a solµtion. Previously President James 

Polk had indicated that the only way to bring peace and harmony to the 

Cherokees was a division of the Cherokee Nation among the contending 

factions. The suggestion of Polk was written into a law introduced in 

the United States House of Representatives on June 2, 1846. It pro-

vided, among other things, for a commission to be sent to the Cherokee 

N ' d' 'd h 1 d h i f . 18 at1on to 1v1 e t e ans among t e var ous actions. 

Immediately Watie and the other members of the Treaty Party delega~ 

tion accepted the idea of a commission. Expressing full confidence "in 

the justice, wisdom and impartiality of the President of the United 

States ,1 1 Watie agreed to submit all "matters in controversy among the 

several portions of the Cherokee people" to any ''three persons selected 

and named by the President •11 Watie 's followers pledged to rely on the 

equity and justice of the commissioners, and bound themselves to observe 

the decision reached by the members of the commission. However, the Ross 

faction was horrified at ~he prospect of a division of the Cherokee 

17 
William P. ~oudinot to Stand Watie, April 15, 1846, ibid.; S. 

Rindly to Stand Watie, April 30, 1846, and ~ohn A. Watie to Stand Watie, 
May 10, 1846, Dale and Litton, eds., Cherokee Cavaliers, pp. 39-42. 

18wardell, !::_ Political History of the Cherokee Nation, ~-12.Q2., 
PP• 69-71; Stand Watie and Others to William Armstrong, J'une 17, 1846, 
Cherokee Agency, Letters Received, Office of Indian Affairs, National 
Archives. 



142 

19 Nation, and Ross attempted to persuade Polk not to carry out his plan. 

In the midst of the confusio~ resulting from the renewed violence 

on both sides, Watie's wife Sarah gave birth to their first son, Sal~din 

Ridge Watie. Watie probably was concerned over the safety of his first 

born, but Sarah was in the care of his followers, who would protect them 

from the vengeance of o'the R<;>ss faction. The child was rather sickly dur-

ing the first months of his life, and Sarah feared that he would not 

survive. However, as Sarah said, God "in his mercy has spared him to us 

a little longer,n and by the middle of July he was restored to good 

health. Longing for WatieYs return home ·.to his family, Sarah toLd him 

that Saladin would be able to talk upon his ardval, and she urged Watie 

to return as soon as possible. Watie's wife Sarah and his sister Eliza-

beth Webber were staying together and were in good health during his so~ 

. . w h' 20 Journ in as ington. 

While Wat:j.e.1 s delegation was in Washington, the United States went 

to war with Mexico. Professing a manifest patriotism, but more than 

likeLy only wanting to gain a favored position among the Federal offi~ 

cials, Watie offered to raise a :regiment of mounted Cherokees to serve 

with the United States Army. His offer was referred to the War Depart-

ment with due appreciation; Watie was told that he would be informed 

should his services be needed. 21 

19 
Statement of Stand Watie and Others, June 24, 1846, ibid. 

20 . 
H. L. Smith to Stand Watie, April 4, 1846, and Sarah C. Watie to 

Stand Watie, July 19, 1846, Dale and Litton, eds., Cherokee Cavaliers, 
PP• 29-32, 45-46. 

21w. L. March to Stand Watie, June 2, 1846, "Letters To and From 
Stand Watie, 11 Vol. II, Cherokee Room, John Vaughan ;Library, Northeastern 
State College. 
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Ross and his supporters, by employing all the political strategy at 

their connnand, succeeded in defeating the division of the Cherokee Na-

tion in Congress. However, a full scale investigation by a government 

connnission was ordered into the activities of the Cherokee Nation. It 

was the decision of the connnission to pay the Old Settlers from the 

United States Treaf:lury, and not from the monies provided from the treaty 

fund. Regarding distribution of head right money among the Cherokees 

remaining in North Carolina, they were to receive one~third, instead of 

a proportion based on their number. The connnii;ision also reconnnended 

that Watie 1 s group be paid $100,000 for the damages its members had suf-

fered from 1839 to 1846. The heirs of Major Ridge were to receive 

$5,000, and the families of John Ridge and Elias Boudinot were to re~ 

ceive $10,000 each. In addition, the money paid to the followers of 

Chief Ross for removal was not to be deducted from the per capita funds 

d W . i 22 owe atie s group. 

Watie expressed extreme optimism over the suggestions of the com-

mission, and he confided to his brother John that it would "not be long 

now before we are ready to turn our faces towards home as I think the 

matter has come to a point that it will come to a final close in a very 

short time." However, it was necessary to proceed with great speed, for 

Congress was scheduled to adjourn on August 10, l84q. Nevertheless, on 

August 6, the agreement was ready for signing by all three groups-=the 

Old Settlers, Watie's supporters, and the followers of Chief Ross. It 

was approved by the Senate on August 8 and ratified by President Polk on 

22stand Watie to Brothef, July 30, 1846, ibid.; Woodward, ~ ~­
okees, p. 236. 



23 
August 17. 

144 

The Cherokee Treaty of 1846 was designed a~ a final and amicable 

settlement of serious difficulties among the Cherokees. Article I prod 

vided that the lands of the Cherokee Nation were "secured to ~the whole 

Cherokee people for their CO'JllillOn use and benefit," and only if the Cher-

o~ees should become extinct or abandon the country, would the 1and revert 

to the United States. In Article II all dif~iculties and differences 

between the various factions of the Cherokees were to be "forgotten and 

forever buried in obliv:!on. 11 All party distinctions were to cease, a 

general amnesty was declared ~or all offenses committed during the 

troubled years, and all individuals involved were pardoned for their ac= 

tions. However, amnesty and pardon was to be applied on~y to those 

Cherokees who returned to their homes by December 1, 1846. The several 

parties agreed to unite in enforcing tqe 1aws of the Cherokee Nation 

against all future offenders, and a series of laws guaranteeing l:l.fe, 

liberty, and property were to be passed. All Cherokees were given the 

right to assemble peaceably and petition either the Cherokee or Federal 

governments for redress of their grievances. A~l "armed police, light 

horse, and other military organizatipns" were abolished, and the laws 

were to be enforced by civil authority. Conviction by a jury was re-

quired for the punishme~t 0£ any crime or misdemeanor, and all fugitives 

from justice seeking refuge in the United States were to be returned to 

23stand Watie to :Brother, July 30, 1846, "Letters To and From Stand 
Watie,n Vol. Il, Cherokee Room, John Vaughan Library, Northeastern State 
College; Treaty Between the United States of America and the Cherokee 
Nation, August 6, 1846, in ''Correspondence With Persons Claiming to be 
Creditors of the· Western Cherokees , 11 United States Senate, 32nd Congress, 
1st Session, ~xecutive Document 32 (Washington: Boyd and Hamilton, 
1852), PP• 9-10. . ... -. 



145 

the proper Cherokee authorities for trial and punishment. 24 

The treaty stated in Article Ill that the paytnents made to the 

Cherokees for improvements and damages ~ade out of the $5,000,000 for 

removal were not justified, and were to be reimbursed by the United 

States. Article ]..V declared that the Old Settlers had "a com.mon inter-

est in the lands occupied by the Cherokees east of the Mississippi 

River," and that the Old Settlers wo1,1ld receive one .. third of the monies 

paid the Cherokees for their land in the East. The Old Settlers, never .. 

theless, renounced all claims to any property east of the Mississippi 

River. Under Article V a COil111!.ittee of five persons was created to de-

termine which members of the Old Settlers were enti~led to receive per 

25 
capita payinents of the monies to 'be paid. 

The payinents due Watie's group were covered in Article VI, and for 

the damages they suffered because of the Treaty of New Echota, they were 

to receive $115,000. Of this amount the heirs of Major Ridge, John 

Ridge, and Elias Boudinot were tq be paid $5,000 each, and the remainder 

paid "in such amounts and to such persons as may be certified" by a 

five-man com.mittee appo~nted by Watie's supporters. In addition, $25,000 

of the money was.set aside to pay for the expenses incurred by the mem-

bers of the pro~removal delegation in Washington. Should the money not 

be enough to satisfy all the claims, t~e claimants were to be paid pro 

26 
rata. 

Article VII called for the return of all disposed salines and 

24lbid., PP• 10-11. 

25 
Ibid., PP• 11~13. 

26 . 
I b;i.d n p • 13. 
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private property in the Cherokee Nation seized during the period of con-

fusion. If it was not possible to return the property, then the Cherokee 

Nation was to reimburse the owners for their losses. An additional 

$2,000 was paid, under Article VIII, for the destruction of a printing 

press and other materials owned by the Cherokee Nation. Also $5,000 was 

to be divided among those Cherokees whose arms were confiscated by order 

of military officers during the process of removal, and $20,000 for all 

27 
Cherokee claims prior to the Treaty of New Echota. 

In Article IX the United States agreed to make a fair and just set-

tlement for all "improvements, ferries, spoliations, removal, and sub-

sistence11 due the Cherokees. TP.e remainder of the monies was to be dis-

tributed "per capita, in equal amounts, to all those individuals, heads 

of families, or their legal representatives, entitled to receive'' the 

money under the Treaty of New Echota. Article X declared that the treaty 

would in no manner "take away or abridge any rights or claims" of those 

Cherokees still residing east of the Mississippi River. The question of 

subsistence payments due the CP.erokees was settled in Article XI. It 

provided that the matter would be submitted to the Senate, and the Cher~ 

okee Nation would receive any interest due the Cherokees on subsistence 

28 payments. 

Considering Article XII, the Old Settlers protested that the amount 

of money paid for removal after May 23, 1838, should not be taken from 

the $5,000,000 given the Cherokees for their land under the Treaty of 

New Echota. They also did not want any part of the damage, subsistence, 

27Ibid., PP• 13-14. 

28 • 
I bid., p. 14. 
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or removal funds charged against them for "their interest in the Cherokee 

country east and west of the M:ississippi." However, they agreed that 

this question would be submitted to the Senate for a final decision. 

The final clause of the agreement, Article XIlI, simply stated that the 

treaty would become binding on the various parties upon its approval by 

29 
the United States Senate. 

Such was the substance of the treaty signed by Watie and his fol-

lowers, the members of the Old Settler delegation, and the representa-

tives of the Ross faction. When the agreement was submitted to the 

Senate for ratification, Article Xll was stricken from the treaty, and a 

minor change was made in Article V. After the changes were incorporated 

into the agreement, the members of the various factions signed the final 

30 
draft. 

Thus it appeared that factionalism among the Cherokees had finally 

been resolved. It was reported that Watie and Chief Ross shook hands 

after the signing of the agreement in a symbolic gesture of good faith. 

The two antagonists even cooperated in a protest to the Federal govern~ 

ment over the location of the claims commission, They suggested that 

instead of the commission meeting in Washington, it would be more advan-

tageous to have it meet in the Cherokee Nation. Both Watie and Ross 

urged that such a move would allow "oral testimony and the character and 

standing of each claimant & witness can be had & established, whereby 

frauds may be detected & prevented." Such a move, they contended, would 

ensure "that full justice may be done and satisfac;:.tion given.11 Their 

29lbid., PP• 14-15. 

30 . 
Ib~d., PP• 15-17, 
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During the sojourn in Washington, Watie had left his family in the 

hands of trusted friends, and with the signing of the treaty he hurried 

home to be with his loved ones. Sarah and his young son Saladin had not 

suffered greatly during the turmoil which ~ad swept the country, and 

they were in good health when he returned. Saladin continued to grow 

intQ a strong healthy child, and was beginning to say his first words. 

During the remainder of 1846, Watie enjoyed the r~union with his family. 

Meanwhile, it appeared that peace had finally c0me to the Cherokee Na­

. 32 
tion. 

On November 2, 1846, the members of the pro-removal faction met at 

Beattie's Prairie to elect the five man committee provided for in Article 

VI of the Treaty of 1846. Stand Watie, Joseph M. Lynch, John Huss, John 

A. Bell, and Wrinklesides were the men selected to certify the claims 

for damages suffered by the members of the Treaty Party during the recent 

upheaval. They were beset by numerous claims, and the work required 

33 several months. 

On February 19, 1847, the work of the committee was finished, and 

Watie and the others forwarded their findings to Washington. The com~ 

mittee approved a total of 314 claims resulting in the payment of 

31 . 
Woodward, The Cherokees, p. 237; Stand Wat1e, John Ross, and 

Otl:lers to William Armstrong, August 10, 1846, Cherokee Agency, Letters 
Received, Office of Indian Affairs, National Archives •. 

32 
Charles Watie, Sarah C. Watie, and Eliz~beth Webber to Stand 

Watie, August 27, 1846, Dale and Litton, eds., Cherokee Cavaliers, PP• 
50-52. . 

33various Claims Authorized by Stand Watie, 1846, Cherokee Nation 
Collection, Western History Collections, University of Oklahoma Library; 
Wardell, ! Political History$!, the Cherokee Nation, 1838-12.Q.Z., p. 76. 
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$200,000 to members of Watie's faction. Watie received $2,500 for dam-

ages, $1,525.25 for supplies, and $788 for various other claims, a total 

of $4,813.25 under Article VI of the Treaty of 1846. His brother John 

was paid $1,135.89, and the heirs of David Watie, his father, were reim-

34 bursed $1,350 for damages. 

On March 3, 1847, Congress passed an act calling for a general cen-

sus of the Cherokees. The Cherokee agent, James McKissick, began to 

make preparations to prepare a roll of the Cherokees. Both Watie and his 

brother John were appointed as interpreters, and they traveled throughout 

the Cherokee Nation dud11g the spring and sunnner taking t.he census. At 

this time Watie purchased several slaves, and attempted to regroup his 

35 finances which had suffered greatly since removal. 

On March 28, 1847, William Medill, the Connnissioner of Indian Af~ 

fairs, declared that the work of Watie's coµnnittee would require further 

examination, and that the payments due the C];ierokees would be withheld 

until the matter was clarified. Medill charged that Watie had "acted 

under a misapprehension of the true mec;i.ning of the treaty," and had 11 ad-

mitted claims & made awards to persons not members of the Treaty Party, 

and for dues not cognizable upder the treaty •11 Watie replied that the 

connnittee had acted with "a careful and mature deli,l;ieration of the whole 

subject, 11 and that either Med;i. 11 was "labouring in error for want of 

34 
Ibid.; A Capitulation of Expenses and Damages Received by the 

Treaty Party in 1845, February 9, 1847, Cherokee Agency, Letters Re­
ceived, Office of Indian Affairs, National Archives. 

35wardell, A Political History of the Cherokee Nation, ~-1907, 
p. 83; Bill of Sale, E. F. Phillips to Stand Watie~ May 8, 1847, Chero~ 
kee Nation Collection, Western History Collections, University of Okla~ 
homa Library. 



150 

information," or the facts had been "grossly misrepresented to the De-

partment by those who are disaffected and using every pretext to produce 

disaffection and discord ,11 36 

Watie and the other members of the committee contended that they 

had carried out the provisions of the Treaty of 1846 with strict com~ 

pliance. Defending themselves of the charge of misapprehension, they 

pointed out that the monies appropdated were "to cover all losses and 

Damages of the treaty Party .11 They argued that during the disturbances 

of 1846, Watie, under authority of a meeting of the Treaty Party, had 

issued certificates to provide provisions and supplies to the members of 

the pro-removal faction, and thi:i.t those were just;; claims which should be 

paid. If person$ who were not members of the Treaty Party had accepted 

these certificates, then they should be reimbursed as a fulfillment of 

the obligations incurred by Watie'~ group. Thus, the certificate holders 

who produced evidence of legal transfer were to be paid seventy-five 

cents on the dollar for their claims. To do otherwise would be unjust 

to Treaty Party friends who had aided them in their time of need. Watie 

contended that the delay involved in disbursing the monies due the Treaty 

Party was becoming a "source of discord and disaffection, that can only 

37 
be silenced by a payment." 

Watie declared that the members of the committee had 11 their own 

honor and reputation at stake," and they had "sacrificed themselves their 

friends, their property; and are denounced by the Ross Party--and the Nag 

36stand Watie, Wrinkleside, J, A. Bell, and J. M. Lynch, to James 
McKissick, August 2, 1847, "MisceUaneous Documents Relating to Indian 
Affairs," Cherokee Room, John Vaughan Library, Northeastern State Col­
lege. 

37 
Ibid. 
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tail of the Treaty Party as greedy rascales--and for what?" For all 

their suffering, the Federal government was awarding them a mere "pit:Lful 

sum" and refused to fulfill its treaty promises. Thus Watie prepared to 

leave for Washington on August 12, 1847, to carry his appeal to Federal 

officials. 38 

Watie arrived in Washington in early September of 1847, but did not 

plan on spending much time on his task. Apparently the question of the 

payments due the Treaty Party did not;: take long to resolve, for an agree-

ment was soon reached. On October 9, Watie was paid $2,000 as the bal-

ance due on his claim, and on February 13, 1848, he was awarded an ad-

ditional $1,631.25. The irregularities concerning the payment of the 

remainder of the claims were resolved, and most, but not all, of the 

funds were paid in June, 1848.39 

After the Treaty of 1846 brought peace once more to the Cherokee 

Nation, Watie returned to his farm on Honey Creek, where he devoted much 

time to personal affairs. However, in December, 1848, Watie was re-

quested by other members of t:he Treaty Part;y to attend a meeting in the 

Flin!: District of the Cherokee N.;tt;ion to be held on December 18 to "set-

tle on a special plan for the purpose of investigating our many matters. 11 

The meeting had originally been scheduled for December 4, but at the 

urging of Wat,ie, it was postponed for two weeks, with the promise that 

38 . . Ibid.; J. B. Lynch to Friend, September 5, 1847, Cherokee Nation 
Collection, Western History Collections, University of Oklahoma Library. 

39w. Wo Galla to Stand W~tie, October 9, 1847, ibid.; Genealogy of 
Ridge-Watie-Boudinot, and D. B. Brinsmade to Stand Watie, September 16, 
1847, Dale and L;itton, eds., Cherokee Caval:i,ers, following p. 302 and 
pp, 59-60; Claims of the Treaty Party, February 13, 1848, Cherokee 
Agency, Letters Received, Oftice of Indian Affairs, National Archives. 
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he would aid the gathering in expediting the payment of the remaining 

funds held by Washington. Watie, nevertheless, and the other four mem-

bers of the committee to determine the distribution of the ~reaty Party's 

money did not attend. Protesting that many of the pro-removal faction 

had been excluded in the claims presented by the committee, the members 

of the meeting demanded that no more monies be paid the committee until 

a full investigation could be held. They proposed that a new committee 

be established to "adjudicate and allow the just clai,ms of those party 

members as may have bee:o omitted or excluded by the former commit.tee." 

Some of the members of the pro-removal faction were not satisfied with 

Watiews decision to disallow many Cherokee claims which were not asso-

ciated with the confusion prior to the signi,ng of the Treaty of 1846. 

The protest of the dissentient members of the Treaty Party came to 

0 40 
nothing. 

Watie continued to rema,in out:s;i.de of tribal politics. During the 

election of national officers in the fall of 1847, Watie had not sought 

office, and Chief Ross was reelected. Watie was more involved in family 

affairs, and in 1849 hi,!:! second son, Solon Watica, was born. The domes-

tic violence which had characterized the Cherokees in ~he previous decade 

was subsiding, and the two sides seemed to tolerate each other. Watie 

continued to serve as Clerk of the Cherokee Supreme Court in 1849, but 

was not active in major Cherokee politics. He seemed content to let 

40 
July and Others to R. c. L, Brown, December 18, 1848, ibid.; John 

F. Wheeler, "Death of Gen. St.and Watie," Grant Foreman Collection, Indian 
Archives Division, Oklahoma Historical Society; George Chambers, David 
Sanders, John Sanders, Thomas Bigby, July and Lying Faun to Stand Watie 
and John Husk, "Letters To and From Stand Wati,e," Vol. I, Cherokee Room, 
John Vaughan Library, Northeastern State College. 
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41 conflict with the Ross faction rest. 

Though peace supposedly reigned over the Cherokee Nation, such was 

not always the case. In July, 1849, John R. Ridge, Watie's cousin and 

the son of the slain John Ridge, proposed to Watie while visiting Spring-

field, Missouri, the idea of ra;i.sing "some twenty-five or thirty white 

men to go and kill John Ross •11 Young Ridge deciared he harbored a "deep-

seated principle of revenge" in him which would "never be satisfied, 11 

and he confided to Watie, nyou say the word, I am there. 11 Watie likely 

realized the folly of such action. The odds were not in favor of the 

Treaty Party since the majority of the Cherokees were following Chief 

Ross, and the experiences of 1845-1846 were still fresh in Watie 1 s 

. d 42 min • 

The decade of the 1850 1 s was peaceful for Watie, and his efforts 

were devoted to his family and business. The various members of the 

Watie family began to scatter. In the spring of 1850, Watie 1 s brother 

John traveled to California where he was later joined by John R. Ridge. 

On November 20, 1850, however, Watie again became involved in the claim 

question in the Cherokee Nation. The Federal government had used funds 

belonging to the Treaty Party to pay a debt of the Old Settlers. He 

pointed out the error to t:he Connnisf:!ioner of Indian Affairs, urging that 

the money be refunded together with interest to the funds of the 

41 
Statement of Stand Wat:ie, November 19, 1849, qMiscellaneous 

Letters," ibid.; Wardell, A Political History.£.!.~ Cherokee Nation, 
1838~.!.2.Q.2., PP• 112-113. 

42 John R. Ridge to Stand Watie, July 2, 1849, Dale and Litton, 
eds., Cherokee Cavaliers, pp. 64-66. 
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pro-removal faction. 

In 1851, Sarah gave Watie his third son, Cumiskey, and now more 

154 

than ever Watie's presence at his home became a necessity. Watie con-

tinued to play a passive role in Cherokee politics, but he acted as ad-

ministrator and executor of Major Ridge's estate, settling the debts owed 

by Ridge and collecting the money due ~he estate, He was also given the 

power of attorney by Sarah Paschal, the daughter of Major Ridge, to 

handle her affairs in the Cherokee Nation. The year following the birth 

of Cumiskey, Wat;i.e had a daughter named Ninnie .Josephine. Thus in the 

years following the Treaty of 1846, Watie was far more interested in the 

affairs of his family than in Cherokee political affairs. 44 

Watie did, however, once again enter Cherokee politics. On August 

1, 1853, he was elected to a two-year term as a member of the Cherokee 

National Council from the Delaware District. During the following month, 

Andrew Adair was murdered, and many Cherokees feared another outbreak of 

bloodletting. A vendetta did not develop, Watie remained quiet, and 

violence remained non-political. On October 31, 1853, Watie received a 

license to practice law in all courts in the Cherokee Nation, and he 

43John A. Watie to Stand Watie, November 10, 1850, and John R. 
Ridge to Stand Watie, September 23, 1853, ibid., pp. 73-77; Stand Watie 
to Corrnnissioner of Indian Affairs, November 20, 1850, Cherokee Agency, 
Letters Received, Office of Indian Affairs, National Archives. 

44cenealogy of Ridge-Watie-Boud:i,not, Dale and Litton, eds., Cherokee 
Cavaliers, following p. 302; Statement of Sarah Paschal, 1852, Cherokee 
Nation Collection, Western History Collections, University of Oklahoma 
Library; Receipt to Stand Watie from the Heirs of Major and Susannah 
Ridge and Walter Ridge, June, 1852, "Miscellaneous Business Documents , 11 

Cherokee Room, John Vaughan Library, Northeastern State College. 
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began his legal practice.45 

During his 1653 tenn in public offiGe, Watie served as Clerk of the 

National Council and signed a resolution protesting the inclusion of the 

area claimed by the Cherokees into the proposed Territory of Nebraska 

and the extension of t,he jurisdiction of the pnited States District 
~ 

Court over the Cherokee Nation. The Cherokees claimed that their land 

was not to be inc;.luded "w;f.th:l.n the Territor~al limits or jurisdiction of 

any State" without their approval, and the southern limit of the Terri-

tory of Nebraska would include the Cherokee Neutral Lands, the Cherokee 

Outlet, and the more settled area of the Cherokee Nation. Such inclu-

sions, they insisted, were in violation of all treaties previously made 

between the United States and the Cherokees. The National Council also 

protested that the United States District Court was exercising control 

over Cherokee affairs by assuming jurisdiction over the selling of whis-

key by one Cherokee to another Cherokee. This was also in clear viola-

tion of treaty provisions, and it declared that the Cherokee Nation would 

enforce its own laws. Although recognizing the evil that the Cherokees 

suffered from intemperance, the National Council nevertheless stated that 

it was an internal matter and not subjec~ to interference by the Federal 

46 government. 

45w~ J .. Howard to Stand Watie, September 16, 1853, "Letters To and 
From Stand Wat;ie, 11 Vol. lI, ibid.; Emmet Starr, "History of the Cherokee 
Indians," Original Manuscript, Historical Society Library, Oklahoma 
Historical Society; Reed, "The Ross-Watie Conflict: Factionalism in the 
Cherokee Nation, 1839-1865,11 p. 265; License of Sti;tnd Watie, October 31, 

· 1853, Cherokee Nat.ion Collectfon, Westerp Hhtory Collecti,;ms, Univer­
sity of Oklahoma Library. 

46 . 
Resolut1ons of the National Council, November 2, 1853, Cherokee 

Agency, Letters Received, Office 0£ Indian Affairs, National Archives. 
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After Watie was reelected as a member ot the National Council on 

August 6, 1855, he served as its Speaker• During this term the question 

of abolitionism arose among the Cherokees. As Speaker of the National 

Council, Watie concurred with a resolt.1tion attacking t;;he efforts of the 

abolitionists. Declaring that the "Cherokee people, are and have been 

for many years a Slave holding People," and that "the Constitution and 

laws of the Cherokee Nation recognize the institution of Slavery," the 

National Council deplored-the expulsion pf several Cherokees from some 

of the missionary churches for refusing to emancipate their slaves. 

Stating that the Cherokees were "a $lave ho1d,ing People in a Christian 

like Spirit, 11 the National Council instructed Chief Ross to communicate 

with the various missions on the question of slavery and report his 

findings to the National Council. It was also made unlawful for any 

missionary to "counsel or advise any Slave in any way whatever to the 

detriment of his owner or owners under the penalty of being removed out 

of the limits of this Nation.'' All violato:rs of the law were to be re.-

ported to the Cherokee age·nt, who was requested to eject them from the 

Cherokee Nation. Any Cherokee who advised or counseled "any Slave to 

the prejudice of his owner or owners , 11 was to be f;i.ned not less than 

twenty-five dollars nor more than one hundred dollars. All abolition-

ists, or anyone who was opposed to the ''interE~i;t <;>f Slave holders,": were 

prohibited from teaching in any Cherokee school, and no abolitionist was 

47 
allowed to receive a pension from the Cherokee National Treasurer. 

In October, 1856, ai; Speaker of the National Council, Watie 

47Resolution of the National Council, October 24, 1855, ibid.; 
Emmet Starr, "History of the Cherokee Indians," Or:tgi.n.al Manuscript, 
Historical Society Library, Oklahoma Historical Society. 
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concurred with a resolution for the sei.zure of property of persons who 

might flee the Cherokee Nation to escape the payment: of debts. Whenever 

a person.was apprehensive over the fl:i,ght of a debtor, he could bring 

the person before the "most convenient Clerk or Judge, of any of the 

Districts of the Nation" in which the property was located and have a 

seizure placed on the property. The defendant was then required to post 

bond to insure that the property would not be removed from the Cherokee 

Nation; however, seizure orders only were valid for a period of twelve 

days. Should the conflict involve a i;esident and non-resident of the 

Cherokee Nation, the District Court where t:he property was located would 

48 have jurisdiction over the case. 

For the most part, the 1850Ws remained peaceful, and the Cherokees 

were content to live in peaceo Early in 1857, Watie became involved in 

a controversy with Andrew J. Dorn, the agent for the Osages, Quapaws, 

Senecas, and Shawnees, over the jurisdiction of the Cherokee Courts in 

disputes between Cherokees and Osages. Watie also defended his friend 

David McGrady in a court case; meanwhile, he ~aintained his law practice 

by renewing h;i.s license .. On August 3, 1857, he was reelected to the 

Cherokee National Council, retaining his position as Speaker of the 

Council. During that year Sarah gave birth to Watie's fifth child, a 

49 
daughter named Charlotte Jacqueline. 

48charles E. Watie to Stand Watie, August 18, 1856, Dale and Litton, 
eds., Cherokee Cavaliers, pp. 90 .. 91; An Act to Amend an Act Entitled An 
Providing for Attachments, October 13, 1856, Cherokee Nation Collection, 
Western History Collections, University of Oklahoma Library. 

49License of Stand Watie, October 15, 1857, ibid.; Stand Watie to 
Dorn, January 4, 1857, and David McGrady to Stand Watie, Apri,l 24, 1857, 
1iLetters To and From Stand Watie, 11 Vol. I, Cherokee Room, John Vaughan 
Library, Northeastern State College; Ennnet: Starr, "History of the Chero .. 
kee Indians," Original Manuscript, Historical Society Library, Oklahoma 
Historical Society. 
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Watie did rather well in his business ventures during the decade of 

the 1850 's. He joined with J. s .• Knight to operate a st;eam sawmill and 

lumber business which apparently turned out t·o. be quite profitable. How .. 

ever, i~ January, 1890, the partnership was· dissolved, and Watie bought 

out Knight's share for $2,500. Watie also operated a dry goods and 

general merchandise store under the napie. of Stand Watie and Company at 

Millwood in the Cherokee Nation~. :Sy the end of the 1850 1s, he. had ~c .. 

50 
cumulated a substantial a,mount of wealth. 

Although reelected to the National Council again on August l, 1859, 

Watie continued to play only a minor rote in Cherokee politics. In late 

August, Sarah j9u:i;neyed to TeJtas to: vii>it her relatives. Solon, Ninnie, 

and Charlotte went with her, but Cumif?l<:ey and Saladin remained in the 

Cherokee Nation on Honey Creek with their father. Watie and the two 

boys visited a friend,. Jim Conner,. who had been injured in an accident, 

and Saladin became ill while on a trip to Fayetteville, Arkansas •. 

n Otherwise the Watie family cont·inued to. prosper, and seemed co.ntent. 

The Treaty of 1846 finally brought peace to the Cherokee Nat;ion. 

Neither Watie nor Ross had been successful tn their efforts to eUminate 

one another from. Cherokee politics, and. the Federal government once 

again had intervened in Cherokee affairs to: settle the dispute. 

50contract Between Stand Wati.e and J. S. Knight, February 15, 1860, 
and License of Stand Watie, Novem.'Per 18, 1.859, Cherokee Nation Collec~ 
tion, Western History Collections, University of Oklahoma Library; Re­
ceipt of John Henry, William, and Comp:any, July· 9, 1859, "Mis.cellaneous 
Business Documents," Cherokee Roo~, John Vaughan Library, Northeastern 
State College. 

51 . 
Emmet Starr, ''History of the Cherokee Indians,n Original Manu-

script, Historical Society Ltbrary, Oklahoma Historical Society; Stand 
Watie to Sarah C. Watie, September 22, 1859, Dale and Litton, eds.:,. 
Cherokee Cavaliers, pp. 95.-97. 
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Nevertheless, both Wat;i.e and Ross had met with some success. Fear of a 

division of the Cherokee Nation had fQ'.rced Ross to make some concessions 

to Watie's group, but Ross still remained in control of the Cherokee 

government. As a result, the Cherokees were to enjoy almost fifteen 

years of peace bef0cre the two. factions would once again divide the 

tribe. Watie used the period o.f peace to irtcrease his persona1 holdings, 

and become quite wealthy. 

By 1860, however, once again clouds of dis.sent were gathering over 

the Cherokee Nation. The peace which t;he Cherokees had enjoyed for more 

than a decade was about to come to an end. The sectional controversy 

which was dividing the United States. would soo.n spread to the Cherokees, 

and old wounds, which many had supppsed we:i:-e healed by time, were once 

again torn open. Watie, who had progressed from an exile in his own 

country to an affluent and prosperous farmer and merchant, would once 

again find himself opposed to Chief Ross. Watie would become an ardent 

supporter of the Southern cause, and would rally a large number of Cher­

okees around himself. H;i.s actions would plunge the Cherokees into an 

orgy of bloodshed and destruction unmatched by any other period in their 

history, Though more than a decade of peace had been beneficial to 

Watie, his old hatred for Ross and his followers would not; allow him to 

miss an opportunity to 0ppose Ross and assume a position o~ power. 



CHAPTER VII 

BROTHER AGAINST BROTHER 

By 1860, controversy caused by sectionalism and slavery was bitterly 

dividing the United States. Among the Cherokees there was also a sharp 

division. Watie and his supporters urged the Cherokees to follow the 

South, and Rossgs partisans favored a policy of neutrality. Though there 

had been more than a decade of peace in the Cherokee Nation, old tribal 

wounds had not healed entirely, and many Cherokees still clung to animos-

ities that were soon to be reshaped for participation in the white man's 

Civil War. 

As the gulf widened, secret sectional societies were formed among 

the members of the tribe, each promoting its divergent beliefs. In 

1859, the adherents of Chief Ross revived an old Cherokee organization 

named Kee~too-wah, commonly known as the Pins. The membership of the 

Pins was largely confined to the 'full-blooded element of the tribe, and 

those intensely opposed to the actions of Watie in signing the Treaty of 

New Echota. Once again the pro•removal faction began to feel threatened 

as their opponents gathered in force. 1 

In reaction to the organization of the Pins, Watie became one of the 

leaders of the Knights of the Golden Circle, whose membership was com~ 

posed mainly of half-bloods and the supporters of the pro .. removal 

1 
Edward Everett Dale, "The Cherokees :in the Confederacy," Journal 

of Southern History, Vol. XIII, No. 2 (May, 1947), p. 161. 
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faction. The constitution of the Knights of· the Golden Circle provided 

that no member could join the organ;i.zation who was not eighteen years of 

age or over and a pro-slavery man. The members were also required to be 

either a citizen of the Cherokee Nation or the United States, and various 

chapters, called encampments, ~prang up throughout the Cherokee Nation. 

The principal objective of the mempership was to assist in captur~ng and 

punishing abolitionists intededng · with slavery in the Cherokee Na• 

tion. The members were bound to their dut:l.es by an oath, and they were 

pledged to protect their 11Count:ry from the ravages of abo.litionists or 

any other combination of persons wishing" to disrupt the Cherokee Na .. 

. 2 
t~on. 

The leaders of the Confederate States were aware that the Cherokees 

were slaveholders, and they also understood the importance of Indian 

Territory as a buffer zone on their Western border. Accordingly, South-

ern officials openly urged Chief Ross to bring the Cherokee Nation into 

an alliance with the Confederacy. However, Ross had no inclination to 

involve the Cherokees in what he viewed as a white man's war, and he re? 

3 
fused to assent to their request. 

2Ibid.; Constitution of the Knights of the Golden Circle of the 
Cherolcee Nation, August 28, 1860, ''Miscellaneous Document!> Relating to 
Indian Affairs,'' Cherokee Room, John Vaughan Library, Northeastern State 
College. 

3Dale, "The Cherokees in the C1;mfederacy,11 Journal of Southern .!!.!!­
tory, Vol, XIII, pp. 161-162; Brigadier G~meral Ben McCulloch to John·· 
Ross, June 12, 1861, and Ross to McCulloch, June 17, 1861, in aenry J. 
Lemly, "Historic Letters of General Ben McCulloch and Chief John Ross :in 
the Civil War," Chronicles of Oklahoma, Vol. XL, No. 3 (Autumn, 1962), 
pp. 286 .. 289; Henry M. Recto'r'""to John'Ross, January 29, 1861, Ross to 

' J· Rector, February 22, 1861, Lieutenant Cqlonel J. R, Kannady to Ross, 
May 15, 1861, Ross to Kanqady, May 17, 1861, United States Department of 
Wa;r, The War £! ~ Rebellion: 2. Comp;i.lat;i.Qn g! ~ O;fHcial Records ,2! 
~Union and Confederate Armies (4 series, 70 vols., 128 books, Washing­
ton: Government l?:d.nting Office, 1880 .. 1901), Ser. i, Vol. XII;t, pp. 490 ... 
493. 
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As the Givil War approached, Watie became involved in financial 

dealings with Elias Cornelius Bol,ldinot, his nephew, and the son of slain 

Elias Boudinot. Watie and Boudinot planned to purchase several improve• 

ments along the Arkansas and Grand rivers and develop the land on which 

they were located into large and profitable farms. Watie also kept up 

his law practice, operated his general merchandise business at Millwood, 

and during this time construc~ed a new home for his family on Brush 

Creek. The structure was a large, two-story log house with two si~teen 

square foot rooms downstairs, and a window at each end. Additional fea-

tures were a large b.reezeway entry between the two rooms, an upstairi; 

consisting of three rooms, a fireplace at each end of the building, and 

a full basement walled with sandstone. The house was constructed of 

hewed logs with pine rafters and floor. The thirty-two foot deep well 

provided a plentiful supply of water. The house and well were undoubt• 

edly a welcome addition to the enlarged Watie family. -rhe house was not 

to be enjoyed for long, as Federal forces bl,lrned it during the Civil 

4 
War, 

Although preoccupied with personal matters, Watie could not remain 

aloof from events regarding secession on the eve of the Civil War. Ao M. 

Wilson and J. Woodward Washborne, both of Arkansas, urged him "as private 

and public citizen of the Cherokee Nation" in May, 1861, to join them in 

protecting the region from abolitionism. Arkansas had already left the 

4c~ M~ Thompson to Watie, April 10, 1861, and Statement of Mary 
Fleming, April 13, 1861, Cherokee Nation Collection, Western History 
Collections, University of Oklahoma Library; Nancy Lee Burni; InteFview, 
Grant Foreman, ed., "Indian-Pioneer History" ( 113 vols., unpublished 
manuscript), Vol. LXXX, pp. 404-405, lndian Archives Division, Oklahoma 
Historical Society; Ea c. Boudinot to Stand Watie, February 12, 1861, 
Dale and Litton, eds., Cherokee Cavaliers, PP• 102-104. 
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Union to join the Confederate States, and Watie was encouraged to enlist 

the aid of the Cherokees in defending "their soil, their homes, their 

fireside, aye their very existence." Declaring that the "integrity of 

the soil of the Soµthern Indians must and shall be maintained," they 

promised Watie they would help him in any manner, and informed him that 

the state of Arkansas had set aside a number of guns to be used in the 

defense of "their and our frontier." Urging Watie to 11 push ·On the good 

work and train your men and apply for these guns,H they pointed out that 

James H. Lane, an ardent abolitionist, had been elected to the United 

States Senate from Kansas and that he intended the "subjugation of the 

Cherokees to the rule of Aboiition, and the overwhelming of the race by 

the hordes of greedy Republicans." The interest of the Cherokees, they 

stated, was the same as the citizens of Arkansas, and they promised 

Arkansas troops to aid him, but they advised Watie to carry out his work 

5 
with secrecy so as not to alarm Federal forces already in the area. 

Various other factors were at work both in Indian Territory and in 

the Confederacy which were destined to bring the Cherokees into the Civil 

War on the side of the South. Early in 1861, the Confederate government 

had created a Bureau of Indian Affairs, and on April 8, the Red River 

Superintendency was established and given the responsibility for negoti~ 

ations with the Five Civilized Tribes. Previous to the establishment of 

the Red River Superintendency, on March 5, Albert Pike of Arkansas had 

been selected as Commissioner of the Indian Tribes west of the Arkansas, 

and he joined Brigadier General Ben McCulloch, the Confederate military 

commander at Fort Smith, in the task. They traveled to Park Hill in the 

5Ao M. Wilson and J. W. Washborne to Watie, May 18, 1861, ibid., 
pp. 106-107. 
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Cherokee Nation to confer with Chief Ross, but before their arrival Ross 

had issued a Proclamation of Neutrality urging the Cherokees to remain 

outside the controversy. 6 

Nevertheless, Pike and McCulloch visited with Ross, and urged him 

to join the Confederacy. After the meeting McCulloch relinquished his 

duties to Pike and returned to Fort Smith. Pike continued to visit the 

other tribes in Indian Territory, and on July 10, the Creeks signed a 

treaty of alliance with the South. Two days later the Choctaws and 

Chickasaws allied themselves with the Confederacy, and on August 1 the 

Seminoles joined the Southern cause, though they were bitterly divided 

over the question. Pike then secured an alliance with the Plains Indians 

7 
at a meeting held at the Wichita Agency on August 12, 1861. 

While the Confederacy was openly coveting alliances with the 

Indians, the United States was rapidly abandoning the area; by the spring 

of 1861, there were no Federal troops in the country. Elated with his 

6Annie H. Abel, The American Indian ~ 2. Participant in the Civil 
War (Cleveland: Arthur H. Clark Company, 1919), pp. 171-172; "Journal of 
the Congress of the Confederate States of America, 11 United States Senate, 
58th Congress, 2nd Session, Senate Document 234 (7 vols., Washington~ 
Government Printing Office, 1904), Vol. I, pp:-69, 151, Vol. V, P• 47; 
Proclamation to the Cherokee People, May 17, 1861, and John Ross to David 
Hubbard, July 17, 1861, Official Records, Ser. i, Vol. XIII, ppo 489-490, 
498-499. 

7 
Ohland Morton, nconfederate Government Relations with the Five 

Civilized Tribes, Part 2," Chronicles of Oklahoma, Vol. XXXI, No. 3 
(Autumn, 1953), p. 303; Kinneth McNeal-,-11Confederate Treaties with the 
Tribes of Indian Territory," ibid., Vol. XLII, No. 4 (Winter, 1964-1965), 
p. 413; Albert Pike to Robert Toombs, May 29, 1861, Treaty of Friendship 
and Alliance between the Creeks and the Confederate States of America, 
July 10, 1861, Treaty of Friendship and Alliance between the Choctaw and 
Chickasaws and the Confederate States of America, July 12, 1861, Treaty 
of Friendship between the Seminoles and the Confederate States of Amer­
ica, August 1, 1861, and Articles of Convention, August 12, 1861, Of­
ficial Records, Ser. iv, Vol. I, pp. 359=364, 426~443, 445~466, 513-527, 
542-554. 
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success, Pike again turned to the reluctant Cherokees, but this time he 

withdrew a previous offer of the Confederacy to purchase 800,000 acres 

of Cherokee land in Kansas and Missouri. This was a severe blow to the 

Cherokees. The withdrawal was accompanied by a notice that Pike had no 

8 future intentions of negotiating with the Cherokees. 

Watie and his followers were opposed to Ross 1 s policy of neutrality. 

They were also incensed over the power of the Pins, and they were fear-

ful that if Ross was allowed to have his way, their faction would lose 

the opportunity to sign a treaty with the South. Two of Watie 1 s closest 

friends, William P. Adair and James M. Bell, advised him that now was 

''the time for us to strike, or we will be completely frustrated," and de-. 

clared that a treaty with the Confederacy was 11 the most essential thing.iv 

Watie was asked to join Dr. J. L. Thompson in a visit with Pike so that 

the power of th.e Ross faction could be broken and ''our rights, provided 

for and place us if possible at least on an honorable equity with this 

old Dominant party that has for years had its foot upon our necks. 11 · 

Watie was selected as the spokesni.an of the pro~Southern group because of 

his acquaintance with Pike and his honorable reputation. Pointing out 

that Ross was raising 1,200 men for service, Adair and Bell insisted 

that the members of the p:i;o-Southern party must act fast, or all their 

work "will have been in vain, our prospects destroyed, our rights dis-

9 
regarded, and we will be slaves to Ross's tyranny." 

On July 12, 1861, Watie was connnissioned a colonel in the 

8Muriel H. Wright, nLieutenant Averell's Rid~ at the Outbreak of 
the CivU War, 11 Chronicles of Oklahoma, Vol. XXXIX, No. 1 (Spring, 1961), 
pp. 2~14; Woodward, ~ Che~kees, pp. 264-265. 

9 
William P. Adair and James M, Bell to Watie, August 29, 1861, Dale 

and Litton, eds., Cherokee Cavaliers, pp. 108-110. 
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Confederate Army and authorized by McCulloch to raise a force to assist 

in protecting Indian Territory from Federal invasion. To accomplish his 

mission, Watie gathered a group of about 300 men, and conducted opera-

tions in the Cherokee Neutral Lands in Kansas, protecting the 11northern 

borders of the Cherokees from the inroads of the jayhawkers of Kansas. 11 

McCulloch believed that Watie 1s force was more dependable than the 1,200 

men Ross had gathered and placed under the command of Colonel John Drew. 

Characterizing Watie 1 s group as the true Southern party and their leader 

as a 11 gallant man and a true friend of our country , 11 McCulloch urged 

that the Confederate Secretary of War, Leroy P. Walker, separate Watie 1s 

force from Drew's re$iment and attach it to his command. As Watiens men 

were comparatively well educated, and as good as any other troops in the 

service of the Confederacy, McCulloch also suggested that it might be 

wise to allow Watie to increase his force to battalion size so it would 

be on an equal levei with Drew is •10 

There was a rising clamor among the Cherokees for an official al-

liance w;i.th the South, and in July, 1861, an attempt was made by some of 

Watie 1 s men to raise a Confederate flag over the public square at the 

Cherokee capitol in Tahlequah. On July 10, the Confederacy won a de-

cisive victory over the Union forces in the East at the Battle of Bull 

Run in Virginia, and this did much to increase Southern prestige among 

the Cherokees. On August 10, the Confederacy inflicted another stunning 

10stand Watie Service Record, Adjutant General 1 s Office, National 
Archives, Washington, D. C~; Brigadier General Ben McCulloch to Colonel 
John Drew, September 2, 1861, and McCulloch to Walker, September 2, 1861, 
pp. 691~692, Official Records, Ser. i, Vol. 111; Worten Mo Hathaway, 
v1Brigadier General Stand Watie, Confederate Guerrilla," Unpublished Mas= 
ter of Arts Thesis, Stillwater, Oklahoma State University, 1968, p. l8o 
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defeat on the Federals at the Battle of Wilson's Creek in southwest 

Missouri. Apparently a few of Watie 1 s men participated in the engage-

ment, although Watie himself was not present, and the Southern press re-

ported, perhaps somewhat exaggerated, that the victory was due to the 

action of Watie's troops. Declaring that the Cherokees had captured all 

but one of the North's artillery pieces, the press made Watie a Con-

federate military hero overnight, and dramatic~lly increased his standing 

11 
among the Cherokees. 

These two victories indicated to the Cherokees that the South would 

soon be victor.ious in the conflict. Chief Ross, impressed with the 

Southern triumphs and fearful of the growing popularity of Watie among 

the Cherokees, at last agreed to meet with Pike to negotiate an alliance. 
'v 

Ross reasoned that the Cherokees were on the verge of a civil war, and 

should such a division occur, the South would no doubt back Watie, and 

the outcome was a foregone conclusion ..... Watie would assume the leadership 

of the tribeo This Ross wished to avoid at all cost. More and more 

Watie was assuming a position of leadership among the Cherokees which 

directly threatened the authority of the Ross faction. Therefore Ross 

called a tribal council on August 21, and invited Pike to come to Park 

Hill to negotiate an alliance. In this way Ross hoped to undercut some 

f W • ' • 12 o atie s growing power. 

11 . MaJor General John c. Fremont to Col~nel E. D. Townsend, August 
31, 1861, and Brigadier General Ben McCulloch to Brigadier General S. 
Cooper, Official Records, Ser. i, Vol. III, pp. 54, 104~107; Dean 
Trickett, HThe Civil War in Indian Territory, 1861, Part 3, 11 Chronicles 
of Oklahoma, Vol. XVIII, No. 2 (June, 1940), p. 146; Woodward,~ 
Cherokees, p. 265. 

12Ibid., pp. 265-266; Resolution of the National Council, August 21, 
1861, Official Records, Ser. i, Vol. XIII, pp. 499~500. 
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Pike arrived at Park Hill about October 1, 1861, and the negotia-

tions took less than a week. The treaty was signed on October 7, but 

neither Watie nor his followers took an active part in the meeting. 

However, Ross and Watie shook hands as a demonstration of solidarity at 

the conclusion of the negotiations. lhe agreement pledged "perpetual 

peace and friendship, and an alliance, offensive and defensive, between 

the Confederate States of America, all of their States and the people, 

and the Cherokee Nation and all the people thereof•" It also granted the 

South the right to construct military posts and roads in the Cherokee 

Nation, and promised the Cherokees protection ''from hostile invasion.iu 

Slavery was guaranteed, and the Cherokees agreed to furnish "a regiment 

of ten companies of mounted men, with two reserve companies." These 

troops were to receive the same pay and allowances of other Southern 

troops, and they were not to be ordered tp serve "beyond the limits of 

the Indian country west of Arkansas without their consent." The Chero-

kees were also excused from payment of any debts incurred by the Con~ 

federacy during the course of the war, and authorized to send a delegate 

to the Confederate House of Representatives. The treaty granted $10,300 

for the claimants of the Treaty Party; and Watie, as the only surviving 

member of the original claims conunittee established oy the Treaty of 

1846, was authorized to divide the money among those presenting claims. 

Otherwise the agreement merely replaced the authority oJ the United 

13 
States with the authority of the Confederacy. 

13M~rton, iiGonfederate Government Relations with the Five Civilized 
Tribes, Part 2, 11 Chronicles of Oklahoma, Vol. XXXI, p. 304; Treaty of 
Friendship and Alliance between t;he Confederate State& of America and 
the Cherokee Nation, October 7, 1861, Official Records, Sero iv, Vol. I, 
PP• 669-686. 
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In accordance with the provisions of the treaty, the Cherokees 

fielded two regiments for service with the Confederate Army. The 1,200 

troops raised by Ross as Indian Home Guards were mustered into service 

as the First Regiment of Cherokee Mounted Rifles under the command of 

Colonel John Drew.. Watie 1 s force was designated the Cherokee Mounted 

Volunteers. Originally the Cherokees were placed µnder the overall com~ 

mand of Brigadier General Ben McCµlloch; however, on November 22, 1861, 

the Department of Indian Territory was created, and recently commissioned 

a Confederate brigadier general, Albert Pike was given the cqmmand. 14 

The first objective of the newly formed Confederate forces was the 

elimination of the threat presented 1:/y the dissatisfied members of the 

Creek and Seminole tribes who had refused to join the remainder of the 

Indians in their alliance with the South. The Creeks under Opothleyahola 

and the Seminoles under the leadership of Halleck Tustenuggee were at-

tempting to maintain a policy of neutrality; the Confederacy, however, 

could not ignore such a large force of potentially hostile Indians. 

Numbering between 800 and 1,200 warriors, between 200 and 300 Negroes, 

in addition to women and children, the federal Indians were encamped at 

the juncture of the Deep and North forks of the Canadian River in the 

Creek Nation. 15 

Pike had left Indian Territory for Riclunond, Virginia, and the 

14stand Watie Service Record, December 4, 1861, Adjutant General's 
Office, National Archives; Woodward, The Cherokees, p. 271; Kenny A. 
Franks, 11Confederate Relations with the Five Civilized Tribes, 11 Unpub~ 
lished Master of Arts Thesis, Stillwater, Oklahoma State University, 
1971. 

15 . Ibld., p. 49; Colonel Douglas H. Cooper to J~ Po Benjamin, Janu~ 
ary 20, 1862, Official Records, Ser. i, Vol. VIII, p. 5; Dean Trickett, 
1vThe Civil War in Indian Territory, Part 4, 11 Chronicles of Oklahoma, 
Volo XVIIl, No. 3 (September, 1940), PP• 268"'270. 
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conunand of the operation was assumed by Colonel Douglas H. Cooper. With 

a force of approximately 1,400 men consisting of ;I:ndian and Texas troops, 

Cooper marched on the Federal Indians' camp on November 15, 1861, but the 

site was abandoned as Opothleyahola and his followers had decided to 

flee to safety in the northern reaches of the Cherokee Nation or Kansas. 

Pursuing the escaping Indians, Cooper overtook them on November 19, and 

after a spirited engagement at Round Mountain in the northern portion of 

the Creek Nation, the Federal Indians were forc.ed to withdraw. After 

the battle, Cooper was ordered to a position on the Arkansas River to 

repel an expected Federal advance from Missouri, and Opothleyaho1aVs 

16 band managed to escape. 

While in position on the Arkansas River, Cooper received word that 

the Federal Indians were planning an attack on his force, and he resumed 

the offensive. Opothleyahola was found on Bird Creek in the Cherokee 

Nation on December 8 in a strongly fortified camp~ Nevertheless, Cooper 

ordered an attack, and once again the Federal Indians were forced to 

withdraw. This engagement, called the Battle of Chusto~Talsah, was not 

a clear cut victory for either side, Qut the Confederates were again 

forced to call off the offensive becaus~ of a threatened rebellion of 

some Cherokee troops and a shortage of supplies. 17 

Cooper retired to Fort Gibson, where he was surprised t;.o rea·:i:'n that 

Colonel James Mcintosh had come from Van Buren, Arkansas, with a force 

of 2,000 men and was taking the field in pursuit of the Federal Indians. 

Joining forces, Cooper and Mcintosh planned a two~pronged assault on 

16Ibid •, pp. 267 .. 270; Cooper to Benjamin, January 20, 1862, Official 
Records, Ser. i, Vol. VIII, pp. 5-7. 

17 
Ibid., pp. 7-11. 
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Opothleyahola's band. However, Mcintosh began the operation ahead of 

Cooper. Watie's command, which had not participated in the operation so 

far, was ordered to join the Confederate force at Mrs. McNair 1 s house on 

the Verdigris River on December 25, 1861.18 

Because of Mcintosh's head start, the Southern forces did not join 

as planned, and on December 26, Watie informed Cooper that he was at 

Mingo Creek, about twelve miles west of McNair's, and Mcintosh was six 

miles ahead of his column in pursuit of the Federal Indians. Watie 

pushed ahead as fast as possible, hoping to link up with Mcintosh 1 s com~ 

mand; but before he could do so, Mcintosh engaged Opothleyahola at Shoal 

Creek near the Big Bend of the Arkansas River in the Cherokee Outlet. 

This engagement, known as Chusten.ahlah, was fot,1ght on December 26, 1861; 

it proved to be disastrous to the Federal Indians, and they fled in dis~ 

19 order toward Kansas. 

Watie finally joined Mcintosh just as the engagement terminated; 

his absence during the encounter was no· fault of his own, as he had 

made every effort to overtake Mc!ntosh. Early the following morning, 

Watie and Mcintosh conti.nued pursuit 0f the fleeing Indians for about 

twenty or twenty-five miles, before Watie was informed by his scouts 

that there was a large force of Federal Indians in the hills on his left 

' flank. Immediately Watie abandoned Mcintosh's route of march, and pre-

pared to assault the Opothleyahola group. Upon Watie's approach, the 

Federal Indians fortified themselves among the hills. Dividing his 

force, Watie placed half of hia men under the command of Major Elias C. 

18 . 
Ibid., pp •. 11-12. 

19 
Ibid., p. 12; Report of Colonel James Mcintosh, January 1, 1862, 

ibid~, PP• 22-25, 
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Boudinot on his left flank, while he and the remainder of the force man-

euvered to the right. The Federal Indians were scattered over a large 

area, and much of the terrain was inaccessible to horses. Nevertheless, 

Watie ordered the assault, and the skirmish continued at a brisk pace for 

about two hours. Forcing Opothleyahola's men from their strongholds, 

Watie's conunand routed them. After the engagement, Watie and Boudinot 

reported twenty or twenty-one of Opothleyah0la 1 s group slain and an un-

determined number wo~nded, while their conunands suffered no casualties. 

Boudinot also reported capturing seventy-five prisoners, together with 

twenty-five or thirty pack horses. Watie 1 s command numbered about 300 

men, and the strength of the Federal Indians they engaged was estimated 

at 500 to 600 warriors. 20 

After this final major engagement in the 1861 Confederate campaign 

in Indian Territory, Watie's command was detailed to collect the stock 

left behind by Opothleyahola's defeated band, and his men gathered be-

tween 800 and 900 head of cattle and about 250 ponies. Having accom-· · · 

plished his mission, Watie returned·to his camp on·the Grand River. 

While there he learned that a group of fifty or sixty pro-Northern 

Cherokees were passing near his encampment on their way northward. Watie 

dispatched two companies of troops to intercept them, and when the two 

forces met, a short skirmish occurred, during which one of the Federal 

Cherokees was killed and seven taken prisoner. Watie's men also cap-

21 
tured their wagons and some of their weapons. 

20 . Ibid., pp. Z4-25; Report of Colonel Stand Watie, December 28, 
1861, and Report of Major Ee C. Boudinot, December 28, 1861, ibid., PP• 
32-33. 

21 
Mcintosh to S. Cooper, January 10, 1862, ibid., P• 31. 
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Early in February, 1862, Watie's men took up positions in the Dela-

ware District of the Cherokee Nation to prevent further desertion of 

dissident Cherokees to the North. Shortly before the engagement at 

Chusto-Talsah, a majority of Colonel Drew 9 s command deserted to Opothley-

ahola 1 s band. One of Drew's men, Chunestootie, was killed and scalped 

by Watie's nephew, Charles Webber. Watie expressed regret over the inci-

dent and admitted that 11 it does not tend to reconcile the factions al-

' 
ready too bitter for the good of the country." However, he declared 

that Chunestootie had nbeen for years past hostile to southern people 

and their institutions,n and had been one of the group who vowed to 

butcher 11 any and all who should attempt to raise a southern flag." 

Nevertheless, Drew called the action a "barbarous crime" which had 

shocked members of his command. Watie dismissed the action as being 

"futile at this time to think of settling the affair according to the 

usual course of law," and declared that it would be better uto advise 

quiet and peace until such time as the matter can be calmly and dispas-

. 1 "d d 22 sionate y consi ere ·" 

Later in the month of February, 1862, Watie moved his command to 

Cantonment Davis. This new post was located on the south side of the 

Arkansas River, opposite the mouth of the Grand River, near Fort Gibson, 

and was selected by Pike to serve as his headquarters for Indian Terri-

tory. Hearing rumors of the possible return of Opothleyahola 1 s band to 

the Cherokee Nation, Watie dispatched a force to scout up the Neosho 

22 
Colonel John Drew to Colonel D. H. Cooper, December 18, 1861, 

ibid., pp. 16-18; LeRoy H. Fischer and I<enny A. Frapks, 11Cc,mfederate 
Victory at Chusto-Ta1sah," Chronicles of Oklahoma, Vol. XLIX, No. 4 
(Winter, 1971-1972}, p. 462; Watie to Cooper, February 19, 1862, Dale 
and Litton, eds., Cherokee Cavaliers, pp. 111-114. 
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River in search of the enemy. No sign of the Federal Indians was found, 

d h d d C D . 23 an t e men were or ere to return to antonment avis. 

In late February, Pike received orders to move his command to north-

western Arkansas to join the Southern forces already in the area com-

mantled by Major General Earl Van Dorn. A str~ng Federal force was ad­

vancing south from Missouri, and the Confederacy needed all available 

men to meet the threat. Even though the alliance with the Cherokees 

prohibited the use of Cherokee troops outside Indian Territory without 
. . 

their permission, on March 3, 1862, Watie, along with Dr-ew and Mcintosh, 

was ordered to advance along the road between Evansville and Fayette-

ville, Arkansas, until they were within five or six miles of Fayette-

ville. Watie was to maintain scouts on his left flank, and constantly 

inform Mcintosh of his progress and position. The forces were ordered 

to travel light, in order to be ready for immediate action. Their heavy 

baggage was to follow, and corn was to be either procured on the route 

of march, or provided after they had reached their position just outside 

. 24 Fayetteville. 

Pike, delayed by difficulties with the Choctaw and Chickasaw troops, 

followed Watie and overtook him on March 4 at Cincinnati, Arkansas, near 

the Cherokee-Arkansas border. The next day Pike and Watie joined Drew's 

command at Smith's Mill, and later in the evening they overtook the rear 

of McCulloch 1 s force. On March 5, the combined force resumed the march. 

23watie to Brigadier General Albert Pike, February 27, 1862, ibid., 
p. 114; Dale, "The Cherokees in the Confederacy," Journal of Southern 
History, Vol. XIII, p. 168. The Grand River was also called the Neosho 
River at this time, but was later named the Grand River. 

24Ibid.; Assistant Adjutant General D. H. Maury to Colonels Watie, 
Drew, and Mcintosh, March 3, 1862, Official Records, Ser. i, Vol. VIII, 
PP• 764-765. 
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The Federals had fortified a little place called Leetown about four miles 

south of the Bentonville Road in northwestern Arkansas, and this was to 

be the objective of Pike's conunand. The Confederates moved southeastward 

toward the enemy. Abo~t one mile from the road, they encountered the 

Union forces formed for battle before them. The two forces were separ-

ated by about 300 yards, and the Federals had positioned a battery of 

25 
three cannons protected by five companies of cavalry. 

The Southerners deployed for battle with Watie and Drew forming a 

portion of the left flank. Watie's men were dismounted, but Drew's force 

remained on horseback. The Federals were in a small prairie about 250 

yards wide. On the right was a fenced field, and on the left was another 

large prairie bound on the east by a ridge. Charging across the open 

ground and yelling loudly, the Confederates seized the artillery and 

routed the Federals, who fled through the fenced field. However, for 

want of horses or harness, the Confederates were unable to move the guns 

26 
to the rear. 

After about twenty minutes, Watie reported to Pike that another 

Federal battery was forward of the Southern positiqn, beyond a skirt of 

underbrush, and protected by a large force of infantry. Confusion in 

the Confedercite ranks, however, prevented an attack. Soon the Federals· 

' 
began to shell Watie's cornm,and, and Pike, realizing that the Cherokees 

nwould not face shells in the open ground," ordered them to seek cover 

behind trees. Later some of Watieis men were sent to drag the captured 

25Pike to Captain De H. Maury, March 14, 1862, Official Records, 
Ser. i, Vol. VIII, pp. 286-287. 

26 
Ibid., pp. 287-288. 
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27 
cannons into the woods, and detailed to guard the weapons. 
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At about 3:00 p.m., Watie 1 s command moved to the left and occupied 

a position behind a fence at the foot of a wooded ridge. Major Boudinot 

was then dispatched by Pike to inform Van Dorn that they would attempt 

to hold the position against an expected Federal counterattack. However, 

the position proved to be indefensible; the remainder o~ the Confederate 

troops were forced to ret;reat, and Watie and his men fell back, stopping 

28 
only after they reached Van Dorn 1 s headquarters. 

On the morning of March 6, Watie's men were posted on high ridges 

on the left and right Hanks of the Southern force in order to observe 

the movement of the Federals. While Watie 1 s men were scouting the enemy, 

the remainder of the Southern force began a general withdrawal. Having 

asked Pike for instructions, Watie was ordered to fall back off the 

ridge to a position in the valley; however, the Cherokees continued the 

withdrawal until they arrived at Camp Stephens, southwest of the battle .. 

ground in northwestern Arkansas. Confusion reigned during the Southern 

retreat and the withdrawal very nearly turned into a route. Eventually 

the majority of Pike's command was 
29 

reunited at Cincinnati, Arkansas. 

The defeat suffered by the South at the Battle of Pea Ridge in Ar-

kansas was a devastating blow to the Confederacy in Indian Territory as 

well as in the Southwest. As the Indian forces withdrew to Indian 

Territory, Pike led the majority of the Southern troops to the Choctaw 

Nation, while Watie remained in the Cherokee Nation. Pike explained to 

27 
288-289. Ibid., PP• 

28 . 
289-290. Ibid., PP• 

29. . 290-292. Ibid., PP• 
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Watie the necessity for removing the majority of the troops from the 

northern portion of Indian Territory. He cited their inability to de-

f~nd the area after the abandonment of western Arkansas by the Confeder-

acy, and in view of an expected invasion of Indian Territory by a Union 

force being formed in Kansas. Therefore, Pike rationalized, it was ex-

pedient for him to concentrate his force near Boggy Depot in the Choctaw 

Nation, and make Texas his base of operations and source of supplies. 

This move would make the Canadian River the front line of Southern re• 

sistence and greatly increase their chance of success. However, Watie 

was reassured that Pike was not totally abandoning the area north of the 

Canadian River. Watie's force was to serve as the advance guard for the 

Texas Cavalry, which would sortie into the area to aid in harrassing any 

. d. f 30 inva ing orce. 

On April 25, 1862, Watie received word of the advance of about 200 

Union troops toward Elk Mills, Arkansas. Immediately Watie moved north~ 

ward from his headquarters on Cowskin Prairie, on the border between the 

Cherokee Nation and Arkansas, with a force of forty men to intercept the 

Federals. Finding himself outnumbered, Watie ordered up an additional 

100 of his own men and sixty members of the Missouri State Guard. The 

Federals withdrew toward Neosho, Missouri, with the Confederates in pur-

suit. On the following clay, April ~6, Watie ordered an attack. Moving. 

forward with 125 men, Watie engaged the Union pickets; failing to receive 

support from the Missouri force, he withdrew for a brief period. How-

ever, skirmishing between the two forces continued until about 3:00 p.m. 

30 . Dale, 11The Cherokees in the Confederacy, 11 Journal of Southern 
History, Vol. XIII, p. 169; Pike to Watie, April 1, 1862, Dale and Lit­
ton, eds., Cherokee Cavaliers, pp. 115-117. 
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when Watie returned to Cowskin Prairie. Upon receiving reinforcements, 

31 
the Federals withdrew to Neosho. 

While various engagements were raging in and near the Cherokee Na• 

tion, Watie attempted to fulfill his civil obligations under the con-

ditions of the Cherokee alliance with the Confederacy. Watie, as the 

sole surviving member of the Treaty Party connnittee in 1846, was dele-

gated the authority to divide up the monies provided for the removal and 

resettlement of claims -of t:;he pro~removal faction. Of the $10,300 pro-

vided by the South, Watie paid $3,600 .. 50 to T. M. Boyer, and kept the 

32 remainder to be paid out to other claimants. 

After the first military activity of the spring of 1862, many of 

Watie's men were allowed to return to their homes on furlough, and his 

effective force was reduced from almost normal regiment size of about 

1,000 men to a little over 400 men. This small detachment was surprised 

by about 600 Federal troops in Cowskin Prairie on May 8, and Watie was 

forced to move to Spavinaw Creek in the Cherokee Nation. Watie reported 

to Drew that another force of Union troops was operating in the area, 

and he cautioned Drew to keep a sharp lookout for the enemy. Hoping to 

have the majority of his conunand back from furlough by May 10, Watie pre-

posed to move in the direction of the Federals and determine their po­

. . 33 sition. 
' 

Apparently Wat;ie 1 s men were already suffering from a 'shortage of 

31 
Report of Watie, April 27, 1862, Official Records, Ser, i, Vol. 

XIII, P• 63. 

32 
Statement of Watie, April 5, 1862, Cherokee Nation Collection, 

Western History Collections, University of Oklahoma Library. 

33watie to Drew, May 9, 1862, Grant Foreman Collection, Indian Ar.. 
chives Division, Oklahoma Historical Society. 



179 

necessary supplies. Colonel William P. Adair, the Assistant Quarter-

master serving Watie, reported that there was a severe lack of caps, only 

several boxes of cartridges, about sixteen kegs of powder, and several 

pigs of lead available. Adair advised Watie that it would be a good 

plan to send to Fort Smith for supplies, as ammunition was getting 

34 
scarce. 

Watie, however, continued to conduct offensive operations. On May 

29, he received a report of a twenty-four man Confederate scout in the 

area of Granby, Missouri. This group indicated that a force of about 

200 Federal cavalry was operating in the neighborhood. Watie sent 200 

men under the comma~d of Captain Robert C. Parks toward Neosho to engage 

the Federals if they had not already withdrawn. Parks was joined by an 

additional 200 members of the Missouri State Guard under the command of 

Colonel J. T. Coffee. On the morning of May 31, the combined force of 

Confederates launched a. surprise attack against the Federals. Watie dis.- -

mounted his troops and advanced. After the initial fire from Watie's 

men, the Federals attempted to form a defense and return the fire, but 

their fire was mostly random shots and caused little harm to the Con~ 

federates. Taken completely by surprise, the Union troops fled in the 

utmost confusion, with the Southerners advancing rapidly. Most of the 

Federals es~aped on foot, and the Confederates entered Neosho and tore 

35 
down the United States flag flying from the steeple of the courthouse. 

Preparations were then under way by the Union forces in Kansas for 

34William P, Adair to Watie, April 29, 1862, and William P. Adair 
to Watie, May 4, 1862, Dale and Litton, eds., Cherokee Cavaliers, pp. 
117-119. 

35watie to Cooper, June 1, 1862, and Report of Watie, no date, Of~ 
ficial Records, Ser. i, Vol. XIII, pp. 94-95. 
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an invasion of Indian Territory. A preliminary advance was ordered under 

the command of Colonel Charles Doubleday on June 6, 1862. Doubleday's 

force consisted of one regiment each of infantry and cavalry and one 

battery of artillery, numbering approximately 1,000 men. Moving south-

ward, Doubleday reached the Grand River in the Cherokee Nation about 

sundown on the first day, and learned that Watie with 1,500 men was en-

camped three miles distant. The Southerners were unaware of the Federal 

advance, and Doubleday sent one battalion across the river to occupy a 

position behind the Confederates. The remainder of the Federals formed 

a skirmish line, crossed the river, and advanced on Watie 1 s front. It 

was 9:00 at night when the maneuver was completed, and Watie 1 s pickets 

withdrew after firing a few shots. The darkness prevented Doubleday 

from determining the Confederate positions; thus he ordered the artillery 

to commence firing into the grove of trees which sheltered Watie 1 s camp. 

The artillery fire caused considerable confusion among the Southerners, 

but Doubleday did not order an attack, and Watie escaped during the 

night and headed southward toward Fort Smith. The following day Double-

day, obeying the orders of Colonel William Weer, the commander of the 

overall Federal effort, withdrew northward into Kansas. 36 

On June 28, 1862, the main Federal thrust into Indian Territory be-

gan, with Weer commanding the Second, Sixth, and Ninth Kansas Cavalry 

Regiments, the Tenth Kansas Infantry Regiment, the Ninth Wisconsin Volun-

teer Infantry Regiment, the Second Ohio Cavalry Regiment, the First and 

Second Indiana,Batteries, and the First and Second Indian Regiments. The 

36 
Colonel Charles Doubleday to Colonel William Weer, June 8, 1862, 

ibid•, p. 102; Gary N. Heath, HThe First Federal Ir;i.vasion of Indian Ter~ 
ritory," Chronicles of Oklahoma, Vol. XLIV, No. 4 (Winter, 1966-1967), 
P• 413. ~ 
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Union force advanced to the Neosho River, where it awaited the arrival 

of a wagon supply train from Fort Scott, Kansas. Apparently the Con-

federates were unaware of the Federal advance at this point, and were 

37 
still in the vicinity of Cowskin Prairie. 

In the meantime, Colonel Douglas H. Cooper had been ordered north-

ward to assume command of the Southern forces in the area, with the ex-

ception of the Seminole Battalion. However, on June 26, Major General 

Thomas c. Hindman, the newly appointed Confederate commander of the 

Trans-Mississippi Department, placed Colonel James J. Clarkson in overall 

command of all forces within the limits of the Cherokee Nation. Watie, 

who had been watching for the expected Federal advance, learned of the 

Union position, and he engaged the advance guard of the Northern force 

at Spavinaw Creek in the Cherokee Nation. The skirmish failed to halt 

the Federal advance, and Watie withdrew, conducting hit and run attacks 

38 on the Northern column~ 

Clarkson was encamped at Locust Grove, north of Tahlequah and on 

the east side of the Neosho River. At dawn on July 3, 1862, Weer sur-

prised Clarkson in his camp in a short but decisive engagement; the 

Southerners were completely routed. Watie was not present at the skir-

mish because of the action of the Sixth Kansas Cavalry, which had been 

dispatched to prevent Watie from joining forces with Clarkson, After 

37!bid ., pp. 412-413; Doubleday to Brigadier General James Blunt, 
June 1, 1862, Official Records, Ser. i, Vol. XIII, P• 408; Hathaway, 
"Brigadier General Stand Watie, Confederate Guerrilla, 11 p. 37. 

38Ibid., p. 38; Assistant Adjutant General Fayette Hewitt, General 
Order, June 2~, 1862, and Assistant Adjutant General R. c. Newton, 
General Order No. 21, Official Records, Ser. i, Vol. XIII, pp. 839-840, 
845•846; Heath, "The First Federal Invasion of Indian Territory," Chron­
icles of Oklahoma, Vol. XLIV, p. 415. 

) . 
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their defeat, the Confederates fled in panic toward Tahlequah, and many 

of the Cherokees of Drew 1 s command deserted to theiFederal side. Elated 

with his success, Weer wrote Chief Ross and urged him to place the 

Cherokee Nation under the protection of the United States. Although 

Ross replied negatively, he indicated that he was waiting for the right 

time to switch allegiance. Very soon, nevertheless, he was arrested by 

39 
the Federals and released on parole. 

Though virtually unopposed, Weer 1 s command was unable to take ad-

vantage of its succes~. The Federal supply lines were stretched thin, 

and supplies were running short. In a case of open mutiny, Colonel 

Frederick Salomon, the second in command of the Federal invasion force, 

arrested Weer on charges of being unfit for duty; on July 19, 1862, 

under Salomon us order, the Federals began withdrawing toward Kansas. 

Ross accompanied the Union force as it retreated from the Cherokee Na= 

tion, and later went to Washington to confer with President Abraham 

Lincoln. Ross then retired to Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, where he re~ 
, 

mained until the end of the war. Thus the old split between the Watie 

and Ross factions of the Cherokees was reopened, and the Cherokees were 

40 
once again forced to choose sides~ 

Very little military activity occurred in Indian Territory during 

the late summer of 1862, as both sides were preparing for future action. 

At a meeting of the Confederate Cherokees at Tahlequah on August 21, 

39weer to Captain Thomas Moonlight, July 6, 1862, Official Records, 
Ser. i, Vol. XIII, PP• 137-1380 

40 
Dale, HThe Cherokees in the Confederacy,n Journal of Southern His .. 

tory, Vol. XIII, pp. 170-171; Colonel Fe Salomon to different Commanders 
of the Indian Expedition, July 18, 1862, and First Lieutenant Anton 
Blocki, General Order No. 1, July 18, 1862, Official Records, Ser. i, 
Vol. XIII, PP• 475~477. 
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1862, Watie was elected principal chief, and' the treaty witfi fhe South 

was reaffirmed. Pro-Southern Indians moved quickly to reoccupy the 

Cherokee Nation, and on September 3, 1862, Major General Hindman issued 

a special order asking those citizens of the Cherokee Nation who had 

fled their homes to return to the area as peaceable and loyal citizens 

of the Confederacy. They were promised the full protection of the South 

against all injury and molestation. However, those Indians who had de-
I 

I 

serted to the Union, or had been connected with the killing of any citi• 

zen of the Confederacy, were outlawed. Cherokees wishing to return 

should report to the nearest Provost Marshal and swear 0 to be faithful 

to their treaty obligations, as allies of the Confederate States, and not 

41 
to leave their Districts during the war. 11 

Hindman ordered the provost marshals to take particular measures to 

prevent the pillaging of houses or the unlawful seizure of property. 

All disloyal persons were to be arrested and turned over to the provost 

marshals for the severest punislunent. As principal chief, Watie also 

issued a proclamation to the Cherokees approving of Hindmanvs orders and 

urging prompt compliance& He connnanded all citizens of the Cherokee Na~ 

tion to 11 respect and sustain said order, in good faith, and to lend their 

42 
assistance, when necessary, for carrying it into effect.n 

However, Southern optimism was short-livedg during the fall of 

41Brigadier General William Hudson to CoTonel J. Ye Dashiell, Sep­
tember 15, 1862~ Official Records, Ser. i, Vol. LIII, p. 828; Morton, 
iuconfederate Government Relations with the Five Civilized Tribes, Part 
2, 11 Chronicles of Oklahoma, Vol. XXXI, pp. 309°310; Dale, 11The Cherokees 
in the Confederacy,H Journal of Southern History, Vol. XU.I, p. 173; 
Special Order No. 15, September 3, 1862, Stand Watie Papers, Thomas Gil­
crease Institute of American History and Art, Tulsa, Oklahoma. 

42 
Ibid.; Proclamation of Watie, September 3, 1862, ibid. 
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1862, the Federals made Indian Territory a prime military objective. In 

September and October the North succeeded in occupying northwestern 

Arkansas, and Brigadier General James G. Blunt with the First Division 

of the Army of the .Frontier prepared to invade Indian Territory. Colonel 

Douglas H. Cooper was ordered to proceed to Old Fort Wayne in the Chero-

kee Nation to prepare for a Southern invasion of Kansas. Although he 

had ordered the Indian troops to assemble at that point for the opera-

tion, when Cooper arrived on October 17, 1862, only Watie 1 s connnand was 

present.. Cooper was aware that a Federal force was in the area, but he 

d h . . 1 i d" i 43 suppose t at it was. mere y a scout ng expe it on~ 

Blunt learned of CooperYs presence, and on the evening of October 

21, he began a night forced march to engage the Confederates. Cooper~s 

troops were preparing to move northward for their proposed invasion the 

following morning, and were unaware of the Federal approach. Early in 

the morning of October 22, Watie learned of Blunt 1 s approach. He had 

assembled about 500 men, formed them in a line, and was holding his 

troops in readiness to engage the Federals, when he received orders to 

return to Cooper 1 s headquarters. After marching about half a mile, Watie 

was informed by his scouts that the Federals were flanking his force, and 

he countermarched and took up a defensive position along the road to 

Tahlequah to await the expected attack. Watie had barely enough time to 

dismount his force and move the horses to the rear before his men were 

quickly engaged by the Federals. As the fighting moved to another part 

of the field, Watie made a personal reconnaissance. He discovered a 

43 
Cooper to Major General T. C., Hindman, December 15, 1862, Official 

Records, Ser. i, Vol. XIII, p. 334; William J. Willey, 11 The Second Feder­
al Invasion of Indian Territory, 11 Chronicles of Oklahoma, Vol. XLIV, No. 
4 (Winter, 1966-1967), pp. 420-423. 
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Union force of 3,000 men advancing down the Tahlequah Road. Not deeming 

it prudent to engage such a superior force, Watie ordered his men to 

"retire to their horses and fall back" south to Spavinaw Creek. During 

the withdrawal, Watie 1 s command was constantly harrassed by Union caval-

ry, which frequently charged his rear guard and caused confusion in the 

ranks. Watie reached the Moravian Mission a little before sunset, where 

he halted and sent out scouts to determin,e the situation. He praised 

the action of his men and declared that "considerable damage must have 

been inflicted on the enemy ,iu because he had ordered that they not fire 

unt.il the volley could be 1udelivered with fatal effect •11 However, he 

was not able to immediately report his killed and wounded because of the 

f d 0 0 44 con use situation. 

This engagement near Old Fort Wayne lasted only one hour, but it 

was a decisive Union victory. As a result of the engagement, the region 

north of the Arkansas River came under Federal control, and the Southern 

Indians were driven from the area. Previously Watie had moved his family 

to Webbers Falls in the southern part of the Cherokee Nation to remove 

them from danger; now they were sent further south, first to the southern 

portion of Indian Territory and later to northern Texas, to avoid capture 

by the Northern Indians who were flocking into the Cherokee Nation be,. 

cause of the Federal victory. 45 

44Ibid.; Major General Samuel R. Curtis to Major General Ho W. Hal= 
leek, October 24, 1862, and Watie to Cooper, October 25, 1862, Official 
Records, Ser •. i, Vol. XIII, PP• 324-325, 336=337. 

45 0 

Curtis to Halleck, October 24, 1862, ibid., pp. 324-325; Willey, 
11 The Second Federal Invasion of Indian Territory," Chronicles of ~= 
homa, Vol. XLIV, pp. 422-423; Grant Foreman, "Reminiscences of Mr~ Ro P. 
Vann, East of Webbers Falls, Oklahoma, September 29, 1932, 11 ibid., Vol. 
XI, No. 2 (June, 1933), p. 844. 
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After the engagement, Cooper retired to near Scullyville in the 

northern portion of the Choctaw Nation, and Confederate hopes appeared 

bleak in the Cherokee· Nation. However, Watie continued to·operate in 

the Cherokee Nation during the fall of 1862, although he did not origi-

nate any offensive threat. Watie's cousin, Elias O. Boudinot; who had 

been selected as the Cherokee representative to the Confederate House of 

Representatives, traveled to Richmond to assume his seat on obtober 9. 

Also, following the desertion of most of Drewvs men to the North, the 

First Brigade of the Army of the Trans-Mississippi Department was reor-

ganized, and Watie was given the command of the First Cherokee Regi= 

46 
ment. 

In late November, Watie moved his command to Van Buren and Fort 

Smith to join other Southern forces in the area. On December 3, 1862, 

Watie was ordered to proceed to the neighborhood of Evansville, Arkansas, 

and if possible open communications with a string of Confederate pickets 

on the Line Road located in Arkansas along the border of the Cherokee 

Nation. On the following day with about 400 men, he moved to DwightVs 

Mission in the southeast portion of the Cherokee Nation, where he waited 

until daylight. He sent out scouts on December 5, and his men encoun-

tered some Union Indians, killing several in a brief skirmish. With the 

main force, Watie moved on toward Peytonvs Spring, Arkansas. He entered 

Evansville, Arkansas, the next morning, where he learned that the Feder= 

als were at Cane Hill, Arkansas, with a force of pickets near Dutch 

46Hathaway, YVBrigadier General Stand Watie, Confederate Guerrilla, 11 

p. 46; 11Journal of the Congress of the Confederate States of America, 1v 

United States Senate, 58th Congress, 2nd Session, Senate Document ~' 
Vol. V, p. 502, 513 ... 514; Organization of the Army of the 'l'rans= 
Mississippi Department, December 12, 1862, Official Records, Ser. i, 
Vol. XXII, Part I, p.· 903. 

--· I 
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Mills, Arkansas. Remaining in th~ area until late evening, Watie then 

withdrew toward Peyton's Spring. During the Battle of Prairie Grove, 

Arkansas, on December 7, Watie attempted to intercept a Federal supply 

wagon train at Dutch Mills, but failed when the enemy used a different; 

' I 
route. On December 10, he received word that a large force of Federal 

Indians were preparing to attack his camp during the following night, 

and the next day Watie moved against the Federals, forcing them to with-

draw. However, responding to orders, Watie retired to Webbers Falls on 

47 
December 12. 

By late December, 1862, WatieVs men were scattered throughout the 

Cherokee Nation, and constantly were aought by Union troops. On December 

/' -
2.7, the Federals occupied the Confederate base at Cantonment Davis and 

destroyed the fortifications along with the barracks and commissary 

buildings. Once again Watie was driven south of the Arkansas River, and 

most of the Cherokee Nation seemed to be securely in the hands of the 

North. However, by the end of the 1862 military operations were going 

badly for Watie and the Southern Cherokees. Having acfluitted himself well 

in various engagements, Watie had proven his ability as a military com-

mander, but a lack of support by the Confederacy was hindering his mili-

. 48 tary operations. 

The Cherokees had divided along old factional lines over the ques-

tion of slavery. Watie, with the support of his followers and secession= 

ist leaders in Arkansas, led the Cherokees into a treaty with the 

47 
Blunt to Curtis, November 24, 1862, and Watie to Cooper, Novem= 

ber 24, 1862, ibid., pp. 36, 66-67. 

48 
Colonel William A. Phillips to Blunt, December 25, 1862, and Blunt 

to Curtis, December 30, 1862, ibid., pp. 874, .. 168. 
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Confederacy. However, not all Cherokees agreed with the Southern al~ 

liance, and when the opportunity occurred, many, including Chief Ross, 

deserted to the North. This left Watie and his followers in control of 

the Cherokee Nation early during the Civil War, and Watie was elected 

principal chief. Nevertheless the Southern allianc.e with the Cherokees 

was weakening, and many of the Indians were openly .~iding with the 

Union. Watie had cast his lot with the South, and if the military sit• 

uation worsened, he would find himself in an extremely difficult posi~ 

tion. The following year was to be a year of decision for Watie, and 

the outlook for success was grim indeed~ 



CHAPTER V'tll 

YEAR O~ DECISION 

The year 1863 was.decisive for Watie and the Confederacy. Advancing 

relentlessly, the Federals forced the Confederate Indians to flee to 

southern Indian Territory. As the Confederates abandoned the Cherokee 

Nation, their place was taken by Federal Indians who only a few years 

previously had been forced to flee their homes. Now it was the turn of 

the Southern~rs to take flight and seek refuge amid destitute conditions 

along the northern border of Texas. 

In early January, 1863, Watie encamped at Briartown near the Canad-

ian River in the southern portion of the Cherokee Nation. A few of 

Watie's men deserted to the North, and all were dissatisfied with the 

inability of the Confederacy to provide adequate protection. The bitter 

winter caused much hardship for the Southerners~ their situation was 

further hardened by a lack of supplies. Throughout Watie 1 s camp com= 

plaints were heard over their destitute condition and the inadequacy of 

Confederate protection. 1 

Watie was extremely anxious to connnence operations in the Cherokee 

Nation because of a proposed meeting 0f the Northern Cherokee National 

Council which he desired to raid. However, he was unable to mount a 

1 
Hathaway, ''Brigadier General Stand Watie, Confederate Guerrilla," 

p. 49; Cooper to Major General T. C~ Hindman, January 8, 1863, Official 
Records, Ser. i, Vol. XXII, Part 2, p. 770. 
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serious military offensive with the exception of small guerrilla raids 

into the Union occupied area, and the meeting took place as scheduled on 

Cowskin Prairie, in the Cherokee Nation, during February, 1863. The 

meeting formally renounced the treaty of alliance with the Confederacy 

and abolished slavery. All Cherokees who held posts in the Confederate 

government and remained Loyal to the South were removed, and a delegation 

of Northern Cherokees was di~patched to Washington, Thus, once aga;in the 

gulf between the two rival factions, the pro.Southern followers of Watie 

and the Union Indians owing allegiance to Chief Ross, was widened. 2 

After being unable to prevent the Northern Cherokee National Council 

from meeting, Watie moved his command t;o Leaning Rock, near the North 

Fork of the Canadian River. His men were suffering severely from a lack 

of draft animals, and they resorted to using cattle as oxen. The greater 

portion of their horses and ponies had been driven to Texas, and the few 

mules left for transportation were dying at an alarming rate. Some mem~ 

bers of Watie's force contemplated seizing or killing him, as they be-

lieved that his actions were ruining the country. However, the threat 

3 
failed to materialize, and the vast majority of his men remained loyal. 

In early March, 1863, Watie was reported about fifty miles south of 

Fort Gibson with a £orce of 700 men, but as yet he had not begun a major 

offensive operation. Later that month he released many of his men on 

furlough so that they could help with the planting of corn in the Creek 

2 
Colonel William A. Phillips to Major General Samuel R. Curtis, 

January 29, 1863, and Phillips to Curtis, February 6, 1863, pp. 85, 101; 
Dale, "The Cherokees in the Confederacy,'' Journal .£!. Southern Histor;z, 
Vol. XIII, P• 172. 

3 
Phillips to Curtis, February 11, 1863, and Phillips to Curt;is, 

February 15, 1863, Official Records, Ser• i, Vol, XXII, Part 2, pp. 108, 
111 .. 112. 
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and Choctaw nations to help feed the Southern refugees. However, Watie 

and his depleted force remained at Scullyville, just southwest of Fort 

Smith. On March 31, he was authorized by the Confederate government to 

raise an additional brigade composed of forces already in service in the 

Cherokee Nation and from any additional men that might be obtained from 

contiguous states. Watie was cat,ttioned, however, not to violate the 

Confederate conscript _law, but he was permi~ted to encourage enlistments 

4 
by offering homesteads to new recr~its. 

In late AprU, 1863, Wat ie 1 s connnand moved to Fort Smith, and later 

to Webbers Falls to attend a meeti.'#g of the Confederate Cherokee National 

Council scheduled for April 25. A preliminary meeting was held on March 

24, and Watie was selected as chairman of the assembly. The purpose of 

the meeting was to elect a principal chief and discuss the military sit-

uation in the Cherokee Nation. Addressing the meeting on the night of 

April 24, Watie spoke "with a heavy heart, for evil times have come upon 

our country~" Declaring that "Disaster upon.disaster has followed the 

Confederate arms in the Cherokee country.," Watie recalled the reverses 
. 

of the previous years and its effect on the morale of his men. Never~ 

theless, he hoped t;hat the war in the East would favor the Co11federacy, 

and more aid could be sent to the Cherokees by the South. He remained 

optimistic "that the time is near at hand when the tide of success is 

due to return to the Conf ederat;;e arms when v.re shall be able to drive the 

Federal forces out of our country, which will enable our people, many now 

exiles, to return to their country." On April 24, Colonel William A.-

4 
Blunt to Curtis, March 10, 1863, Phillips to Curtis, March 19, 

1863, and Order of Assistant Adjutant General Samuel W. Melton, April 1, 
1863, ibid., PP• 151-152, 162-163, 810. 
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Phillips, in command of the Union ~ndian Brigade located at Fort G;i.bson, 

had launched an offensive designed to prevent the meeting. Crossing the 

Arkansas River, Phillips conducted a night march of thirty miles, and at 

dawn on April 25, attacked Watie's camp. Watie's men broke and fled 

before the Northern advance. Many of the Confederates were not dressed, 

and Watie's men fired only a few shots before retreating and abandoning 

the camp to the Federds ~ Thus the scheduled Confederate Cherokee Na-

5 
tional meeting could not be held. 

Stung by defeat at Webbers Falls, Watie led about 1,000 men across 

the Arkansas River near its j\,lp.ction w:i,th the Verdigris River to attack 

a Federal supply wagon train on its way to fort Gibson from Fort Scott, 

Kansas. On the morning of May 28, Watie's men ambushed the wagon train, 

a few miles north of Fort Gibson. Unfortunately for the Confederates, 

the Federals had anticipated such a move and had sent reinforcements to 

protect the supplies. As a result, Watie's force was thrown back across 

6 
the Arkansas River with the Northern troops in hot pursuit. 

Watie 1 s wife and family, with the exception of Saladin, who had en-

listed as a captain in his father's command when he was barely fifteen 

years old, had been sent to the southern portion of Indian Territory, 

where they would be safe. During the spring of 1863, Watie suffered a 

grave personal 1oss when his thir~ son, Cumiskey, died while a refugee 

5Phillips to Major General Blunt, April 24, 1863, ibid., p. 247; 
Phillips to Blunt, April 26, 1863, Official Records, Ser. i, Vol. XXII, 
Part 1, pp. 314-315; Willey Britton, 'l'he Union Indian Brigade in ~ 
Civil War (Kansas City; Missouriz Franklin Hudson Publishing Company, 
1922), pp. 219-222. 

6Ibid., pp. 235-236; Blunt to Major General John M. Schofie1d, June 
8, 1863, Official Records, Ser. i, Vol. XXII, Part 1, pp. 341,..342. 
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with his mother. ln late May, Sarah took the remainder of the family to 

the home of her sister Nancy Starr just below the Red River in Rusk, 

7 
Texas. 

In early June, 1863, Watie, joining with another Confederate force, 

made a cavalry sortie into the Union occupied area of the Cherokee Na-
I 

tion. Crossing the Arkansas River at Greenleaf Creek, the Confederates' 

rode to Park Hill and Tahlequah. Here Watie's command separated from 

the remainder of the Southern forces and made for Maysville, Arkansas, 

while the other force maneuvered toward Evansville, Arkansas. The Feder-

als were not able to engage the Southerners because of the condition of 

their mounts, but Phillips sent out scouts in an attempt to maintain 

contact with the Confederates. 8 

Additional Union troops were dispatched in pursuit, and as the 

Federals closed in on Watie, he returned to the Grand River near the 

mouth of Spavinaw Creek; however, the river was up, and Watie's men were 

unable to cross. Retreating down the river to Grand Saline, Watie again 

attempted to cross the river and again failed. By now the Southerners 

were being hotly pursued by a Federal force under the command of Major 

John A. Foreman, and Watie withdrew to Tahlequah. Watie continued to be 

hard pressed by the Northerners. When knowledge of his plight became 

known, additional Confederate troops were sent to his aid, and a diver= 

sionary attack was made by the Southerners on the west side of the 

7 
W. Q. Polson to Sarah C. Watie, April 10, 1863, Sarah C. Watie to 

Stand Watie, May 20, 1863, Sarah C. Watie to Stand Watie, June 8, 1863, 
Dale and Litton, eds., Cherokee Cavaliers, pp. 121-122, 124-126, 128~ 
129. 

8Phillips to Blunt, June 6, 1863, Official Records, Ber. i, Vol. 
XXII, Part 2, P• 311. 
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The First Regiment of th•· Federal lnd:l.an Br:f.gade commanded by 

Colonel Stephen H. Wattles attempted to cut off Watie'• retreat, but 

194 

failed to make contact. How1v1r, ~ft1r Union 1cout1 at Gr11nl11f Prairie 

in the Cherokee Nation reported Wat:f.1 11 pr111nc1, Wattles counter• 

marched and located th• Confederate force. The skirmieh at Greenleaf 

Prairie w11 fought on June 16, and the f:f.1ht::1.na continued for uveral 

houri. Wat ii 1 • men chara1d tht F1d1r1h, who win. formed in a line, but 

were repulsed and foretd to withdraw about thr11•quart1r1 of a mile. 

Union foree back. Onee more the Southerner• •Urg•d forwArd tor tht third 

time, but this attempt was also driven back. ln the meantime, the North~ 

erners brought a howitzer into action, and on the next attack by W•tie's 

troops, who were attempting a flanking movement, the artillery fire 

broke the charge. The Federal• then moved forward~ Watie, not having 

time to reform, retreated from the field. the Union troops continued 

the pursuit until their amm\,\nition was nearly exhausted, but Watie and 

10 
his force escaped by crossing the Ar~ansas River at Webbers Falls, 

Saladin doubtlessly pr9vided companionship for Watie during the 

years of campaignina. Once durtna the war Watie and Saladin becarnt 

drunk on wine and arau1d over who was the 1tron111t. Wre1tling to settle 

the question, Saladin threw hi• father. Sittina on W1ti1, Saladin d•· 

clared, "Hurrah l got the general down." In the absence of the rut of 

his family, Watie had only Saladin to remind him of his homelife -.nd 

9 
Phillips to Blunt, .. .J..1.1.n.a 2.14. LS6.3, and C.Q.lonel S.t.eph•n H. Wattles 

to Phillips, June, 1863 1 ibid., Par~ l, pp. 349-3,2. 

lOlbid. 
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the peaceful years preceding the conflict. Nevertheless Watie 1 s wife 

Sarah, who had taken the rest of the family to Texas in late May, 1863, 

was very concerned about their eldest son, Saladin. The l?oy, still in 

his teens, had been exposed to nothing but killing and destruction while 

serving with his father. Upon hearing that Saladin had killed a Federal 

prisoner, Sarah pleaded with Watie to impress on their son "to always 
,, 

show mercy" as he expected "to find God merciful." Her devotion to 

Watie was unwavering, and she told him that "I can't live and not hear 

from you. You must write and tell me when it will be safe to come 

ll 
home. 11 

The Confederacy was not at all pleased with the action of its Indian 

allies. A large number of the Cherokees had deserted to the North and 

were enrolled in the Federal army. The Creeks serving with the South 

were unreliable and often refused to obey connnands. Such actions on the 

part of the Indian troops made it practically impossible for the Con-

federacy to mount a serious offensive to drive the Federals out of Indian 

Territory. Wat;ie, of aU the Indian officers, wa.s the only one in which 

the Confederate military structure placed any reliance, and they con= 

id d h 0 d h I b h d' k 12 s ere 1m a connna,n ·er w o was ' a ove t e or :i.nary mar •11 

Early in July, 1863, a major engagement occurred in Indian Terri-

tory, a battle which Wat:;ie himself characterized as "one of the severest 

llCharlotte Elizabeth Ghormley Petty Interview, Grant Foreman, ed., 
11 Indian=Pioneer History" ( ll3 vols., unpublished manuscript), Vol. 
LXXVI, p. 328, Indian Archives Division, Oklahoma Historical Society. 
Sarah C. Watia to Stand Watie, June 8, 1863, Dale and Litton, eds., 
Cherokee Cavaliers, pp. 128~129. 

12 
Brigadier General William Steele to Lieutenant General E. Kirby= 

Smith, June 24, 1863, Official Records, Ser. i, Vol. XXII, Part 2, p. 
884. 
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fights fought in this country." On June 24, a Federal supply wagon train 

had left Baxter Springs, Kansas, to resupply the Union forces operating 

in Indian Territory. Suspecting a Confederate attempt to seize the 

train, the Federals provided a strong force, including artillery, as es-

cort. When the Confederates learned of the advance of the Federal wagon 

train, Brigadier General William Steele dispatched a force of 1,000 

mounted men \lP the west s;i.de of the Grand River to intercept\the Union 

force. Watie with 500 men was ordered to Cabin Creek in the northern 

part of the Cherokee Nation. 13 

At about noon on July 1, 1863, the Union wagon train approached the 

ford at Cabin Creek. Watie 1 s men were located in force on the opposite 

side of the stream in a position which allowed them to cormnand the ford. 

After a short skirmish, Watie's pickets were forced across the creek, and 

rejoined the main force. Bringing up their artillery, the Federal 

troops began a "brisk fire of shell and canister" into the Confederate 

position, and took soundings of the creek to determine if it was ford~ 

able. Finding the stream too deep because of recent rains, the Federals 

encamped until the water receded. Apparently it was Watie 1 s plan to 

hold the Federals at Cabin Creek until Brigadier General William Cabell 

could bring his force of approximately 2,000 men and three pieces of 

artillery from Arkansas, to engage the Federals. However, Cabell was 

prevented from joining Watie because the Grand River was flooding, and 

14 
he was unable to crass. 

13 
Steele to Brigadier General William C. Cabell~ June 25, 1863, 

ibid., p. 885; Stand Wat:i.,e to Sarah c. Watie, July 12, 1863, Dale and 
Litton, eds., Cherokee Cavaliers, p. 131; Phillips to Blunt, July 7, 
1863, Official Records, Ser. i, Vol. XXll, Part 1, pp. 378~379. 

14 
lbid.; Colonel J. M. Williams to Phillips, July, 1863, ibid., pp. 

379~380. 
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The Northerners were greatly concerned for the safety of the supply 

wagon train, and it was corralled about .two tniles .to the. rear and plac·ed 

under a strong guard. During the evening of July 1, the Federals made a 

company size reconnaissance of the area, and deployed their forces during 

the night. Two howitzers were placed on their left flank, two more in 

the center, and one on the right flank. The Federals formed a column of 

attack, deploying smaller forces on their flanks to guard against any 

surprise flanking movement by Watie. About 8:00 a.m. on July 2, a brisk 

c~nnonade lasting about forty minutes was directed against Watie's 

troops. When it appeared to the Federals that the Southerners had with~ 

drawn, the column was ordered to cross the creek. Watie 1 s men waited 

until the advance colu~n was nearly on the opposite shore. Then they 

opened a violent fire of musketry from their concealed position _behind 

logs and. among thick brush. 15 

With the first volley, the Federal commander was wounded, and the 

Northerners withdrew in confusion to the opposite bank. Once again the 

artillery opened fire on Watie's men, this time accompanied by heavy 

musketry from the infantry. After about twenty minutes of sustained 

bombardment, the Federals again surged across the creek, and were once 

again met by heavy fire from Watie's force. However, the Federal infan-

try, wading up to theil;' armpits in the water, succeeqed in reaching the 

opposite shore, where they formed a line of battle. The Confederates · 

deployed in battle array about 400 yal;'ds to their front on the edge of 

the prairie. The Federals brought their cavalry into action, and ordered 

a charge in an attempt to break Watie's line. The Southerners broke 

15Ibid., p. 380, 
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before the Union advance and fled from the field. rhey were pursued for 

about five miles by the Northern cavalry, and were dispersed in every di= 

rection. However, the protection of the wagon train being their main 

objective, the Federals broke off pursuit and continued to Fort Gibson. 16 

Soon after this engagement at Cabin Creek, a large Federal force 

under the command of Major General James G. Blunt moved across the Arkan~ 

sas River, and marched toward Cooper's camp at Elk Creek. On the morning 

of July 17, 1863, the two forces clashed at Honey Springs in the eastern 

part of the Creek Nation and the Confederates suffered a devastating de-

feat in the major engagement of the Civil War in Indian Territory. Watie 

had been ordered to constitute the right flank of Cooper's force, and 

his men participated in the battle. However, Watie was not present. He 

had been sent to Webbers Falls on detached service. 17 

After the serious defeats suffered during the summer of 1863, 

Watie's command withdrew to near Boggy Depot in the Choctaw Nation. 

Sarah was again visiting at Rusk, Texas, with her sister Nancy, who was 

suffering from tuberculosis. She had spent nearly the entire summer with 

her sister before returning to her own refugee home in northern Texas. 

Watica, Watie 1 s second son, was left in Rusk to help care for his ailing 

aunt. Watie 1 s family did not suffer as much as did the other Cherokee 

refugees, but Sarah complained of the miserable water and a shortage of 

meat. During the summer, Sarah had occupied her time making clothes for 

Watie for the coming winter. Although Ninnie, Watie 1 s oldest daughter, 

16rbid., pp. 380-381. 

17 
Cooper to Steele, August 12, 1863, and Lieutenant Thornton B. 

Heiston General Order No. 25, July 14, 1863, ibid., pp. 457~462; Cooper 
to James M. Bell, September 24, 1863, Dale and Litton, eds., Cherokee 
Cavaliers, pp. 140-141. 



had been ill during the latter part of the summer, she had recovered, 

and the remainder of the family seemed in good health and spirits re­

gardless of their difficulties. 18 
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On August 8, 1863, Watie complained to the Confederate Commissioner 

of Indian Affairs, Sutton S, Scott, on the treatment of the Indians by 

the South. Declaring that in many _instances the Indian troops were 

treated 11 as though it were immaterial whether or not they were paid as 

promptly and equipped as thoroughly as other soldiers." Watie accused 

the Confederacy of using money appropriated for the Southern Indians for 

other purposes. Citing the instance when cloth;i.ng "procured at great 

trouble and expense, to cover the nakedness of Indian troops," was dis= 

tributed to other troops? Watie maintained that such treatment tested 

11 to the utmost their fidelity , 11 but that;. they had 11 remained true as 

steel. 11 Complaining that the Federals had occupied the Cherokee Nation 

since the previous April, Watie pointed out that they had been allowed 

to remain there almost unmolested, and the South had made "no vigorous 

efforts" to dislodge them. As a result, the Northerners had at their 

leisure strengthened and fortified their position, notably at Fort Gib= 

son, laid waste to the country, driven the women and children from their 

homes, and kept the unoccupied portions of Indian Territory in a constant 

19 
state of alarm. 

Watie could not understand "the soundness of the policy which allows 

18 
Sarah C. Watie and Stand Watie, July 28, 1863, Sarah C. Watie to 

Stand Watie, August 21, 1863, and W~ J. Deupree to James M. Bell, ibid., 
pp. 132-136; Muriel H. Wright, 110ld Boggy Depot,'' Chronicles of Okla ... 
homa, Vol. V, No. 1 (March, 1927), p. 8. · · · · --- -

19Watie to S, s. Scott, August 8, 1863, Official Records, Ser. i, 
Volo XXII, Part 2, P• 1104. 
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a vastly inferior force of enemy to ravage the land with impunity." He 

declared that the Federals had penetrated 200 miles from their base of 

supply and source of reinforcement, while opposed by a Southern command 

three times as large, a command characterized .. by a 11 1.ack of spirit, in-

activity, and apparent cowardice." Watie complained that ten weeks pre-

viously he had confided to Brigadier General William Steele, his com-

mander, suggesting that a concentration of Confederate forces "could 

overwhelm and utterly destroy our foes, 11 but Steele was Hnot yognizant 

of the true condition of affairs" and paid no attention to his sugges-

tion. Since then, Watie declared, Steele had received infantry and 

artillery reinforcements; however, the ''same lethargy and procrastination 

prevail, and our prospects look more gloomy than ever. 11 Watie stated 

that these actions had produced universal dissatisfaction and desponden-

cy, and that the most favorable time for repelling the enemy was passed; 

he argued, neverthel~ss, that with a little energy the South might yet 

. . . f 20 retrieve its mis ortunes. 

Watie contended that by the middle of the summer of 1863 nearly 

"every able .. bodied man among the CherokeeE;>' 1 wa$ in the ltlilitary service. 

The Cherokees' only reward, however, was the robbery of their families, 

which left them dest;itute and "only too glad to escape with their Uves.iu 

The pro-Southern Cherokees were now scattered throughout the Creek and 

Choctaw nations and Texas. Some arrangement had to be made to provide 

them with shelter and clothing, Watie maintained. The Cherokees had at= 

tempted to provide for their own people, but were hampered by a lack of 

funds. Watie insisted that the annuities due the Cherokees be paid at 
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once; he posed this question: Shall "I continue to encourage them, or 

shall I at once unveil to them the dread truth that our country is to be 

hopelessly abandoned, and that they are to receive the reward of poverty 

21 
and ruin for their unswerving fidelity to the Southern cause." 

Watie 1 s apprehensions and complaints were answered by Lieutenant 

General Edmund Kirby-Smith, the connnander of the rrans-Mississippi De-

partment, on September 8. Kirby-Smith acknowledged that the Cherokees 

had reason for complaint, but that their lack of faith in the South 

would naturally produce dissatisfaction among the Confederate leaders. 

Declaring that the Cherokees had the thanks, respect, and esteem of the 

Confederacy, he encouraged them to remain true in their despondency and 

Hstruggle on through the dark gloom which now envelops our affairs." 

Kirby-Smith reminded Watie of the insurmountable difficulties which sur-

rounded the Confederate government, and asserted that though some 

agents may have been remiss, the South had never been untrue to its com-

mitments. Declaring that the cause of the Confederacy and the Cherokees 

was the same, he stated that the conflict was just and holy and they 

"must stand and struggle on together, till that just and good Providence, 

who alwa,ys supports the right, cr9wns qur efforts with success." Kirby= 

Smith could make no promises, but he assured Watie that he had the in~ 

terests of the Cherokees at heart, and ~ould "endeavor faithfully and 

honestly to support you in your efforts and in those of your people to 

redeem their homes from an oppressor's rule." His ability to send im~ 

mediate aid was prohibited by the fact that a powerful Federal force was 

threatening the Trans-Mississippi Department. However, should troops be 

21 . 
Ibid., pp. 1104-1105. 
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at his disposal, he would drive the Federals from the Cherokee Nation. 

Declaring that what "might pave been done and has not is with the past; 

it is needless to comment upon it," Kirby-Smith reassured Watie that he 

realized the importance of the Cherokees to the Southern cause and had 

the interest of the Cherokees "at heart, and wi 11 spare no effort, with 

22 
the limited means at my disposal, to establish them in their rights·" 

Eventually some effort was made to better the condition of the 

refugee Cherokees. Confederate officials had been issuing supplies to 

the r,efugees since early summer, 1863, but they had no authorization to 

do so. When the Confederate Cherokee National Council had met, it ap-

pointed J. L. Martin to conduct the relief operations, and authorized 

schools to be established. Perhaps as a result of Watie's protest, the 

Southern military authorities agreed to issue rations to the destitute 

Cherokees, with Martin to oversee the distribution. Martin selected a 

site about ten miles above the mouth of the Blue River, just north of 

the Red River in the Choctaw Nation, as the location of the refugee camp. 

Apparently a healthful location, the area offered plentiful water, good 

23 
timber, and both summer and winter ranges. 

The first refugees were moved to the camp during September, 1863, 

and Confederate officers granted furloughs to soldiers whose families 

were among them so that they could assist their families in the construe-

tion of new homes at the camp. At first the Cherokees were allowed only 

half rations, but Martin believed that their nearness to Texas would 

22~irby-Smith to Watie, September 8, 1863, ibid., pp. 999-1000. 

23 
Angie Debo, 

western Historical 
258. 

I 
"Southern Refugees of the Cherokee Nation," South-1 . 

Quarterly,!Vol. XXXV, No. 4 (April, 1932), pp. 257-
, ' 
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allow them to secure badly needed supplies from that state. However, 

the relief effort was desperately short of money. Watie's nephew, Elias 

C. Boudinot, the Cherokee representative to the Confederate Congress, 

attempted to secure funds from Commissioner of Indian Affairs Scott and 

Lieutenant General Kirby ... Smith, but they were unable to supply any money 

"without assuming a responsibility outside of their official characters.n 

However, Boudinot did borrow $10,000 on his own credit. Since this small 

amount would not go far, he promised Watie an additional $40,000 within 

eight weeks. Upon reaching Richmond, Boudinot introduced a bill in the 

Confederate Congress appropriating $100,000 for the relief of the refugee 

Cherokees. The bill was passed, and President Jefferson Davis signed it 

on January 22, 1864. Nevertheless, the Cherokees continued to suffer as 

inflation and the refusal of some people to accept Confederate money re-

duced the value of the appropriation. The pro-Southern Cherokees suf-

fered for the remainder of the war, regardless of the efforts of Watie 

B d . 24 or ou inot. 

On August 9, 1863, Watie contacted the pro-Southern Creeks on a 

matter of paramount importance to both nations-~the prospect of adequate 

assistance from the South, and the problems of the Indians to maintain 

their homes and defend their rights. Watie was continuing to take ser= 

iously his election as principal chief of the Southern Cherokees in 

August, 1862. Stating that there was ?carcely a Southern family left 

east or north of the Arkansas River, Watie declared that because of the 

inefficiency of Confederate subordinate agents, the promised protection 

24 
Ibid., pp. 258-259; Elias c. Boudinot to Watie, November 4, 1863, 

Dale and Litton, eds., Cherokee Cavaliers, pp. 143-144. 
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of the Confederacy 11 has been a useless and expensive pageant; an object 

for the success of our enemies and the shame of our friends." Watie be-

lieved that the Indians had to rely upon themselves to drive the enemy 

from the country. United and determined, the Southern Indians had to 

meet the enemy because, Watie declared, there would otherwise be no 

25 
change for the better in the actions of the South• 

Driving the Federals from Indian Territory covld not be accomplished 

"without serious losses and many trials and privations," Watie stated. 

However, if the Cherokees, Creeks, Choctaws, Chickasaws, and Seminoles 

"possess the spirit of our fathers, and are resolved never to be en• 

slaved by an inferior race, and trodden under the feet of an ignorant 

and insolent foe, 11 the members of the Five Civilized Tribes 11 never can 

be conquered by the Kansas jayhawkers, renegade Indians, and runaway 

negroes. 11 Watie maintained that the only way the North could defeat the 

Indians was by "the traitors that have deserted us, the negroes they 

have stolen from us, and a few Kansas jayhawkers.11 Appealing to the 

pride of the Creeks, W.;i.tie continued, shall 11 we suffer ourselves to be 

subjected and enslaved by such a class? Never!" If the Confederacy was 

either unable or unwilling to protect Indian Territory, Watie was de-

termined to unite the various Indian nations and drive out the Feder-. 

26 
als. 

Appealing to the Choctaws and Chickasaws in his capac:Lty as principal 

chief of the Southern Cherokees, Watie d.enounced the sluggishness of the 

Confederate military movements in Indian Territory. He contended that a 

25 
Watie to Governor of the Creek Nation, August 9, 1863, Official 

Records, Ser. i, Vol. XXII, Part 2, p. 1105. 

26 
Ibid., pp. 1105-1106. 
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nproper use of the means in our power would enable us to regain that 

portion of our territory which has been overrun by our enemies." Ac-

cusing the Confederacy of useleas waste of Indian strength, Watie con-

demned the South for not fulfilling its promises for protection and re-

lief. Convinced that the Indians could.no longer place any faith in the 

promises of the Souther'n6'rs, he believed that the Indians "should cast 

behind us all expectation of adequate aid" from the Confederate govern-

ment, and test their whole strength to defend their homes alone. Watie 

stated that the Indians had suffered much and were destined to suffer 

more because of the Ii culpable delay" of the Southern off:i,cer.s •. The 

Indians, he said, we:):'e the "victims of incapable and slothful leaders," 

but they had one consolation in the knowledge that by a "united and un~ 

yielding opposition of our Indian forces alone, we can make our fair 

27 
country an unpleasant, if not an untenable, home for our enemies. 11 

Watie pointed out that the action of the Seminoles had shown "what 

folly it is to try to subjugate and destroy a people determined to de~ 

fend their rights·'' Praising the bravery of the Choctaw- and· Chickasaw 

troops, he urged a proper understanding among the Indians so that 11 our 

country may yet be saved, despite the inertness and criminal delays of 

those who have promised to protect us." Wat;i.e reminded the Choctaws and 

Chickasaws that .if "the Cherokee Nation is abandoned to the enemy, the 

Creek country falls the next victim, and, in speedy turn, your own coun= 

28 
try will share the same fate. 11 

27 . Wat1e to the Governor of the Choctaw and Chickasaw Nations, ibid., 
p. 1106. 

28rbid., pp. 1106-1107. 
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Though Watie had soundly condemned the South for its inability to 

maintain its promises, he had no intention of giving up the struggle. 

His men were ill supplied, and one man described them as being in "a de-

plorable condition looking more like.Siberian exiles than Soldiers." 

However, Watie's men continued to serve him l;oyally, and they never 

were "called on to make a Stand against the enemy but; they do so cheer-

fully and with a determination that no one could expect •11 The Cherokees 

were good sol.diers without t:he means of resistance, and Watie 1 s men de-

clared that they were "neHher discouraged or Whipped and God forbid we 

shall ever be.1129 

After the victory at Honey Springs in· J4ly, 1863, the Federals had 

concentrated all their troops at Fort Gibs.on for the purpose of moving 

against the remaining Southern forc·es in lndian Territory. During late 

August, 1863, the Confederates moved back into the Cherokee Nation in 

force. Immediately Major General Blunt, with a command of 4,500 men, 

crossed the Arkansas River to engage the Southerners. On the morning of 

August 25, the two forcEis· clash,ed north of Perryville, a supply center 

for the South in the Choctaw Nation, and the 'Confederates withdrew. As 

the Federals approached Perryville at about 8:00 that evening, the main 

Southern force was in retreat, and the rearguard was soon forced to fall 

back. The Federals entered Perryville and burned the village, destroy-

ing a large amount of Southern supplies. Watie, who was with the initial 

Confederate advance, was not present at the skirmish. Instead he had 

been sent on a scouting assignment t;o Webbers Falls, where it had been 

29 . 
James M, Bell to Carol+ne Bell, September 2, 1863, Dale and Lit-

ton, eds., Cherokee Cavaliers, p. 137. 
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reported the Federals were crossing the Arkansas Riv~r. 30 

The Federals continued their advance southward and by early October 

they were at Scullyville, in the northern part of the Choctaw Nation. 

Burning some buildings at Scul1yville and Old Fort Coffee, a few miles 

north of the settlement;, the Federals then marched northward to Fort 

Gibson in the Cherokee Nation. From Fort Gibson the Union troops marched 

southeast along the north side o( the Arkansas River toward Fort Smith. 

Watie's cavalry force was directed to patrol the route and intercept any 

couriers or supply wagon trains he encountered. He also was ordered to 

create as much excitement and confusion as possible in the rear of the 

. n 
Federals in the Cherokee Nation. 

On October 29, 1863, Watie led a sc0ut northeastward from his camp 

near North Fork Town in the Creek Nation to Tahlequah. After killing a 

few loyal Indians and burning the Cherokee Council House, Watie's men cap-

tured several Northern CherokeE)S, including WilUam Ross, but Watie 

would not allow them to be killed becau~e of the plea of his wife Sarah. 

Moving south to Park Hill, he set fire to Rose Cottage, the beautiful 

home of John Ross, and destroyed the building. This last act was moti~ 

vated by his intense hat;red of Chief Ross, who resided in the East. 

During the expedition, one of Watie's old family friends, Andrew Nave, 

was killed when he refused to surrender to the Southerners. Returning 

to Tahlequah, Watie's men killed two Black Union soldiers along with two 

• 
30Blunt to Presi,dent Abraham Linc.oln, September 24, 1863, Official 

Records, Ser. i, Vol. Llll, p. 574; Blunt to Schofield, August 27, 1863, 
and Report of Steele, August 28, 1863, ibid., Vol. XXII, Part 1, pp. 
597-598, 600. 

31cooper to Brigadier General Henry E. ·McCulloch, October 9, 1863, 
ibid., Part 2, PP• 303~304. 
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white Federal soldiers, and captured some of C~ief Ross's slaves. 

,. 
After the raid, Watie moved southwest and camped near North Fork 

Town in the Creek Nation. Apparent;:1y not in good health, Watie com"' 
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plained that he had "not been as .well this fall as I used to· be," and was 

unable to get rid of a severe cough~ The hardships of two years of cam .. 

paigning were beginning to have a telling effect on him, and 4e promised 

33 
to return home to Sarah as soon as his unit went into winter quarters. 

On November 12, 1863, Watie addressed a general assembly of Con-

federate Indians at Camp Creek in the Cherokee Nation. He declared that 

during the spring the indian troops had assembled on the Arkansas River, 

"with the full expectation of shortly driving the enemy from Indian Ter-

ritory;" however, their efforts had faUed, and since then they had been 

"gradually losing ground •11 Watie contended that; t;he reversal was the re-

sult of the abandorup.ent of the Indians by their Southern allies, who had 

fled "at a time when our army was on the point of engaging in bat;tle with 

the chance of suc;.cess greatly in our favor." The citizens of Indian Ter-

ritory had been called together t;o deGide what; course of action they 

would follow, Watie said, and stated that their only salvation was in 

34 
nyet greater exertions ;for the preservat;;l.on of the Indian country." 

Condemning as folly any talk "that; the Confederate government has 

fai,led to protect us, and that therefore we are rele11sed from our treaty 

32Hathaway, "Brigadier General St;an~ Watie, Cqnfederate Guerrilla," 
p. 64; Stand Watie to Sarah Watie, November 12, 1863,.Dale and Litton, 
eds., Cherokee Cavaliers, pp. 144~145. 

33 
Ibid., p. 145. 

34 . 
Address of St;and.Watie to Grand Council Assembled, November 12, 

1863, Cherokee Nation Collection, Western History Collections, Univer­
sity of Oklahoma Library. 
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obligations, and can lay down our arms if we choose," Watie e:x;hprted the 

Indians to "put forth united action," for the 11 indiv~dual energy of pur-

pose and disinterested fidelity for the public gpod. 11 Watie declared 

that by abandoning the contest the Indians would be inviting the Federals 

to come and take possession of their country. In such a case the Indians 

would "reap their protection, and t;:he scorn i;ind contempt of an men loyal' 

to our cause.'' Me:i;-ely resorting to guerrilla warfare, Watie contended, 

would not allow the Indians to act in •!concert against an invading 

enemy., 11 He did not doubt the faith of the Confederacy, for the abandon­

ment of Indian Territory would be 11 the abandonment of so much of the 

Confederate States soil, 11 and he assured them that aid would be forth~ 

coming. Even if the promised aid should not arrive, Watie proposed, the 

Indians should carry on the war alone, and he expressed full confidence 

in their success. Declaring that the Indians had everything at stake, 

Watie asked what history would say: "Will it be a history which will 

ci;iuse your children to be ashamed, or will it be one which will cause 

their eyes to lighten with joyous pride?" Watie implored the Indians to 

unite against the Union to save their lands and homes. 35 

Also in November, 1863, Lieutenant General Kirby-Smith, the Con-

federate Trans-Mississippi connnander, considered reorgan:i,.zing Brigadier 

General Steele's Indian troops into two brigades. One would be commanded 

by Watie and the other by Cooper. However, Steele objected because 

Watie 1 s men were scattered ti'over the country in every direction." On 

November 18, 1863, Watie~s ·command was reinforced by the addit;i.on ·of two 

Creek regiments and t:he Chickasaw Battalion, A few days later Watie was 

35Ibid. 
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reported in Arkansas at Van Buren and Fprt Smith along with Cooper, Major 

General '.('homas C. Hindman, and Brigadier General John S. Marmaduke; the 

combined force numbered about 15,000 effective men. 36 

Soon the Federals were fearful that Watie would attempt a raid into 

Kansas. On November 28, 1863, he was reported at the North Fork of the 

Canadian River with 3,000 men and planning to raid Kansas with a force 

numbering from 500·~0 1,000 troops. The Northerners thought that Watie 

would move up the Neosho Valley to a point near the Catholic ~ission 

about twenty-;Eive miles south of Humboldt, Kansas, and continue north-

ward to Emporia, Kansas. Then he would turn southwestward, the reason~ 

ing continued, and return to the Cherokee Nation. Though the raid did 

not occur, citizens of Kansas were fearful that such an attack would be 

37 made, and the border area was in a state of alarm. 

On December 16, 1863, Watie, together with Colonel William p. Adair 

and Confederate guerrilla William C. Quantrill, attempted to attack Fort 

Gibson, but were forced to withdraw when the Federals moved out of the 

post to meet them. The next day Watie rode into Park Hill, plundered 

but did not destroy the home of George M, Murrell, and burned the slave 

cabins at Chief Ross's home, earlier left untouched when he burned Rose 

Cottage itself. Watie then moved to the Illinois River, in the Cherokee 

36Assistant Adjutant General s. s. Anderson to Steele, November 2, 
1863, Steele to Anderson, November 9, 1863, and Steele to Anderson, No~ 
vember 27, 1863, Official Records, Ser. i, Vol. XXII, Part 2, pp. 1055-
1056, 1065, 1078; Blunt to Schofield, November 24, 1865, ibid., Part 1, 
P• 790. 

37 Jonathan C. Burnett to Colonel Thomas Ewing, Jr., November 28, 
1863, ibid., Part 2, pp. 722~723. 
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Nation, to camp for the night.38 

The following morning, on December 18, Watie 1s men were engaged by 

a force of the Federal Third Indian Home Guard under the command of 

Captain Alexander C. Spilman. Before the exact location of the Con-

federates was determined, preliminary skirmishing occurred between two 

small parties of Southerners and Spilman 1 s command. Watie 1s force was 

formed in a heavily timbered ravine, and was dismounted. The Federals 

brought up a howitzer, but before it could be positioned, the Southerners 

opened fire. The Northerners replied with small arms fire, and as soon 

as the howitzer was brought into action, Watie 1 s men broke and fled. 

They retreated in confusion up the ravine before they regrouped about a 

quarter of a mile beyond the crest of the hill. The Northerners ad-

vanced and again the Confederates withdrew before the Federal attack and 

Spilman moved his men to higher ground where several log buildings would 

offer more protection. No sooner were the Federals in their new position 

than Watie attacked, but the Confederates were driven off a third time 

b · 11 f. 39 y arti ery ire. 

The Southerners withdrew to an adjoining hill and took cover behind 

rocks and trees. The long range firing lasted for about two hours; then 

the Federals faked a withdrawal. Watie's men came out from their cover, 

and advanced toward the Northerners, who were apparently withdrawing. 

Rallying his men, Spilman quickly brought the howitzer into action, re~ 

turning the Confederate fire. The Southerners held their ground 

38Demdnstraticm on Fort Gibson~ Indian Teirttory, December 16,-
1863, and Captain Alexander C. Spilman to Phillip!?, December 23, 1863, 
ibid., Part 1, pp. 779, 781. 

39 
Spilman to Phillips, December 23, 1863, ibid., pp. 781~782. 
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momentarily before turning and fleeing. Spilman's troops pursued the 

Confederates for nearly a mile before breaking off the engagement, with 

40 
Watie's men in complete route. 

Two days later, on December 20, Watie fought another brief skirmish, 

this time at Cane Hill, Arkansas. Watie had attacked a Federal force 

connnanded by Major John Foreman, but was driven off. Foreman continued 

to watch Watie's movements, but the Federals were not able to force the. 

Southerners to engage in another skirmish. Three days later, Watie 

passed through Cincinnati, Arkansas, with about 300 men. It was reported 

that Watie's men were to concentrate at Stand Watie 1 s Mill in the Chero-

kee Nation, west of Maysville, Arkansas, and then destroy Union property 

in the area. As Watie returned south through Maysville, he left behind 

several men to aid pro-Southern Indians in seeking safety further to the 

41 
south. 

The year 1863 was nearly over, and the South had suffered serious 

reversals. In the latter part of the year, Watie and a portion of his 

troops conducted several destitute Southern Cherokee families to refugee 

camps in northern Texas. Watie was also concerned over his family; 

Sarah had not been in good spirits since his last visit, and Charlotte, 

his youngest daughter, had a severe cough. Having lost one son while 

his family was exiled in Texas, Watie could not help but be concerned 

for the health of the other members of his family. Although Ninnie had 

40Ibid., P• 782. 

41 
Colonel M. La Rue Harrison to Brigadier General James Totten, 

December 21, 1863, Brigadier General John B. Sanborn to Totten, December 
25, 1863, and Sanborn to Totten; December 25, 1863, ibid., pp. 746, 751-
752. 
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recovered from illness, his wife and children were suffering from a lack 

42 
of meat and a shortage of clothing. 

Watie had good reason for pessimism as 1863 ended: the Federals 

were still in, firm control of the Cher9kee Nation regardless of his ef-

forts; organized military resistance on the part of the Confederacy was 

coming to an end; in its place Watie was relying more and more on the 

hit and run attacks of guerrilla warfare; as a result of Federal control 

of the Mississippi River, Indian rerritory was separated from the re-

mainder of the Confederacy and thus it became increasingly difficult for 

Watie to procure adequate provisions and arms for his men. Even Watie's 

personal health was beginning to show indications of weakening from.the 

rigors of campaigning, But if 1863 had been a year of decision for Watie 

the following year was to provide m<;>ments of greatness, f<;>r he would 

soon achieve fame as one of the most; successful Confederate experts on 

guerrilla warfare. 

42Debo, "Southern Refugees of the Cherokee Nation," Southwestern 
Historical Quarterly, Vol, XXXV, p. 259; Sarah Watie to Stand Watie, De­
cember 12, 1863, Dale and Litton, eds., Cherokee Cavaliers, p. 146. 



CHAPTER lX 

GVERRlLLA WARFARE 

By 1864 it was apparent to Watie that the Confederate Indians wo~ld 

bear the brunt of the fighting if Indian Territory was ever to be cleared 

of Federal invaderso The Federal Indians, who had been driven from their 

homes early in the war, returned in force under the protection of Federal 

troops, and as they did so, they ruthlessly drove the pro~Southern fami-

lies to seek safety in the refugee camps in southern Indian Territory and 

northern Texas. Watie's men were nea+ly destitute because of inadeq~ate 

supplies, and they had named their winter quarters for 1863-1864 Camp 

S . 1 tarvat1on. 

However, Watie did not remain inactive, but with increased daring 

and boldness, he conducted sorties into Federal occupied portions of 

Ind;i..an Territory. The Confederacy was also making an attempt to shake 

off its inactivity and renew offensive operations in Indian Territory. 

Early in January, 1864, Cooper, who was then a brigadier general, sug-

gested that by reorganizing the Indian troops into three brigades, they 

could be utilized more effectively, and their full 'fighting strength 

realized. Cooper wanted one brigade composed of Cherokees and whites 

and any other troops which might be raised; this brigade of Creeks and 

Seminoles would be connnapded by Colonel Daniel N. Mcintosh; the third 

1nale and Litton, eds., Cherokee Cavaliers, p. 148. 
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brigade, led by Colonel Tandy Walker, would be composed of Choctaws and 

Chickasaws. Boudinot, as the Cherokee Delegate to the Confederate House 

of Representatives, endorsed the plan and suggested that Watie be ap-

2 
pointed a brigadier general. 

In an attempt to isolate and harass the Federals holding Fort Smith 

and Fort Gibson, Brigadier General Samuel B. Maxey, who had replaced 

Brigadier General Williani. Steele as conunander of Southern forces in 

Indian Territory, ordered vario~s Confederate units to assume portions 

along routes over which the Federals might move. Watie's force, ordered 

to make its headquarters at Carriage Point in the Choctaw Nation, was to 

protect the Emigrant Road between Fort Gibson and Preston, Texas, and 

the Overland Road, which ran between Fort Smith and Preston. This was 

the limit, however, of offensive operations which the Southern leaders 

seemed willing to initiate at the time. To Watie this was not enough; 

3 
he wanted to lead 1,000 men on a daring raid into southwest Kansas. 

In the meantime, a council of all Confederate Indians was called to 

meet at Armstrong Academy nea~ Fort Washita in the Choctaw Nation on 

February 1, 1864. Watie, as principal chief of the Cherokees, appointed 

Captain John Spears as one of the official Cherokee delegates to attend 

the council. The purpose of the me~ting was the establishment of peace 

and friendship between the tribes and the renewal of pledges to support 

the Southern cause. The Indians also were to formulate plans for a raid 

2Brigadier General Douglas H. Cooper to Captain T. Mo Scott, Janu­
ary, 1864, Official Records, Ser~ i, Vol. XXXIV, Part 2, p. 859; Boudinot 
to President Jefferson Davis, January 4, 1864, iQid., Vol. LIII, p. 921. 

3 
Brigadier General s. B. Maxey to E. Kirby-Smith, January 15, 1864, 

and Colonel W. P. Adair to Maxey, February 5, 1864, ibid., Vol. XXXIV, 
Part 2, PP• 875, 945. 



into southern Kansas by moving up the Neosho River and attacking Hum-

boldt, Kansas. This maneuver, they hoped, would create a diversion 

4 
which would aid the Confederate forces south of the Arkansas River. 
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Maxey addressed the council and saluted the Indians as friends and 

brothers in a common struggle. He reassured them that he would do every-

thing within his power "for the hiippiness and welfare of your people, 

and to protect and restore them to their homes•" Max~'y declared that 

they should not retreat another step; they should advance and make the 

enemy withdraw~ IQLet us advance, and let 1 cadvance 1 be our watchword all 

along the line; we can do it; we must do it. 11 Promising more Southern 

white troops to help the Indians, Maxey stated that his purpose would be 

to drive the Federals along with their Indian allies, from the northern 

part of Indian Territory. He appealed to all those not involved in mil-

itary operations to return to their homes and raise crops, which were 

desperately needed. Ask~ng for the full cooperation of the Indians, 

Maxey stated that he would waste no time in placing his forces in opera~ 

tion, and expressed hope of winning the war during 1864~ In spite of 

its intent, Maxeyrs plea had very little effect in arousing aggressive 

. 5 spirit among the Indians. 

Watie's command was concentrated at Boggy Depot with other Southern 

troops, and supplies were in desperate need. However, the food that 

Watie had attempted to acquire for his men was being confiscated by other 

Confederate officerso Quantrill, who had become an outlaw in the eyes 

4Watie to Captain John Spears, January 29, 1864, Cherokee Nation 
Collection, Western History Collections, University of Oklahoma Library; 
Britton, The Union Indian Brigade .in the Civil War, p. 342. 

5 
Ibid., pp. 342-344. 
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of both Confederate and Union official$, was ordered arrested by Briga-

dier General Henry E. McCulloch. Maxey agreed to allow Southern troops 

to assist in his arrest, and Watie's conunand was given the task. 6 

Apparently the South momentarily considered abandoning all of 

Indian Territory to the Federals. Maxey cautioned that such a move 

would likely cause the pro~Southern Indians to abandon the Confederate 

cause and join the North. Watie moved his men to Preston, Texas, and 

the Confederacy was still unwilling to mount a serious offensive. The 

Federals, though, attempted to take advantage of the plight of the South, 

and during February, 1864, they launched a campaign designed to crush 

Confederate power in southern Indian Territory. Phillips led about 

1,000 men deep into the Choctaw Nation, penetrating to a point near the 

Red River. Adopting a scorched earth policy, the Northerners advanced 

more than 160 miles south of Fort Gibson, cutting a wide swath of pil-

lage and destruction which destroyed everything in their path which was 

of use to the Southerners. Phillips also distributed copies of Lincoln's 

Amnesty Proclamation, printed in the Indian languages, during the march, 

and at the termination of the campaign, the Federals were convinced that 

7 
the power of the Confederacy was broken. 

In February, 1864, President Davis attempted to bolster the sagging 

6 c. B. Johnson to Watie, January 27, 1864, "Letters To and From 
Stand Watie, 11 Vol. II, Cherokee Room, John Vaughan Library, Northeastern 
State College; First Lieutenant R. T. Thompson to Acting Assistant Adju­
tant General William Gallaher, February 5, 1864, and Henry E. McCulloch 
to Kirby-Smith, February 5, 1864, Official Records, Ser. i, Vol. XXXIV, 
Part 2, pp. 249, 945. 

7 
Maxey to Anderson, February 7, 1864, and Maxey to Kirby-Smith, 

February 8, 1864, ibid., Vol. LIII, pp. 964, 272; Hathaway, "Bl;'igadier 
General Stand Watie, Confederate Guerrilla," p. 69. 
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hopes of the Southern Indians. He reassured Watie and the other Southern 

Indians that their ideals were the same as those of the Confederacy, and 

he expressed concern over the allegations that the Confederacy was not 

fulfilling its promises to the Indians. Declaring that the complaints 

of the Indians would receive his 11 earnest consideration," he promised 

that the officials responsible for neglecting the Indians would be rep-

rimanded and that the South would hold t;hem "to rigid responsibility" 

for their actions. He stated that all "treaty stipulations between us 

shall be sacredly observed and carried into effect to the full extent of 

8 
my power as President of the Conf ederat;e States •11 

President Davis also separated Indian Territory from other Confed-

erate conunands. This move was in accordance with the wishes of the 

Indians, and it was hoped that such action would alleviate many of their 

complaints. The Confederacy promised additional men to protect Indian 

Territory, but it urged the Indians to raise more troops so that an en~ 

tire division could be created and a major general given conunand of the 

areao Expressing his best wishes for t;he "health and happiness of your~ 

selves and to the people of the Six Nations," Davis pledged that the 

soldiers and citizens of Indian Territory would rece:Lve the "same tender 

care and solicitude as are the soldiers and people of all the Confederate 

9 
States. 11 

In compliance with Davis's promises, Maxey inunediately placed Cooper 

in overall conunand of the troops, and impressed on the Indians their im= 

portance to the Confeder9-oy. After discusi;;ions with Boudinot in 

8 
Davis to Watie and others, February 22, 1864, Official Records, 

Sero i, Vol. XXXIV, Part 3, PP• 824-825. 

9 
Ibid., p. 825. 
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Richmond, Confederate Secretary of War J runes A. Seddon suggested to 

Davis that once additional Indian troops were raised, Watie should be 

appointed a brigadier general and Cooper a major general. Maxey, though, 

who appreciated the ability of Watie to conduct guerrilla operations, 

urged that Watie 1 s command be separated from the army and allowed to 

10 
operate in the rear of the Federals~ 

On March 20, 1864, Watie reported on Federal activity around Fort 

Smith. A scout of three men penetrated the Union defenses and reported 

that the Northernersi horses and other domestic animals were in poor 

condition, and foraging parties were se~t out as far as Pleasant Bluff. 

Watie informed Confederate leaders that the Union strength at Fort Smith 

was about 3,000 men, with some encamped along the Poteau River. A 

Federal supply wagon train from Fort Scott was expected at any moment, 

he determined, and fortifications were being constructed on Massard 

Prairie southeast of the town of Fort Smith. 11 

Watie's troops continued to be plagued by a shortage of supplies 

and arms, largely because other Confederate officers seized material 

destined for them. His men were armed with a mixture of old Enfield, 

Mississippi, and Texas rifles, together with double~barreled guns and 

sporting rifles. The best weapons Watie's men had were those they had 

captured from the Federals. If his troops had been properly armed, one 

inspecting officer reported, they would have been an extremely effective 

lOMaxey Circular, June 1, 1864, ibid., Part 4, pp. 639-641; Maxey 
to Kirby-Smith, March 16, 1864, ibid., Part 2, p. 1050; J. A& Seddon to 
Davis, February 22, 1864, ibid., Vol. LIII, p. 968 o 

11 
Watie to Captain T. ~. Heiston, March 20, 1864, ibid., Vol. XXXIV, 

Part 2, ppo 1071-1072. 
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offensive force. 
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Late in March, 1864, Cooper consulted with Watie to "ascertain what 

force can be equipped for a raid in the direction of Gibson and rear of 

Van Buren." Such a move would undoubtedly have been of benefit to the 

Confederate forces in Arkansas, but Cooper pointed out that it would 

leave the routes between Fort Smith and Texas unguarded. Watie was 

nevertheless ordered to concentrate his forces at Boggy Depot in prepara-

tion for an attack on Fort Smith. Soon Watie was cormnanqed to work his 

13 
way toward Fort Gibson and Fort Smi~h. 

In the meantime, Colonel William P. Adair, in cormnand of some of 

Watie 1 s scouts, crossed the Arkansas River south of Fort Gibson and con• 

ducted a raid through the Cherokee Nation. Adair penetrated as far north 

as Maysville and Cowskin Prairie, creating great excitement among the 

Northern Indians and the citizens of southern Kansas, southwest Missouri, 

and northern Arkansas. Adair also attempted to contact Quantrill and 

"come to some agreement with him," but Adair was unable to overtake the 

outlaw. Adair advised Watie of the presence of several pro-Southern 

14 
Indians who wanted to flee south. · 

Withdrawing from the Cherokee Nation, Watie moved his men to the 

Middle Boggy River in the Choctaw Nation and encamped. He did not ap~ 

prove of the actions of Quantrill and was opposed to his ruthless tac~ 

tics. Watie declared that he had "always been opposed to killing women 

12captain JQ J. Du Bose to Maxey, February 25, 1864, ibid., P• 998. 

13 
Cooper to Captain T. M. Scott, ibid., p. 1073; Maxey to Brigadier 

General W. R. Boggs, April 7, 1864, and Maxey to Boggs, April 14, 1864, 
ibid., Part 3, pp. 746, 765. 

14 . 
Colonel W. P. Adair to Watie, April 17, 1864, ibid., ppo 776-777, 

Bri,tton, ~Union Indian Brigade 1£. the Civil W:ar, p. 395. 
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and children although our enemies have done it," and that he would con-

tinue to protest against such actions. Stating that he was sorry that he 

would be accused of unnecessary killings, Wati,e considered that it was 

his doom: "my conduct is always considered wrong no charity was ever 

shown me yet l have l;Lved through it.11 However, Wath expressed the 

hope as he introspective1y viewed, himself still further "that justice and 

right will be meeted out to me some day," and he added, "although these 

things have been heaped upon me and woµld be supposed that I became 

hardened and would be reckless but it still hurts my feelings." 11 1 am 

not a murderer," he declared. Examining himself thoroughly, Watie be .. 

lieved that he would "always come to the conclusion that I am not such a 

bad man at least as I am looked upon.11 "God, will give me justice if I am 

to be punished for the opinions of other people,'' he conjectured, nwho 

do not know my heart l can[ 1 ]t; help it.11 Wat;ie contended that his great-

est crime in the world was· blunder, aqd that if 11 1 commit an error I do 

it w;i.thout bad intention." Calling on God to judge him, he stated that 

"he knows that I love my friends, and above all other things my wife and 

h " ld h • • f h ld • h d 0 I 15 c ~ ren, t e opinion o t e wor to contrary notwit stan ing.1 

On April 29, 1864, Chat B. Mitchell and R. W. Johnson, both members 

of the Confederate Senate, urged that P:t;"esident Davis appoint Watie a 

brigadier general. Praising Watiei~ accomplishments as a mi,li,tary lead-

er, they argued that "nothing could be more encouraging to our faithful 

Indian allies a 11 On May 6, Secretary of War Seddon recommended Watie 1 s 

promotion to Davis, and on the same day Davis sent his nomination to the 

15stand Watie to Sarah C. Watie, April 24, 1864, Dale and Litton, 
eds., Cherokee Cavaliers, pp. 155-157. 
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Confederate Senate for confirmation. However, because of the adjourn-

ment of the Confederate Congress, Watie's new rank was not confirmed 

until May 10, but his date of rank was May 6. Thus, Watie became the 

only Indian to achieve a general's rank during the Civil War, and it gave 

him the command of the First Indian Brigade. 16 

Watie's ability as a guerrilla fighter was highly respected by 

Federal authorities, and fear of his lightning raids caused much concern 

for Northern citizens in Arkansas, Kansas, and Missouri. Dividing his 

command into numerous groups, he continued to harass the Federals 

throughout the spring of 1864. On May 1 he was reported on the Grand 

River near Gilstrap's Ferry preparing to attack a supply wagon train on 

its way from Fort Scott. On the next day he was reported to be west of 

Bentonville, Arkansas, with 325 men. A portion of his command skirmished 

with a force of Missouri State Militia on May 6. Apparently he was on a 

reconnaissance mission, and wanted to visit some old friends who were 

still in the area. Doubtless Federal authorities were relieved when he 

17 
ordered his men to withdraw across the Grand River and move south. 

During the spring of 1864, Watie's family remained in safety in 

north Texas. Sarah was not at all happy with the unfamiliar surround~ 

ings, and she had been ill mµch of the season. Stating that she was not 

16chat B. Mitchell and R. w. Johnson to Davis, Stand Watie Service 
Record, Adjutant General's Office, National Archives; "Journal of the 
Congress of the Con:J;ederate States of America," United States Senate, 
58th Congress, 2nd Session, Senate Document 234, Vol. IV, p. 26; Boudinot 
to Watie, May 7, 1864, Da1e and Litton, eds.:-Cherokee Cavaliers, P• 57; 
Hathaway, "Brigadier General Stand Watie, Confederate Guerrilla," p. 70. 

17 . 
Major Milton Burch to Sanborn, May 1, 1864, Harrison to Sanborn, 

May 2, 1864, Sanborn to Major o. D. Green, May 7, 1864, Sanborn to 
Colonel William R. Judson, Official Records, Ser. i, Vol. XXXIV, Part 3, 
PP• 382, 403, 502, 499. 
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well enough "to .do··any thing .in the way of making a living," she hoped 

that she would be able "to save my self alive for my children." Saladin 

who had served throughout the war with his father had also been sick 

during the spring, but was now recovered and Watie declared "ready as he 

says for a fight." Showing concern for his wife's illness, Watie ex­

pressed hope that the war would end in 1864. 18 

In late May, Watie led a force to Scullyville in the Choctaw Nation, 

but the Federal Indians had abandoned the town a few days previously. 

However, they had constructed fortifications in the area and prepared em-

placements for two pieces of artillery. Wati.e 1 s ttoops not only de-

stroyed as many of the fortifications as possible, but burned all the 

houses in which port holes had been cut. He indicated that it would not 

be. long before a major offensive would be und:ertaken north of the 

19 
ArkanSa$ River. 

During the early summer of 1864, Sarah continued to be in poor 

health and depressed. She wished that Watie would leave the service and 

return to his family. Tired of all the confusion amang the Cherokees, 

she declared that she had no desire to live except for her two daughters, 

Ninnie and Charlotte, and wished that she could "live a short time in 

peace just to see how it would be." Continuing, Sarah stated, "I would 

like to feel free once in life again and feel no dread of war or any 

other trouble." Hoping to move someplace where the children could attend 

school, she indicated that the children were too young to be sent away 

18sarah C. Watie to Stand Watie, May 27, 1864, and Stand Watie to 
Sarah Watie, June 1, 1864, Dale and Litton, eds., Cherokee Cavaliers, 
PP• 163-165. 

19Ibid. 
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to school. Complaining that Confederate money was practically worthless, 

she contended that it was all she could do to keep the children in 

20 
clothes. 

On June 10, 1864, Watie received word that the Arkansas River was 

rising rapidly, and would be used to resupply Fort Gibson, so he took to 

the field with a force which included three pieces of artillery. At the 

same time, the Federal steam ferryboat J. R. Williams left Fort Smith - .... 
bound for Fort Gibson with a cargo of coxnmissary and quartermaster sup .. 

plies, and some sutler goods. Watie knew that a rise in the river would 

allow the boat to cross the fal~s of the stream at Webbers Falls. Watie 

planned to ambush the boat at Pleasant Bluff about five miles below the 

mouth of the Canadian River. 21 

The l• !• Williams had an escort of only twenty-six men, and no 

Federal cavalry force was sent ahead to reconnoiter., Nevertheless, as 

the boat steamed upriver, the Federal escort was on the alert for a pos-

sible ambush. At Pleasant Bluff the boat would be forced to pass near 

the southern bank, and it was there that Watie placed his artillery. 

They were hidden behind clusters of bushes on a bluff overlooking the 

river, about 100 yards apart. On June 15, when the Jo R. Williams 

steamed past the bluff and was opposite the center cannon, the Confeder~ 

ates opened fire with both artillery and muskets. Several artillery hits 

were scored on the boat, and the Federals were taken completely by sur­
. 22 prise. 

20sarah C. Watie ·i:o Stand Watie, June 12, 1864, ibid., PP• 172-173. 

21Brigadier General Stand Watie to Cooper, June 27, 1864, Official 
Records, Ser. i, Vol. XXXlV, Part 1, p. 1013; Britton, The~ Indian 
Brigade in the Civil ~' p. 401. 

22Ibid., PP• 401-403. 
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The first cannon shot struck the boat above the water--line and did 

little damage, and the Federal escort sought shelter behind the barrels 

and boxes on deck and returned the fire. After Watie's artillery found 

the range, practically every one of their shots struck the !• !• 

Williams so that the boat was unmanageable. One shot hit the smoke 

stack, another the p;i.l9t house, and a third struck the boiler ot some 

steam pipes. The third shot·~with a deafening sound~~released a large 

volume of steam which so covered the boat that the Northerners could see 

23 
nothing, and the boat drifted helplessly. 

The Federals were unable to maintain their fire in the confusion, 

and the engineer reported that the vessel was disabled. The pilot could 

not control the boat, and ran it aground on a sand bar on the north side 

of the river opposite the Confederates. Finding that the J. ,g,. Williams 

could neither move up nor down the river, the Federal escort fled the 

stranded vessel, and assumed a defensive position on the sand bar. At 

the same time, the crew of the boat deserted to the Confederates, much 

to the horror of the Northern troops. With no prospect of protecting the 

vessel and with only twenty men not killed or wounded, the Federal es-

24 
cort withdrew toward Fort Smith, leiiving the boat to the Confederates. 

Elated with their victory, Watie's men swarmed over the boat, loot-

ing its precious cargo. On board the Southerners found 150 barrels of 

flour, 16,000 pounds of bacon, and a large quantity of store goods. The 

destitute Indians rushed to gather anything which might be of use to them 

23Ibid., pp. 403-404; Watie to Cooper, Jµne 27, 1864, Official 
Records, Ser. i, Vol. XXXIV, Part 1, p. 1013. 

24 . 
Ibid.; Britton, The Union Indian ~rigade lE, ~Civil~' pp. 

404a405. 
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or their families, and in a melee Watie lost complete control of his 

men. His Creek and Seminole troops gathered what goods they cou'ld carry 

and innnediat;ely started for home with their booty. As a result, Watie 

had only a few men left with which to take advantage of his victory. 25 

Nevertheless, Watie began to carry what he could to his position on 

the bluffs. Cooper wanted to send aid, but had few transport wagons 

available. Nevertheless, he did dispatch the Chickasaw Regiment to re= 

inforce Watie. Cooper also sent a cavalry detachment to intercept any 

Union force moving up from Fort Smith, and two experienced riverboat men 

to attempt to refloat the vessel. Cooper declared the boat would be 

destroyed only upon the most urgent necessity. 26 

During the night the river continued to rise and washed off several 

barrels of flour which had been carried from the vessel and placed on 

the shore of the river. The roads were in wretched condition, and Watie 

indicated that unless he could get wagons, he would be compelled to leave 

the captured supplies behind. The Federal escort of the Jo R. Williams 

reached Fort Smith on June 16 and informed Union authorities of Watie vs 

att.ack. Innnediately the Federals sent 700 men and a section of artillery 

led by Colonels. Jo Crawford to retake the boat. Learning of the ap~ 

proach of the strong Federal force, Watie set fire to the remaining 

stores •.. Because most of his men ha.cl left the scene with their plunder, 

Wat~e could not defend the captured supplies, and he withdrew about 

twelve miles to the southwest, where he met the Chickasaws who had been 

sent as reinforcements. Watie left 150 men at an iron bridge on San 

25 
Watie to Cooper, June 17, 1864, Official Records, Ser. i, Vol. 

XXXIV, Part 1., p. 1012 ~ 

26 0 

Ibid.; Report of Cooper, ibid., PP• 1011-1012. 
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Bois Creek in the Choctaw Nation to fight a delaying action against the 

27 
Northerners while the remainder of the Confederates escaped. 

When Colonel Crawford arrived on the scene, he discovered that the 

Confederates had withdrawn. Taking up the pursuit, the Federals en-

countered the small group of Southerners at San Boi~ Creek. Not knowing 

the strength of the Confederates, Crawford formed him men into a line and 

began shelling the Confederate position. After a short engagement, the 

Confederates withdrew, but the Federals declined to pursue Watie any 

further, as their force was infantry and Watie's men were mounted, and 

28 ' 
Crawford reasoned that his chances of overtaking Watie were hopeless. 

Watie encamped on Limestone Prairie, in the Cherokee Nation, where 

he called for a meeting of the various Cherokee military connnands to 

convene on June 27, 1864. When the gathering was called to order, Watie 

was unanimously elected president and the object of the meeting was ex-

plained to the assembled Cherokees. Watie wanted the troop units to 

consider the prospect of reenlisting in the Confederate Army for the 

duration of the war, and it was resolved that Watie appoint a committee 

of five to draft such a resolution and present it to the meeting at 6~00 

p.m. That evening the Cherokees held a dress parade, and the resolution 

was presented to the assembled men. It stated: "Whereas the final is= 

sue of the present struggle between the North and South involves the 

destiny of the Indian Territory alike with that of the Confederate 

States~ Therefore, Resolved, that we, the Cherokee Troops, Cs S. Army, 

27watie to Cooper, June 17, 1864, and Watie to Cooper, June 27, 
1864, ibid., pp. 1012-1013; Britton, The Union Indian Brigade .!E, ~ -- ' Civil ~' p. 405. 

28 0 Ibid., p. 407. 
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do unanimously re ... enlist as soldiers for the war, be it long or short.11 

29 
The proposal was adopted unanimously by the Cherokees. 

Brigadier General Maxey praised the action of Watie's men. In cal-

ling the attention of the citizens of Indian Territory to the resolu-

tion, he declared, "'Watie and his men! have been from the very begin-

ning as true as the needle to the north star." Stating that because of 

their valor, they had made their names widely known, Maxey described 

their resolution as adding "fresh luster to their renown," and he called 

30 
on the other Southern Indians to follow their example. 

As the sunnner of 1864 continued, Sarah, tired of all the talk and 

dissatisfaction, indicated again to Watie she hoped that he would resign 

from the military service and return home. Still ill and dissatisfied 

with living ameng the refugees, she declared, "I can find more friends 

among strangers right now than I can among my owne [sic] people." Sarah 

restated her wish that she "could have peace once more but I fear that is 

not for me to see in my day." El;i.as C. Boudinot returned from the Con-

federate House of Representatives in Richmond dur:i,ng this period and 

brought with him an off:i.c::i.al cop>' of Watie 's commission as a brigadier 

31 general. 

Early in June, 1864, the Southern Cherokee National Council con= 

vened at Camp Brasiel in the Confederate occupied area of Indian Terri-

tory and filled the various offices of the Southern Cherokee government. 

29aesolution of the Cherokee Council, June 27, 1864, Official 
Records, Ser. i, Vol. XLI, Part 2, p. 1013. 

30 
Statement of Maxey, June 28, 1864, ibid., pp. 1012=1013. 

31sarah c. Watie to Stand Watie, July 2, 1864, and Elias C. Boudi= 
not to Watie, July 13, 1864, Dale and Litton, eds., Cherokee Cavaliers, 
pp. 178-179, 181. 
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Watie as principal chief was notified of the appointments, and on July 

11, 1864, he addressed the assembly. Reviewing the military situation 

since the beginning of the conflict, Watie declared that the "campaign 

upon the whole, however, proved disastrous to the common cause.11 Allud-

ing to the poverty of the refugee Cherokees, he described the various 

steps undertaken by the Confederacy to relieve their. suffering, and was 

gratified that their condition had improved. Explaining the confusion 

among the Cherokees, Watie recommended to the National Council that it 

would not be able to "exercise the requi~ite deliberation, except upon 

·' 
the most material subjects of legislative action affecting the immediate 

welfare of your constituents·" Watie appointed Tusy Guess, John Cham .. 

bers, and William Arnold to attend a g~neral meeting of Indians to be 

held at Choteau~s Trading House in the Seminole Nation on July 20, 
I 

1864. He also offered optimism that the military outlook for the Con-

federacy was appearing brighte:i;-: "with the blessing of Providence upon 

the valor of our troops, our people may ere long return to their country 

and homes in peace." Characterizing the Federals as failing to 11 show a 

bold and progressive front," and praising the Southern le.aders as having 

no equal on this earth, Watie declared, "we may securely expect a final 

triumph; and to this glorious result it is our privilege to conduce by a 

faithful and determined discharge of duty here in council and in the 

field •1132 
·'• ··~ 

Guided by Watie, the Southern Cherokee National Council passed a 

series of laws and resolutions needed for t;.he conduct of the war and the 

32 
Address of Watie to the Cherokee National Council, July 11, 1864, 

Official Records, Ser. i, Vol. XLI, Part 2, pp. 1046 ... 1048; B. W, Alberty 
to Wat:i.e, July 11, 1864, Indian Archives Division, Oklahoma Historical 
Society~ 



230 

general welfare of the Cherokee people. On July 11, Watie signed a law 

stating that "all male citizens of the Cherokee Nation, not laboring 

under permanent physical disability between the ages of seventeen and 

forty-five years are hereby considered to be in the military service of 

the Confederate States and subject to serve in the Army of the Indian 

Territory" for the duration of the war. Any person failing to report to 

the commanding general of the First Indian Brigade for service by August 

1, 1864, would be "liable to arrest an<;! impressment into the service •11 

Anyone claiming exemption because of a physical disability had to "be 

generally known as thus disabled, or obtain a ce.rtificate from at least 

two Surgeons or Ast. Surgeons serving in the Army of Indian Territory." 

The act was amended, raising the age limit from forty~five to fifty, and 

d d . ff b w . 33 was or ere into e ect y atie., 

On July 19, 1864, Watie signed a resolution expressing dissatis-

faction with the actions of J~ L. Martin as distributing agent of the 

Cherokee relief program. Martin was removed from his office, and Maxey 

was requested to approve the action and appoint a replacement. With 

Martin forbidden from carrying on any trade or speculation for profit in 

the Cherokee Nation, a committee of five was appointed to make a full 

settlement with him on aJl matters connected with his duties. All monies 

paid to Martin were to be turned over to the Southern Cherokee National 

34 
Treasury, and a full report was to be submitted to Watie. 

With reference to public schools, the meeting passed a law on July 

20, approved by Watie, establishing five additional schools wherever 

33 
An Act to Increase the Military Force in Indian Territory, July 

11, 1864, ibid. 

34 
Act of the Cherokee National Council, July 19, 1864, ibid. 
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twenty-five Cherokee children could be gathered. The teachers were to 

be paid $100 per month, and the Superintendent of Public Schools was to 

hire the new teachers, with preference given to Cherokees. At the close 

/ 
of each five-month term, a report on the condition of the schools and 

the number of students was-to be presented to the principal chief. The 

salary of the teachers and the expenses of school books were to be paid 

35 
out of the general school fund of t;he Cherokees. 

Because of the Cherokee treaty with the Confederacy, Watie and the 

second principal chief were authorized by a resolution on July 20 to ap-

point a Board of Commissioners to satisfy claims of Cherokees for proper-

ty lost because of the Federal invasion of Indian Territory. Two days 

later Watie signed a law providing payment to J. B. Aiken for his duties 

as Acting Assistant Commissary for Confederate refugee Cherokees. Watie 

next approved of a law which attempted to end the legal confusion among 

the Cherokees resulting from the war. Any judge of the Cherokee Nation 

was authorized to handle cases without reference to any circuit or dis-

trict. Attachments were provided for, and sheriffs of the Cherokee Na-

36 
tion were empowered to enforce the attachment law. 

On July 23, 1864, Watie vetoed an 11Act in Relation to Election of 

Co:mmissioner for Feeding Indigent Cherokees •11 It called for the election 

of an official to handle the feeding of refugee Cherokees. Watie re~ 

jected it because he believed that the National Council was "not per-

mitted by the principles of the Constitution to interfere with, amend, 

35 An Act in Relation to Public Schools, JuLy 20, 1864, ibid. 

36 
An Act for the Purpose There;i.n Named, July 20, 1864, Act of the 

Cherokee National Council, July 22, 1864, An Act Amending the Attachment 
Law, July 23, 1864, ibid. 
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alter, or repeal any portion of the Constitution which Constitutions 

included all ordinances passed by the people in General Convention for 

the purpose of organizing and starting the Govt •11 Another law was passed 

excusing the Caddoes and Seminoles from paying the Cherokee share of the 

expenses of the delegates of Indian Territory sent to Richmond. As the 

Cherokees had not paid any 'portion of the expenses at the time for the 

delegates, $750 was appropriated to reimburse the Cree~s, who had paid 

37 
the full cost of the delegates. 

A measure appropriating $40,000 for the feeding of indigent Chero~ 

kees was signed by Watie on July 23. The money was assigned to the 

Connnissioner for Feeding Indigent Cherokees and was to be, used at his 

discretion in case of emergency to secure the comfort and supply the 

wants of the refugees. The connnissioner, however, was required to main= 

tain an accurate account of all expenditures, and make quarterly reports 

to the Southern Cherokee National Treasurer. Thus Watie continued to 

serve the Southern Cherokee Nci.tion as both a civil and military leader 

d ' h 38 uring t e war. 

During the Southern Cherokee National Council meeting, Watie had 

sent s. G. McLendon and Jo L. Martin to bring across the Mississippi 

River from the South medicines, cotton cards, and other supplies needed 

by the refugee Cherokees. Previously Reverend E. L. Compere and Thomas 

F. Anderson were sent east of the Mississippi River to secure the needed 

items. It was necessary to ferry these supplies across the river, and 

37 
An Act in Relation to Election of Connnissioners for Feeding In~ 

digent Indians, July 22, 1864, Act of the Cherokee National Council, 
ibid. 

38 ·. 
An Act Making an Appropriation, July 23, 1864, ibid. 
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freight them to Indian Territory, a task which McLendon and Martin found 

impossible to accomplish because they were unable to secure the necessary 

. . 39 
transportation. 

The time was at hand for Watie to turn his attention to pressing 

military matters. On July 28, 1864, Cooper ordered him to send 200 

"picked men, under dashing officers" northward across the Arkansas River 

to attack and burn a camp of ;Federals who were cutting hay and pasturing 

stock on Blackburn's Prairie in the Cherokee Nation. While the assault 

on the Federal hay-gathering expedition was being carried out, Watie and 

other Southern troops were to make a diversionary attack on Fort Smith. 

On July 29, when Watie reached Scullyville, in the Choctaw Nation, he 

discovered that the Arkansas River was too deep to cross. Colonels 

William P. Adair and James M. Bell were ordered to join Watie's connnand 

at Scullyville. On the night of July 30, the entire Confederate force, 

with the exception of a small unit, joined Watie and camped on Scully= 

ville Prairie. The following morning the march began. Watie and Colonel 

Simpson N. Folsom 1 s men advanced under Cooper's personal connnand on the 

Fort Smith Road. Watie was sent forward to drive in the Federal pickets 

located on Negro Hill and the Line Road, while the remainder of the 

Confederates took a position overlooking the open field north of Fort 

Smith. Executing his orders with "his accustomed gallantry and prompt= 

ness, 11 Watie sent Bell on the Fort Smith Road and Adair to the left on 

the Line Road. Watie 1 s men not only routed the Federal pickets, but 

chased them all the way to their entrenchments near Fort Smith, and then 

39s. G. McLendon to Watie, August 10, 1864, Dale and Litton, eds., 
Cherokee Cavaliers, p. 183. 
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at,e the dinner prepared by the Federals jµst ;before they fled. 

The Federals rallied their men, and a sharp skirmish occurred on 
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the Fort Smith Road. Watie and Adair moved to a position near the fork 

of the road at Mill Creek near Gum Springs, and &oon the Northerners be-

gan advancing on their location. Captain John T. }fumphreys with a light 

battery of artillery and Colonel Folsom were sent to reinforce Watie, and 

soon afterward Brigadier General Richard M, G.ano of Texas arrived with 

a unit of men. The artillery opened fire on the advancing Federals, and 

the Confederates moved forward. The Northerners withdrew to their for-

tifications on Negro Hill, and an artillery duel followed which forced 

the Southerners to retreat. A laJ;ge am0unt o.f Federal commissary stores, 

nevertheless, were destroyed by the Confedera~es. 41 

On July 31, 1864, Watie withdrew toward Saullyville, but Cooper had 

reason to believe that the Federals were abandoning the field. To de-

termine if this was true, Watie was dispatched to Poteau Bottom and Gano 

to Massard Prairie. Such was not the case, and the Confederates con-

tinued their retreat with Watie going to San Bois Creek. He received 

the admiration of Cooper for his conduct during the expedition.,, Saladin 

was praised for his bravery and good conduct, and on August 13 he was 

0 d w 0 ' .d d 42 appointe atie s ai e- e-camp. 

On August 18, 1864, Watie presented Maxey with a plan for a major 

raid into the Union held area of Indian Territory. While the plan was 

40 . 
Cooper to Captain T. M. Scott, August 10, 1864, Official Records, 

Ser. i, Vol. XLI, Part 1, PP• 32~33. 

41 b 0 d 33 34 I :i.. •' pp• - • 

42Ibid., pp. 35-36; Stand Watie Service Record, Adjutant General's 
Office, National Archives. 
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being considered, Watie, with about 500 men, fought a brief skirmish 

with the Federals on Gunter's Prairie on the north side of the Arkansas 

River on August 24, 1864, and burned a quantity of hay. The Confederates 

also captured fourteen prisoners and 150 hors.es and mules. In the mean-

time Watie 1 s request for a raid was forwarded, to Kirby-Smith by Maxey, 

who suggested that it would be a good offensive operation. Kirby~Smith 

agreed to the proposal and directed that it be conducted to coincide with 

Major General Sterling Price's invasion of Missouri. 43 

Watie now had permission to conduct his proposed raid, but before 

he mounted the offensive, he complained that his men had campaigned re-

cently in the area of Fort Smith and as a res'.ult his horses ''were not in 

condition to do much service." As a result of the exhausted condition 

of his men and horses, he was allowed additionc~l fresh troops from Gano 1 s 

Texas brigade. On September 12, Watie and Gano conferred on the pro~ 

posed expedition, and on the following day Watie joined Gano at Camp 

Pike in the Choctaw Nation to make their plans. The two officers de= 

cided that; each was to command his own troops,, but were to 11 act together 

0 44 
and harmoniously." 

On September 14, the force marched to Prairie Springs in the Creek 

Nation. Ganofs force consisted of 1,200 men and six pieces of artillery, 

while Watie's command amounted to 200 ~en of the First Cherokee Regiment 

under Lieutenant Colonel Ce N~ Vann; 150 members of the Second Cherokee 
I. 

Regiment commanded by' Major John Vann; 125 men of the First Creek 

43Maxey to Anderson, September 3, 1864, Of~icial Records, Ser. i, 
Vol. XLl, Part 1, p. 279; Maxey to Kirby-Smith, August 18, 1864, and 
Boggs to Maxey, August 25, 1864, ibid., Part 2, pp. 1072, 1082. 

44 
Watie to Captain T. B. Heiston, Octobe~ 3, 1864, ibid., Part 1, 

PP• 784-785. 
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Regiment led by Lieutenant Colonel Saim,1el Chekote; the Second Creek Regi~ 

ment with 200 men conunanded by Colonel Timothy Barnett;, and 130 Seminoles 

led by Colonel John Jumper. The total number of Cherokee troops in-

45 
volved numbered more than 2,000 men. 

With Watie's brigade in the advance, the, Southerners began their 
I 

march. Major Vann was placed on the right f11ank with orders to se:nd· -out 

scouts in search of the Federals. None were located on the south side 

of the Arkansas River, and when Vann crossed to the north bank, only one 

loyal Creek was discovered, and he fled before the Confederate advance. 

That night Watie camped on Camp Pleasant on the Blue River about four 

miles below Chosky. On September 16, the next day, he crossed the 

Verdigris River at Sand Town, and about noon a force of Federals were 

discovered gathering hay on the road to Fort Scott, about twelve or fif~ 

teen miles above Fort Gibson. The Northerners were members of the First 

Kansas Colored Infantry and a detachment of the Second Kansas Cavalry, 

and numbered 125 men. Watie sent the First Cherokee Regiment and the 

Thirteenth Texas Regiment to the right, with instructions to maintain a 

position in the rear of the enemy to prevent their escape. '·ifne Confed-

erates then opened fire on the Federals, who fled to a ravine in the 

rear of their camp. Gano 1 s command occupied a position directly in 

front of the enemy, and Watie's men were on the left flank. The Feder~ 

als were completely surrounded. The Confederates made three charges on 

the Union position, and after about thirty minutes the Federals were 

overwhelmed. Most of the Northerners were dismounted, but a portion of 

their cavalry attempted to make a dash to safety. Out of the ~ixty=five 

45 . 
Ibid., P• 785. 
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men who attempted to break t.hrough the surrounding Confederates, only 

four made it to safety, and when the Southerners overran the Federal 

position, all the blacks were killed and most of the whites captured. 

The Confederates also burned about 1,000 tons of hay, along with the 

. h' d 46 mowing mac ines an wagons. 

From the Federal prisoners, Watie learned of the expected arrival 

of a supply wagon train from Fort Scott. As the capture of the wagon 

train was the principal object of Watie's raid, daily scouts were sent 

out. Major Vann, dispatched up the Fort Scott;.Road, encountered a small 

group of Federal pickets. When the firing started, Watie thousht that 

the wagon train had been found and immediately sent reinforcements to 

Vann; the wagon train was not located, so Watie's men camped for the 
~' .. 

night. On September 17, some of Ganois men attempted to destroy the 

Federal hay at Hickey's place, but they became involved in a skirmish 

with Federal troops and withdrew. The Confederates camped that night on 

47 
Wolf Creek. 

Forewarned of Watie 9 s activities in the area, Major Henry Hopkins, 

the commander of the Federal supply wagon train, was ordered by Colonel 

Stephen H. Wattles to hurry to Cabin Creek in the Cherokee Nation and 

await reinforcements. Hopkins with his force of 300 men plus the wagon 

train rapidly moved to the designated point, and arrived there on the 

morning of September 18, 1864. Meantime, Major John A. Foreman with six 

companies of cavalry and two howitzers had been dispatched to reinforce 

46 . 
Ibid.; Report of Captain Edgar A. Barker, September 20, 1864, 

ibid., PP• 771~772. 

47 . . Watie to Heiston, October 3, 1864, ibid., p. 786. 
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H k . 48 op ins. 

During that same morning, the Confederates learned of the Federal 

position at Cabin Creek, and Gano with 400 men and two pieces of artil-

lery was sent to investigate. About 3:00 in the afternoon, Gano in-

formed Watie that the Federal supply train was indeed at Cabin Creek, and 

he requested that Watie bring up the remainder of the Southern force as 

quickly as possible. Watie arrived on the scene shortly after midnight, 

and after consulting with Gano, they decided to attack the enemy at 

49 
onceo 

Hopkins had learned of the approach of a large Confederate force 

and sent scouts forward to determine the truth of the reports. The 

scouts informed Hopkins of the advance of the Southerners, and he im= 

mediately corralled the wagons and pref'Ja'.red his defense. The Federals 

occupied the home of Joseph L. Martin, and st;rongly fortified the po= 

sition with heavy timber set upright in the ground. To the right of the 

house, Hopkins placed long ricks of hay running parallel with each other 

and the creek. The majority of the wagons were to the right of the hay 

50 
ricks and extended all the way to the creek. 

The Confederates formed their line of battle, with Gano on the 

right, Watie on the left flank, and the artillery in the center of the 

line. The Southerners were on the elevated portion of the prairie, and 

a bright moon was behind them. Thus the Confederates were clearly ex= 

posed to the Federals, who were at the bottom of the rise. About 3g00 

48 
Colonel Co R. Jennings to Captain George Hampton, September 22, 

1864, ibid., p. 773. 

49 
Watie to H~iston, October 3, 1864, ibid., p. 786. 

50 . 
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in the morning on September 19, 1864, rifle fire was exchanged between' 

Confederates and Federal skirmishers on the right flank, and soon fight= 

ing spread along the entire front. Watie found it difficult to deter-

mine the exact Union position in the darkness, and for a considerable 

length of time the firing was heavy and incessant. As the Confederates 

') advanced, Watie 1 s men drove the Federals from their positions and cap-

tured a portion of the supply train. Watie innnediately placed the cap~ 

tured wagons under a strong guard, and began moving them to the rear of 

h S h 1 . 51 
t e out ern ines. 

At daybreak, sounds from the Northern position indicated that Major 

Hopkins was attempting to move the remainder of the wagons across the 

creek and back to Fort Scott. Watie dispatched Lieutenant Colonel Vann, 

with the two Cherokee regiments, across the creek to cut off the Federal 

retreat and intercept the wagons. However, when Vann arrived at the 

creek, he discovered that Hopkins had not sent his wagons across, but 

52 
the Cherokees did capture eighteen prisoners. 

After daylight on September 19, Watie discovered the actual Federal 

position. He moved one section of his artillery to the left flank, sup~ 

ported by the First Creek Regiment and the Second Creek Regiment. From 

this position the Confederates opened a vigorous fire on the Northern 

camp, and the Seminoles and the rwenty~ninth Texas Regiment, moving to 

the left of the artillery, advanced and drove the Federals from their 

fortifications. The Northern retreat soon became a "general stampede, 11 

and Major Hopkinsis force fled, leaving in Watie's possession their 

51 
Watie to Heiston, October 3, 1864, ibid., p. 786. 

52 
Ibid., PP• 786-787. 
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11 train, stockade, hay, camp and garrison equipage," along with his dead 

53 
and wounded • 

The supply train was composed of 250 wagons supplied by contractors 

in addition to military post wagons loaded with Federal quartermaster, 

commissary, and sutler supplies. Many of the wagons had been damaged 

during the engagement, and were in no condition to be moved. Those that 

were damaged were burned along with ten ricks of hay, each containing 

500 tons; also, the mowing machines and all other equipment which could 

not be carried off were destroyed. The Federals lost $1,500,000 worth 

54 
of goods, mules, and equipment. 

This engagement at Cabin Creek was an unqualified Southern victory, 

and Watie immediately gathered the captured booty, which amounted to 130 
r 

wagons loaded with supplies and 740 mul~s... The destitute Southerne+s 

replenished their clothes from the captured supplies and rejoiced over 

their victory. Moving southward, the Confederates encountered a Federal 

brigade sent as reinforcements from Fort Gibson and Fort Smith at Pryor 1 s 

Creek in the Cherokee Nation. The Union force was a mixture of infantry, 

cavalry, and artillery, and following a btief skirmish the Southerners 

drove the Northerners back and held them in check during the night. 

Afterwards the Federals withdrew. Since the Confederates expected an-

other. engagement with the Federals at the Arkansas River, the Southerners 

marched northwestward and crossed Pryor's Creek during the nighto On 

the following day, September 21, they crossed the Verdigris River at 

53 
Ibid., p. 787. 

54 
Ibid., Gano to Cooper, September 29, 1864, ibid., p. 791. 
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. 5~ 
Claremore Mound in the Cherokee Outlet, 

For the next three days the Southerners continued their withdrawal 

without sleep, except for what could be snatched while they were in the 

saddle or pausing at watering places. Cheerfully, the Confederates dug 

down banks and cut out trees to make a passage for the wagons and artil-

lery, and assisted horses and mules in rolling the wagons and artillery 

up hills and banks. Finally, on Sepeember 28, they reached Camp Bragg 

and safety. Watie praised the cooperaeion and good feeling between 

Gano 1 s men and his, and declared that the "fortitude and endurance dis-

played in the long and constant march for several consecutive days and 

56 
nights speak for them the highest praise." 

For their daring and gallantry, the officers and men of Watie's and 

Gano's command were praised in a congratulatory order by Cooper. De-

claring that the "brilliancy and completeness of this expedition has not 

been excelled in the history of the war," he congratulated them for their 

bravery and conduct. Cooper hoped 11 that they and the rest of the command 

may soon have an opportunity to gather fresh laurels on other fields." 

On January 25, 1865, the Confederate Congress passed a joint resolution 

expressing the thanks of the Qonfederacy to Watie and Gano and the of= 

ficers and men under their command. 57 

During the campaign, Sarah returned to Wood County, Texas, to be 

55 . 
Ibid., pp. 790-791; Watie to Beiston, October 3, 1864, ibid., p. 

7870 

56 
Ibid., p. 788; Gano to Cooper, September 29, 1864, ibid., p. 791. 

57General Order No. 26, September 30, 1864, ibid., pp. 792-793; 
YVJournal of the Congress of the Confederate St;:ates of America, 11 United 
St: ates Senate, 58th Congress, 2nd Session, Senate Document ~' Vol. VII, 
p. 495. 
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with the children, who were . attending school nearby. Apparently in 

better health, she was preparing clothes to send to Watie, which he 

would undoubtedly need during the coming winter. Their daughter Char-

lotte had been helping her mother as best she could. Soon Sarah re-
/'' 

turned, however, to Rusk, Texas, where her s~ster ~ancy was dying. As 

soon as Nancy was buried, Sarah planned to go to Paris, Texas, to meet 

Watie. She informed him that ~heir children were all in good health, 

and urged him to write them all separate letters or "else there is a 

fus [sic] •11 Sarah, however, had not completely recovered her health, 

but blamed her bad feelings on old age. 58 

By late September, Watie's command--the First Indian Brigade--con-

sisted of the First Gherokee Regiment commanded by Colonel Robert C. 

Parks; the Second Cherokee Regiment led by.Colonel William P. Adair; the 

Cherokee Battalion under Major Joseph A. Scales; the First Creek Regi-

ment commanded by Colonel Daniel N. Mcintosh; the Second Creek Regiment 

under Colonel Chilly Mcintosh; a Creek Squadron led by Captain R. Kenard; 

the First Osage Battalion commanded by Major Broken Arm; and the First 

Seminole Battalion under Lieutenant Colonel John Jumper. It was an ef= 

fective force, and after the capture of the ro !• Williams and the en= 

gagement at Cabin Creek, Federal units had a healthy respect for Watie 1 s 

ability~ The Union held area of Indian Territory, southern Kansas, 

northwest Arkansas, and southwest Missouri was kept in a constant fear 

of a raid by Watie 1 s men as his reputation as a guerrilla leader 

58sarah c. Watie to Stand Watie, September 4, 1864, and Sarah C. 
Watie to Stand Watie, September 12, 1864, Dale and Litton, eds., Chero= 
~Cavaliers, pp. 187-191. 
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continued to grow. 
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On October 3, 1864, E. L. Compere, who had earlier been sent across 

the Mississippi River into the South for supplies for the refugee 

Indians, reported to Watie that he had not been able to get the needed 

materials across the Mississippi River because of Federal activity. Com-

pere complained o~ the lack of transportation, and suggested to Watie 

that the Cherokees might secure a few wagons and team:; to haul the sup• 

plieso As soon as the items were safely across the river, Compere told 

Watie that he would travel further South to Alabama and Georgia to secure 

additional goods. He was suffering from an acute shortage of funds with 

which to make the neces saiy pur'clia:ses, he added, and had been forced to 

b . w . ' 60 orrow money in atie s name. 

As the autumn of 1864 approached, Sarah told Watie about the in~ 

creasing hardships that his family was forced to endure as refugees. 

She said that it was all she could to do keep the children in clothes, 

and wanted to send them to school, "but the board is [$]200 a month 

apiece and [$]12 in provision." Destitute for money, she told Watie 

that she would do the best she could, but asked him for advice on the 

matter of school for their children. Boudinot wanted to take Watica and 

Ninnie with him during the winter, but the children remained with their 

61 mother. 

In early October~ Cooper moved his headquarters to Camp Jumper, 

59organization of the Army of the Trans-Mississippi Department, Sep~ 
tember 30, 1864, Official Records, Ser. i, Vol. XLl, Part 3, P• 970. 

60Eo Lo Compere to Watie, October 3, 1864, Dale and Litton, eds., 
Cherokee Cavaliers, pp. 196-197. 

61 . 
Sarah C. Watie to Stand Watie, October 9, 1864, ibid., pp. 200-

20lo 
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about eight miles east of Perryville in the Choctaw Nation. The First 

Indian Brigade, connnanded by Watie, was to move on October 7, 1864, east~ 

ward from Camp Bragg to the North Fork Road. Kirby-Smith had proposed 

another raid into Kansas, but Watie objected in that it would probably 

fail under present conditions. Although most of Watie's men had been 

resupplied with clothing captured at Cabin Creek, and were in better 

condition than they had been in some time, Cooper advised that winter 

1 . f w . i d ld d b h d . 11 62 supp ies or atie s connnan wou- . nee to e gat ere at Perryvi e. 

During October the Federals were fearful of an attack on Fort Smith 

by Watie, so scouts were sent out to patrol the area. Also during Octo= 

ber it was reported that Watie would attack Mount Vernon and Carthage, 

Mi.ssouri, and later he was rumored to be near Humboldt, Kansas. These 

reports. illustrate how concerned the Federals·were over the success of 

Watie~s guerrilla tactics, and they were kept in a constant state of 

alert for his movements. 63 

Watie apparently had plans for another raid, but because of Price's 

failure in Missouri he was forced to cancel his plans. In the meantime, 

the troops in Price's Missouri invasion were in desperate condition. 

Watie was reported moving toward Scullyville to Price 1 s aid. Eventually 

Watie offered assistance to Price's retreating army, and provided his 

62cooper to Captain M. L. Bell, October 6, 1864, Official Records, 
Ser. i, Vol. XLI, Part 3, P• 983. 

63Lieutenant Colonel Owen A. Bassett to Wattles, October 9, 1864, 
Captain D. H. Conway to Colonel John D. Brutsche, Major C .. S. Charlot 
to Lieutenant Colonel W. H. Stark, October 13, 1864, ibid., pp. 724, 
66.5, 842. 
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men with badly needed supplies. 
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In November of 1864 Watie's campaigning for the year came to an end, 

and his men went into winter quarters in the Choctaw Nation. A portion 

of his men was sent to Shawneetown on the Red River, and Watie estab-

lished his headquarters at Boggy Depot. Watie had enjoyed his greatest 

moments of military and civil success <:luring the year, earning wide-

spread fame as a guerrilla leader. Nevertheless, the North still con-

trolled the Cherokee Nation, and the Confederate Indians under Watie's 

command were suffering from the lack of adequate arms and supplies. 

Cherokee refugees continued their meager ex:i!stence as exiles from their 

own country. Watie remained steadfastly loyal to the South; the Con-

federacy was beginning to weaken, however, and defeat was not long in 

coming. Watie was to suffer the same fate; pro-Northern Cherokees 

65 
would rule the Cherokee Nation, and he would be at their mercy. 

64Maxey to Boggs, October 16, 1864, Sanborn to Major General William 
s. Rosecrans, November 1, 1864, Major General F. J. Herron to Lieutenant 
Colonel C. T. Christensen, November 10, 1864, ibid., Part 4, PP• 999, 
393, 505; Price to Anderson, November 18,~1864, ibid., Part 1, P• 625. 

65 
Maxey to Boggs, December 31, 1864, ibid., Vol. LIII, p. 1034; 

Stand Watie to Sarah Watie, January 20, ,1865, Dale and Litton, eds., 
Cherokee Cavaliers, pp. 208-209. 



CHAPTER X 

DEFEAT AND RECONSTRUCTION 

By 1865, the flood tide of war in Indian Territory was beginning to 

ebb. The Federals roamed almost at will throughout Indian Territory, 

and the Confederacy seemed unable to mount any serious offensive action. 

Watie 1s men were in desperate condition, and the plight of the Cherokee 

refugees had not improved. Because of their destitute condition, some 

of Watie's men resorted to raiding into Texas. Their depredations 

caused serious concern for Confederate Cherokee leaders, who were at= 

tempting to maintain good relations with the Texans, because they were 

furnishing supplies to the Cherokee refugees. Watie was ordered to take 

necessary measures to stop the raids, which were threatening to break 

into border warfare between the Texans and Indians. Apparently Watie 

took prompt measures to stop the raids, as he was congratulated for his 

11 hearty co=operation in regard to the suppression of lawlessness along 

Red river.111 

On February 14, 1865., Cooper was relieved of his command of the 

Indian Division of Indian Territory and assigned as Superintendent of 

Indian Affairs in the District of Indian Territory. Watie was appointed 

to replace Cooper. The Federals still respected Watie as a guerrilla 

1Acting Adjutant General T. M. Scott to Watie, February 1, 1865, 
and Scott to Watie, February 12, 1.865, Dale and Litton, eds., Cherokee 
Cavaliers, pp. 210-213. 

?t...f.. 
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leader, and when they were informed by rumor that he intended to conduct 

a raid into southwestern Kansas as soon as·-the weather permitted, once 

2 
again the area was thrown into a state of paniq. 

In late February, Watie was still in the Choctaw Nation mounting, 

equipping, and arming his men for field operations. His forces were 

better suppl;i.ed than a year before, dQe largely to boot;y from the Cabin 

Creek raid, and were preparing to caJnpai~n as ~oon as enough grass was 

present to sustain their horses. In the meantime, the Federals were at-

tempting to persuade the Comanches, Kiowas, an4 Arapahoes to renounce 

their alliances with the South, and join the North in the war, The 

Federals promised the Plains Indians guns and ammunition, urging them 

to kill all Southern men and take the women and children prisoners. 

White prisoners were to be turned over to Union authorities, but all 

Indian prisoners were to be theirs to keep. The Plains Indians refused 

the Federal offer, and several skirmishes occurred between Northerners 

and Plains Indians.3 

A report of the Federal efforts among the Plains Tribes was sent to 

Watie, who ;i.mmediately notified Cooper. Expressing great pleasure and 

satisfaction over the friendly disposition of the Plains Indians, Watie 

stated that all pro.Southern Indians would gather later in a general 

meeting of all tribes in Indian Territ;o;ry. l'he purpose of the meeting, 

2special Order No. 40, feb;ruary 14, 1865, and C. V. Eskridge, R. H. 
Abraham, William Martindale, J. R. Swallow, F. R. Page, Jacob Stotler to 
Major General James G. Blunt, February 7, 1865, Official Records, Ser. 
i, Vol. XLVIII, Part 1, PP• 1387, ll35 .. 113q. 

3Major General G. M. Dodge to Captain J. M~ Bell, February 26, 
1865, ibid., 989; o~hop-ey-a~ne to the Chiefs and Head men of the Creek 
Nation, February 21, 1865, Dale and Litton, eds., Cherokee Cavaliers, 
PP• 213~215. 
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Watie declared would be to form a "closer combination and a more intimate 

acquaintance of the relations" of all the pro-Southern Indians, and adopt 

a united plan for a "more efficient and vigorous persecution of the War 

in which we are engaging. 114 

In early March, 1865, Boudinot was informed by the Confederate 

government that the Cherokees would be allowed to appoint an individual 

to a cadetship in the Confederate States Army. The person must have 

"exhibited zeal in the service of his country by me+itorious service in 

the field. 11 Boudinot nominated Saladin Watie on March 2, describing him 

as having rendered valuable service since the beginning of the war, and 

being "well known in the army as a youth of great coµrage and hig-h moral 

and intellectual worth.115 

The Federals were apparently collecting large amounts of supplies 

at Fort Smith for a spring offensive, and thus Watie was ordered to 

gather all his men "at the earliest practicable moment that grass will 

do to forage the stock on. 11 Watie was to make all possible arrangements 

to meet the ant;icipated attack. He was supplied with 19,500 pounds of 

bread at Boggy Depot, QUt was informed that this was all he would receive 

until the middle Qf April or the first of May. Because of the shortage, 

Watie was forced to reduce his men to ha!f rations until more supplies 

6 
could be secured. 

The Federals at Fort Gibson under the connnand of Colonel William A. 

4Ibid., p. 214; Watie to Tuckabalchee Mica, March 19, 1865, ibid., 
PP• 218=219. 

5 
Stand Watie Service Record, Adjutant General's Office, National 

Archives. 

6 
Scott to Watie, March 15, 1865, and Scott to Watie, March 22, 

1865, Dale and Litton, eds., Cherokee Cavaliers, pp. 217""220. 
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Phillips were indeed planning an advance deep into Indian Territory. 

Phillips was gathering 1,000 horses as mounts for his men, and was re-

placing his old artillery with newer models. He proposed to begin his 

march by April 20, move rapidly to Boggy Depqt and Fort Towson in the 

Choctaw Nation, and on to Fort Washita in the Chickasaw Nation. Phillips 

believed that the Federal offensive operation would drive the Confeder­

ates across the Red River and prevent a spr~ng offensive by Watie. 7 

About this time Watie engaged in a scheme to transport cotton to 

Mexico and use the money to secure necessary supplies for the hungry 

refugees. Evidently his plan was meeting wi,t;h considerable success. By 

May 2, 1865, between 250 and 300 bales had been sent south, and more was 

being prepared for the journey. Boudinot also persuaded the Confederate 

Congress to turn over a large amount of cotton for the Cherokee annuity 

payments. This cotton could also be transported to Mexico and sold for 

8 
the benefit of the Cherokee refugees. 

Rumors were rampant among the Cherokees, and the confusion grew as 

the end of the war neared. Sarah was told that Watie had been captured, 

and also that he was using cotton to acquire a large personal fortune. 

Learning that the Federals had placed a price on Watie's head for his 

capture, Sarah was very concerned for his safety. She defended Watie 1 s 

honor and declared, 11 ;r would live on b:r;ead and water rather than to have 

it said you had speculated of your peqple. 11 Reaffirming her faith in 

her husband, she stated, 11 1 believe you have always done what you thought 

7 
Phillips to Major General J. J. Reynolds, February 9, 1865, Of~ 

ficial Records, Ser. i, Vol. XLVIll, Part 1, pp. 789~790. 

8 . William A. Musgrove to Watie, February 27, 1865, Musgrove to Watie, 
May 2, 1865, and Boµdinot to Watie, May 11, 1865, Dale and Litton, edQ., 
Cherokee CavaUers, pp. 216-217, 221..:.223. 
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best for you[r] people and I want to die with that last belief. 119 

On May 24, 1865, a Grand Council of all pro-Southern Indians was 

held at Camp Napoleon on the Washita River iri the western portion of 

Indian Territory. Watie attended, as did representatives of all the 

Five Civilized Tribes and the Plains Indians. Uniting 1,mder the princi~ 

pal that 11An Indian shall not spill <,in Indian~'s' blood:~" elf.United Nations 

of Indian Territory was created. The principal chiefs or governors of 

the Indians present were authorized to form a connnittee to 11 extend in 

the name of this Confederation the hand of fellowship to all Nations of 

Indians.iv The resolutions of th~ Grand Council were to be transmitted 

to those Indians who were allied with the Federal government, and they 

were urged to "cooperate with this Council in its efforts to renew 

friendly relations with the u. s. government." A delegation was author~ 

ized to travel to Washington, and given full powers to negotiate with 

the Federal government such treaties as the United ,States. might demand. 

The de legates were also . 11 to connnup.icate with the proper military 

authorities of the U. s. for the purpose of affecting a cessation of 

hostilities in order that they may have time and opportunity to nego-

tiate with the U. s. Govt •11 The delegation was to seek passports from 

the military so that they could journey to Washington to urge the Federal 

government "in order to avoid a collision" the necessity '1of sending no 

forces into the Indian Territory, until they the said Delegates may con~ •i 

10 
fer with the U. s. Govt. for the establishment of a permanent peace." 

The conflict was fast drawing to a close. General Robert E. Lee 

9 
Sarah C. Watie to Stand Watie, May 21, 1865, ibid., pp. 225=226. 

10Resolutions of the Grand Council, May 24, 1865, Cherokee Agency, 
Letters Received, Office of Indian Affairs, National Archives. 
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surrendered the Army of Nort;herri. Virgin;i.a, wh.ich had been the mainstay 

of the Confederacy, Qn ~pri1 9, 1865, ijis capitulation was soon fo119wed 

by the surrenders of other Confederate mi1itarr comm.anders east of the 

Mississippi River. On ~ay 26, 1865, Kirby-Sm;i.th surrendered the Trans-

Mississippi Department, and white Confederate troops in indian Territory 

ceased military operatipns. On June 19, Peter Pitchlynn and the Choctaw 

forces laid down their arms, followed py Gqvernor Wi~chester Colbert and 

the Chickasaws on J~ly 14, 1865. 11 

Lieutenant Colonel Asa c. Mathews and ~djut~nt William u. Vance, ap-

pointed by the Federal government to ~eceive the surrender of the Con-

federate Indian forces, traveled to Doaksville in the Choctaw Nation to 

meet with the Indians. They arrived in Indian Territory too Late to at-

tend the Grand Council, However, considering it proper and beneficial 

that surrender terms be negotiated irnm.ediate1y, they invited Watie to 

meet with them aj:: "Col. R. M, [Jones], 12 m;i.hs west of D9aksvUle, 11 at 

h 1 . . 1 12 t e ear 1est practica moment.· 

Watie met with Mathews and Vance on June 23, 1865, at the appointed 

place and conduGted the surrender ceremony~ An agreement was signed 

providing for a cessation of hostilities and the irnm.ediate return of the 

Cherokees to their respective homes• The Cherokees were required to 

remain at peace with the Federal gover~ment~ and ~hey were to offer no 

11Morton, 11Confederc;ite Government Relations with the Five Civil:i,.zed 
Tribes, Part 2, 11 Chronicles 0£ Oklahoma, Vol, XXXI, pp. 318-319; "Journal 
of the Congress of the Confe~rate States 0£ Ameri,ca, 11 United States 
Senate, 58th Congress, 2nd Session, Senate Document 234, Vol. IV, pp. 
429, 486, Vol. VII, PP• 465, 495. 

12Lieutenant Colonel Asa C. Mathews and Adjutant William H. Vance 
to Watie, June 9, 1865, Cherokee Nation Collection, Western History 
Collections, University of Oklah~ma Library. 
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indignity "whatever or co~it any acts of hostil;i.ti(:ls agaiust the Whites 

or Indians of the var;i.ous tribes who have peen fr~endly to or engaged in 

the service o:I; tihe United States during the war, 11 The Federal cqmmis .. 

sioners agreed that as long as the Cherokees observed the truce, "they 

shaU be pr0tected by the United States authorities in their person and 

property not only from encroachments on the part of the whites, but also 

from the Indians who have bee~ engaged in the service of the United 

States •11 The Cherokees were to be bc>Und by the agr(:lement µntil a meeting 

of the Grand Council at Armstrong Academy, Choct:aw Nation on September 1, 

1865. The proceedings of the Grand Council were t:o be ratified by the 

Cherokee Nation and the United States. In addition, the provisions of 

the agreement were extended to the Seminoles, Creeks, and Osages. Watie 

signed the terms on June 25, 1865, and thus bec?ffie the last Confederate 

13 
general to surrender. 

Actually the agreement had little effect on the Southern Cherokee 

forces. Most of Watie's men had already been sent home on furloughs, 

and did not bother with the formaLities of surrender. Watie also allowed 

his men to help themselves to the public property of the Confederacy, and 

take badly needed supplies home with them. Peace had finally come to the 

Cherokee Nation, and the exiled pro-Southern Indians were al.so permitted 

to return to their desolated ho~es. But it was a peace in name only, as 

both the Northern and Southern Cherokees were to contest for the control 

of the tribe. 14 

1311Stipulations Made and Entered into th:i;s 23rd Day of June, 1865 , 11 

"Miscellaneous Documents Relating to Indian Aff.;tirs ," Cherokee Room, John 
Vaughan Library, Northeastern State College. 

14stand Watie to Sarah C. Watie, May 27, 1865, Dale and Litton, 
eds., Cherokee Cavaliers, pp. 227-228. 
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On June 28, Watie appointed six delegates--John Spears, Jpseph A. 

Scales, J~ T. Davis, Joseph Vann, Willia~~. Ch~bers, and too-noh-volah 

Foster--to proceed to Fort Gibson or any other place where they could 

locate Northern Cherokees and attempt to restore harmony among the tribe. 

This effort by Watie to rejoin the two factions of the Cherokees met 

with very little success. Watie also dispatched Willia~ P. Adair and 

James M. Bell to Shreveport, Louisiana, to confer with Major General 

Francis J. Herron and make the best terms possible for the b~nefit of 

the Cherokees. Some reconciliation between the Union and Confederate 

Cherokees took place on July 13, 1865, when the Northern Cherokee Nation-

al Council passed an act of amnesty and pardon for those who had fought 

agai,nst the Cherokees lQyal to the United Stat;el!l. Southern, Cherokees 

could have their citi:i;enship rest<;:n~·ed and be gral;'lted pardon by swearing 

or affirming "in the presence of Alroighty God, that l will hereafter 

faithfully abide by, support and defend the constitution and Laws of the 

Cherokee Nation.'' Southern Cherokees resented this. However, Watie was 

not granted pardon, along with other high ranking Cherokee officials who 

15 
had served the Confederacy. 

On August 1, 1865, Watie appointed a delegation of Cherokees t.o 

meet with commissioners of the Federal government. Apparently W'atie and 

the other leaders of the pro~Soµthern Indians believed that the proposed 

peaee conference would be the Grand Council scheduled to be held at 

Armstrong Academy on September 1, 1865, When the Federal commissioners 

did not appear, the council passed a series of resolutions signed by 

15Annie Abel, The American Indian Under Reconstruction (Cleveland: 
Arthur H. Clark Com~y, · 19:25), pp~ l55~159; Wardell, !_ Political H..f.Uo:i;:y 
of the Cherokee Nation, 1838-1907, pp. 178, 181. - -- ,.,......._ --
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Watie and other pro-Southern lndian leaders on September 6, and adjourned 

to reconvene at Fort Smith on September 15. Watie and the other members 

of the council at Armstrong Academy agreed to meet at Mrs. Plaxe's place 

on the Middle Boggy River in the Choctaw ,Nation on September 9 and 

travel to Fort Smith as a group. Should any of the members not be able 

to join the group at the location on the Middle Boggy River, they were 

to meet the delegation at Scul1yville on September 14, The president of 

the Grand Council was instructed to inform the Federal conuniss ioners 

that the Southern Indians were on their way to Fort Smith and would be 

16 there on September 15. 

On September 8, 1865, the Fort Smith conference had begun. The 

Federal government was represented by William S. Harney, Ely S. Parker, 

Elijah Sells, Thomas Wistar, and Dennis N. Cooley, the chairman of the 

conference. The Federal Cherokees were present, but the Sou~hern dele~ 

gation had not yet arrived. On September 9, Cooley announced the general 

terms that the United States would require the Indians to agree to: 

permanent peace among the Indians, the abolition of slavery, a cession 

of portions of Indian Territory~ consolidation of the Indians of Indian 

Territory into one government, and the exclusion of :;intruders from the 

countl;'y. Reacting violently to the proposed t·erms, the Federal Indians 

questioned their punishment for the actions ~f the pro~Southern Indians. 

Nevertheless, the Federal commissioners presented a treaty for approval 

17 
by the Indians on September 10. 

16. ' Ibid., p. 182; Abel, The American Indian Under Rec;onstructi<:m, 
pp. 186-..187. 

17wardell, ! Political History .£f the Cherokee Nation,~ 1838:1907,, 
pp. 184~189; 11Report of the Cormniss ioner of Indian Affairs , 11 United 
States House of Representatives, 39th Congress, 1st Session, Executive 
Document 1 (Washingtong Government Printing Office, 1866), pp. 496~502. 
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The t;:reaty stated that because the lndians had signed allian(fes 

w;i.th the Confederacy, they had forfeited "all rights of every kind, 

charact;er, and description which had l:;>een promised and guarant.eed to 

them by the United States·'' However, because the United States government 

wished to "re .. establish order and legitimate authority among the Indian 

tribes," the Indians acknowledged themselves "to be under the prot;ection 

of the United States of America," and any act "heretofore done by them, 

or any of their people, by which they renoµnce their allegiance to the 

United States, is hereby revoked, cancelled, and repudiated." Also the 

Indians agreed to "re ... establish peace and friendship with all the na .. 

tions and tribes of Indians within the limits of the so-called Indian 

country," and they were to "afford ample protection for the security of 

the persons and property of the respective nations or tribes·'' The 

agreement called for the Indians to "enter into treaties to arrange and 

settle all questions relating to and growing out of former treaties with 

said nations, as affected by any treaty made by said nations with the 

so-called Confederate State$, at this council now convened for that pur .. 

. 18 
pose, or at such time in the future as may be appointed." 

The loyal Cherokees balked at sign;i.ng the agreement, and asked for 

time to consider the treaty. The Southern Cherokees from Armstrong 

Academy arrived during the night of September 15 and joined Elias C. 

Boudinot, who was already present: at: Fort Smith, The members of the 

Southern Cherokee delegation were Stand Watie, Charles Watie, Richard 

Fields, William P. Adair, James M. Bell, -W. L, Holt, John L. Martin, J. 

Porum Davis, D. M. Foreman, and Boudinot. On September 16, Boudinot 

18 . 
Ibid., pp. 514-515. 
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presented their credentials and asked that they b~ allowed to examine 

the treaty. On the previous day, Cooley had become so angry at the 

stalling tactics of Ross that the Federal commissioners refused to rec­

ognize him as the principal chief of the Cherokees. 19 

On September 15, 1865, the Federal Cherokees signed the agreement, 

but the Southerners pleaded for more time to study the document. Ap-

parently Watie did not take an active part in the negotiations, and the 

major spokesman for the Southern Cherokees was Boudinot. Once again, as 

it had previous to the Treaty of 1846, Wat ie 1 s group proposed 

a division of the Cherokee Nation between the Northern and Southern fac ... 

tions if no reconciliation could be achieved, but the Federal government 

ignored its plea. The Southern Cherokees signed the treaty on Septem-

ber 18, but Watie waited until later the same day and signed the agree= 

ment at the same time the Choctaw delegation added their names. Various 

discussions continued for three more days before Cooley adjourned the 

meeting on September 21, to reconvene again at the call of the Secretary 

of the Interior. 20 

On October 5, 1865, Watie called a meeting of the Southern Chero-

kees to hear a report on the conference at Fort Smith. Fields and Fore= 

man presented a talk on the proceedings of the Southern delegation, and 

then Foreman made a motion that the gathering resolve itself into a mass 

meeting of the Southern Cherokees. The purpose of the aspembly was to 

take "appropriate measures to renew and perfect friendly relations with 

19Ibid., pp. 520-524; Wardell, A Political History of~ Cherokee 
Nation, ~=1907, ppo 189~!90. 

20 . Ibid., pp. 190=193; HReport of the Commissioner of Indian Af= 
fairs," United States House of Representatives, 39th Congress, 1st Ses ... 
sion, Executive Document.!,, pp. 520-537. 
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the Cherokee people from whom they have been divided." Joseph Vann was 

elected chairman of the meeting and Fields addressed the gathering. He 

stated that he believed that nothing more could be done except what had 

been accomplished at Fort Smith, but declared that he would be glad to 

1 . . 21 isten to any suggestions. 

On November 3 ~ 1865, the National Council of the Cherokees, con-

trolled by the Northern Cherokees, appointed a delegation led by Ross 

to proceed to Washington. Watie, who was stiU living in the Choctaw 

Nation at Armstrong Academy, then ordered Adair on November 13 to travel 

to Washington at his earliest convenience as one of the Southern com~ 

.missioners. Adair was to assist in the full and final settlement between 

"the Cherokee Nation-- 1 the United Indian Nations, 1 and the Govt. of the 

United States,'' in accordance with the resolutions of the Grand Council 

of the United Indian Nations and the conference at Fort Smith. Besides 

William P. Adair, the Southern Che:i;-okee delegation to Washington con-

sisted of Stand Watie, his son Saladin Watie, Elias C. Boudinot, Richard 

Fields, Joseph A. Scales, J. Woodward Washborne, and John R. Ridge. 22 

By early January, 1866, Boudinot and Adair arrived in Washington as 

members of the Southern Cherokee delegation, but they had not been 

joined by the remainder of the group. Ross and the Federal Cherokees 

were also present and already presenting their case to the Federal of-

ficials. Boudinot and Adair did their best to discredit the Federal 

Cherokees, and Boudinot continued to act as the chief spokesman of the 

21Meeting of the Southern Cherokees, October 5, 1865, Indian Ar­
chives Division, Oklahoma Historical Society. 

22 
Wardell, ~Political !i!.Story £!.~Cherokee Nation, ~~1907, 

pp. 194-195; Watie to Adair, November 13, 1865, Cherokee Agency, Letters 
Received, Office of Indian Affairs, National Archives. 
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Southern Cherokee delegation. 

~ater, during the spring of 1866, Watie and the other members of 
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the Southern delegation arrived in Washington to take part in the nego-

tiations. The major points of controversy between the Northern and 

Southern Cherokees were the cession of land, railroad rights, equal dis-

tribution of annuities, and a division of the Cherokee Nation between 

the two opposing factions. On March 6, Watie requested that the United 

States government provide the Southern delegation with a map of Indian 

Territory 1ibetween the 37th parallel and Red River, and between the 

0 
western boundary of Missouri and Arkansas and the lOOth and 103 Meri.-

dians, giving the precise latitude and longitude of the northern Cherokee 

boundary .11 He declared that a col;'rect map was of 11 great importance to 

us in the cessions of land contemplated to be made, and the grants of 

land for Railroads, which we the tribes desire to make.n By providing 

such a map, Watie declared that the government would be doing a Hgreat 

favor to us, and other Indians interested, and it will materially assist 

us and them in our negotiations with the government. 11 By the close of 

March both factions of the Cherokees and the Federal government had pre-

pared their versions of a reconstruction treaty, but no agreement between 

24 
the groups could be reached. 

;I:n April, 1866, Watie and the other Southern delegates employed 

Perry Fuller of Arkansas as their attorney to advise and assist them. 

He was 11 particularly to assist them to secure an equitable divisionli 

23Abel, The American Indian Under Reconstruction, pp. 346=347. 

24 
Wardell, f:_ Political History of ~Cherokee Nation, 1838=1907, 

pp. 195-197; Watie to D. H. Cooley, March 6, 1866, Cherokee Agency, 
~etters Received, Office of Indian Affairs, National Archives. 
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between the "'Northern' and 'Southern' Cherokees of the territory annui-

ties and invested funds, which may now belong of right to the Cherokee 

Nation." Fuller was also to assist in a pro rat.;t division of all money 

' 

which might be paid by the Federal government in the purchase of Cherokee 

land iv for the benefit of Kansas or other Indians, or fo:J."" Railroad pur-

poses, including the Eight hundred thousand acres known as the 'Neutral 

Land. 111 If Fuller was successful in securing a division of the land and 

funds, he was to receive one=third of the money resulting from the ac .. 

tion. Should Fuller fail in his mission, the Southern delegation agreed 

to reimburse him, with interest, for all the money he had advanced for 

25 
the purpose. 

On April 7, Watie and the other Southern delegates joined with the 

Northern Cherokees in a fr!endly meeting for the :purpose "of compromising 

their differences upon a basis satisfactory and beneficial to both par-

ties." Both factions exprer;;sed a desire for peace, but "their view as 

to the best mode of securing it was diametrically opposed, one to the 

other." Watie was against the plans of the Northern Cherokees because 

"it would force us all back under their government and laws, and bring 

our people and theirs, with memories fresh with mutual wrongs for years 

past, in direct personal contact •11 The Southern Cherokee delegation 

feared that such a reunion would result in a fresh out;break of blood= 

. 26 
shed, in spite of every effort to prevent violence. 

25Agreement Between Perry Fuller and Boudinot, Adair, Scales, Stand 
Watie, Saladin Watie, and Fields, June, 1866, Cherokee Nation Collec<=> 
tion, Western History Collections, University of Oklahoma Library. 

26 
Stand Watie, Fields, Adair, Boudinot, Scales, and Saladin Watie 

to Cooley, Elijah Sells, and J arnes Harlan, Apri 1 7, 1866, Treaty Nego"" 
tiations with the Cherokees and the Loyalty of John Ross, Special File 
125, Office of Indian Affairs, National Archives~ 
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Thus Watie refused to accept the proposals of the Northern Chero­

kees; moreover, he believed that the Southern Cherokee plan for separa­

tion would instantly produce peace, and in time might even result in the 

establishment of ''kind and friendly relations" between the two factions. 

Watie continued to explain the reasoning behind the division of the 

Cherokee Nation sought by the Southern Cherokees. He argued that the 

Southerners would not receive either justice or impartiality under law as 

long as they were under the government of the Northern Cherokees. He 

declared that the 'Hinsult and injury, was too deep, 11 and the conflict was 

27 
"too long standing to admit of o-µr ever living together as one people, 11 

Denouncing the offer of the Northern Cherokees to "repeal these ob-

noxious laws and take us back on terms of equality," Watie pointed out 

that such concessions had been requested of the Ross faction by the 

Federal government at the Fort Smith conferenGe, but the Northerners had 

made no attempt to comply. Now the United States was forcing the Ross 

partisans to grant concessions, b4t, Watie stated, the action of the Ross 

party was not sincere. Watie pointed out that no promises or agreements 

entered into, in good faith or not, would cause the Cherokees to "for~ 

get or forgive the wrongs each side received at the hands of the other, 11 

as long a.s t;he two sides maintained mutual contact and daily associa~ 

ti.on. However, if the Southern Cherokees were allowed a government of 

their own, Watie maintained, they could live in peace and as neighbors 

with the Ross group. Watie stated that the Northern Cherokees had as. 

sured hi.m that they would linever assent to a division of the country, nor 

to a recognition of us as a 'distinct connnuni,ty, '" and that the Northern 

27 
Ibid. 



Cherokees would re~use to grant any of the Southerners' important re­

quests or give any logical reasons for their refusal. Furthermore, 
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Watie said, the Ross faction had approved a plan of peace, but failed to 

point out objections, or advance reasons; therefore, the Southern dele­

gation terminated the meeting "with the confirmed and abiding belief that 

it is absolutely impossible among ourselves to settle our difficulties 

28 
on a basis satisfactory to both parties. 11 

On April 10, 1866, the Southern delegation complained that they 

were constantly receiving communications from the Cherokee Nation giving 

accounts of the poor condition of the Confederate Cherokees, but it was 

very difficult for the Southern delegates to communicate their activi­

ties to their people. Therefore they had decided to send two of their 

delegates back to the Cherokee Nation "to meet and confer with our 

people~ to give them in detail an a~count of their operations here, and 

the condition and prospects of t;heir relations with the Government here, 

with its present policy as far as determined, to settle for ever the 

Cherokee feud by a division of country and separation of the parties" on 

the basis of an agreement beneficiq.l to all £actions of the Cherokees. 

Considering it of great importance, the Southerners wished to inform 

followers where they might settle because it would soon be too late to 

plant their corn for the year, and to construct new homes. Declaring 

that the Southern Cherokees were patiently awaiting the decision of the 

Federal government in dest;itution and poverty, the delegates believed it 

was important that; they were aware Hof the real state of their public 
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ff . 29 
a airs." 

If the Southern Cherokees were assµred of the protection of the 

United States from the unjust acts aTid laws of the Northern Cherokees, 

the delegates contended, they would "innnediately move to the 'Canadian 

District' and the country west of the Grand river, for the purpose of 

founding new homes and planting corn. 11 Many of the Southern Cherokees 

wanted to do so, and would move on the urging of the returning delegates 

if the United States would guarantee their protection~ Pointing out that 

it would be many months before the treaty woulcl be agreed upon, and that 

it was necessary for the government to provide safety for the returning 

Cherokees, the Southern delegation caUed on the United States to pro~ 

vide the needed protection and to allow the Southern Cherokees to return 

30 
home. 

On April 23,, the Southern delegates requested that funds be pro"" 

vided immediately for the expenses of the returning delegates, as they 

wished to leave as soon as possible due to the urgency of the situation. 

Two days later Wati.e informed Connnissioner of Indian Affairs Cooley that 

he and Scales were the delegates selected by the Southern Cherokees to 

return to the Cherokee Nation, and he requested a letter 11 t.o the Com'"' 

mantling General at Little Rock" to provide transportation for him and 

Scales to Boggy Depot. Watie contended that it was important to secure 

proper transportation because of the undependability of river travel and 

29stand Wat.:l,e, Fields, Adair, Boudinot, Scales, and Saladin Watie 
to Gooley, April 10, 1866, Cherokee Agency, Letters Received, Office of 
'.Lndian A;Efairs. 

JOI bid o 
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land ;routes. 
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Watie, who was primarily a military commande;r rather than a diplo-

mat, was growing tired of the endless conferences and interviews at the 

treaty negotiations. Boudinot, who was more adept at planning and schem-

ing, was left as the major figure of the Southern Delegation. However, 

before Watie returned to Indian Territory, he informed Cooley that pre~ 

vious to the war he was the owner of a large steam sawmill lo~ated in 

the Delaware District of the Cherokee Nation. Contending that during 

the conflict all of 10my personal property was c;lestroyed, carried off, or 

swept away, 11 with the exception of the miU, Watie stated that now he 

wanted to return to the Cherokee Nation and take possession of the mill 

and its equipment. Declaring that other people may have seized his 

property, Watie asked Gooley to "wr;i.te direct the Superintendent of 

Indian Affairs for the Southern Superintendency, or the United States 

Agent for the Cherokees, to cause t:o be delivered to me, or my agents 

this Steam Saw Mill, or its engines and machinery, that I may use the 

same for my own benefit .n Thus Watie 1 i;; direct participation in the Civ:i,l 

War and the process of reconstruction came to an end, and he prepared to 

return to his family, then living in the Choctaw Nation, and :i;ebuild his 

3? 
lifeo -

Watie arrived at Fort Smith during the night of May 10=11, 1866, 

and had the message of the Southern delegation printed for distribution 

among the Southern Cherokees. Most of his followers had remained loyal 

during his absence to the purposes of the Southern Cherokee delegation, 

31 
Watie to Cooley, April 23, 1866, and Watie to Cooley, April 25, 

1866, ib:i,d. 

32Ibido, Dale and Litton, eds., Cherokee Cavaliers, p. 231. 
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and few had taken the oath of alle~iance as was required by the ~nesty 

proclamation of the Cherokee National Council. Watie advised the South.­

ern Cherokees ''to defend their rights from the unauthorized laws of the 

Pins affecting the constitutional rights of the Cherokee people," and 

was pleased to find that most of them agreed to the actions of the 

Southern delegates in Washington. Planning to return to his family by 

way of Boggy Depot, Watie took with him ''a few things to buy a start in 

cattle. 11 Intending to remain outside of tribal politics, he also indi"' 

cated that he might accept an offer to purchase another sawmill. 33 

However, Watie could not completely disassociate himself from poli­

tics, and he was urged to organize a government for the Soitthern Chero­

kees innned;iately, even though it might be accomplished by only a 11 few 

hundred votesiu if no more were available. He was encoµraged to issue a 

proclamation in the Canadian District declaring the existence of the 

Southern Cherokee Nation. After Watie left Washington, President Andrew 

Johnson ordered that a treaty be made with the Southern Cherokees grant­

ing them their own pro rata share of the Cherokee Nation. Such a treaty 

was written and appropriately signed, but Johnson never submitted it to 

the United States Senate for approval. In the meant;~.me, Ross and his 

followers were conferring with Commissioner of Indian Affai.rs Cooley on 

their version of a treaty. The Northern delegation produced a do~ument 

which included most of the demands of the Federal government, but which 

excluded land grants to railroads, territorial government, and a div:i,.sion 

of the Cherokee Nation between the Northern and Southern factions~ On 

July 19, 1866, the treaty was agreed on and submitted to the Senate, and 

33stand Watie to Saladin Watie, May 12, 1866, ibid., pp. 242~243. 
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after a series of .amendm~nts, it was approved on July 27. On July 31, 

the Northern Chero~ees accepted the changes, and on August 11, the 

"f" d d l . d 34 treaty was rati ie an proc aime • 

Basically the treaty was a series of compromises between the three 

factions involved==the Federal government, the Northern Cherokees and 

the Southern Cherokees. The alliance with t4e Confederate States was 

declared void, and amnesty was extended for actions occurring before 

July 4, 1866. Cherokee confiscation laws were repealed, and all Chero~ 

kees and former slaves were allowed to reside wherever they wished. 

Southern Cherokees were pennitted to remain in the Canadian District, 

and if not enough land was available, additional territory in the 

Cherokee Nation would be provided north of the Arkansas River, between 

the Grand River and the Creek Nation. All ;inhabitants of this area were 

to have the r:lght to elect their local oH~cials, and the United States 

was authorized to establish a court ;in lndian Territory for all tribes. 

Licenses were required of all traders in the Cherokee Nation, and slavery 

was prohibited, with no compensation for emancipated slaves. A legisla-

tive assembly for the Cherokees was guaranteed, and various provisions 

were made for i.ts election and duties. Railroad right ... of=ways were 

granted, and the Federal government was allowed to settle additional 

Indians in the Cherokee Nation, and Plains Indians might be settled west 

Of 96° 1 . d west ongitu e. The price for the land to be sold to the Plains 

tribes was to be agreed upon by the Indians involved, and if no agreement 

34J. W. Washborne to J. A. Scales, June 20, 1866, ib;i.d., p. 245; 
Wardell, ! Political l;!_istory of the Cheroke.e Nat;i..on, 1838 .. 1907, P• 245; 
Charles J. Kappler, ed. and comp., Indian Affairs: Laws ~Treaties 
(5 vols., Washington~ Government Printing Office, 1904-1941), Vol. II, 
PP• 94·2=950. 
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could be reached, the Pres;ident o! the Vnited S~ates wou19 set the price. 

The Neutral Lands in Kansas and the Cherokee S~rip were ceded to the 

United State~ to be held in trust until sold to the highest bidder• 

Lands owned by the Cherokees in Arkansas or in any state east of the 

Mississippi River might be sold l;>y the Cherokees "in such manner as their 

national council may prescribe,'' but only with the approval of the Secre~ 

tary of the Interiar. 35 

The treat,y provided tha~ whenever the Cherokee Nation requested, 

its land was to be surveyed and allotted to individual Cher:okees by the 

Federal government; the boundary between the Cherokee Nation and Arkan., 

sas, Missouri, and Kansas was to be ~~rked, and the expense paid by the 

United States. Funds frolP- the United States government due the Chero-

kees were to be invested, and variol,ls p:rovisiqns were made for the dis-

tribution of J:;.he interest;. from the fl)nds among the Indians. The 

Reverend Eva,n Jones was paid $3,000 as a "sli.ght testimony for the use­

ful and arduous services" j:ie had providecj. the Ch,erokees for forty years. 

Provisions were made for the payment of bounties and arl'."ears for ser., 

vice to the Cherokees who served in the Union Army or their heirs. The 

United States guaranteed the Cherokees protection, and was given t:he 

right to establi.sh military posts or stat~ons in the Cherokee Nation. 

Persons not citizens of the Cherokee Nation or in the military service 

of the United States were prohibited horn ~ntering the Cherokee Nation, 

and spirituous liquors were f<;irb;i.dden except for medical purposes. The 

Federal government agreed to pay for the provisions and cLothes f\n:nished 

the Federal Indians during the winte;i;s of 1861 and 1862, and t;he 
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expenses of the Cherokee delegates ~o WashingtQn were to be paid by the 

United States. Also, payment$ o~ certain miss~ona~Y claims were author~ 

ized. No members of the Southern Chero~ee delegation signed t;he final 

36 
treaty. 

The re~ction of Watie and the Southern Cherokees was exp+essed by 

Boudinot, who declared, "We have been beaten.11 Apparently some members 

of the Southern Cherokees wanted to oppose the treaty, but Boudinot 

proposed to Watie that they accept the agreement because "it d9es not 

connnit us to anything, and gives µs a good chance to renew the demand 

for a di.vision at a more favqrable opporl;;unity.11 Watie was not in .. 

clined to again become involved in Cherokee politics; apparently the 

Southern Cherokees split among themselves, however, over the division 

of money allotted them by the Federal government for their expenses as 

delegates in Washington. Boudinot felt disgraced by the actions of 

Ridge and Adair, and he exclaimed, "Ridge is a s~e>undrel! there is no 

use in denying it; with him and Adair I shall have nothing to do hence .. 

f h 37 ort .H 

Watie, though, had had enough politics and fighting. The four 

years of military campaigning during the CiviL War had affected his 

health, and the conflict had destroyed hi$ wealth. His old adversary 

John Ross had died on Aqgust 1, 1866, so there was not even the motive 

of personal revenge to prod him to action. His family had been separated 

during the war, and one of his sons ha¢! !;lied, and no doµbt Watie looked 

37Boudinot to Watie, July 25, 1866, Dale and Litton, eds., Cherokee 
Cavaliers, p. 247; Boudinot; to Wat:te, December 2, 1866, Cherokee Nation 
Collection, Western History Collections, University of Oklahoma Lib:i:ary. 
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forward to the time when he could fulfill Sarah's desire to Live once 

again in peAce. The leade~ship of the Ridge~Watie~Boudinot faction of 

the Cherokee!> was being aSS\lJll.ed by younger ~en, such as ;E:lias C ~ Boudi­

not, and Watie seemed content to relinquish his position as head of the 

group. With the absence of the major antagonist~ the feud between Watie 

and Ross was being +epbced by new Cherokee qµestions resulting from the 

process of reconstruction. The bitter hatreds over removal were being 

extinguished, and Watie was playing less anc;l les$ of a role :j.n Cherokee 

politics. He was old beyond his s~xt;:y years, most of which had been 

spent in periods of violence and confusion. Watie's destitvte family 

needed providing for, and during the last years of his life he undertook 

to rebuild his former wea,lth and once a~ain live in J?rosperity. 



CHAPTER XI 

PEA.CE AT LAST 

~n the Cherokee Treaty of 18&6, Wat:ie an9 the Southern Cherokees 

had lost their bid for a separate nation. Now the pressing need was for 

reunion and rebuilding. Watie an,d the other Sot,tthern refugees returned 

to their homes only to find desolation and destruction~ The war had 

extracted a tremendous price from the Cherokees, and all of their ener• 

gies would be required t:o reestablish their prosperity. Watie returned 

to find most of his prope+ty destr~yed Ql' se;i,zed,; with hi,s usual zeal, 

nevertheless, he set about to rebuUd ~tis J;i.o~dings. The process proved 

difficult, for not only was Watie sixty years of age, but h~s health 

had been severely i.mpaired during the long period of military ~ampaign .. 

ing. 

The bitter feud between the Southern debgates to Washington in 

1866 continued, but apparentlY Watie did not become deeply involved, 

for his mai,n concern w.as to prqvide an adeq1,late living for hi,s family 

and a suitable education for his children. He continued to live with his 

family at Boggy Depot among the Cherokees~ and attempted to make a living 

by farming. The Northern Ch~rokees, after the death of Ross, }}ad split 

over the approaching tribal elections, but the Southern Cherokees made 

no serious effort to secure the election of the principal chief from 

their ranks. Therefore, in Augui;;t, 1867, Lewis Downing was elected the 

?f.Q 
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During late May, 1867, Sala~in traveled to Webber~ falls in the 

south side of the Arkansas River and began to construct a new house in 

which he planned to live. However, Watie with the rei:;t of the ;family 

was still in the Choctaw Nation. In ~unef Watie suffered a serious f i~ 

nancial setback when a flood along the Red River destroyed about 100 

acres of his co·rn crop. As a result Qf the disaster, he indicaceq that 

he would probably return to the Gherokee Nation sooner than he antici~ 

pated. Boudinot had alsQ returned from Wash.in~ton~ and he prpppi:;ed to 

Watie that he purchase what was left of Watie's steam sawmill in the 

Cherokee Nation, but BoudinQt i,'Qdicated that he had no money tc;> carry 

out the transaction.2 

During the summer of 1867, Wat:le wa~ reque;ot:e<;l. by Perry F1,flle:r, an 

attorney, to go to Washington in orde~ tQ consult with H. ~. McKee and 

Company concerning the capture at the Federal supply wagon train at 

Cabin Creek. McKee promised to rei~burse Wati~ for the time and expense 

involvec;l. Apparently Wa1:ie 111ade the trip in late summer. While he was 

there, he contemplated organizing a Batta~ion of Cherokee Volunteers to 

serve against the Plains lndians ¥ho were raiding along the Santa Fe 

Trail. Watie hoped to secure a ~ommission as commander of the Cherokee 

troops, and receive pe:t'Illissipn to organize t~e force. P~rhaps military 

1Elias c. Boudinot to Stand. Watie, ~anuary 17, 1867, Cherokee Na• 
tion Collection, Western History Collections, University of Oklahoma 
Library; w. P, Boudinot to ~tand Watie, Apr~l 9, 1867, Dale and Litton, 
eds., Cherokee CavaU.ers, pp. 247 ... 250. 

2Fort Smith H~ral~, ~ay 28, 1867, p, 3; Stand Watie to Saladin 
Watie, June 9, 1867, and Elias c, Bou9iµot tQ Stand Watie, Jvne 9, 1~67, 
Dale and Litton~ eds., Che.ro'k~e Cayal;i,ers, PP• 251~252. 
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glory was still i,n his mind, and possibly h~ viewed tli.e army as the best 

possibility for regaining his losseio. Howeve~, Watie never achieved his 

dream of once again leading troops in the fi,eld, as a Qherokee battalion 

3 
was not formed. 

By early November, 1867, Wat;:ie was back i,n Indian Territory, and he 

moved his family to a home at Breebs Town, just north of the Choctawm 

Chickasaw boundary, near Webbers Falls, on the Canadian River in the 

Canadian District. Although Sarah was still not in the best of health, 

Watie remained in the Choctaw Nation to settle hi,s aff;:iirs. Saladin 

visited his mother at her new home and helped with the work. Conditions 

seemed to be improving, as food was plimtifu~, and Sarah, happy to be 

back in the Cherokee Nation, was rapidly recovering, stepping "about 

like some young sixteen year old girl·" Saladin planned to leave on No~ 

vemb~r 17 to join his fal;:her and help him move the rema;nder of the 

family possessions to Breebs Town. Watie hac;l acquired some cat!;tle, and 

they were doing well. Saladin urged him to purchase more cattle in the 

Choctaw Nation. while he could still get them, cheaply. He po:i,nted out 

that these could be added to the exi,sting herd, or used to provide beef 

for the family. Saladin offered to exchange his new home nearqy at 

Webbers Falls for the one they were moving into at Breebs Town, because 

as he told Watie, "it would be more pleasure to me t;han anything in the 

world to see you and Matna in a g\:)od comfortable home. 11 Apparently Watie 

and his son were very close, and Sal,;:tdin was extremely concerned about 

3H, E, McKee to Stand Watie, 1867, ibid., PP• 258-259; R. Arm= 
strong to Stand Watie, August 30, 1867, Cherokee Nation Collection, 
Western History Collections, University of Oklahoma Library. 
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4 the health of his mother. 

In late November, 18q7, John Candy~ Watie's brother-in-law, ap~ 

proached him with a proposal that the Southern Cherokees again challenge 

the supremacy of the Northern faction of the tribe, and publish a pam-

phlet setting forth their viewe, but Watie was not inclined to once 

again become involved in tribal politics. December found Watie deep in 

the Choctaw Nation moving the remainder of the family possessions to 

the:i,r new home• Howevet·~ his hedth was beginn:j'..ng ;o fa:U, and he com-

plained of a chill which had plagued him f~r three days. But by the end 

of the year the family was again un:)'..ted and se~tled in the Cherokee Na-

5 
tion f:rom which they had been exUed for so long. 

Watie's ~inancial dea~ings were on the upsw~ng, and during late 

1867 and early 1868, he joined with Boudinot to form the Boudinot and 

Watie Tobacco Company. They interpreted. t:he Chero~ee T:i;-eaty of 1&66 as 

exempting t:hem from the United States excise tax on tobacco~ Thus by 

manufacturing plug f:;obacqo inside the bounql;l.ries of the Cherokee Nation, 

they would be able to undersell their competitors in the sµrrovnding 

states. It cost about forty-three cents to produce a pound of plug to~ 

bacco, but the Federal tax on tobacco w~s thirty-two cents a pound. 

Therefore Boudinot and Watie could transport their product into Arkansas, 

western Missouri, and northern Texas and capture the mark.et by avoiding 

the Federal tax. Watie furnished a pc:>rtion of the capita~ for the 

4 Saladin Watie to Je A0 Scales, November 4, 1867, and Saladin Watie 
to Stand Watie, November 16, 1867, Pale and Litton, eds., Cherokee 
Cavaliers, PP• 253m256. 

5stand Watie to James M, Bell, December 48, 1867, ibid,, P• 258; 
John Candy to Stand Watie, November 26, 1867, "Letters To and From Stc;tnd 
Watie, 11 Vol. I, Cherokee Room, John Vaughan L:j'..brary, Northeastern State 
College. 



construction of the factory, bu~ he rema;l.ned m~re or less a silent part-

ner. The factory was cons.t;rueted op Wet Pra;l.rie :j,n the Cherokee Natiori 

about four miles soµth of ~aysville, Arkansas, and eventually the settle-

ment was called Boudiv;l.lle. Boudinot urged Watie to proceed as soon as 

possible with the construction of the buildings. 6 

Wat~e's promising future received a severe shock on February 13, 

1868, when Saladin died nearby at his home in Webbers Falls. ?his was a 

great blow to Watie, who had leaned Q~ his eldest son during the latter 

years of his lifeo Watie concluded the estate of Saladin and paid off 

his debts. On July 20, 1868, the ijn;l.ted States Congress passed a new 

internal revenue tax law il!lposing taxes ~n "distil,.led spirits, termented 

liquors, tobacco, snuff, and ci,gars,11 tha,t were pri;>duced "within the ex ... 

terior boundaries of the United States whe~her the same ~hall be within 

a collection district or not .. 11 ';t'~is had a gre~~ effect on the :aoudinot 

and Watie Tobacco Company, which was bejiinni,ng tQ produce the ''Boudinot 

7 
& Watie" plug in earnest in 1868. 

Watie•s business ventures continued to take a turn for the worse in 

1868 as he struggled to provide a living for his family. Evidently he 

had sold a portion of his steam sawmill in the Cherokee Nation to W. Do 

Polson and aitowed him to manage the enterprise. Polson was not a very 

6Elias c. Boudinot to Stand Wat.ie, January 9, 1868, Dale and Litton, 
ed?., Cherokee Cavaliers, pp• 259 ... 260; Rqbert K. Heimann, "The Cherokee 
Tobacco Case,'' Chronicles ot Oklahoma, Vo.l. · XLI, No. 2 (Autumn, 1963), ------PP• 299, 313-315. 

7Ib;ld., po 313; Carolyn Thomas Foreman, "Early History of Webbe;rs 
Falls," ibid., Vot. XXIX, No. 4 (Wint;~r, 1951 ... l952), p. 473; :Barber 
Smith to Stand Watie, March 17, 1868, Ohero~ee Nation Collection, West­
ern History Colle~tions, l,Jn:i,.ver~:i;t;.y of Oklahoma Lib'fary; "Supreme Court, 
u. s .. No. 253, Elias c. Boudinot and Stand Watie vs. the United States,iv 
Hargrett Collection, Thomas Giicrea~e Institute of American History and 
Art, Tulsa, Oklahoma, p. 19. 
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efficient businessman~ and sooµ the c0mpany was ;in a poor financial con-

dition. Watie observed the dilapidate~ condition of the mill and the 

incompetence of Polson ;in running the business. He advised Polson to 

close the mill until a competent man could be hired to manage it, but 

Polson ignored Watie 1 s advice. However, Watie coni;idered it "my business 

until I am paid," and declared that it was "all my future dependence 

being flat broke and too old to work.118 

:Being deeply concerned with the educat;i.on 9f his sole surviving son, 

Watie sent Watica to Cane Hill College at Cane Hill, Arkaµ.sas, in the 

autumn of 1868. Watica was very proud of ~he opportunity, and he ex~ 

pressed his appreciation when he said that he had "a papa that take the 

last dollars he has to send my t;o Chool [sic].11 PrC>mising t<;> learn all 

that he could, Watica intended to please his father, and he seemed to be 

enjoying the experience, although ~e missed being home. Watie's youngest 

daughter, Jacqueline, was sent to school at Webbers Falls. Apparently 

Watie realized the value of education, and he was determined that his 

children would receive the best, available c:;ions;i.dering his f inanc:i,al 

difficulties. 9 

The Cherokee Treaty of 1866 provided in Article XII for the crea~ 

tion of a General Council of Indian Territory. The council was to be 

composed of delegates from each tribe of Indians residing in Indian 

Territory, and was given the power to legislate "upon matters pertaining 

to the intercourse and rela~ions of the Indi,an tribes and nations 

8 
Stand Watie to J. WQ Washborne, Oc,:tol;>er 3, 1868, Dale and Litton, 

eds., Cherokee Cavaliers, p. 268. 

9watica Watie to Stand Watie, October ll, 1868, and Wat.ica Watie to 
Jacqueline Watie, October,23, 1868, ibid., pp. 269~270. 
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and colonies of freec;lmen resident," A1so, :it was to provide for the ar-

rest and extrc;idition of criminals fleeing from one tribe to another, for 

the COlllllOn c;lefense and safety of the country, ;:ts well as various other 

duties. Members of the council were to be paid by the Federal goverrunent 

at the rate of four dollars a day when the counc~l was in session, and 

four dollars for every twenty miles traveled in going to and returning 

from the council. On October 28, 1868, Watie was elected as a Cherokee 

delegate to this body and was certified for the post by the judges and 

10 
clerks of the Canadian District qf t;he Cherokee Nation. 

Watica's education progre~sed rapidly iit Cane Hill College. He had 

received no formal education during the Civil Warf and he wanted to learn 

as much as possible so 111 will be able to helpe [sic] papa do business 

when I go to School a while l<;mger •11 Just: before he returned home for a 

week's vacation during Christmas, 1a68, he wrote a detailed description 

of the family home near Webbers Falls. He said the loc;ation was about 

twenty.,f;i.ve miles below Fort Gibson "upon the bank of the river above 

high water mark and has a beautiful view both up and down the river~" 

The country was exceedingly level, and in the spring 0 when the grass is 

green there is no place" IQ.ore beaut:iful. Before the house there 

stretched what appeared to be a continuous lawn, because of the lack of 

undergrowth. There were large shade trees, Watic;a noted, "and though to 

others it may be a place 1:>f indifference but; t;:o ll.le it is the best place.," 

Watie, who had buried his other two sons, felt u:ousually clc;>se to Watica, 

and Watica was exqeedingly proud of hls father. Watie was also delighted 

lOK,appler, ed., and comp., Inc;liiin Affairs: Laws and Treaties, Vol. 
II, pp. 942-943; Certification of Wati~'s Election, October 28, 1868, 
Cherokee Nation Collection, Western History Col1ections, University of 
Oklahoma Library. 
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over the nearness of his two youn~~r brothers, John and Charles, who ~ad 

11 returned to the Cherokee Nation and were residing near the Watie hom,e. 

The tobacco budness was clevdoping rapidly, and B(n,1dinot expres$ed 

great enthusiasm to Watie over the anticipated profits. By late Novem-

ber, 1868, the processing :machinery was being installed in the new fac-

tory buildings constructed at 5oudiville. Boudinot declared that by the 

middle of Februar~, 1869, the plant would have paid for itself and the 

two partners would then begin dividing the profits. 12 

Watie continued to encourBrge t;:he ~qucation of his children, and 

Ninnie Josephine was sent to school at Fort Smith, Arkansas. With all 

his remaining children away at school, Watie was extremely pressed to 

meet the expenses of their education. ~n January, 1869, he visited the 

old home site on Honey Creek in the northern part of the Cherokee Nation, 

and then traveled to Boudiville to opse:r:ve the final construction and 

equipping of the tobacco plant. The pu:r;pose of the visit was to secure 

needed educational funds, and now that his business was becoming opera-

tional, Watie found his financtai position improvingQ However, Sarah 

was becoming worried over her husband's health, and she urged Watica to 

try hard in school~ D.eelaring that Watie was ngett;i.ng to old to ride .so 

much," she told her son 1;:hat she would be happy when he would be able to 

11 do business in place of your papi:i." Watica, who was gone for nearly 

three weeks, indicated that he wishe<;l to vi$it his son at se1hool very 

11P ~ Armstrong to John W<iith, October 9, 1868, and W, Pl' Adair to 
Stand Watie, November 21, 1868, ibid.; C0mposition of Watiea Watie, No­
vember 12, 1868, and Watica Watie to Stand Wat;i.e, November 15, 1868, 
Dale and Litton, eds., Cherokee Cavaliers, pp. 270-271. 

12Elias c. Boudinot to Stand Watie, Noveµiber 21, 1868, ibid., pP• 
271"i272. 
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13 soon. 

Apparently W~tica was thriving at Ca~e Hill College, and was becom~ 

ing popular amon,g the young ladies. Mapy of his relatives expe~ted him 

to "become the man your Father has been to his people and his country." 

His mother also expected great things of her son, and she urged Watica 

"to be a good boy and try hard to learn so t;:.hat you will be a useful man 

to your country." It seemed as though both Watie and Sarah were placing 

their future hopes on their son, and dreaming that he would a$sqme a 

role of leadership in the Cherokee Nation~ 14 

During March, 1869, Watie again visite9 his old home site on Honey 

Creek, for he was planning to build a new house on that location for his 

family. Watie's finances were greatly improved, and he was well on his 

way to regaining the personal wealth he had lost during the Civil War. 

Also, both of his daughters were home, and np doubt t;hey added much t;o 

his pleasure. Watica himself was looking forward to the time when he 

ld . h. f · 1 15 cou rejoin .is ami y. 

AU the plans Sarah and Watie were making for Watica came to an 

abrupt end on April 9, 1869, when he died of pneumonia while attending 

school at Cane Hill. Sarah and Watie l).ad been sent for when he became 

ill and remained at his bedside for several days until his death. His 

13Ninnie Watie t;o Watica Watie, December 12, 1868, Watica Watie to 
Stand Watie, January 25, 1869, Sarah C. Watie to Watica Watie, Jant.lary 
29, 1869, ibid., pp. 273-2T/; Stand Watie to Watica Watie, February 11, 
1869, Cherokee Nation Collection, Western History Collections, Univer= 
sity of Oklahoma Library. 

14sal1ie E. Starr to Watica Watie, Februa;ry 15, 1869, and Sarah C. 
Watie to Watica Watie, March 22, 1869, Dale and Litton, eds., ~rokee 
Cavaliers, pp. 281-283. 

15 
Ib;i.d.; Watica Watie to Jacqueline Wat;ie, March 31, 1869, ibid 

pp. 383 ... 384. 
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parents too~ his body home for burial~ With his death the last direct 

male heir of Watie's family was removed. Un,d9ubtedly Watie and Sarah, 

who had placed so much hope and faith in their only surviving son, took 

his death very hard, and Watie, who was in poor health, now had the ex~ 

16 tra burden of grief. 

Financially, Watie appeared to be more fortµnate. Early in April, 

1869, T. J. Abert had approached Wat:i.e abo\lt taking over the operation 

of a barge on the Arkansas River at Webbers Falls, indicating that it 

would become very profitable when improvementi; c;:m the river between Fort 

Smith and Webbers Falls were completed. In August of the same year, 

Boudinot visited the tobacco plant and "fQl.md things in a prosperous 

condition." However, Boudinot wanted to buy out Watie's share of the 

business, and apparently Wati~ agl;'eed t;;o sell. Also, Boudinot 1,lrged 

Watie to join him in another bu:iiness ventu:re. The Missouri, Kansas, 

and Texas Railroad was making rapid progres:; toward the northern border 

of the Cherokee Nation, and Bo1,ldinot wanted them to develop as much land 

as possible along t;he railroad right-of .. way before the tracks were laid 

in the Cherokee Nation.. This land would become extremely valuable, 

Boudinot reasoned, onGe the railroad was completed. Watie 1 s farming 

was also showing cons:i,derable profit• The cotton crop for the year 1869 

was extremely good and Wat:i.e hoped that;: he would mal~e enqugh money from 

17 
the sale of his cotton to pay all his debts. 

16Hiram V. Blackmer to Sarah O. Watie, April 22, 1869, ibid., PP• 
284-285; 11 Sta,n,d Watie Order Book," Indian Archives Division, Oklahoma 
Historical Soc:i,ety. 

17Elias C. Boudinot to Stand Watie, August 15, 1869, Dale and Lit­
ton, eds., Cherokee Cavaliers, pp. 285~286; T. J. Abert to Stand Watie, 
April 7, 1869, Cherokee Nation Collection, Western History Collections, 
University of Oklahoma Library. 
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On October 21, 1869, Boudinot was a~vised by the United States Com-

missioner of Internal Revenue, Columb~s c. Delano, that the Office of 

Internal Revenue did not inten~ to enforce f edev~l revenue laws regarding 

tobacco inside the Cherokee Nation. However, the Federal government 

changed its mind, and on Dece:mber 22, 1869, the United States Marshal for 

the Western District of Arkansas seized the tobacco plant at Boudivi1le 

and confiscated the ''hydraulic press, pumps, scc;iles, molds, 4, .'.)00 pounds 

of tobacco, sugar, licorice and grape juice,•' l3oudinot also had criminal 

charges filed agai.nst him for violation of Federal l;:iw. This end~d the 

Boudinot and Wati.e Tobacco Company, but l3o\ldinot took his appeal to Wash"'! 

ington, and the case eventually came before the United States Supreme 

18 
Court. 

Meanwhile, Watie had been in contact with a co:mpetent millwright 

named Messinger dur:i.ng the spring of 1870. Messinger wanted to construct 

a flour mill with Watie which would be highly profitable to both of 

them, and was anxiously awaiting an opportunity to meet with Watie and 

work out a contract.. Apparently some sort of satisfactory arrangement 

was made, for by June, 1870, Watie was busily invo!ved in manufacturing 

19 
flour, and was constructing a boat to carry the produce to market. 

In the meantime, Boudin0t hurried to Washington to defend his ac-

tions in the Bou<linot and Wat;i.e T9baccq Company; however, the United 

1811supreme Court, U. S. No. 253, Elias C. Boudinot and Stand Watie 
vs. the United States , 11 Hargrett Collection, Thomas Gilcrease Institut~ 
of American History and Art; Heimann, "The Cherokee Tobacco Case,'' 
Chronicles of Oklahoma, Vol. XLI., PP• 316.0317. 

19 . . . Ben Hamilton to Stand Wat1e, March 11, 1870, Cherokee Nation 
Collection, Western History Col1ections, Unive;r:;:;ity of Oklahoma Library; 
Henderson to Stand Watie, J1,me 16, 1870, iiLet;:ters To and From Stand 
Watie,n Vol. I, Cherokee Room, John Vaughan Libral,'y, Northeastern State 
College. 
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States District Court for the West:ern Pi.strict of Arl<ansas, had upheld 

the confiscatory action of the Federal $Overnment. Boudinot appealed to 

Watie to help, stc:iting that once the situation was settled, "we can make 

a combination which will be mutually advantageot,is •11 Declaring that he 

was "crushed to the Earth," Boudinot c;.alled on Watie and exclaimed, 11 for 

God's sake help me out!" Watie was unable to do anything for h:i,.s nephew, 

and Boudinot was left on his own in the matter. 20 

In October, Boud;i.not ret;urned t;o the Cherokee Nation in preparation 

for his trial on criminal charges at Van Buren, .Arkansas. He hoped that 

the Cherokee National CouncU would "pass a resolutipn setting out the 

importance to the nat:ion of the case," and he had requested that the 

c,riminal trial not be held unt:U the Uniteq St;ates Supreme Court had made 

a decision on the matter. He also asked Watie to meet him at the fac-

tory at Boudiville.. In the meantime, Wat:Le continued his business ven .. 

tures and prepared to construc;.t a boat to be loaded with general goods 

and sent down the Arkansas River to Fort $mith. Apparently Watie was 

injured in some way during this period, and his health was still not 

21 
good. 

On September 27, 1870, the General Council for Indian Terr;itory, to 

which Watie had been elected, convened at Okmulgee, the capital of the 

the Creek Nation, but it was not;: until September 29 that a quorum was 

present and business began. Various officers were elected, and a 

20Elias C. Boudinot to Stan\i Watie, March 3, 1870, Dale and Litton, 
eds., Cherokee Cavaliers, p. 288. 

21Elias c. Boudinot to Stand Watie, October 3, 1870, ibid., PP~ 
288-289; Henderson to General, Novem]?e;r 28, 1870, "M:i,scellaneous Letters 
Relating t;:o Indian Affairs, 11 Cherokee Room, John Vaughan Library, 
Northeastern State College. 
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coitJm;i,ttee was appointed to ''report rules fqr the gove:r;nw.ent of the Cot,ln-

cil in the transa~tion and order pf l:?usiness ·" Also, six standing com• 

mi,1:,tees were appointed to deal with re~at:;i.ons with tl!.e United States, 

int~rnational relations, the judiciary, finance, education, agriculture, 

and enrolled bills. After the appointment to the connnittees was made, 

the council adjourned to reconvene at; 2:00 p.m. When it met aga:l;n, the 

delegates passed a ser~es o~ ~esQlutiQns, ·instructing the various com• 

22 mittees to prepare repo·rts. 

On September 30, a resolution was passed instructing the ColIIIllittee 

on Relations with the United States tQ prepare a petit:l.on to the Pres:l..,. 

dent of the United States dtscussing the Indian relations with the 

F~deral government and land for railroads. The weeting then adjourned 

unt;q 7: 00 p ,m. It was not untU t;:J;te evening meeting that Wanie fi,nally 

ar;rived and was admitted to his seat. The counAil then unanimously 

passed a series of resolutions. ~ecause of the short notice given for 

the convening of the General C_ouncq, it resolved 1:,hat it would "meet 

again at 10 A.M., at this place on the first Monday in December next, 

unless othe;rw;i.se ordered by the Secretary o~ the Interior." The standing 

connnittees were instr\1.cteq to continue their work and to gi,Pe their re.,. 

ports at the next meeting. A copy ot the resolutions was faent to the 
I 

Choctaw and Chickasaw nations, and they were requested t;o/ attend the 

next session. Also, assurances o~ friendship and kind feelings were 

conveyed to the Comanche, Kiowa, Arapahoe, Cheyenne, Caddo, Wichita, 

and other Plains tribes, and 11 an exptessi9n of their earnest wish that 

22"Journal of the General Council of J;ndiap Territory," Chronicles 
of Oklahoma, Vol. lll, No. 1 (April, 1925), PP• 36~40. - ' 
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relations of peace may be established between them and all men o~ what-

ever race or color." Ok ... tar-har.-SflrS H<;irjo was delegated to take the 

message t.o the P la:i,ns Indians and invite them tc:> a~tend the next ses-

sion. Finally, the Committee on Education and Agriculture was in-

structed "to report fully as may be practicable upon the condition of 

agriculture in Ind:i,an Territory •1123 

On December 6, 1870, the General Council of Indian Territory recon-

vened at Ol9:nulgee, and again Watie was a Cherokee delegate. It was not 

until December 8 that a quorum was present and the meeting could begin. 

The journal of the last session was read <;ind interpreted. On December 

9, a lobbyist for the r?ilroads spoke to the gathering. The next day a 

report was read calling for the creation of a republican form of govern-

ment for the Indians to "protect the weaker tribes f:rom 0ppression by 

the Stronger & to promote the general good o~ alL the nations and 

tribes." Assurances were aga~n sent to the Plains Tribes professing 

friendship and kind feeling, and inviting them to send delegates to the 

·1 24 counc1 • 

On December 12, a motion was introduced calling for the appointment 

of a committee to d:i::aft a constitvtion for Indi'an Territory. It was 

proposed that the legis!ative powers of the General Council be enlarged, 

and the President o;E the United Stat;es be given the power of suspending 

the operations of the counci,l whenever he deemed it necessary. The Com-

mittee on, Agriculture and Educat:i.on then presented its report, wh:i,ch 

23 
Ibid., pp. 42~43. 

24William ;Nicholson, "A ';I'our of Indian Agencie!:I in Kansas and the 
Indian Territory :i,n 1870," Kaqsas Historical guarterly, Vol. Ill, No. 3 
(August, 1934), pp. 35e-364. 
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stressed the destruction o~ the Civil War on indian Territory. 25 

On December 16, the committee appointed to draft a constitution 

presented its report. Federal Qfficials had indicated that; the formation 

of a territorial government wouid allow the Indians to send a delegate 

to Congress. The name retained by th~ new t:erritory was Indian Terri­

tory, and all the citizens were to be guaranteed the same rights• Three 

different branches of government, were to be created-·legislative, execu-

tive, and judicial~ The legislative powers were to be confided in a 

Senate and a House of Representatives, and t,he report outlined t;he make-

up and duties of the two bod;!.es. l'he rep<;>rt called for the judicial 

power of the new government to be vested in one Supreme Court, three 

district courts, and other inferior c0urts as prQvided by law, and the 

powers of the judicial branch were e~pl~ined. A method for amending the 

constitution was provided for, ano the executive power was given to a 

governor. His term of offi.ce, quatificati<:ms, and duties dso were 

listed. The entire day of Deceml;i>er 17 was spent ):>y t;he cc;>t.\pcil in de~ 

bating the report; of the cqrnmi,t;t;.ee, and then it adjourned to meet again 

26 on December 19. 

When the council reconvened, the const;.:i,tution was adopted, and minor 

details we:i:;e discussed, The council voted to meet 1;1.gai,n on the first 

Monday of June, 1871, at Okmulgee, and then rresident Enoch Hoag con­

gratulated the members of the council on their conduct and the resolu­

tions addpted. On December 20, th,e cot,mci,l adjqurned. Watie, although 

present, did not take an active part in the meeting, Ukely due t;o his 

25Ibid., PP• 365-369. 

26 
lbid., PP• 371-375~ 
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Watie's nephew Boudinot, h~weve~, had viewed the p:r;~ceedings of the 

Grand Council with much interest. He was especially concerned with the 

• possibility of an Indian delegate to the United States Congress, and he 

contemplated himself in that position. Expressing his wish to Watie, 

Boudinot declared that he was confiq.ent that he would receive the back .. 

ing of the Creeks and Seminoles. To improve his chances of carrying the 

Cherokees, he urged Watie to seek election to the National Council, and 

once again embroil himself in ·.the. intrigue of Cherokee politics. Indi ... 
• 

eating that he was leaving for Washing~on at once, Boudinot declared that 

Watie should look forward to the t;ime of his rettgn: ''let us be stripped 

for the fight for now is the time when our family, so long under the ban, 

may assert its just position of honor among our people~" Apparently 

Watie was not moved by Boudinot's Plan~ or perhaps he was too tired or 

sick to again take up the mantl~ 0f l:eader51h;i.p. 28 

Watie was unabte to spend Christmas of 1870 with ~is family because 

he was working at the old home site on Honey Creek near the Gr~md River, 

so his wife and daughters spent the holidays ;i.n Fort Smith. Ninnie and 

Sarah returned to Webbers Falls on New Year's Day, 1871, and were dis-

appointed that Watie had not yet returned~ His family missed him deeply, 

and Ninnie pleaded with ):lim to "come h!i>me just as soon as possible." 

Watie was still on Honey Creek at his old home site, but was feeling 

much better. He was very pleased that Ninnie was home, and indicated 

that her presence lessened his fears for his wife's health. Wati,e told 

27 b'd I 1 • , pp. 37 5 .. 377. 

28 l' C d' S d W . D b 11 1870 D 1 d E ias - • Bou ;i.not to tan atie, ecem er , , a e t;tn 
Litton, eds., Cherokee Cavaliers, pp. 289 .. 290. 



N;i.nnie that he was trying to pu~chase a (ilmall house near the ~l~ hQ:tne 

place, .;:tnd ·he promiri>ed that he would r~tu;p~ to h:l,s ;famHy in a very short 

time, Watie dreamed of mov:l,ng back to hi~ qld h9me 0n Honey C;reek, 

where he had (:lpent;: much of his time before the Civil War, and which w9uld 

29 
provide :many fond memor:l,es during o1d age, 

In the spring of 1871 Ninnh sta;ri;ed to school agaip at Webbers 

Falls, and Watie's youngest child, CharlQtte Jacqueline, was also want• 

ing to return to school. She had not;: been able to start becauEle she did 

not have shoes, but she pleaded with her fither to do everything possible 

to return her to school. Appare~tly, Watie could not;: resist the plead-

ing of his youngest child, and. in late March she was sent to Clarke's 

Academy in Berryville, Arkansas. 30 

and Jac~ueline came near not goi~g· Sarah insisted, though, and Jacque-

_1-iiu;:·<;>bv:i.ously enjoyed schQQl <;mae ~he arr:(.ved. E:x;pre$sing Q.elight at 

her teachers, she asked her fatheJ:~ · if at all pt;>Elsil;>le, t;Q let her ret;urn 

for the ne:x;t term; however, she wo1r1ld under~tand if Watie 9id not have 

the money to keep her at the boarding school. In the meantime, Watie re-

turned hom~ where he spent a week with his wife and Ninnie, before re­

turning to his old home site on ~oney Cree~.31 

On May l, 1871, the Supreme Court of the ijnited StateEI issued its 

29Ninnie Watie to Stand Watie, January 1, 1871, ipid., p~ 290; 
Stand Watie to Ninnie Watie, JanQary 7, 187i, Cherokee Nation Collection, 
Western ~istory Gollect~ons, ijniversity of Oklahoma Library. 

30Jacquelipe Watie to Stand Wa~ie, March 15, 1871, and Ninnie Watie 
to Jacqueline Watie, April 17, 1871, Dale and Litto~, eds., Cherokee 
Cavaliers, pp. 291-292, 

31Ibid.; Jacqueline Watie to Stand Watie, April 22, 1871, ibid., 
pp. 292-293. 
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decision in the Cherokee TQbacco C~se, and ruled in favor of the Federal 

government. The Cherokee National Council in December, 1~70, had 

authorized Albert Pike and Eobert w. ~ohnson of Arkansas to represent 

Watie and Boudinot in the court battle at a cost of $1,500. Pike and 

Johnson had p+oGeeded to Washingt~m, c;tnd in a lengthy argument before 

the Supreme Court had presented Watie's and Boud;i.not 1 s appeal. They 

contended that the Revenue Act of July 20, 1868, did not apply to the 

Cherokee Nation, and that Watie and Boudinot were citizens of the Chero-

kee Nation and were engaged in their business inside t:;he boundaries of 

the Cherokee country. Thus they argued, the Federal government had been 

unfounded in its actions because ;it could not levy a tax on the lndians 

without their approval. The amQiguity of t:;he Revenue Act was questioned 

by Pike and Johnson, and they cited several previous court dec:i,sions and 

Cherokee treaties to reinforce tJ1eir cldms. Neverthelesi;>, the Supreme 

Court was heedless of their pleas, and upheld the action of the United 

32 
States. 

Boudinot was aghast at the decision, describing it as "the Death 

Knell of; the Nations •11 Stating that he was tot: ally ruined, Boudinot, in-

formed Watie that he must now stand trial at Van Buren, Arkansas, for 

violation of the internal revenue laws of the United States. Apparently 

Boudinot believed that his only salvation would be the election of Watie 

to the Cherokee Nation.;:11 Coµncil as thr;i representat;;ive of the Canadian 

District. Declaring that when he receiveq word of Watie filing for 

32Heimann, "The Cherokee Tobacco Case," Chronicles of Oklahoma, Vol. 
XL1, p. 318; "Supreme Court, U. s., No. 253, Elias c. Boudinot and Stand 
Watie vs. the United States," Hargrett CoUection, Thomas Gilcrease In .. 
stitute of American History and Art, pp. 1-82; Elias C. Boudinot to 
Stand Watie, May 10, 1871, Dale and Litton, eds., Cherokee Cavaliers, P• 
295. . 
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office would he ''then feel easy," :Q.e urged his t.mcle to seek the office 

immediately. Once again Watie refused to involve himseLf in Politics, 

He was tired of bickering and political intrigue, and in his last years 

was more concerned with providing for his family than with seeking po-

l . . 1 . . . 33 1t1ca position. 

Watie was extremely lonely in ~ay, 1871, at his.old hqme site on 

Honey Creek without Sarah or any of his ch:tldren, btJt he recognhed the 

necess:i,ty of haying them at school. Watie was making improvements on 

his pre..Civil War home site, and apparently he intended to move his 

family there as soon as possible. He planned t 0 return to Webbers Falls 

and spend about two weeks w:i,th his wife. Promising Jacqueline that he 

would do his best to send her to school for the next term~ he indicated 

:that he hoped to v;i..sit her at Berryhill sopn. When Jac·quel:i,ne returned 

home during the summer vacp.tion, he phnned to take her with him to the 

new house he was buildin~ on Honey Creek a,nd he predicted ~hat she would 

. h ld 1 . 34 not recognize t e o ocation. 

Watie's business ventures did not go well during 1871, and the fam-

ily was again pressed for money. Sa11ah, alt!hough, ma:i,ntained good 

spirits, and she urged the other members of the family to foUow her ex-

ample. Both Watie and Sarah, however, were willing to make extreme 

sacrifices to assure their daughters an adequate education. In June, 

Watie attended the meeting of the General Council of Indian Territory. 

It was during this meeting that many members of the Plains t;r:i,bes ac-

cepted the invitation to attend, and t.he c.ounc:i,l was descr;i.bed as 

296. 

33Ibid. 

34 
Stand Watie to "My Dear Daughter," Mq.y 10, 1871, ibid., PP• 295-
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"animated and harmonio\.ls.11 35 

Watie cantin\led dur;ing the su:µm,ier to work on his old home site on 

Honey Creek. He had p\.lrchased a number of beef cattle, i;ind was improv .. 

ing his once thriving plant<?-tion. Altho\.lgh his prominen-ce among the 

Cherokees was declining, and the leadership of the tribe was being taken 

over by younger men, he was still surprisingly well known nationally. 

During June, 1871, Watie was contacted by Charles C. Jones, Jr., who was 

preparing a publi,cation on general offieeri> and famo\,ls leaderi;; of the 

Confederacy, and he was asked to s\.lpply infonnation on himself for in-

cl\,lsion in the book. However, fame was not what Watie was seeking. In-

stead, he dreamed of restoring his old home si~e to its prev;ious con-

d;it;ion, and of spending his remainipg days among ple~sant S\,lrrouncHngs 

36 with his family at;: his side. 

Watie would never i;;ee h;i.s dream £tilfi1led. The task h~ had under-

taken of restoring h;is old home, the hardships resulting from the numer-

ous business ventures needed to educate his children and provide for his 

wife, the ill health he suffered from the years of military campaigning 

during the Civil War, and the heaJ:Ttbrei'lk resulting from the loss of his 

sons had all taken their toll. Watie's worn O\.lt body could simply not 

match the pace he set. for himself. Still he continued to work for his 

35sarahC. W.;itie toJacqueUneWatie, May 28, 1S71, ibid., PP• 296-
297; Vincent Colyer to Columbus Delano, December 12, 1871, in "Report of 
the Connnissioner of Indian Affairs," United States House of Representa­
tives, 42nd Congress, 2nd Session, Executive Document 1, Part 5 (5 part;s, 
Washington; Government Printing Office, 1871), p. 435."""' 

36charles c. James, Jr. to Stand Watie, June 9, 1871, Cherokee 
Nation Collection, Western History Collections, University of Oklahoma 
Library; John F. Wheeler, "Dea.th <;>f Gen. Stand Wa:t;;ie, 11 Grant Foreman 
Collection, Indian Archives Division, Oklahoma Historical Society. 



289 

dream. He was suddenly taken ill, and died on September 9, 1871, at his 

old home site on Honey Creek, away from his family~ but among the other 

37 
~urroundings that he so dearly loved. 

When Watie died, the Grand River was flooding, and it was impossible 

to return his body to Webbers falls for burial. Thus he was buried in 

the old Ridge Cemetery, later to be called Polson' s Cemetery, in p;resent 

day Delaware County, Oklah9:o;i.a. Watie's death was mourned by the Chero-

kees. His obituary in the Cherokee Advocate declared the:re was "no 

Indian in the country better known or more highly esteemed ••• h;i.s courage 

and integrity were recognized even by his enemies, and he eminently de-

served the respeqt and admiration of everyone." Watie's friends had 

nothing but praise for him, and one of these, Mrs. A. K. HardGastle, 

declared that his "labors on earth have not qeen in vain, he has done 

much lasting good for his co~ntry and countrymen, that will never be 

forgotten but handed down to the future generation in the book. of history 

for them to fo~low in his footsteps and to aspire to ~eave their foot-

38 
prints on the sands of time as well as he." 

Watie was survived by his wife, Sarah, and his two daughters, 

Ninnie Josephine and Charlotte Jacqueline. After Watie's death his 

family moved to the northern part of the Cherokee Nation, where they 

lived in a log cabin hidden in a deep glen, near where Horse Creek. flows 

37 . 
Ibid.; Dale and Litton, eds., Cherokee G avaliers, p. 266. 

38 
James Julian Hil!, Interview, Grant Foreman, ed., "Indian .. 

Pioneer History," (113 vols., 'Unpublished manuscript:,), Vol. LXXIV, p. 
389, Indian Archives Division, Oklahoma H~st;:oriGal Society; Mabel Wash­
bourne Anderson, "General Stand Watie," Chronicles of Oklahoma, Vol. X, 
No. 4 (December, 1932), p~ 547; Cherokee Advocate, s;ptember 30, 1871, 
p. 3; A. K. Hardcastle. to Sarah Watie, ·October 27, 1871, Dale and Lit­
ton, eds., Cherokee Cavaliers, pp. 299 .. 301. 
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into the Grand River. Tragedy continµed to plague the Watie family, 

even after Watie's death, and both his <laugl.,te+s, Ninnie Josephine and 

Charlotte Jacqueline, who did not marry, di,ed in i875. Sarah continued 

to li'Ve out the remainder of he:r life without the comfort of any of her 

five children and finally died in 1883. She was buried on high ground 

above her home site. Although Watie was buried at Polson's Cemetery, 

39 
her gravestone included an ini;icriptiQn for them both. 

Even during the darkest hours of reconstruction, Watie provided a 

degree of leadership for the Cherokees. When t,he conflict with Rof?S 

finally ended, he devoted all his energy anc~ strengtq in rebuiLding his 

wealth, which had been dis$i,pated by the war. He constantly struggled to 

provide the best for his family, and ironically, hefore he died, he saw 

his three sons bu,rieq. Until his death, he was concerned a,bout the wel-

fare of his family, and he c0ntinued to ~ffer them the pest available, 

often at great sacrifice to himself. In his last years he turned away 

from tribal politics in order to seek economic security and family hap-

piness. He wanted no more of the strife and violence that had been his 

lot in life. 

39c laborne Addison Young, "A Walking Tour of Indian Territory, 
1874, 1! Chronicles of Oklahoma, Vol. XX!(:VI, No. 2 (Surmner, 1958), PP• 
174-175; Wright, HThe Name of General Stand Watie of the Cherokee Na ... 
tion," ibid., Vol. XXXIV, p. 253; Genealogy of Ridge-Watie-Boudinot, 
Dale and Li,tton, eds., Cherokee CavaLiers, following p. 302; Starr, 
"History of the Cherokee Indians, 11 Original Manuscript, Historical So .. 
ciety Library, Oklahoma Historical Society. 



CHAPl'ER XII 

TSALAGI. 

Amoq.g the Cherokees the word Ts~la~i can be translated 11 Qtave man," 

and perhaps this word best characterizes Watie~ Throqghout his life he 

was plagued by turmoil and strife, and he steadtastly faced each en­

counter. As a member of the pro~inent Ridge~Watie-Boudi~ot family, 

Watie inherited a position of Cherokee leadership, and he cons~antly ad­

hered to the political positions of his re+atives, whom he believed were 

acting in the best interests of the Cherokee Nation. 

- Watie's family realized the folly of the Cherokees ~n attempting to 

maintain thei,r ancestral hoJIJ,es in Geor~ia, Tennes;see, Alabama, and North 

Carolina in the face of growing white encroaclunents, and openly pro­

posed removal to the West. Greatly overshadowed in the early years by 

his better known relatives, Wati~ did not play an active role in the 

negotiation of the Treatr of New Echota in,l~J~, although he shared its 

bl~e. 

Amidst the confusion and controversy of Cherokee removal to.the 

West, Watie developed many of the loyalties and hatred~ which he was to 

bear for the remainder of his life. Ouring the debate over the question 

of Cherokee removal, he received his initiation into Cheroke~ po~itics, 

and the lessons he learned during thi~ turbulent era would serve him 

well in later years. Watie's support of the remov~l policy of his 

relatives, however, was to place him at odds with Cherokee Chief John 

291 
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:R,qss. 

Watie sincerely beiieved, that removal t,:o the West would be the only 

means by which the Cherol<ees c;!Ot,tld save their tribal institutions. His 

reasoning was not accepted by the major;i.ty of the tribe, and when he 

returned from the negotiations of the Treaty of New Echota he found him­

self, much to his surprise, acclaimed a traitor rather than a hero. 

The removal treaty supported by Watie turned into a nightmare for 

the majority of the Cherokees. µprooted from their homes at gun poin~, 

herded into stockades like cattle, and forced, to endure the Trail of 

Tears, many Cherokees were exposed to much suffering and innumerable 

hardships. The majority of Cherokee~ blBI!led Watie and his relatives for 

their destitute condition, The hatred, and bitterness resµiting from re­

moval plagued Watie anli the Cherokee Nation for years. 

Watie and the ot;:he+ leaders 0 f t,:he pro-removal faction avoided the 

hardships of the Trail of Tears by moviri.g t;:o the West be:(~n:e the major .. 

ity of the Cherokees. Settling amidst rich river bottoms and fertile 

prairies, Watie viewed his new home as a promised land, and he innnedi­

ately achieved a high degree of ag;r;-icultural and mechanical prosperity. 

When the remainder of the Cherokees arrivecl about two years later, the 

hatred associated with removal was intensified by envious glances at the 

economic well-being of the rem0vaL faction, a,nd vengeance against Watie 

doubtlessly was vowed a thousan¢ times. 

When they arrived in their new homes, Watie's group had integrated 

with the Old Set;:t~ers and adopted their form of government. Ross's 

followers, however, had brought the existing Cherokee government with 

them to the West. Watie and his relatives at this point challenged the 

authority of Ross and his supporters, bringing t,:he conflict into the 
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open, with Ross's partisans invoking the Cheroke~ bL0od law. 

A wave of bloodletting swept the Cherokee Nation in 1839, and when 

it receded only Watie of all the leaders of the Ridge .. Wettie.-Boudinot 

fCl!llily remained alive. The murders of his brother, uncle, and cousin 

had a Profound effect on Watie. He found himself suddenly looked to as 

the major leader of the pro .. removal faction, and he willingly accepted 

the challenge. Watie blamed the murders of his relatives on Ross, and 

the intense hatred resulting from the killings marked Cherokee Politics 

for more than three decades, 

The feud between Watie and Ross grew so j,nt,ense that t;he Federal 

government was forced to intervene to preve~t civil war. As a result an 

Act of Union was signed in 1840, and it appeared t,hat the prolonged 

quarrel of the Cherokees was ended. But the hatred and.bitterriess could 

not be swept away by the stroke of a pen, Watie continued to harbor a 

deep seated grudge agains~ Ross f~r the kiLlings of his relatives, and 

he found it impossible for him to forgive Ross's sµpporters for the 

murders. The feud reached a climax when Watie killed a Ross partisan 

who had bragged of taking part in the murders of 1839. 

Once again the C4erokee Nat ion, was brought to the verge of civil 

war because of Watie's action, and once again the Federal government 

intervened. Watie viewed the only solution to the difficulties of the 

Cherokees as a division of the tr:i,be~~\ the two groups, and he 
'\__ _ _/ 

pleaded his case before the deaf ears of Federal officials. Watie's 

willingness, nevertheless, to secede from the remainder of the Cherokee 

Nation forced Ross to grant concessions to Wat;,ie 1 s group.· Thus, Watie 

achieved a degree of v:i,ctory. 

The Cherokee Treaty of 1846 brought relative peace to the Cherokee 
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Nation, and Watie and Ross reportedly shook hands at the treaty ceremony 

in the symbol of good faith. Watie h~d achieved some success, but Ross 

was still in firm control of the Cherokee goverf1.tllent. Watie' s bitter 

hatred of Ross was not extinguished, and it continued to smolder. lt 

seemed as if neither Watie nor Ross was willing to forgive one another. 

Watie had been prevented from est;.ablishing a family and developing 

financial enterprises because of the t;.urmoil and confusion among the 

Cherokees. Doubtlessly, Watie desired a family.life,. and he was quite 

willing to exchange agitation and politic.s for a period of peace and 

prosperity. Watie offered no serious challeng~ to Ross during the latter 

1840 1 s and the decade of the 1850 1 s, and the Cherokee Nation remained at 

peace. 

The old hatreds were st:i.11 present, howevei;:-? and with the secession 

of the South in 186Q .. 1861, Wat~e saw an opportunity to rid himself of 

Ross. Not wanting to involve the Cherokees in the white man's Civil 

War, Ross urged a policy of neutrality. Watie, who h~d many supporters 

among the citizens of Arkansas during the violence between the two Cher­

okee factions, was easily influenced by his friends supporting secession. 

Watie was in many ways closely tied to the South. He fancied himself a 

gentle~an planter, and his home on Honey Creek closely resembled a 

Southern plantation. Many of his Cherokee foilowers were also ardent 

secessionist;.s, and t;.he position of power offered by an alliance with t;.he 

Confederacy would provide a base for Watie to gain control of the Chero­

kee Nation. 

As a result, even before the Cherokees signed a treaty of alliance 

with the Confederate States, Watie closely allied himself with the 

Southern cause. Ross viewed the growing power of Wat;.ie with fear and 
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suspicion. Doubtlessly Ross was aware that if he continued to oppose 

an alliance with the Confede+acy ~ Wat;ie with the suppoi:-t of the Sout:h, 

would remove him from the leadership of the Cherokees, and install Watie 

in his place. Thus Ross was forced either to surrender his position as 

p+incipal chief or negotiate with the Confederate comm:i,ss:i,oner, Albert 

Pike. Ross chose the latter course. Watie forced the Cherokees into an 

alliance with the Confederacy, a union not wholeheartedly supported by 
l 

a majority of the Cherokees. Thus he played t;he major roll in pl1:1nging 

the Cherokees into the Civil War, an orgy of bloodshed and destruction 

unmatched by any other period in their his~ory. 

During the early years of the conflict it appeared that Watie. had 

been correct in his decision; by l86i, nevertheless, Confederate mili-

tary efforts in Indian Territory were beginning to falter. The Chero.-

kees divided themselves into two opposing factions• Once again Watie 

found himself opposed to Ross. Watie was the acknowledged leader of the 

pro-Southern faction of the tribe, and Ross 's followers sµpported the 

Union. Ross fled the Cherokee Nation to live in the East as Sovthern 

military efforts turned for t:he better, and Watie utilized Ross' s 

abandonment of the Cherokees to P.ssume the position of principal chief. 

At Last Watie had succeeded in usurping Ror:;s's power and driving his 

arch enemy from the Cherokee Nati\m, 

Watie's victory was short-Lived because the Confederacy suffered 

numerous reverses in Indian Territory. His military exploits were 

greatly hindered by t:he apparent; lack of concern of Local whit;e Confed-

erate officials for·the condition of Indian troops. Nevertheless, Watie 

refused to abandon the Southern cause, and he continued to fight though 

the odds were against his success. 



Unable to mount a conve~tional military offensive to regain the 

Cherokee Nation, Watie resorted to guerrilla warfare. This was to be 
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his greatest claim to f9me as a military leader, and he !<ept the Union 

held areas of Indian Territory, southwest Missouri, northwest Arkansas, 

and southern Kansas in a constant state of alar~ through fear of his 

lightning cavalry sorties. Thus the North was never able to effectively 

control the reconquered area of Indian Territory and could not adequately 

guarantee the safety of pro-Northern Indians who flocked back to their 

homes after an enforced exile in Kansas and Miss<;>uri. Watie 1 s exploits 

gained him the praise of the Confe<:lerate Congress and Southern military 

leaders, and as a result he became one of the best kn9wn guerrilla 

leaders of the Civil War. 

Throughout the years of conflict Watie did not neglect his civil 

duties as principal chief. Whenever time Pel;lllitted Watie worked with 

the Southern Cherokee National Council in an attempt to relieve the 

suffering of the exiled Southern Cherokees in the south of Indian Terri­

tory and northern Texas. As a result of his efforts, i;;ome relief mea­

sures were undertaken, and the condition of the exiles improved. 

For all his success, however, Watie's fate was tied to the South, 

and when the Confederacy was deteated, the pro-Southern Cherokees had no 

alternative but to swrrender. With the Sot,ithern defeat, the followers 

of Ross returned triumphantly to assµme control of the Cherokee Nation. 

Watie again attempted to gain an independent section of the Cherokee Na­

tion for his followers, but failed. Thus Watie's faction was brought 

back under the control of Ross, and Watie likely pondered his fate under 

the rule of his arch enemy. 

Although only a minority of all Cherokees followed Watie in his 
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allegiance with the South, t;he victqriqus Federal government seized the 

opportunity to ext~act extensive and pethap~ s9mewhat unjust concession 

from the Cherokees in their Rec:on~truction 'J'reaty of 186q. The power 

of the Cherokees was again red~ced, and they were brought under greater 

subservience to the FedeFal government. As a wh9le, the entire Cherokee 

Nation suffered from Watie's decbion to join the Confederacy. 

The Civil War was the final chapter in the long standing feud be-

tween Watie and Ross. Watie emerged from the conflict a broken and de .. 

feated man, and Ross died the year following the close of the war. No 

longer was Watie the absolute leader of the R~dge~Watie .. Boudinot faction 

of the Cherokees. Watie's -position of leadership wa~ being taken by 

younger men who had not lived through the viotence and confusion of re~ 

moval, and who did not have Wa.th's qeep hatred. 

Watie seemed not to mind the transfo~ation following the Civil War, 

and made no furthe:y: attempts to play a major rqle in Cherokee politics. 

The years of military campai~ning and the yio1enc:e of the 1830's and 

1840's had taken ~heir toll on Watie, for his heal~h was beginning to 

fail. Ross was no longer alive to chalienge him, and in spite of a11 

urgings, he refused to again become :i,.nvolved in Cherokee politics. Watie 

was always more of a military leader t;han a politician, and the endless 

meetings and countless schemes of politics had lost ali appeal to him 

following the Civil War. Ile made one final effort to return to the mil-

itary career by off eting to raise a Cherokee f 0 rce to protect westward 
'of" 

wagon trails, but his offer was refused by the Federai government. He 

was content, however, to devote the remainder of his U.fe to his family 

and business efforts, both of which he had negh~ted dudng the war 

years. 
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Watie.'s family had suffered &;reat,ly through the years of turmoil, 

and he probably viewed this misfortune as a result C?f his actions. Thus 

he undertook to provide his f ami~y with the benefits which they had been 

denied for so long~ Often at great sacrifice, he attempted to regain 

his lost prosperity and provide his children with an adequate education. 

He longed to rebuild his old home on Honey Creek in order to spend his 

remaining years surrounded py his fami~y and old memories, His hopes 

were in part destroyed by the death of his three sons, and he realized 

that with them his name would end. Nonetheless, he continued to do his 

best for his wife and two daughters until his death. 

Throughout his life Watie remained loyal to his friends. His home 

was always open to all CherQkees, whether destitute or wealthy, and he 

was respected for his honesty and integripy by both his friends and 

enemies. 

Though Watie 1 s decisions did not always result in peace .;unong the 

Cherokees, he believed that he was acting in the best interest of his 

people. At times he was troubled over political conflict within the 

Cherokee Nation, but he remained convinced that although many might 

judge him as an evil man, Gog would examine his ac~ions and render him 

just and honorable. Watie conceded that he might have made mistakes, 

but he was convinced that they were honest blunders. 

Watie was caught in a power struggle that began before his adult­

hood, and which he carried on after the assassination of three of his 

relatives. The conflict between Watie and R~ss characterized Cherokee 

politics for over forty years, and continued to influence the Cherokee 

Nation long after their deaths. The tribal fracture which Watie heLped 



299 

to instigate and develop thus played an import;ant role in the development 

of the Cherokee Nation. But; throqgh it all Watie was t;ruly a Tsalagi--

a brave man. 
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